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LETT S,
TO COMPLETE VOLS. I, II, ano IIL

OF THE

DUKE OF WELLINGTON’S

DISPATCHES IN INDIA

1794 G 1948,

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Right Hon. the Governor General.
« My Lorp, ¢ Seringapatam, 19th Aug., 1799,

<1 take the liberty of recommending to your Lordship,
that out of the fund allotted for the family of the late Tippoo
Sultaun, a pension of twenty Cantarai pagodas per mensem
may be allotted to the mother-in-law of Schuckur Oolla, the
wife of Zemul ab Dien Taker.  She received this sum from
the late Sultaun.

< T have the honor to enclose a statement of the numbers
of the family still remaining in Scringapatam, and an esti-
mate of the carriage which will be required to take them
from hence. It does not appear possible to furnish it till
the army quits the ficld.

T have the honor to be, &c.

¢ The Right Hon.

the Gomerror Generall ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Harness, 74th Regt.

v

« Camp four miles west of Hullihall,
¢« Sir, 6th October, 1799.

<1 beg that you will be so kind as to desire Captain
Mackay to order sixty of the Hon. Company’s draft bullocks
to be taken from the place where they are grazing to Serin-
SUP. VOL. B
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gapatam, whete they are to remain in readiness to bring off
treasure to'the army.
¢The person who goes to Seringapatam in charge of the
bullocks, will receive orders to report himself to the pay-
master.
¢ 1 have the honor to be, &e.
¢ Lieut, Colonel Harness. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut, Colonel Harness.

¢ Camp four miles west of Hullihall,
« Sin, G6th October, 1799.

T enclose you the extract of a letter from the Scerctary
of Government, which I beg that you will be so kind as to
communicate to the parties concerned.  When I return to
camp, I will arrange the establishment of servants for the
departments left under the orders of Major Corner and of
Captain Mackay.

¢ By your letter, and some I have reccived from Captain
Barelay, I perceive that the brinjarries have been sent across
the Werdah with a very considerable supply of rice. Three
hundred bags from the grain department will, therefore, be
sufficient for the present, and I beg that you will not send
more, notwithstanding what was ordercd in my letter from
Soopah of the 4th instant.

¢ T have the honor to be, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Harness. ¢ Arriur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Tvellesley to Lieut, Colonel Harness.

¢ My prar CoLoNgr, ¢ Camp, 28th October, 1799.
¢ I reccived your letter respecting the grain in the grain
department last night, and 1 will delay to order the commit-
tee to sit upon it till [return to camp.  Licutenant Campbell
arrived this morning, and Colonel Campbell is rather better.
+ 1 shall be with you on the day after to-morrow.
¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Harness. ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Eieut. Colonel Clase, Kestdent at

. . Mysore. - 4
¢ My pEArR COLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 2nd Dec., 1799.
" <1 enclose you sunnuds for pensions for the killadar of
Chittledroog, the family of Hussein Ali Khan, Abdul Ma-
homed, the brother of Abdul Kuddars, about whom there
are orders in the letter from Colonel Kirkpatrick, which I
showed you; and the nanperverish about which I spoke to
you. Insert the names of the places at which the pensions
of the killadars are to be paid. .

< I have besides made out sunnuds, and have given orders
for the payment of the following pensions up to the 30th of
November. They stand upon the Family Fund.

Ibrahims Saheb's family - - - 3600 rupees  annually.
Ameen Saheb’s family - - - 600 star pags. ,,
Zemul Ab Dien Taker's widow  -' 200 star pags. ,,
Meer Kawder Aly - - - - - 400 star pags. ,,
Jerbent Aly Khan's family - - 400 star pags. ,,

¢ For all these orders have been received f‘wm the Go-
vernor General.
< Believe me, &ec.

« Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ArTnuR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close. .

« My prAkr COLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 7th Dec., 1799.

< 'The estimate of the monthly expense of a battalion is
4000 star pagodas. This is rather above the mark; but it
is better to have too much than too little.  Mr. Gordon shall
make arrangements for placing a servant in Soonda, to
whom this money may be paid.

¢ I have settled every thing for the reception of the Pyche
Rajah in the fort, and I will take charge of him whenever
Purncah shall send him.

« I shall be obliged to you if you will desire Purncah to
write to his amildar at Hooley Honore, and direct him to
send forward to Seringapatam the vakeels of the Ist of the
Ist, and the Ist of the Sth, who are coming there with the
detachment of these corps.

¢ I enclose you the sunnuds for the sirdars.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colunel Clos>) < ArTuUR WELLESLEY.
B2
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Eieut. Colonel Mayness,

¢ My pear CoLoNEL, * Seringapatam, 8th December, 1799.

< I have rececived and am much obliged to you for all your
letters. I recollect perfectly the paragraph in my instruc-
tions to Colonel Campbell, a copy of .which you have sent
me, and I have giverr orders upon the sibject of provisions
for the 74th, which will be transmitted to you this day.
They should have been issaed before now, only that I ima-
gined that you had a supply for twenty days of every thing
excepting of arrack, and I knew that you would be able to
get plenty of that at Bangalore, by the means of the persons
belonging to the provision department, who had been de-
tached from the army with you.

¢ Colonel Campbell gives a good account of himself, but
still T wish, for his sake, that he would go to the Carnatic in
order to insure his recovery.

¢ I have written to the military board on the subject of
your tents. It will be necessary that you should have pre-
pared an estimate of the materials, &e., which will be re-
quired to repair the tents which the committee have re-
ported unserviceable; as, by my letter to Colonel Campbell
of yesterday's date, you will perceive that I have stated to
him and to the Military Board the necessity of repairing
them in case your corps should he moved. We have not a
single tent in store at Seringapatam. 1 have desired the
commissary of supply to be prepared at Bangalore to an-
swer your indents for every thing that you will want, and I
imagine that he will have made his arrangements before the
papers can be returned from Fort St. George.

* Believe me, &e.
* Loeut. Colonel Harness. * ARTHUR Wum,:ﬂswy.

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
* My prar Coronet, * Seringapatam, 15th Dec., 1799,
L enclose you an extract of a letter from Colonel Kirk-
J)atrick. which will account for the excess of the nanperverish
compared with Macleod's list.  There is no such person in
Macleod’s list as « Jybea Ama,” as you will perceive by a
reference to it and there is in mine, Lhe difference in the
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amount of the pensions between Maclcod's list and mine is
to be attributed to the altération of the periods of payment.
When I came to give the sunnuds I consulted the Paymaster
respecting the nine payments in the year, and found it to
be so inconvenient to him, that after having ascertained the
annual amount of each pension, I thought it better to divide
it into twelve payments, according to our system.

* The annual amount, however, is precisely the same as it
would have been if the pension had been paid in nine pay-
ments, although the amount of cach payment is different.
The addition which T made to the list is the cause of the
difference in the annual amount of the whole.

< As I told you before, I am not so certain about the list
of nanperverish as about the other pensioners, as some were
granted by order of Colonel Kirkpatrick, of which I never
had a return. The best method of proceeding would be to
keep a certain latitude for them.

¢ I intend to include Chiableas in the Family Fund, as wo
settled when I saw you last.

¢ I shall do as you desire respecling the Bengal troops
when they march.  In the meantime I write to Colonel Ste-
venson this day respecting the conduct of the buttahon at
Chittledroog.

T enclose the extract of a letter which I have reecived
from Colonel Sherbrooke respecting the conduct of the
amildar at Chenapatan. In my opinion, the rule of pro-
ceeding between officers and amildars is, to take the most
serious notice of the conduct of the former, when it appears
to have been such as to deserve the complaint of the latter,
and never to pass over any disrespect from the amildars to
the officers.  Upon that principle I removed the officer from
Anantpoor, of whose conduct complaint was made.

< It is a mistake to supposc that the amildars in the coun-
try arc uniformly attentive to the officers, either passing with
detachments or travelling. 'They arc gencrally so, I allow ;
but I have had some serious and well-founded complaints of
their behaviour, which I have not brought forward, and
Purncah can let you know that I had some reason to ¢om-
plain of one of them in a case which went to the starving of
the people who were with me in Soonda.

« We well know the character of the natives of this
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country ; when they are likely to be supported they are the
most tyraanical and impudent of men, and there is no false-
hood which they will not tell. in support of, or as an excuse
for their conduct. The unpleasant situation in which officers
arc who travel through the Tanjore country ought to be
a warning to us here to avoid the error into which the gen-
tlemen there have fallen, and to take the most serious notice
of any attempt at disrespect made by people in authority.
The case is just this; an ‘officer of rank is travelling, he
sends for the amildar to speak to him, who refuses to attend
to him.  Without entering into the other subjects of dispute,
or other circumstances which ought to have gained for Co-
lonel Sherbrooke the greatest respect and attention ; such
as his having an hircarrah and a purwunnah from Purncah,
his acquaintance with the amildar, to whom, as commanding
officer of Scringapatam, he had given a cowlnamal, there is
enough in that statement,to draw upon the amildar the dis-
pleasure of the government, if it is to proceed in these kind
of disputes according to the only rule, which, in my opinion,
can ensure for the officers who are obliged to travel the con-
venienees which they have a right to expect, and for the
amildars good treatment.

* [ lave no object upon this subject exeepting tranquillity
in future, and 1 therefore recommend that whatever com-
plaint may be made of the officer, the amildar who has shown
an inclination not to be quite so civil as he ought to be may
be removed to some situation not immediately on the high
road to Madras.

¢ I 'have received a letter from Colonel Hart, in which he
enclosed me an order which he las given to a battalion of
sepoys to march to relieve the Ist of the 8th in Soonda. I
had, in conscequence, yesterday written to Captain Macfar-
lane, to order him to begin his march towards Chittledroog
as soon as be should be relieved.  But from what you say in
your letter, I have this day written to him to desire that he
will halt at Hullihall till he shall hear farther from me;
and I have dirceted him to endeavor to ascertain the truth
of the intelligence which you have reccived. The 4th regi-
fnent of cavalry has already arrived at Bangalore, the st at
Chittledroog, the 2nd at Sera; the th could be up with
them before they could be ready to begin any operations.
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They ought, however, to be all together, and to be near
the south Marhatta frontier, according to my former propo-
sition. .

¢ In consequence of a letter from Colonel Oliver, an ex-
tract of which I enclose, I wrote to Government for an
allowance for the destruction of tigers in the ncighbourhood
of Chittledroog, similar to that given in the Baramahl. 1
enclose you the copy of the answer.

< 1 have received orders to dis¢harge the bullocks and de-
partments which I have completed.

* Your man has been with me with a statement of the
quantity of timber which he wanted. I diminished it to that
which he thought would be sufficient to complete the build-
ings which you told me you intended to begin immediately.
Even that the stores could not at this moment supply.
However, we shall have more very shortly. He has got the
carts and bullocks to bring the carth for the wells, and
I believe is going on.

< I have cstablished the zabeta for the shops in the Fort,
as fixed by Macleod. It is to be paid annually, and when
Symonds comes, we can make an arrangement for its collec-
tion, and for that of the land-rent of the island after the
present year. The shops in Ganjam are rent free till the
4th of May, 1800, by agrcement.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close” ¢ Arruur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 16th Dee., 1799,
< I cnclose the copy of my letter to Government upon the
subjeet of the settlement of the accounts of the Family Fund.
< Believe me, &e.
¢ Licut. Colonel Close.’ ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colunel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoronEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 17th Dec., 1799,

< I have received from Government a copy of.their letter,
to you of the 10th inst., and I lament that it did not arrive
before I sent that. a copy of which went to you yesterday.
By the letter from Government to me, as well as that to you,
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it appears that' they were not awarc of the letter ‘written
to mo by Colonel Kirkpatrick on' the 24th of August, which
I have considered as sufficient authority for granting the
pensions asked for in my two letters of the 31st July and
19th August. I shall this day send to Webbe a copy of
Colonel Kirkpatrick's letter. ' :

¢ The 2nd of the 12th and 1st of the 2nd are to be in Se-
ringapatam. The lst of the 8th and 2nd of the 9th go to
Hydcrabad; the Ist of the Ist to Chittledroog. The 77th
is ordered into Mysore from Malabar, and a battalion ‘of
sepoys from Canara country into Bednore. It shall go into
Soonda, where, with two battalions, we shall be very respect-
able. I have written (privately) to the Adjutant General,
to inform him that I should not move the Ist of the 8th
until 1 heard something more of the intelligence which you
sent me the other day.

‘I have just heard from Sir William Clerke that he has
got one regiment of Europeans and two battalions of sepoys
at Goa, which, being upon the back of the Kolapoor man,
will make him cautious how he offends us. .

¢ I enclose you the copy of a letter reccived from Uhtoffe,
by which you will perceive that we have but a small chance
of establishing the tappall to I’oonah.

* Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. < ArTiiur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lirut. Colonel Harness.

¢ MY pEAR COLONEL, ¢ Scringapatam, 18th December, 1799.
* You must excuse me for not answering your letters ro-
gularly, but the truth is that I have not time always to write
to every body to whom answers are due, and I am obliged
to begin by those which are most pressing.
.« Captain Aytone has my permission to go to Krotenguy
for the time that you mention. B
* Iam.glad to find that your quarters are so good, but, as
,the 77th are ordered into this country, I do not imagine-that
you will- occupy them for any length of time. I should have
written to Colonel Campbell to apprize him of this-cireum-
stance, but as his state of health s so bad, and I knpw him
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to be affected by any circumstance which alters the situation
of the regiment, I have thought it better to communicate
it to you, and to lcave it to you to apprize him of it when
you think you can do so without injury to himself.

<I cannot too strongly press upon you the necessity of
advising him to go to the Carnatic. T should write to him
again upon this subject, only that it might be considered a
bore, and might do more harm, than good.

« T have written to the Militdry Board about your tents,
and I hope that I shall get the money for them.

¢ Belicve me, &ec.

« Lieut, Colonel Hurness. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

< My peArR COLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 19th Dee. 1799.

< I enclose a paper which I have recceived from Bombay
about the elephants which had formerly been in the pos-
session of Syed Saheb. Your works are going on. T have
some more timber for your man, and I have sent him some
trees, and shall have some more for him shortly.

< Believe me, &c.
¢ Licut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

<« My pear CoronEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 20th Dec., 1799.
< T enclose you an extract of a letter received this day from
_ Government. Let me know in what manner I shall proceed
with your house. It appears to me that the best way would
be to order your servant to complete your offices according to
your plan, and to repair the roof of the palace by mecans of
the native maistries, and to order payment of his bill. 1f
you approve of this, it shall be done.

<1 will order the wardrobe for the women, and we can
settle the mode of payment hereafter.

* Colonel Pater has informed me that he has received com-
plaints from his regiment at Sera that they can get no gram
there, and that the horse-keepers are obliged to go to a°
great distance for grass. It will probably be in the power
of Purneah to apply a remedy to the first; but as to the
second, I see none, excepting to remove the regiment to a

SUP. VOL. c
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better station. I wish that Government would réconsider
my proposition to post the cavalry in one place on the bank of
the Toombuddra, to put one battalion of native infantry into
Hurryhur, and three between Nuggur and Soonda. That
frontier is not now securc from insult, and, in my opinion,
will be insulted, should the Kolapoor man succeed against
Goklah,

‘You mentioned some time ago that Purneah would
bid for the gram contract when it was offered. In case you
should not have observed that the Military Board has adver-
tised it in the newspaper, 1 mention it to you.

‘Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Clyse.

‘ My pvrAr CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 21st Dec., 1799.

1 have just been down at the Laal Baug, and I find that
your works are going on well.  Your man had begun a wall
close to the water-course, and if that should at any time here-
after let any water through, your wall would suffer and pro-
bably come down. T have therefore desired him to cut away
half the thickness' of the wall which he has begun, to leave
about a foot distance between the water-course and your
wall, which may answer for a channel for the water which will
ooze through, and to add to the other side of the wall the
thickness which he takes from that on the side of the water-
course. The foundation of the whole proposed range of
offices is laid, and the walls about two or three fect above
the ground. It is unfortunate for the sake of both Gordon
and you, that he should have built his house in the garden,
as it prevents cither house from being private. What 1
should proposc would be to wall off that part occupied by
him, to have a common entrance where he now drives in his
phaeton, which might be made in such a manner as that you
would not interfere with onc another. If you wish it, I will
have this done before your return, and as walls are not very
handsome, I will cover those which must be near your house
with a crecper.

¢ I have reeeived your letter of the 19th. I wrote to Webb
about the bridge, and sent the estimate.
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« I hive sent’ you some  plantain trees, and shall have
others for you when the scason for cutting arrives.
¢ Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. © ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoNEL, ‘ ¢ Seringapatam, 22nd Dec., 1799.
¢ I have received your letter of the 13th inst., from Malla-
velly, by the hands of Mahomed Yascen, formerly nanper-
verish. By the letters from Government it does not appear
that 1 have any authority to grant any further pensions,
and I therefore think that you had better give this man a
sunnud.
¢ It scems that your letter upon this subject was written
before you received the last intimation from Government.
< Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.

< My peaArR CoLONEL, ¢ Scringapatam, 24th Dee., 1799,

< I enclose you a letter from Captain Munro, and I shall
be obliged to you if you will return it to me.

< A reference having been made to Government by Captain
Graham, nothing can be done in the business of which he
complains till their decision arrives. 1 have not written to
Captain Munro, nor shall I. You will probably be near
him, and instruct him as you think best. I was at your
house yesterday ; you have many people employed, but your
work does not advance. I understand that they do not work
during many hours in the day, and I have thercfore desired
Mr. Piele to speak to your dubash upon the subject. I am
afraid that by their idleness the work will be more expensive
than we expected, and that they will bring us to disgrace.

¢ I enclose you the copy of a letter from Captain Mackay.
I do not yet know how many bullocks are added to each
karkana in conscquence of the arrangement which 1 made
some time ago, but if any of the calves to which he alludes
are of a size and age fit for work, it will be desirable to have
them transferred to Captain Mackay as soon as possible.

c2
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+ ¢ I intend to go to Mysore the day after to-morrdtv darken)
the Rajah.

12

-~

¢ Believe me, &e.r -
« Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢« ArTHurR WEMESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Cloge,,,

* My pear CoroNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 24th Dee., ¥790)
« I have spoken to Barclay respecting Seyd Saheb's!
camels; he still thinks that they were not bought, butihe:
says that, even if they were, they are now dead, and ‘there'is’
an end of them. He also says that they might be set off:
against the clephants which Kawder Bodeem has got. i ui
« 1 have lately recommended to Government to dispose 0B
all the camels; and it might be proper, instcad of paying!
Seyd Saheb, to send him the number which we receivedt
from him ; of this, however, you arc the best judge. '
« There is to be a native corps from the Bombay establishd'
ment at Hullihall in Soonda, another at Nuggur, and another
Furopean corps at Chittledroog. It appears to me, that tﬁé ’
best way of paying the first would be for Government to'
order the collector in Canara to make issues to the Bomba’
Paymaster in Canara upon his receipt. Munro and the Pay-
master can then scttle whether the advances shall be'made’
iﬁ‘éh’."s i below the Ghauts or by bills upon' his amildars in
onda. " 1 have written to Hart upon this subjeet;and’hé!
thinks that this plan will answer. e
, < The best method of paying the Bombay troops at Nuggu#
and at Chittledroog will be by means of our Paymaster. 'He
mpkes advances to the commanding officers of corps upon’
their receipts, and they settle their abstracts, accounts, &e.
with the officer at Bombay. It will then be necessary to pro-
vide a sum at Nuggur amounting to about 3000 pagodas per
month, and another at Chittledroog amounting to about
6000, in addition to what we rcceive there at present from’
Purncah’s amildars. If you approve of all this, let me know’
it, and I will write to Government upon the subject. B
< Munro has paid Macfarlane 3000 Behaudry pagodas, for
which the latter has given his receipt. I have desiréd Mr.
Gordon to send Munro a bill upon the Paymgster-Géneral
at Madras for that sum. Macfarlanc’s receipt will g0 Back’
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ta, him, s Mr. Gordon has got his abstracts. with: . ineckipt
to them. - dup ol
<1 have just received your letter of the 24th. You are
the best judge what ought to be done with the amjldar.at
Chenapatam.  Colonel Sherbrooke complains of him, and it
appears by the man's own account that he had no reason to
complain of the Colonel. As he had a gentleman with him
who understands the language, there could be no doubtlof
his.having refused to go to Colonel Sherbrooke. .,Chig the
amildar now denies; but I observe a prebability that.if;is,
true even in the excuse which he makes; viz.-. that ;hey bagd.
not received orders to advance and mect him; 4, Colonel,
Sherbrooke is not a man who requires all ,m;%tmprﬁipg;y,‘
attontions described in your, letter, DoF. if hg did. js, it gro-
bable that any of the ‘amildars would pay, them ;, hut it
proper that he and all the officors passing thg rogd & qu‘&
receive civility, and. therefore it is that I wish that this amils,
dar may. receive & check for his conduct,. which will hg an
cxample to others. Of this we may be very eertain that,the,
officers will not bear incivility, and therefore it is hetter for;
all parties that the natives should. understand at once,, tl.lgq;',
they are to.be attentive totravellers. . . - . i
M Yow mtahﬂ;ﬁf Sem,ible.of this ﬁ?l am, and 1‘??19:"{?‘:?! i
Y%.vfiuudqmiu Deright. v vt aia tre gy n 'I‘J{‘«m“
«f Lgsye Butcha Rag a letter yesterday: ip eaﬁﬁ%m an
Deps, with 100 horsekeepers and four, ,gram, kettles, )T:Iillt,:fl
he has procured. The Bengal columns 'hav;e m?’;ﬁhﬁ , m\'{'
are to go to Madras, to be cbarked there for Bengal.,.
cnclose the copy of an order which 1 issucd yesterdsgy, a’pq.‘
I hope that we shall have no complaints of them. , .
« It would be very desirable to have an order given ({iii.t:..'
stating the number of coolics which an officer mai qa.l} fgr
from a village, the distance which he may be g.llq\{vc to té.ke’ ‘
them, and the amount which he is to pay to cach. 1f you
will speak to Purncah upon the subject, and let me know
his opinion and yours, 1 will issuc orders which will prevent
complaints (if possible) in future. . o
*Wecan make the payments on the beginning of J‘anqgry
without the assistance of the lac of Cantara'i ‘pagoyde‘w which
ypu gave to Mr. Gordon. He, however, Aw1lll‘requ1rc your
aspj_st‘anccéin Ja.‘m‘xary, as llc 'did in this mo:nt.h, folr thc): ]?\gy-
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ments at Bangalore and Chittledroog, and Mr. Gordon will
let you know to what extent. Let us know as soon as pos-
sible if Purncah should not be able to lodge moncy at these
places, as, if he cannot, we must send it from hence.

¢ After the capture of Seringapatam and before the coun-
try was given over to the Rajah, some brass swamies, which
were in the toshckana, were given to the brahmins of
different pagodas by order of Macleod and the General.
‘The prize agents require payment for them, and say, that
if they are not paid for, the Committee will charge the value
against them. This amounts to abouf 500 pagodas. Butcha
Ruao, to whom I have spoken upon the subject, says that, as
they were given to the brahmins by order of the General
and before the country was given to the Rajah, it is not
proper that he should pay for them. 1 lhave desired him to
give the prize agents a receipt for the swamics, and, as it
appears that they are to be paid for, you will be the best
judge, whether by the Rajah, by the Company, or by the
General.

‘ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ Avtnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A, Wellesley to Liewt. Colonel Close.

¢ My near CoLonkr, * Seringapatam, 28th December, 1799,

* I was at your housc the day before yesterday, and had a
long conversation with your servant. I find that your works
are going on, although slowly, yet that he has made such con-
tracts as will prevent the delay from creating any very great
expense. 1 shall go to Laal Baug whenever I have time.

“ I went yesterday to Mysore, and was happy to find the
Rajah so much improved. 1t gave me great satisfaction
also to see the progress which has been made in building the
palace and the works of the old fort. These are strong
proofis that the conveniences and prejudices of the family are
not unattended to. I will not do anything in regard to this
non-purverish till I hear further from you.

¢ I have written to Campbell a long letter about the
nerrick of exchange, in which 1 have endeavored to explain
the principles of the whole system of shroffing, against the
cvils of which his regulations are to guard. From what 1 am
going to mention to you, however, I am afraid that if the
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nerrick at Bangalore is permanently fixed, I must loosen my
system here, and must allow the exchange to fluctuate.

< In all the conversations which you and I have had upon
this intricate subject, we have agreed that the shroff derived
a profit only by fluctuations. It is therefore clear that in
Seringapatam there is no, or but little profit, and that there
would be no shroffs here if they did not find one elsewhere,
or that they would combine to force me to allow the exchange
to fluctuate. I have lately made inquiries upon the subject,
and I find that the great shroffs here have houscs at Banga-
lore, at Sera, and at ¥he principal places on the Malabar
coasts, and they make their profit by the fluctuation at those
places.

¢ Seringapatam is a place of great security, where there is
much trade, and of course exchange of money. In order to
have this security, the shroffs forego the advantages which
they would derive upon the fluctuation in the exchange, and
they have all the advantages of the fluctuation at places at
no great distance, where the exchange is not fixed. But fix
that exchange, and there is an end of their means of liveli-
hood; and of course they must either abandon the trade en-
tirely, or force me to allow a fluctuation in the place where
they carry it on.

<1 doubt whether the destruction of our fixed nerrick at
Scringapatam will not be an inconvenience to the country,
as well as to us; and therefore nothing ought to be done
which can endanger it.

¢ Let me know your opinion upon this subject. There is
no reason, however, why Campbell should not now alter the
nerrick so as to make it more convenient to Purncah.

¢ One of the principles resulting from the position that the
shroff’s profit is made by fluctuation is, that if the exchange
is fixed, it is immaterial what proportions of gold, silver, and
copper are cxchanged for one another. The Company’s ex-
change, therefore, is as convenient as any other, and as near
the standard relative value of the threc metals; and as the
fixation of the nerrick, was readily adopted by the shroffs
in Seringapatam; in the same manner, if the exchange is
allowed to fluctuate from month to month in any place, pro-
vided the shroffs can know in onc month what value rela-
tively to each other the different coins in use will bear in the
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next, it is immaterial to them what that value is. By means
of their correspondents and conncxli)on§tin other places, they

ill be prepared for, and will gain by it.
Wlll Whl;tli should rccommcid would be, that Campbell
should fix a reasonable nerrick, and inform the shroffs that
in fifteen days that shall have cffect; and then fix another,
which he must likewise communicate to them, and inform
them that that must have effect in the following month,
Thus he will free himself from a part of the grievance felt,
at the same time that his operations will not affect us here,
I shall not relieve your cavalry for some time.

¢ Belicve me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLLSLEY.

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

My prar CoLonrr, ¢ Seringapatam, 30th Dec., 1799,

“Lenclose a letter which arrived yesterday for you, from
the Rajah of Koorg, and one which came with it for me. 1
shall write a civil answer, and not enter into any onc of the
topics which he has started.

<1 sent you a letter yesterday from Uhtoffe, which I
opened, as it was directed to you or to me.

* I now enclose the order omitted in a former lotter. The
Bengal troops have marched, and I have heard no com-
plaints; 1 do not send after them your routes, as I hope
they will be ncarly out of the country before they can re-
ceive them,

‘ When you send me the papers, which you say are in
your contemplation, I will consider them, and shall issue
orders to the troops accordingly.

* I'was at your house yesterday, which is getting on tole-
rably, but not very quickly.

¢ Believe me, &e.

<y
Lieut. Colonel Close, * ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

* I have written to Munro, to desire that he will gi
, will give Mac-
farlane 3000 Behaudry pagodas, in J anuary.’ s
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Clolonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEAR COLONEL, * Seringapatam, 3rd January, 1800.

< I have received a letter from Lambton, in which he in-
forms me, that he has had a conversation with Mr. Webbe,
who told him, that his plan for the survey of the Company’s
territories, and those of the Rajah, had the full concurrence
of Government, and that he had been referred to you for the
establishment, which he will find necessary to enable him to
put his plan in cxccution. He tells me that he shall want
some people for the cagriage of his instruments, a draughts-
man, and a writer, and a young man from the obscrvatory,
who will assist him in his calculations, if there should be one
capable of so doing. As the tent which he will want is an
observatory, and, as he cannot procure such a one from the
stores, he is desirous of being put on tent allowance. All
this appears reasonable; Webbe desired Lambton to send
for the instruments, which he was desirous of having from
Bengal ; so that nothing remains to be done, but to arrange
the little matters above mentioned, and to set him to work.

¢ I have this day reccived a letter from Webbe, in which
he says, that, from considerations of expense, they are in-
clined to decline for the present to adopt any plan for build-
ing a bridge at Seringapatam. He has, however, written
upon the subject to Bengal, where I observe that their ideas
are not quite so cconomical; I believe because they do not
feel so sensibly the pressure for money.

¢ I enclose an extract of Webbe's letter upon the subject
of pensioners, and copy of an endorsement at the back of my
letter of the 16th December (a copy of which I before sent
you). T understand this to be the arrangement proposed by
Government, and I shall be obliged to you, if you will let me
know whether I have formed a correct notion.

< The family here, and the pensions upon the Family
Fund, are to be paid by the Paymaster of the stipends at
Vellore (i. . Licutenant Colonel Doveton). The mosques
and tombs by the Paymaster at Seringapatam, chargeable
to the Company. The pensioners residing at Seringapatam
and Mangalorc (not upon the Family Fund) to be paid
by you, and are chargeable to the Rajah. The pensioners

SUP. VOL. D
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residing in the Carnatic and Baramahl to be paid by the
Company’s Paymaster, and (I suppose) chargeable to the
Company ; those at Madras chargeable to the Rajah.

¢ In conformity to Webbe's desire, stated in the endorse-
ment, I propose to send him a list of all the pensions which
I have granted since the receipt of Colonel Kirkpatrick's
letter of the 24th August, divided into the different classes.
These will be confirmed, and then the matter will be smooth.
1 likewise propose to transmit to Doveton the account of
payments to the family here made by me. I will, however,
send neither of these papers until I hear from you in answer
to this letter.

< Webbe tells me that an order upon the subject of prize
affairs is arrived from Bengal, and will be published here in
a few days; he also says that an arrangement is made for
Tanjore, by which the whole country is permanently annexed
to the British empire. He says that it will be carried into
cxceution in a few days.

¢TI enclose you a curious packet of papers which I have
received from Cummer Oo Dicn. I shall send him a civil an-
swer this day, and inform him that you are gone to the fron-
tier, where you will settle every thing with him.

¢ The walls of your offices are raised to within about four
feet of the height which it is intended they should be; it will
take, however, ten or twelve days to build them up, as the
people cannot build more than about a foot and a half in a
day, which must be allowed to dry and scttle for three or four
days before more can be added to it. In the mean time the
doors and door-cases are nearly ready, as is the roof; so
that 1 have hopes that the offices will be finished by the end
of the month.

¢ I have received a letter from Campbell, in which he says
that you and Purncah settled the exchange at Bangalore. I
conclude that he showed you my letter. If you are of the
same opinion with me upon the subject of fixing permanently
the mnerrick of exchange in the principal places about Serin-
gapatam; and if, in consequence of leaving it subject to
variation, the Rajah should suffer in his revenues, would it
not be possible and proper to make the people pay the circar
according to the exchange fixed at Seringapatam? This, it
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must be allowed, is as nearly according to the value of the
different coins as it can be made.
* Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colunel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My prAR CoLoONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 7th January, 1800.

“ I some time ago addressed Government upon the subject
of certain wounded inhabitants of Seringapatam, and scpoys
in the service of the late Tippoo Sultaun, who had received
medical assistance, and had been fed since the fall of the
place by order of the Commander in Chief. Some of them
still remained in the hospital, and others were disabled by
their wounds in such a manner as to render it very impro-
bable that they would again be able to gain their own liveli-
hood; Government conceiving, as it appears, that these na-
tives were in the Company’s service, desired that I would
order an invaliding Committee to assemble and examinc and
consider their cases; and that I should transmit their pro-
ceedings to the Commander in Chief. Having done so, it
appears by the enclosed letter that Government now intend
that these invalids should be pensioned, and that the burthen
should fall upon the Rajah.

¢ There are some of these invalids still in the hospital, and
they, as well as others who do not require medical assistance,
but who are entirely disabled by their wounds, receive three
quarters of a seer of rice and one pice per day; I propose to
kecp them upon this allowance until you can make a proper
arrangement for them in concert with Purneah.

< I will to-morrow transmit you a list of the names of those
who will receive this allowance, and a copy of the proceedings
of the invaliding Committee who considered their cases.

¢ I enclose you copies of two lefters from Captain Macfar-
lane. If Goklah falls a prey to this Dhoondiah, I think it
probable that the peace either of the Rajah’s, or of the Com-
pany’s territories, will be disturbed. »

< Believe, e, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Clase. ¢ Artuur WELLESLEY.

¢ The 74th regiment are ordered to "Lrichinopoly, and the

77th are coming from Cannanore, on their way to Chittle-
p2
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droog, where it does not appear that there are any accommo-
dations for them.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 9th January, 1800.

«I received your letter of the 6th last night. 1 perccive
that your ideas and mine agree respecting the pensions, ex-
cepting in the case of those not upon the Family Fund resid-
ing in the Company’s and the Nabob’s territorics. Your idea,
where we differ, appears most correct. I have this day sent
to Webbe the statement for whieh he wishes, and of which I
enclosc you a copy. It includes your friend at Mallavelly as
a nanperverish.

¢ To-morrow 1 shall transmit to Colonel Doveton an ac-
count of the sums drawn by me from the Family Fund ; and
then I hope that I shall have done with this business.

< T have ordered the detachment from Cankanclli, in com-
pliance with Purncal’s wishes.

I enclose the copy of a letter from Captain Munro. I
have ordered him to remain where he is, or to take up such
other position as will enable him to fulfil the original object

of forming his detachment, as well as to protect the country

from the depredations of the Soonahgul man.
¢ As it is probable that Cummer Oo Dien will not now
attack Punganoor, the two objeets may not be incompatible,
I am obliged to delay till to-morrow to send you the papers
respecting the wounded inhabitants.
* Believe me, &e.
¢« Lieut. Colonel Close? ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. IWellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My prar CoroneL, ¢ Seringapatam, 10th January, 1800.

« L enclose two letters from Captain Munro ; I have, in an-
swer, warned him against committing himself with Cummer
Oo Dien, against pursuing the Soonahgul man into the Ni-
zam's territorics, or suffering Cummer Oo Dien to come into
the Rajal’s. I have recommended civil unmeaning commu-
nication, if even any should be desirable.

* I have arranged for the wounded inhabitants and sepoys
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as follows; and I will keep my letter open to the last moment
to send you lists of them. If you do not get them this day
vou shall to-morrow.

< They have hitherto received three quarters of a scer of
rice and three pice, or thirty cash per day: the expensc to
the Company, about one fanam each. As they would be
much better enabled to live by getting the fanam than by
getting the rice and the pice, I have determined to give it to
them.

< They were nearly all examined by an invaliding Com-
mittee ; from those which this rejected I have withdrawn
the allowance, and have extended it to a few who are in the
general hospital, who were so sick as to be unable to attend
the invaliding Committee, and whosc names do not therefore
appear on its proceedings. The wholc number is under
ninety, so that the expense will amount to about two pagodas
per day.

¢ Believe me, &ec.

* Lieut. Colonel Close’ ¢ ArtHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 13th January, 1800.

< T enclose the copy of a letter from Captain Macfarlane.
1 have recommended to Government that the Ist of the 8th
may be left in Soonda till the event of the approaching con-
test is known. I likewise enclose some papers received from
Cummer Oo Dien.

< Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArRTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLonkr, ¢ Seringapatam, 17th January, 1800.

<I have reccived your letter of the L3th. Long cre this
. you will have received the account of the wounded inha-
bitants and sepoys, and will have perceived that the tem-
porary provision which I have arranged for them is not ex-
travagant.

<1 saw a letter from Mr. Bowles some time ago, and I
desired Captain Barclay to inform him, that as I concluded
he had reported himself to head quarters, he would do well

17 025
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to apply there for leave for himself, and for orders for his
detachments to march, which, under the existing circum-
stances, I could not give him.

 Your business at the Laal Baug is going on well. In a
few days the cook room and the remainder of that side of
the building will be covered in, and 1 expect that ti# wholo
will be finished by the end of the month.

«I have had a conversation with Butcha Rao about the
roof of the palace, which will be begun in a few days; your
doors, painting, &c., are going on well.

¢ If possible to obtain it, Mr. Gordon will want, as soon as
he can get it, about 17,000 rupees at Nuggur; I think you
told me, in a former letter, that Purncah could give that sum
there monthly.

¢ There has been some difficulty between Munro and Mr.
Gordon respecting the payment of the Behaudry pagodas,
which the former advanced to Captain Macfarlane.

 Mr. Gordon sent him a bill for star pagodas upon the
Paymaster General, calculating the cxchange as ordered
here by the General, and which is in future the Company’s
exchange. Munro says that he cannot take it, as it is not
the exchange settled in Canara, which is 10 per cent. I
have reccommended that they should settle the matter, or ra-
ther that they should shove it off their shoulders on those of
the Revenuc Board, and of Ben Rocbuck, by Mr. Gordon
giving Munro an order upon the Paymaster General for the
amount in Behaudry pagodas instead of in stars; I rather
believe that this expedient will be adopted.

< Believe me, &e.
¢ Ligut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLonkt, ¢ Seringapatam, 23rd January, 1800.

* I have reccived your letter of the 20th, and I have, in
consequence, ordered to Nundydroog the two companies of .
the 5th regiment, now at Bangalore, a troop of cavalry, two
field picces and artillery attached. I hope that they will be
at Nundydroog on the 25th.

¢ L'have desired Major Cuppage to station Captain Irton
in Gomnair Pollam, and have left it to his discretion to
weaken Captain Munro to such extent as he might find ne-

o
’
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cessary: under all the existing circumstances, however, I
think it desirable that he should be strong. I have ordered
Major Cuppage to draw in the post from Dronelly, and
Lieut. Colonel Tolfrey to relieve from Mudgherry that at
Chenroydroog. If. however, it is clear that the post at the
latter }ikce will not be wanted, it will be best that it should
be called to Nundydroog without waiting for the relief. Of
this, being on the spot, you will be the best judge, and will
make Major Cuppage acquainted with your wishes.

¢ When the whole foree shall have arrived at Nundydroog,
it will be a respectable reinforcement. If it wants an in-
crease, we must add cavalry to it from Bangalore, untll I can
send more infantry from hence.

¢ As two companics, and some cavalry, and two guns, will
be at Nundydroog on the 25th, and you will probably find
them sufficient for your purpose, I have not disturbed the
post at Mudgherry; but I have written to Coloncl Tolfrey to
desirc that he will order the officer there to be in readiness
to move at a short notice, if you should find it nceessary to
call for him.

¢ Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colunel Close.’ ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My prar CoLoONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 24th January, 1800.

* I have received your letter of the 21st, with a duplicate
of that of the 20th, and I am glad to find that the arrange-
ments, which I communicated to you in my letter of yester-
day, will meet your wishes.

I have given Major Cuppage full power over the detach-
ments, which are from Nundydroog, so that all will, T trust,
go on well. I shall leave it to him cither to detain or to
send back the troop of the 4th regiment ordered from Ban-
galore. I have this day sent a supply of emergent ammu-
nition.

< When you shall have settled matters with the Nizam's
vakeel, there will be no longer any difficulties with the poly-
gars on the frontier.

¢ Mr. Gordon will take the money at Nuggur, at the
Seringapatam cxchange.
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“ The ¢ook room and zodoun at the Laal Baug are coyered
in, and the remainder of the building is ready for. the roof,
which will be on, I hope, by the end of the month. Things
are going on well inside of the palace; but I do not like the
painting of the outer room above stairs. It wants ornament
sadly, and looks very bare and unfinished, in congparison
with the other highly ornamented apartments. Nothing has
yet been done to the roofs; but I had another conversation
with Butcha Rao about it yesterday, and pressed him to
commence upon it.

¢ We have had much trouble in procuring dooley boys to
send away the 74th regiment. There are nunbers of them
in this country, as I am informed ; but Purneah’s people, in-
stead of providing them, have sent to the 74th about half the
number of coolies; and even of those that were sent from
hence one half have deserted, and the remainder refuse to
carry the doolies. The inconvenience of all this is, that the
corps is delayed. If Purncah’s people had said at first,
cither that they could not get people of the proper kind, or
that they would not answer for them, 1 could have sent off
some of our own dooley bearers who are here, and who were
to have been cmployed in emptying our hospitals at Chittle-
droog, Scra, and Seringapatam. These dooley bearers must
now be sent to the 74th ; and the hospitals must remain full.
It is very desirable that Purncah’s people should give us all
the assistance which the country can afford, and that they
should not deceive us respecting the nature of it. I am
afraid that it will be imagined at head quarters, either that
I have not used all the exertion in my power, or that I am
not inclined to move the 74th.

¢ Believe me, &c.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 25th January, 1800.
‘T have received sad complaints from Colonel Campbell
about his dooley bearers, but I have applied a remedy by
sending those belonging to the army, which I had intended
should be used to carry the convalescents and wounded from
our different hospitals. It was unfortunate that they de-
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ccived me by assurances, that the country bearers would not
disappoint us ; as otherwise I should have had the 74th in
march about ten days ago. I have long objected to send-
ing a regiment to Chittledroog, becausc there is no accom-
modation for them, and the battalion has been found very
unhealthy, and I am afraid that the dclay of the march of
the 74th will be attributed to my wish to detain them at
Bangalore, instead of to its real cause. This makes me feel
the disappointment more than I should otherwisc.

< I enclose some papers which I have received from Cap-
tain Mackay, and I shall be obliged to you if you will re-
quest Purncah to send orders to the amildars to assist our
bullocks as much as they can. Mackay has sent a man to
look at a feeding ground, between this place and Periapatam,
which, he understands, will answer for all the bullocks for
some time. If it should be found to answer, he will remove
them thither.

<1 have lately written to Government about them, and
have recommended that they may be kept as an establish-
ment, and that the cows, by which the breed is to be kept up,
may be left in the hands of the Rajah’s people.

<1 believe I informed you, some time ago, that while 1
was absent with the army, Colonel Sherbrooke had altered
the nerrick of artificers, and of all kinds of materials for
building, at the instigation of Captain Norris. My atten-
tion has latcly been drawn to this subject by intelligence
which I have received, that the Government intend to put
the troops in this country on half batta, and to give the
officers the usual lodging money. As then they will have
to build their own houses and quarters, the expense of build-
ing becomes an object; and, in the examination of the sub-
jeet, a system of engincering has come out well worthy of
the example sct at Madras.

<1 have not yet been able to remedy the mischief done in
_my absence, as we have the advantage here of the assistance
of some Madras dubashes and maistries: but I have sent
notice to these gentlemen that, if they do not settle the
matter to my satisfaction, in the course of a few days, I shall
send away all the Madras pcople who are now in this
place.

« With this and a remedy for thieving, which, since the
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camp thicves have joined the old gangs upon the island, has
increased to an immoderate degree, I have been much taken
up lately; but I hope that I have made some progress in
applying the cure. I conclude that you will be here in the
middle of next month.
¢ Believe me, &ec.
*Lieut. Colonel Close. “ ArTRUR WELLESLEY.

* Butcha Rao has just been with me, and I find-that some
steps have been taken to collect materials for the roof of
your house. I hope that considerable progress will be made
in the repair of it before you return.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLonkt, ¢ Seringapatam, 26th January, 1800.
‘I enclose a letter from Captain Mackay. I approve of
his plan for collecting the bullocks in one place, and keep-
ing them under his own cye.
¢ Belicve me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 29th January, 1800.

“ I have lately reccived a letter from Captain Macfarlane,
in which he says that Dhoondiah and Kutraha Pundit had
received directions from the Kolapoor Rajah to draw nearer
to Kolapoor. This is attributed to his fears of the force
coming from Poonah : Goklah had not moved from Savanore,
but was preparing to do so.

¢ A letter has been received by Colonel Campbell, from
head quarters, which proves that I was not mistaken in my
conjectures respecting the opinion which would be enter-
taincd in consequence of the delay of the march of the 74th
regiment.

I am glad to find that we are able to keep down the po-
lygars so casily. Residence with Purncah is an essential
article in any agreement that may be made with them.

‘ Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close.” ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.

¢« My pEAR CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 31st January, 1800.

I am obliged to you for the account of your proceedings
with the Hydcrabad vakeel contained in your letter of the
28th instant, which I received this morning; I see plainly
that we must still keep ourselves strong on that frontier;
and accordingly I have made my arrangements for strength-
ening Major Cuppage to such a degree as to cnable him to
detach to the posts which it appears to be nccessary to
occupy to keep a sufficient garrison in Nundydroog, and to
have a force ready to send out in pursuit of the robbers who
are likely to disturb the country. But to do this I am
obliged to withdraw the troops from Severndroog, and to leave
nothing there excepting a small guard. This I conceive to
be of little importance at the present moment, and it will
enable me to put under the command of Major Cuppage
nearly fourtcen companies of native infantry. These will be
distributed as follows :—two in Gommair, one in Gorrybun-
dah, one in Busla Gunta, three with Captain Munro, seven
in Nundydroog. This, with onc troop of cavalry, and two
field-picces, besides what Captain Munro has, will be suffi-
cient to answer all calls which may be made either for re-
inforcements or new detachments.

< It will be desirable to keep Captain Irton at Nundy-
droog, in order to send him out in command of any detach-
ments which it may be necessary to make from that gar-
rison.

<1 hope that the 74th regiment has marched, and I am
not very anxious about the immediate removal of the conva-
lescents from the hospitals. I will not thercfore take the
workmen, who I sce are so well employed at Mysore, and 1
will wait with paticnce until proper bearers can be supplied
from the country.

* Mackay's letter will have pointed out the place to which
he wishes that the bullocks should be taken.

< I have completely succceded against the artificers, and
have made some progress against the thicves: at least,
thieving is stopped here for the present. I have not re-
ceived orders to carry into cxecution the plan for the court
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of justice. I have altered the ornaments of your room, anq
wait till it is finished to see whether any more extensive or-
naments will be necessary; I will then assemble there the
Committee which you propose.
¢ Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close.' * < ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Harness.

¢« My pEarR CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 2nd February, 1800.

¢1 have received your letter of the 31st January, which has
given great satisfaction. It rarely happens (particularly in
this country) that it is in the power of an officer in command
to please those who are under his orders; and when he is so
fortunate, it is to be attributed as much to their good dispo-
sition, as to any cfforts he may have made for that purpose.
I regret exceedingly, on public as well as private grounds,
that the 74th regiment is removed from Bangalore; but you
must have been long enough in this country to perceive, that
the public intcrest and convenicence are not upon all occa-
sions the cause of the public measures.

1 do not think that your corps will be drafted, at least
not for some time; although I have seen the resolutions of
thanks from the Court of Directors, and their songs of
triumph, the burthen of all of which is the prospect of per-
manent peace in India, and of course the consequent dimi-
nution of the military establishments and expenses.

* 1 think you are right in going to England, cven if the
74th should remain here.

¢ Believe me, &e.
« Lieut, Colonel Harness.’. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY,

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley tv Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoner, ¢ Seringapatam, 3rd February, 1800.
¢ I have no concern whatever about the dooley boys, ex-
cepting that the want of them created a delay in the march
of a corps, and I feared that that delay would be attributed
to a desire to detain them in this country. Government have
placed great confidence in me; and I should be sorry to
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have any thing happen which might have the appearance
of a job, as that would, in one moment, destroy the whole
edifice. .

I am afraid that it will be impossible to have the 77th
removed to Bangalore, although I think that Chittledroog is
at present an improper plat.:e for them. My sentiments upon
this subject, and the grounds upon which I have formed
them, are known at Madras.

« Mackay will take the bullocks to the places which I men-
tioned to you; and it is certainly very desirable that a per-
son from Purncah should reside with him. I have strongly
recommended that the bullocks should be retained as an
cstablishment in the Company’s service, and have’ repre-
sented that to give them gram would be beneficial to them,
and not add materially to the oxpense. It does add about
twenty pagodas per month to the expense of cach karkana
(of which there are thirty five), supposing the gram to be at
forty two scers for a rupee ; but it is now at fifty two in this
necighbourhood, and at forty five in the bazaar at Seringapa-
tam. Every diminution of the expense which can be made
will be an additional motive for keeping the bullocks, and
therefore I am desirous of not making a bargain to take
gram at the price contracted for the cavalry, as the contract
may be monopolized as it has been hitherto ; but I should
prefer that Purneah should give it us as he has hitherto, at
the rate of the country in which the bullocks may be. There
is, however, no occasion for hurrying a decision upon this
subjcct, and it will be as well to defer the further considera-
tion of it until we meet.

¢ The same reason which induces me to wish to kecp down
the expensec of gram for the bullocks, induces me to try to
get the straw for them for nothing. It appears that in the
distant countries there is no demand and no sale for it, and it
therefore cannot be stated to be a grievance upon the people
to take from them that which they cannot use, cannot dis-
pose of, and must burn. It is but for a short time in the
year, as I understand, that the bullocks want straw, and at
that time I should propose that they should be sent to a
particular place at a distance from any great town, canton-
ment, or garrison, where a certain proportion of the whole
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quantity of the straw produced might be collected for them
in each village. 'This they might get for nothing.

¢ Mackay tells me that Purneah has made an arrange-

ment alrcady similar to the above for the bullocks in the
neighbourhood of the grazing ground in which they are
now. He has in his hands the order for what is called the
sircar’s share of the straw, which in general rots. I approve
highly of any arrangement which can be made which will
give the people a fair price for their straw ; and it is to be
obscrved that the lower it is bought the better it is for
them, provided it is sufficient to pay for the trouble of taking
care of it, and to compensate them for it.  As the straw is to
be paid for, I agree with you that the whole of it must be
forthcoming when wanted.  The straw for the bullocks stands
upon a different footing ; and of this it is but fair that the
ryots should have as much as they can use. Indeed, it is
taken from them for nothing, only on the principle that they
cannot make use of it.

¢ I wish you joy of the conclusion of your negotiations with
the Nizam's vakeel.

¢1 shall send on Wednesday twenty clephants and one
hundred draught bullocks for Lady Clive’s use. She leaves
Madras in the first week in March, and I propose to go to
the fronticr to mecet her.  She will do well, in my opinion, to
stop at Bangalore till the month of June, as April and May
arc very hot here. I have desired Grant to ask her to
Dowlut Baug, the zenana of which, when a little improved,
will accommodate her and her family admirably. Neither of
the palaces would answer for 8 woman at all, as they are so
much exposed.

¢ I have already improved your room muth, and I wait to
sce the cffcet of what has been done, when I propose to go
there with Mr. Gordon; and if it wants further ornament it
shall have it.

“ I enclose a letter from Macfarlane. A fellow came here
this day and informed me that he had come from the Mar-
hatta country as far as Toomkoor, with a gang employed by
Dhoondiah to carry me off when I should go out hunting.
He says that Dhoondiah proposes to collect a large gang in
this neighbourhood, and to join them himself. In order to
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prove to him how little I fear his gang, I go out hunting
to-morrow; but I have desired my friend to join his gang
again, and I have promised him a reward if he will enable
me to lay hands upon them in this neighbourhood.

I have a letter from Stevenson, who having employed
some of Oliver’s hircarrahs, has got accounts that Scindiah
had joined the Kolapoor man; that Nana had sent 50,000
horse from Poonah to join Appah Saheb; that Aristo Jah
was_discharging all the Nizam’s horse, and sending them
to Dhoondiah; that he was in sccret communication with
Scindiah, and that Scindiah had sent 10,000 northern beggyars
to Beder to escort him from thence into the Marhatta coun-
try; that he had shut up the gates of Hyderabad, &e. &c.
all about a cock and a bull!

¢ Believe me, &ec.
« Lieut. Colonel Close.’ < ArTnur WELLESLEY.

17.028
Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEARrR CoOLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 4th February, 1800.

¢ My friend was with Barclay again this morning, and
repeated his story and assurances of its truth. He added,
what he only hinted at yesterday, that the gang have some
designs upon Mysore; and upon the whole it appcars
more like a plundering party than any thing clse. As no-
thing could be more unpleasant than any accident to the
family at Mysore, I have apprized the officer in command
there of the intelligence which I have received, and have put
him on his guard ; but I have desired him to be cautious to
do nothing which can in the smallest degree alarm the family.
I was out hunting this morning, and West * thinks that he
saw some people, about twenty, on horseback. I acknow-
ledge that I saw nothing of them. But if they were there,
and my friend keeps true to us, I shall have them this night.

 Believe me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

* Captain West, 33¢d regiment, aide de camp to Colonel Wellesley.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. ColonelClose.

¢ My pear CoLONEL, * Seringapatam, 5th February, 1800.

¢ 1 have received your letter of the 2nd instant. Since
I wrote to you yesterday I have heard from Captain Stewart,
who informs me that there had been for some days a bazaar
report at Mysorc that there was a vagabond party of cavalry
belonging to Dhoondiah in the country ; but he had given no
credit, nor paid any attention to it. He promises to take all
the precautions which I pointed out to him.

* My opinion is this; the man who gave me the information
very probably heard the bazaar report, and thought that by
adding my name, and informing me that my safety was in
question, he should get a reward. But I conceive that the
bazaar report does not add to, indeed I rather think it takes
from the degree of credit which might be given to the story.
If it be true that there has been this bazaar report for several
days, it cannot be truc that this man came with the party
from Savanore, that he left them at T'oomkoor, and that he
arrived here only two days ago. Upon the whole, therefore,
I think that the business has originated in a bazaar report,
for which it is probable there is no foundation, as it docs not
appear that the country in this neighbourhood has been at
all disturbed, which it would have been if such a banditti had
come into it, or that the Rajah's people have rcceived any
information of their arrival, which it is certain would have
been given to them.

¢ However, the man who gave the information is now out,
and I am prepared for any that he may bring.

¢I have still some trouble with brickmakers; and in order
to bring matters to rights I am afraid that I must give
a monopoly; I have threatened it this day, from which
I hope the best consequences.  They have come down from
ten rupees a thousand to six; I want to bring them to five,
which will answer. '

¢ Believe me, &e.

« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

< My peAr CoLONEL, « Seringapatam, 8th February, 1800.

¢ My friend came in this morning and gave me informa-
tion that a party of the pcople, about whom he had spoken
to me before, was at Coorghelly, about three coss beyond
Nunjuncode, and other parties in different villages and in
the jungles between the two. That four sirdars (two of
whose names are Imaun Khan and Kawder Saheb, the latter
of whom had been a russildar, under the orders of Khan
Jehan Khan) were with their followers, their baggage, and,
he believes, the treasure, at Nunjuncode, in a large house in
the fort, inhabited by a musselmann, whose Lrother is one of
the party. That this musselmann owner of the house is the
man who formerly, when Dhoondiah was a prisoner, had
charge of him, and paid him his allowance. That besides
these parties there is onc, at a village about a coss from
Mysore, called Enncchully, of five Marhattas: and there are
four musscelenn upon the island of Scringapatam, ncar the
Chendgall ford. It is supposed that there are other parties
in different villages, as by this man’s story it appears that
there is a tappall to these sirdars from hence.

¢ I have made the following arrangements, and if there is
any truth in the story, I hope to have the sirdars in the
morning. Captain Robertson rides over to Mysore this
evening; and about twelve this night will start from thence
with fifty men; and in order that he may be able to sur-
round the house completely, he will take with him from
Mysore some officers, who went there this morning on a party
of pleasure. He takes with him the man who has given the
information, and he will reach Nunjuncode before day, and
will scize the sirdars. He then sends back a party to En-
nechully, who it is hoped will catch the Marhattas; but as
they have no regular place of abode, and nobody knows
Jhem, excepting the man who has given the information, and
who is to return with this party, I do not expect that they
will be taken. There is a thief here who knows the mussel-
menn on the island, and is acquainted with their place of
abode: I shall send a party towards morning to scize
them.

<1 think it probable that if we get the sirdars, the people

SUP, VOL.
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at Coorghelly and in the jungles will disperse and b, of.
all events we could not expect to catch them, and theref, N
1 30 not send after them. e
* My plan Is to give orders that all the prineipal men tay
be kept scparate; I shall have them examined separately,
and send to Government copies of their examinations, and
the story of the man who first gave the information. The
proper thing to do with them would be to punish them ; but
it is to be obscrved that we have no evidence of their evil in-
tentions, excepting the story of onc man, and that as yet
they have not donc any thing to disturb the peacc of the
country. It may be thought better to wait till they do
something, which can give ground for punishing them on the
spot; but to this I answer that it is difficult to obtain a
knowledge of their motions, and that it is probable they
could find out that I had heard of them, and would quit the
country ; and that they would certainly do so or would con-
ceal themselves, so as not to be found out if they should
ever commit an outrage which would deserve punishment.
Besides, if there is any truth in the story, I rely a good deal
upon the contradictory accounts of themselves, which they
will give when examined separately, to clucidate and confirm
it; and it is not improbable but that the hopes of pardon
may get for us another evidence. .
¢ Upon the whole I have thought it best to endeavor to
scize them immediately.
* The man is still positive and consistent, which is very ex-
traordinary.
¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

“ I relieve the party at Mysore carly in the morning, so
that we shall have in that quarter to-morrow a respectable
force.”

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close,

« My pEaRr CoOLONEL, * Seringapatam, 9th February, 1800,

* Wo were successful last night in taking the people on
the island, and those at Nunjuncode; and, by Captain
Robertson’s account, I hope that he will have taken the
Marhattas this morning. I expect the sirdars in to-mor-
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- and, after I shall have had them examined, I shall be
to form a more decided opinion respecting the business.
ave formed nonc from the examination of the persons
ken upon the island last night.
‘I am much at a loss to know how to form the detach-
ent for Wynaad. We can spare nothing from Seringa-
patam, excepting the two flank companies of each of the
European, and two of each of the native corps. I have or-
dered a battalion, the 2nd of the 3rd from Chittledroog, the
Ist of the 12th from Paughur, lecaving two companies to take
care of that post and its dependencies, and five troops of the
2nd regiment of cavalry from Scra. We have here about
500 pioneers, and they shall accompany the detachment. 1
reckon that the whole will be ready to start from Seringa-
patam in the second weck in March. I doubt whether that
will be sufficiently carly to enable us to conclude matters be-
fore the setting in of the monsoon. But it will be impossible
to get the battalion from Chittledroog sooner than the end
of the first week in that month, and even Tolfrey’s battalion
will not be here above one or two days before it. It is very
desirable that Purncah should write to the amildars at
Chittledroog, and at Paughur, to desire that they will assist
in procuring bullocks for the carriage of the tents of the two
corps.
“ I reckon the detachment will be strong as follows :—

4 Companies of Europeans
4 Flank Companies of Sepoys
2nd of the 3rd - -
1st of the 12th - -

Pioneers - -
5 Troops 2nd Regiment of C

» < This will be sufficient, with
eat the Pyche Rajah !

‘I intend to proceed with the detachment myself. In the
meantime every thing shall be prepared here for the arrival
of the troops.

1 shall answer your official letter to-morrow. Since
writing the above, I have made arrangements for the car-

F2



236 INDIA. 1800.

riage of the tents of the corps, and I hope that they will all
be here in the first week in March. Tolfrey’s, I am afraid,
will be last.
< Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. 4. Welleslgy to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLonrL, ¢ Seringapatam, 11th February, 1800.

I had not time to write to you yesterday, after the ex-
amination of the prisoners. Of course they all denied the
truth of the charge which had been brought against them,
and all declared that they have resided in the villages, in
which they were arrested, since the fall of Seringapatam.
There was much inconsistency in the stories of some of
them, which may be attributed as much to the nature of a
native of this country, as to the want of truth in the story.
The amildar of Nunjuncode, and two or three of the prin-
cipal people from thence, and from Ennechully, where the
Marhattas were taken, have been sent for. They will throw
much light upon the whole business, and, in the meantime,
all the prisoners are kept separately. The informer persists
in his story, has identificd the persons of most of the people
arrested, and has repeated the charge before them.

¢ A circumstance has occurred which shows how cautious
we should be in recciving the evidence of a native. There
is a fakir upon the island, who of course knows that he
exists under the Company's protection. He came forward
and declared most positively, that two of the people, charged
as being of the party, had been at his tuckiah ever since the
fall of the place. Of course this declaration occasioned
much doubt of the truth of any part of the information ; but
yesterday he sent word that he should come forward and tell
the truth if I desired it. Barclay will sce him this day.

* T acknowledge that I have many doubts of the truth of:
every part of the information; but I am the only person
here who has any. *

* I shall be prepared to march with the detachment at the
time I stated to you in my public letter. I think that it
would be very desirable to have one of the surveyors with
the detachment, and 1 wish much that you would write to
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Mackenzie upon the subject. I should write to him, only
that I am afraid he would think it an interference, on my
part, in business in which I had no concern. Mr. Frazer is
here, but he is sick, and going on leave to the Carnatic. If
we have any body, therefore, it must be Mr. Warren, and I
do not know where he can be employed to greater advan-
tage than in the Wynaad country. 1 have written to Cole-
brooke to desire him to send me some of his native guides
who are more uscful than any people I have yet scen, in
exploring roads for our troops. They know to a nicety
where we can go.

¢ They are going on well with your house. Doctors dis-
agree about your principal room; I therefore think it better
that just so much should be done to it as can be finished
before you return; and if you should go away again for a
month, it will be casy to add any ornament which you may
think necessary. I think it will want but little ; but that
will depend much upon the mode in which you propose to
close it in. For this I think that you will approve of the
mode in which I am closing my rooms.

¢ Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. VWellesley to the Secretary of Government, Fort
St. Gevrge.

< SiR, ¢ Seringapatam, 15th February, 1800.
I enclose the copy of a letter from Licut. Colonel Mon-
tresor. In consequence of your letter of the 9th J anuary, 1
proposed that the 77th should not be taken in the establish-
ment of the government of Fort St. George until they were
arrived in their quarters, and should have had time to dis-
charge their Bombay establishment. The orders from the
Military Paymaster General were different, and the Pay-
master was directed to take them on this establishment, and
* to pay them from the day on which they entered the Mysore
country. It will therefore be necessary that he should be
further authorized to pay their Bombay ficld establishment.
¢ I have directed Mr. Gordon to prepare as follows for the
detachment ordered for the field. He is to supply, for 300
Europeans, three months’ arrack ; and for 2500 natives, one
month’s grain, at half allowance. I have thought it proper
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to order this last ; as it is probable that the troops will be but
ill supplied with bazaars, it will be difficult to collect imme-
diately those who heretofore attended the camps. And it is
probable that every thing will be destroyed in the Wynaad
country before we enter it. I have likewise desired him to
provide carriages for these provisions, and for about 350
loads of storcs, of which I have sent an account to the
Military Board. Draught bullocks will not be required, nor
will carriage for the tents, excepting a few bamboo coolies,
&c., to bring them with the corps coming from the north-
ward.

< It will be necessary to appoint an officer to act as Adju-
tant and as Quarter Master to the European flank com-
panics, and onc as Adjutant to the native companies ; and,
with the permission of Government, I shall appoint an
officer of cach belonging to the companies employed to act
in those capacities.

< I 'have the honor to be, &c.

* The Secretary of Government, < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
Fort 8t. George.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My prar Corongi, ¢ Seringapatam, 15th February, 1800.

* I'have received your letter of the 12th instant. If Pur-
neah should be desirous of going towards Chittledroog, he
would do well to go there; in my opinion the oftener all
parts of this country are visited for some time the better, and
he will do right in visiting that part soon. I shall be glad
if you come with the detachments ; but as you come only out
of compliment to me, you will do better to consult your own
convenience.  You will probably wish to be here when Lady
Clive arrives in the country, and in that case it is much
better that you should not come.

‘At all events I shall be glad to have Bistnapah's pundit or
some body belonging to Purneah, who will have influence in
the country. I am obliged to Purnesh for his attention in
ordering 2000 loads of gram to be collected ; I have ordered
a month's grain at half allowance for the native troops, to be
got ready in case of accidents, as I am convinced that the
first step the Rajak will take will be to destroy every thing in
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the country. It will be well if Purneah orders all kind
of bazaar articles to be got together.

< I am glad to hear that we shall see you so soon. I have
not yet released all the prisoners; and unless something
further appears in their favor, 1 intend to detain them for
another day or two. Barclay has been most laborious in his
investigation of this business, and has brought it to light
in a masterly manner. He has examined the dates and
marches of the party as stated by the informant, and what
is very extraordinary the account comes out right. The man
first told his story, thc number of marches he made, where
he halted, &c. &e. Barclay then questioned him as to the
time, and made him tell at what places he had seen each new
moon ; and his answers have corresponded exactly with his
marches and halts and his arrival here. This is a strong
mark of truth, particularly in a native, who never knows
any thing of time. He is now gone to bring more witnesscs,
and I hope that you will be here beforc I release the pri-
soncrs. I acknowledge that the proof of the alibi has much
weight with me, and that 1 detain the people now only out
of respect for the opinions of those who have made the inves-
tigation, and who do not agree with me.

< Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArRTnur WELLESLEY.

< I enclose advertisements about gram from the Military
Board.”

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Colonel Surtorius.

¢ SIR, ¢ Seringapatam, 26th February, 1800.

¢ I have the honor to enclose a letter from the Sceretary of
the Government of Fort 8t. George.

<1 have received your letter of the 18th instant, and
Lieut. Coloncl Close has communicated to me that which
you wrote to him on the L7th. By both it would appear
that the Pyche Rajah was in actual possession of the Cotiote
district, whereas I had always imagined that you had posts
in it which, not being sufficiently strong to support the Com-
pany’s authority, the Pyche Rajah had an influence in the
country very prejudicial to the Britishinterests. 1f I should
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be founded in my conjectures that you have a post in Cotiote,
I shall be glad if you will let me know it ; and if you will be
so kind as to make arrangements for posting the detach-
ments from Cannanore in conformity with the following plan,
giving me information of the place where it is posted, and
of the nature of the communication between that place and
the Wynaad country.

¢The first object in forming both detachments is to esta-
blish the Company’s authority in Wynaad, which is now held
by the Pyche Rajah. It appears to be your opinion that as
soon as he is pressed by the detachment from Seringapatam,
he will move into Cotiote, where his influence is still extensive,
and where his former successes would give him reason to hope
for success in future. But if it be true that you have a post
in Cotiote, and that the Pyche Rajah, instead of being in
possession of that district, only exercises an influence there,
I should hope that the detachment of the Bombay army
would be strong enough to support itself against him until
I could reach him from Wynaad ; and that you would find no
inconvenience, and that there would be no risk in placing
your detachment, so that it would intercept him on the route
which you may imagine he follows to his proposed retreat at
Cotiote.

« If, then, my conjecture is well founded, I beg that you
will do me the favor to order the detachment to move for-
ward to Cotiote, that you will place it so that it may either
stop the Rajah, or may induce him to take a longer and more
difticult route to his place of retreat. If, however, the Rajah
should remain in the Wynaad country contrary to your ex-
pectation and to mine, it will be necessary that the detach-
ment from Cannanore should be prepared to move into that
district likewisc.

«If you should have no posts in Cotiote, the plan must be
different, although the object will be the same, and must
depend upon the strength of your detachment compared
with that which the Pyche Rajah can produce in Cotiote,
upon the nature and state of the roads, and of the country
through which it must pass in order to reach the border of
Wynaad.

¢ If the detachment should run any risk in entering the
Cotiote country, it will be best that it should enter Wynaad
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by the Tambercherry ghaut ; as it is very clear that if the
Pyche Rajah is so strong in Cotiote that the Bombay de-
tachment cannot enter it with safety, the Seringapatam de-
tachment will not be able to drive him out of both Wynaad
and Cotiote in this scason, and that the absence of the
Bombay detachment may risk success even in the former.
I therefore propose that the Bombay detachment should
enter Wynaad by the Tambercherry ghaut, if, as you say.
the Rajah is in possession of, and strong in Cotiote, instead
of remaining upon the borders and straitening him in the
latter. All this, however, depends upon a comparison of
your strength and his: you will perceive that my plan is,
that your detachment should move through Cotiote towards,
or, eventually, into Wynaad, if possible; but if that should
not be possible, as the posscssion of Wynaad is, in the first
instance, the object, it should move into it by the Tamber-
cherry ghaut.

« As the season is advancing, I cannot sufficiently express
the anxiety, which I am convinced you feel in common with
me, that your detachment should move as soon as possible.
The Right Honorable the Governor General having re-
solvedy to get possession of Wynaad, and, with this view,
having ordered detachments to be prepared in Malabar
and Mysore, it is not cconomy to sparc money in fitting
them out.

¢ Of this you will be convinced, and I beg therefore that
you will spare no expense to cquip the troops with their
provisions, stores, carriage, &e. 1 shall be obliged to you if
you will let me know when your detachment will be ready to
move ; the route which, according to cither of the foregoing
plans, it will pursue ; and such other information as it may
be in your power to favor me with. My detachment is
already collected and prepared to move. 1 have posted
camel hircarrahs upon the road towards Cannanore as far as

«they can go, and 1 shall be obliged to you if you will give
directions that your letters may be given to them.

¢ I have the honor to be, &ec.
¢ Colonel Sartorius. « ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

SUP. VOI.. G
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Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

< My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 4th March, 1800,
* I enclose letters just received from Madras, which I beg
you will return to me when you shall have read them. It
appears that Government is very anxious that thgobject of
the detachments should be obtained, but still I cori@ive that
our letters will have the effect of stopping operatiofiédi
next scason.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR W/

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colong

‘ My prar CoroneL, * Seringapatam, @
“T have reccived your letters respecting |
whole number of serviceable captured Engligh:
1600, and of these about two thirds have alr
livered to the troops. There arc 13,485 repaj
arms, and these we can cither repair for Purgh
deliver them to him, and he can have them#repal
troops.  If you approve of this plan, let me know itgand I
will write to the Military Board, and recommend that T may
be permitted to issuc to Purncah 1000 stand of the repair-
able arms. It will also be necessary that T should take their

opinion respecting the issuc of the accoutrements.
‘ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Ciose.' ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Secretary of Government, Fort
St. George.

¢ SIR, ¢ Seringapatam, 9th March, 1800.

‘I enclose copies of two letters from Colonel Sartorius,
that dated the 5th instant being an answer to one which L
wrote to him on the 26th of Fcbruary, a copy of which I
likewise enclose.

By this and by other information, it appears that the
Pyche Rajah is in possession of Cotiote as well as of the
Wynaad country.
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_ “In order to putin exccution the orders of Government to
get possession of Wynaad, these methods have been proposed.
It was first proposcd that the detachments of the Bombay
army should penetrate through Cotiote, while that from
Mysore should enter from the castward ; but it appears that
the influgnce and strength of the Pyche Rajah in Cotiote is
much ggfiater than that of the Company, and that a detach-
geh as that proposcd to be assembled by Colonel

8, cannot pass through without the risk of being
g As under the circumstances of the present
it is impossible to collect a larger detachment
hip {t in time, I am obliged to relinquish that plan,
h alone the Pyche Rajah can be completely sub-

“@artorius then proposes that he should collect
' l’l“t at Cotapuramba, on the western borders of
t46ishould remain there until the detachment of
3% have penctrated Wynaad, and then that a
of the two detaclhiments shall be made on
quainted with the nature of the Wynaad coun-
Mot eertain that the combined operations of the
two detachments as ordered by the Governnent will not be
necessary to get possession of, and establish the Company’s
authority in, that district. The scason is so far advanced as
to render it very probable that even that object can scarcely
be effected before the rains set in, and it is certain that both
objects cannot. Colonel Sartorius proposes that in ease it
should be found that the detachment of this army cannot
alone get possession of Wynaad, he should embark his troops,
re-land them at Calicut, and mnove into Wynaad by the Tam-
bercherry ghaut ; but I must observe, that the length of time
which would elapse between the period at which the want
of his assistance might be felt, that at which he would
. receive information of this want, and that at which he would
be at the proper place to afford his assistance, would be so
great, as in all probability to render it useless.
< Upon the whole, then, considering the weakness of the
Bombay detachment compared with the strength of the
Pyche Rajah in Cotiote, I have determined not to attempt to
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move it through that district; and considering the latencss
of the season, and the orders of Government, I propose to
desire Colonel Sartorius to collect his detachment at Calicut,
and to enter Wynaad by the Tambercherry ghaut, while I
shall enter it from this side.

‘ By Colonel Sartorius’s letters, it appears that he will be
prepared to leave Calicut towards the end of this month,
or in the beginning of the next, and I propose to march
from hence about the 20th; my detathment having been
collected and prepared to move since the 26th of last
month.

¢ The information regarding the weather which I have re-
ceived from many quarters, but which, by Colonel Sartorius’s
letters, does not appear to be well founded, is, that it begins
torain in Wynaad in the middle of this month, that the
showers increase, and become more frequent gradually, till
the middle of April, when the rains become violent, and the
rivers and nullahs fill.

“ If this information be well founded (and the early period
at which, in comparison with the Cauvery, is a proof that the
rains are carly in Wynaad), there will be a farther question
whether the expedition ought to be undertaken at all, if the
cquipment of the Bombay troops is to be delayed beyond
the end of this month. :

< Upon this subject it will be necessary to receive the
orders of Government, on the advantages to be derived from
prosccuting the expedition in this scason ; and that we shall
obtain a knowledge of the country; and that we shall be
enabled to establish at Wynaad a post, from whence we can
complete the succession of the Pyche Rajah early in the next
season.

‘The Company’s affairs cannot well be worse than they
arc in Cotiote, and therefore no evil is to be apprehended
from the Rajah scating himsclf there during the rains,

1 have the honor to be, &e.

The Secretary of Government, ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
Fort 8t. George?
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ My pEar CoLoNEL, * Seringapatam, 9th March, 1800.

‘I have made arrangements for sending to Paughur two
companics of the 1st of the 8th, who, I hope, will keep
matters quiet.

‘I do not know on what day the Bombay troops will be
collected at Calicut, but I rather belicve at about this time,
and they will be prepared to march on the 7th or Sth of
April. I propose that my troops should cross the rivers to-
morrow, and march to the Dalway Tank on the next day,
that is to say, if I am well cnough, as 1 had an attack of
fever yesterday which kept me in bed all day. )

¢ We have been perfectly quiet here since I wrote to you.
"The court martial sentenced the four men to be hanged, but
as T have not the power of putting the sentence in exccu-
tion, excepting in a case of emergency, which, when they had,
finished their proceedings. did not exist, and as the men
tricd were not at the head of the riot, 1 have had them well
flogged, and sent about their business.

Besides, I do not conceive that the connexion between
the four men tried and the gang at Caryghaut appears so
clear upon the face of the procecdings as it was in fact, or as
I expected it would. Tt is very certain that the gooroo was
at the head of the business.

‘Return the court martial, and

< Believe me, &ec.
* Lieut. Colonel Close.” ¢ Artnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ My peEAr COLONEL, « Seringapatam, 11th March, 1800.
‘1 enclose a memorandum relating to gold mohurs and
soolacky rupees, which I have received from Mr. Giordon.
He proposes to coin 100 of cach, in order to prove the truth
of the paper.
« ‘Upon considering Sartorius’s letter to Lord Clive, and
the slight dependence to be placed on 1500 coolies pressed
and detained by a guard, I have determined to increase our
supplies of provisions to such extent as may be practicable
between this and the time of our departure.
< Belicve me, &ec.
* Lieut. Colonei Cluses * ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colunel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Secretary of Government, Fort
St. George.

¢ Sir, ¢ Seringapatam, 12th March, 1800.
< Colonel Sartorius has transmitted me a copy of his letter
of the 8th instant to the Right Honorable the Governor in
Council. As from that, it appears that he is obliged to
depend for supplics for his detachment on 1500 coolies,
«passed and detained under a guard,” I have thought it
proper to order that the quantity of rice and arrack to
accompany this detachment may be increased to such extent
as may be found practicable, between this and the day on
which I shall march. This will add to my encumbrances,
and I have therefore ordered the flank companies of the 77th
regiment from Chittledroog to join me. '
* ¢ Colonel Sartorius has proposed to draw from Goa four
companies of scpoys, but I have desired him not to increase
his numbers, unless he is certain of being able to feed his
troops.

1 enclose the copy of a letter from Capt. , who
commands the pioneers on the Bombay establishunent, and
who has been much employed in Cotiote. It does not
appear possible to bring a detachment through that district
till we are in possession of Wynaad.

¢ 1 have the honor to be, &e.

¢ The Secretary of Government, ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
Fort 8t. George!

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.

My prar CoLoNkL, * Seringapatam, 1.th March, 1800.

¢ Abdoo Ghoffar’s son called upon me this morning. I
had before examined my papers and made inquiries respect-
ing him, and 1 find that he is not included in the list of per-
sons of the Binky Nabob’s family, for whose use the pension
of 400 star pagodas per annum is granted. It will therefore
be proper that some provision should be made for him ; and,
as the Binky Nabob's widow and his family arc on the Family
Fund, it will be right that this branch of the same family
should be upon it likewise. Will you write to Government
upon the subject ?

* I have been a little out of order these two last days with
a cold, but T am getting better.
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« M<Intire will furnish Purnecah with some arms, ammu-
nition, and flints, for the expedition against Kistnapah
Naig.

< Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

< Did you recollect to mention to Purneah the carpenters
at Nuggur for Grant's cots? He will likewise want the
assistance of the village coolics (paying for the same) to carry
them over to Chittledroog.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pear CoLoNFL, ¢ Seringapatam, 16th March, 180¢.

< We arc in want of the dooley bearers, and 1 shall be
obliged to you if you will have them sent over.

‘ I have had a conversation with Mr. Gordon about money
matters, and it appears that we begin to want a little, and I
believe that we shall be obliged to call for some from the
Presidency. I intend to ask Munro to pay the Bombay
corps at Nuggur for this month, which will relieve us a little.
We shall then want about 20,000 pagodas at Clllttledroog,
as much at Bangalore, and about 30,000 here. If the coinage
succeeds, we shall have money enough for two months; but
in the meantime, until all the bad, or rather uscless, money
is recoined, we are in distress.

I enclose part of a letter from Sydenham, by which you
will perceive that the road plan is not entirely abandoned.

‘ Believe me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ArTiiurR WELLESLEY.

* Will you be so kind as to return Sydenham’s letter

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

+ My peAr CoOLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 17th March, 1800..

< Having reccived the answer from the amildar of Sera
regarding the carts of the persons named in the agreement
of the Belgywars and Sonars, I yesterday gave the parties
counterparts of their paper signed by mysclf; at the same
time I'called for the two men, who I before told you had
refused to come into the agreement, informed them of the
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answer received from Sera, and desired that they would give
security for their behavior, and that they would no longer
disturb the peace of the place. 'This they positively refused.
Last night and carly this morning parties of Pariah people
and cook boys went about the streets armed with clubs, and
threatened the bazaar people in case they should open their
shops; of these four were caught in the fort in the fact.
This morning a large body assembled at the Caryghaut, and
another at the Chendgall Ford, who plundered the country
people coming with their goods, broke the chatties of those
bringing milk, and stopped all communication with the
country by the lower fords. The bazaars in the Fort and
Ganjam were shut.  Under these circumstances it beecame
necessary to take some scrious and decided steps towards
restoring peace and confidence. I ordered a small party of
Europeans out from the garrison to cross at the Chendgall
Ford, a small party of sepoys from camp to the Caryghaut hill,
as the largest mob had put themselves at the choultries at
the bottom of it, and a party of cavalry into the Lockary to
assist in casc they should make off unhurt before the infantry
should reach them. Notwithstanding repeated messages,
and that the cavalry was within 100 yards of them for near
an hour, they remained till the infantry got on both sides of
them within pistol shot. The infantry fired; two of them
and the two head men whom I had sent out were killed,
and two wounded.  The whole dispersed, and the commu-
nication is goiug on, and all is as quiet as if nothing had
happened.

¢ A native gencral court martial is now sitting to try the
fellows who were taken in the fort, and Lintend to hang two
of them if they should be sentenced, as 1 imagine they will.
The people concerned were mostly gentlemen's servants, and
horsekeepers, and soldiers’ cooks; T dare say set on by the
higher classes in the service of the officers. It is fortunate
that the attempt has been made whilst T have been here, and
I dare say it will not be renewed during my absence, or ever
again.

¢ Believe me, &e.
Lieut. Colonel Close. “ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

3
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lisut. Colonel Close.

« My peEAR CoLoONEL, « Seringapatam, 20th March, 1800.

‘I enclose a letter just received from the Secretary of
Government. I shall be glad to have a little conversation
with you relative to the disposition of the troops, particularly
of the 2nd regiment of cavalry. 1 should go over to you to-
morrow morning, only that 1 am not well enough; but per-
haps it might not be inconvenient to you to come here.
Send me back the enclosed letter.

< Believe me, &c.
* Lisut. Colunel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

<X think that we might employ some of our troops to ad-
vantage in clearing the Bissolee ghaut.

¢ I have some thoughts of going down to the Malabar coast,
to have a little conversation with the gentlemen there. Will
you turn over in your mind whether my going through the
Koorg country can have any cffect upon your negotiations
with the Rajah? Perhaps it may be convenient to you to
meet him at the time when I should wish to go into Mala-
bar; that is in about ten days, when 1 shall have got a little
strength.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My prar CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 23rd March, 1800.
<1 intend to sct out for Malabar on Tuesday, and, if you
will give me leave, T will dine with you at Mysore to-morrow.
¢ Believe me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Ciose.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* Camp near Seringapatam,
¢ My pEar CoLONEL, 26th March, 1800.

‘ Mackay was here last night, and I had a long conversa-
tion with him upon the subject of gram and our bullocks.
He produced a translation of the account which he had re-
ceived from Purneah of the gram given to his bullocks; and
certainiy the prices therein charged are higher than the
general price of the country, and than the average of the

SUP. VOL. H
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prices charged by the gram agents of the cavalry; and
Captain Mackay says that they are much higher than the
prices on the spot where the gram was received. The Com-
pany’s bullocks have been at Seringapatam, at Bangalore,
Nundydroog, Chittledroog, &c. &c., and Captain Mackay
has vouchers from the officers in charge of them at those
different places, all of which give the gram cheaper than it
is given by Purneah; all these with the prices charged by
the gram agents will be before General Sydenham when he
will have Captain Mackay’s accounts under his examination ;
and he will require some kind of certificate {from Purneah,
that the price charged was paid to him by Captain Mackay.
If Purncah has been defranded by thosc whom he em-
ployed to furnish the gram for the bullocks, and the prices
cannot be lowered, the best method of settling the account
will be to strike an average upon the whole quantity re-
ceived since he first began to deliver it to our bullocks in the
month of September, and to let it stand as an agreement
made between you and me, or with Purneah, for the conve-
nicnce of both parties. It was fmpossible last night to
strike a correct average, but, from a rough calculation, it
appears that 1t will run about thirty seven or thirty eight
seers for arupee.  If you should see no objection to this,
the only matter remaining to be settled on this first is the
number of scers delivered, upon which I imagine there is no
difference.

* In Neptember and October the cavalry were in Soonda,
and got no gram; but since that period, in genceral the price
has been about forty scers for a rupee; and certainly, the
cavalry gram is not the cheapest.

*'Lhe only point remaining to be settled is the manner of
procuring gram for the bullocks in future. Mackay is very
desirous still to receive it from Purneah; and if a stated
price were once fixed, his giving it might be free from the
detail aud trouble of which you complain.  But if you should
be of opinion that it will be attended with inconvenience,
Captain Mackay does not think that he will find any diffi-
culty in procuring gram, provided the sircar will relax the
regulations which restrict the sale of it to such a degrec as
almost to amount to a prohibition. I conclude that these
restrictions are occasioned by the necessity of furnishing a
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quantity of gram for the Company’s bullocks, and therefore,
when that necessity no longer exists, there will be no objec-
tion to allowing the sale of gram to be as general and as
easy as is the sale of any other commodity.

¢ At all events, it will be convenient that Purneah should
continue to deliver the gram till the end of the month, and
before then you will have had time to settle both as to the
mode of payment for that already reccived, and as to the
mode of procuring gram for the bullocks in future. Let me
know when you shall have decided upon these subjects.

* I have considered the proposition to deliver over entirely
to the Rajah the stud of cows, and all the calves, and T have
talked it over with Mackay. He scems to be of opinion, that
if the bullocks are not occasionally recruited by drafts of
fresh calves, the establishment will very soon fail entirely.
I have no doubt but that for purchase it will at all times be
possible to procure bullocks fit for the draught, and probably
cqual to those already in the Company’s service. But I
know the nature of those to whom all propositions for ex-
pense to be incurred upon this subject must be submitted,
and T should as soon expect that they would consent to a
disbursement of a lac of pagodas as to one of 500 or 1000
pagodas a year for a convenient arrangement of this matter
for the Rajah’s Government. I therefore foresce that the
establishment of bullocks will fall to the ground, or the
Company must keep the stud which is to support it, or both
establishment and stud must be given over to the Rajah’s
Government. As a Company’s servant, I certainly should
prefer to have an establishment and stud in the hands of the
Company.

¢ A more convenient arrangement for the Company would
be that the stud should be in the hands of the Rajah, and
that the Company should reccive supplies from it; but it
may be said, why is the Rajah to be fettered with a Com-

«pany’s concern? and we must therefore look to other means
of taking carc of it. We arc in possession of the country
from whence it is said the bullocks were originally brought,
and the gentlemen in charge may not find it impossible to
arrange matters so as to give an annual supply of calves
without incurring expense, which appears to be the object.
Under this arrangement, the cows will be given over to

n2
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them: but I do not conceive that this or- any.other plan wil
cver answer so well for us as to leave the stud in the hang

of the Rajah, and to reccive from it certain supplies,

« I have been detained this day for tents, but I shall set

out early in the morning.
« Believe me, &c.
« Lteut, Colonel Close. « ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My prar CoronEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 26th March, 1800.

¢ Just before I received your enclosure I had received
Mr. Smee's dispatch of the 22nd. I now send you that of
the 21st, being Mr. Smee’s letter to me, and copics of a letter
from the Pyche Rajah.

«T likewise send a letter about the bullocks which was
going by tappall.

< Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTnUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 26th March, 1800.

“ The particular restriction upon the sale of gram which
Mackay mentioned, is an order from Purncah to sell no gram
(or at least a very small quantity) to any person cxcepting
to the sircar. As this order has not been given in the neigh-
bourhood of the cavalry stations, I conclude that it has been
in the neighbourhood of the places where the bullocks are,
or have been grazing, mercly because he had engaged to
furnish these with gram, and that he would be more certain
of performing his engagement in consequence of the restric-
tion. But it is clear that there will be no occasion for the
restriction, when he will have nothing to do with the supply
of the gram, and equally so that Mackay will not be able
to get any unless it is taken off.

< Captain Mackay is aware of the road dutics, and makes
no objection to them.

¢ As soon as you have settled the average price with
Purneah, let me know it, and I will writo to Mackay to
settle the account, and there will be no difficulty hereaftet.

« 1 assure you that I find no fault with Purneal’s prices
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Hfor gram ; but as they differ from those of the country which
‘have already gone before the person who is to pass the
accounts, it is necessary that there should be some certificate
of the cause of the difference, or that the whole should be put
together, and an average struck, and that the price should
stand upon some original agreement made for the conve-
nience of both parties.
¢ Believe me, &c.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ « ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My peAar CoLONEL, ¢ Veerajundrapett, 30th March, 1800.

«I arrived here this morning, in four marches, from
Scringapatam, but they were very long. It is forty miles
to Periapatam, and twenty five from thence. The Rajah
came over from Nauknaar this morning, and I have been to
sce him. He recccived me well, but spoke but little. He
complains of sickness, and has really got a fever, and Mr.
Trevor, surgeon of the 33rd regiment, is going to stay with
him for a day or two.

« He received your letter immediately previous to my see-
ing him; and as his Persian moonshee was not here, Ogg
read and interpreted it. I rather think that as he is really
sick, you will do well to defer your journey and meeting
with him for a few days. I shall desire Mr. Trevor to let you
know when he recovers.

< I have received from Colonel Sartorius the copy of a
letter written to him by the Commissioners in Malabar, in
which they desire that at least the native part of the troops
collected for the cxpedition into Wynaad may be suffered
to remain in Malabar, until they shall have had time to con-
sider of the propricty of making a requisition to employ
them to the southward. At present I sec no objection to
suffering these troops to remain in Malabar; but there may
be very strong objections to their being employed upon any
wild-goose expedition that the Commissioners may point
out. When the requisition comes I shall be a better judge
of the propriety of complying with it.

The country, from Sedaseer hither, is an almost con-
tinued jungle: I had scarcely room to encamp at Secdapoor.
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In the nejghbourhood of this place there is some cultivs.
tion; but this magnificent capital is sbout of the same
extent, and has a similar appearance to a country town in
Ireland.

« 1 propose to get down the ghaut to-morrow, and to be
at Cannanore on the 2nd of April.

' ¢ Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WEKLLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

<« My peAR CoLoNEL, * Stony River, 31st March, 1800,
¢ After T had written to you yesterday, the Rajah sent to
me to say that he would pay me a visit. He bLegan by say-
ing that he had intended to meet me at his frontier, but that
I had not given him notice of the day on which I intended to
leave Seringapatamn ; and that he had been so ill on the day
when he heard that I was arrived at Periapatam, that he had
not been able to quit his house.  He then said that as I was
going to Cannanore 1 should sce the Bombay gentlemen,
and should have an opportunity of conversing with them
respecting him, and they would tell me whether he was such
aman as he had been represented to be. 1 told him that I
knew no person who had less reason to complain of misre-
presentation ; thut in India, in Xngland, and cvery where,
his character was perfectly known and established, and that
he did not do justice cither to himself or to us, in ima-
gining otherwise. Ile then, from beginning to end, related
the history of his connexion with Hyder, and with Tippoo,
and with us; and he repeatedly said that the brahmins were
his enemics.  He declared that from the commencement of
his connexion with the British Government (which was
founded on their mutual enmity to Tippoo) to this day, he
had never done any thing relative thereto without an order
from them, or from their agents, which he could produce, and
offered to do so for my satisfaction. I then took an oppor-
tunity of letting him sec that L had nothing to do with poli-
tical matters; that hie would soon sce you, that you had been
many years in this country, had a perfect knowledge of its
affairs, &c. &c., and that you were not ignorant of the nature
of his connexion with the Company ; and I recommended to
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him to listen to what you should say to him as to the advied
of his best friend. He said that if he was sufficiently reco-
vered he would go with me to Seringapatam when I should
return thither, of which he said he had informed you. After
having stayed about three hours he went away.

« It appeared to me that pains had been taken to induce
him to believe that we (Madras people) were prejudiced
against him, and that we listened to brahmins, against
whom he appears to have an inveterate hatred. and who, he
believes, have an equal one towards him. He repeatedly
said that we could not be aware of the services which he had
had it in his power to render to the Company, that we were
strangers to him and his actions, and that it was natural that
we should listen to those with whom we had been acquainted,
and who he knew werc his encmies. 1 am of opinion, how-
ever, that a little better acquaintance, more intercourse, and
a little gentle treatment, will remove all these impressions,

< He speaks Moorish fluently; but Ogg says, with anidiom
that belongs, he supposes, to his own language: he has
more simplicity, and, apparently, more sincerity in his man-
ners, as well as in what he says, than any native I have ever
seen.

« It struck me as remarkable in his conversation, that
he should have urged repeatedly that he had orders for
every thing he had ever done cither from the Company’s Go-
vernment or their agents; particularly when 1 recollected
that — had declined to ask him to give up the families
which he had seized in Mysore, because they had been seized
by his desire.

< The Rajah was better this morning, and went to Nauh-
nam when I came here.  Ie had still, however, some fever,
and the doctor accompanies him.

< I omitted to mention to you, in my letter of yesterday,
that the amildar at Periapatam proposed to me that he
should scize some bullocks which had come in there with
gram from the Koorg country; as (he said) some of the
inhabitants knew them to have belonged to themselves, and
to have been taken off by the Rajah of Koorg, I recom-

mended him to take the orders of his sircar before he did
such a thing.

< Believe me, &ec.
¢ Liewt. Colonel Close.’ ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Cluse.

« My pear CoLONEL, * Cannanore, 3rd April, 1800,

«I arrived here this morning, having been on the road
one day longer than I expected. 1 found the weather ex-
ceedingly hot, and a want of water upon the road to refresh
the followers and cattle obliged me to make two marches,
where, under other circumstances, I should have made only
one. We bave, however, had rain nearly every night since I
left Seringapatam.

<1 met here Mr. Smece and Captain ‘Moncrieffe. The
former has induced some of the nairs, under his influence,
Kydree Amboo at their head, to commence to open a road
from Cotaparamba by Mananderry to Tutucullum and Ca-
note, and another by Pyche to Montana; the latter will not
be difficult, as ippoo had made one on the same line for-
merly. It is intended, if possible, before the rains, to esta-
blish a post at Canote, and another at Montana, to connect
them by a road directly across from onc to the other, and by
another road between them by Perrywell, which last requires
only to be opened. Mr. Smee has no doubt but that the
nairs will effect these objects; and in order to facilitate
them, I have sent in the pioncers and 1200 of the coolies,
which had heen hired for the expedition. If the Pyche
Rajah is disposed to make an opposition to this measure
(which Smee and Monericffe think he will not), it must then
be given over; as all partics agree that the force in this
country is not sufficient to carry it through. If it should be
necessary to give over the plan, Smee does not apprehend
that the Company’s influence will be diminished in con-
sequence of the failure, and as every yard of road which is
made is s0 much gained towards cffecting the great object,
I have, upon the whole, thought it a measure which ought to
be attempted. Excepting thirty men cmployed in guarding
Kydree Amboo's house, not a sepoy will be engaged in the
operation ; so that however anxiously I may look forward for
its success, I do not conceive that the honour of the Com-
pany’s arms will be engaged in it. As soon as the roads will
have been completed ; or if it should be necessary to discon-
tinue them, or, at all events, at the commencement of the
monsoon, the coolics will be employed in carrying provisions
to Cotaparamba, where I understand there are sheds and
buildings sufficient to contain provisions for 3000 men for
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two months. If it should be possible to make posts at Mon-
tana and Canote, they must, in the first instance, be held by
the friendly nairs till we can mov&forward our provisions,
first for a garrison, next for the number of men, and for the
time above stated.

Tt will be a curious circumstance, if without troops we
should be able to effect objects which it was imagined the
largest detachment which could conveniently be brought to-
gether could not undertake; but it is to be observed that
they will be effected by the nairs themselves, with the
assistance of our people, and not by our force

* I have heard fromn Colonel Mignan that he had reccived
a report from the officer commanding the post at Soobra-
many, stating that Kistnapah Naig had beat the Rajah's
troops, and had taken Munserabad on the 24th of March.
As I have not heard from you, or from Colonel Tolfrey.
I conclude that there is mo truth in the report; but if
it should be true, we must only send off the flank companies
of the 77th, now at Seringapatam, in readiness to march to
Tolfrey’s assistance, with orders to storm Munserabad.

< I enclose a copy of Colonel Mignan's letter.

¢ Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My peARrR COLONEL, ¢ Cannanore, 5th April, 1800.

¢ I enclose the copy of a letter which I have reccived from
Colonel Tolfrey, and one of a translation of a proclamation
which he has published. The account 1 reccived from Co-
lonel Mignan cannot be founded.

* 1 likewise enclose the copy of a letter from Mr. Hodgson,
the collector of Cherical to Colouel Sartorius. It appears
that he has heard of the son of Tippoo, about whom Colonel
Mignan gave me information, as being the cause of the de-
sertion among his sepoy recruits. Since the receipt of this
letter I have scen Mr. ITodgson, and have explained to him
the present state of Tippoo's family, and the consequent
impossibility that one of his sons, or even one of Hyder's
stock, should be in or near the place which he mentions. In
answer to this he said, that the person alluded to might not
be one of Tippoo’s sons, or might not belong to the family ;

8UP. VOL. 1
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but that therc was no doubt that there was a man in the
southern part of Canara who assumed that character, was
collecting troops, and was well reccived, and respectfully
treated by the disaffected in those parts. I urged him
strongly to have an eye towards him, and to keep you and me
informed of his motions, which he promised. But he said,
that being unacquainted with Munro. in whose district the
man was, he was fearful of sending any people into it. He
said that Munro had an amildar in the country, and that it
might be convenient if that man and he were to communi-
cate upon these matters which arise occasionally. It will be
well if you give Munro a hint upon this subject; and I hope
that before long we shall discover something intcresting
regarding this impostor.

¢ The Commissioners in Malabar will most probably have
sent you a copy of their letter to Colonel Sartorius, regarding
the distribution of the troops which I had ordered conse-
quent to the dircetions from Government to postpone the
expedition. 1 have complied with their wishes regarding
the native part of the detachment as far as six companies ;
thé other two will go to Cotaparamba to be in readiness to
occupy our new posts in Cotiote if they should be finished ;
or if not, they will remain at Cotaparamba as a farther
security to the stores, which, at all events, will be thrown
in there during the rains. If we should want more native
troops in Canara, I must send them from Nuggur. The
Europeans here join their corps at Mangalore and Goa.

« The six companies are to be in the southern part of Mala-
bar, and will keep matters quict there during the rains; and
I am now making inquiries relative to the mode of pene-
trating into that part of Malabar from Wynaad or Mysore,
should Government think it proper to make a complete
settlement of all matters in the province in the next season.

¢« Our road-making in Cotiote gets on well. I believe
that it will be open as far as Monanderry this day, that,
is, if the rain and storm of last night has not impeded the
work. ‘

« I have reecived a letter from Disney, who has lost his
wife, and is attacked by the liver complaint himself, and is’
so much out of sorts altogether as to have determined to’
quit the service and go home immediately. His command,
which is. on many accounits. a very important ‘dre,” will!
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devolve upon a Lieutcnant in the Bombay army; .and. ¥
assure you, that considering the disturbance on the Mar-
hatta frontier, the riches of Nuggur, and the general inclina-
tion of all manner of pcople to plunder, I am rather uncasy
at the charge being in the hands of a person who must be so
inexperienced. Under these circumnstances I am desirous of
sending there Colonel Montresor from Chittledroog, whom I
do not know, but he bears an excellent character. I shall
not do so, however, till I hear from you whether there is any
objection to it.
< Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pEAr CoLONEL, ¢ Cannanore, 6th April, 1800.

¢ I have just received your letter of the 3rd. 1 hear from
Koorg that the Rajah is better, although still weak and un-
well. I propose to go to Tellicherry to-morrow, and 1 shall
probably return here on the 10th or llth; and 1 think
matters will be so forward in Cotiote as to allow me to
depart for Mysore on the L5th. I shall let you know whe-
ther the Rajah will come with me cither to Scringapatam or
Periapatam ; and I will stay with him a day or two in order
to give you time to sct out from Seringapatam if I should find
him disinclined to do either. If you was to set out about
the 12th or 13th, and to come as far as Cuttee Mulwary, qg
Periapatam, at all cvents it would expedite our mcctmg, and
I think make it certain that the Rajah will come out to-Pe-
riapatam at least.

¢ When I write to you I will send my letters in a separate
packet.

¢ Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
% My pEar COLONEL, ¢ Tellicherry, 10th April, 1800,

<1 received last night the accounts of Coloncl Tolfrey’s
defeat, and sent off expresses to make the following arrange-
ment to remedy it. The flank companies of the 77th are on
their march towards Chittledroog; and as they are nearest
to the Rut country, and have all their cquipments pre-
pared, Lrhave ordered them to Ouscota. I have ordered

12
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from Seringapatam, arrack, provisions, and gram, and am-
munition ; and I have desired that the four companies of the
4th regiment, under Major Capper, may be sent with these
articles as an cscort. I have no doubt but that the Euro-
peans will settle all matters without difficulty; and from the
accounts received I am at a loss to guess from what cause
they failed in forcing a barrier to which they could march in
three columns, one of them in companies, and upon which they
could bring their guns to bear. Colonel Tolfrey has quitted
Munserabad, and if he has not thrown into it a proper supply
of provisions for the garrison, that fort will be lost, as it may
be depended upon that Kistnapah Naig will occupy all the
barriers between Munserabad and Ouscota, which it will not
be an casy matter to force after what has happened; and I
do not expect that the Furopeans will reach Ouscota till the
20th at soonest.

* The post at Anakeery, at which Colonel Tolfrey failed,
does not lie towards the Bissolee Ghaut, but is situated on
the right of the road from Ouscota to Munserabad, and is
apparently between the road and the Hyawaity. The co-
operation from Canara, therefore, if it were possible, would
not answer for some time, at least not till the post at Ana-
kerry shall be foreed, and the detachment from this side
shall be prepared to force the post which Kistnapah Naighas
on the Bissolee ghaut. But the fact is, that there is not a
soldier cither in Canara or Malabar who can be moved.
There are 300 sepoys, and 120 Europeans, at Mangalore ;
of the latter there will be 400 more in about ten days, when
they will have reached that place from henee. 1 will order
them forward to {he Sovbramany pagoda; and when the
Bissolee ghaut comes to be attacked on our side, they can
operate from theirs. There is nothing at Cannanore, nothing
liere, nor nearer to Mangalore than Calicut. They can
warch thither sooner than they can go by sca at this time of
the year; and if they could move immediately the rains,
would set in before they would arrive at the scene of opera-
tions.  We must make the best of it, and depend upon the
bayonets of the Furopeans; but I acknowledge myself to be
much disappointed and vexed at the failure of 1000 scpoys,
and 1600 of the Rajah's troops against not a larger number
of ryots, in a country by no means difficult, and from which
the same people were driven like sheep, and their fort
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taken from them in September last by a similar body of
troops.

<1 went this morning to Cotaparamba, which is a neat
little mud redoubt about nine miles from hence. It contains
buildings which will hold a large quantity of provision and
ammunition, with which, please God, they shall be filled in a
few days. The road-making goes on well, and has not been
interrupted. On the day after to-morrow I.shall occupy
Pyche fort on the Montana road, and Monanderry pagoda
on that leading to Canote, and I hope in a few days after-
wards to be able to take posscssion of the posts, which will
be constructed at Montana and Canote.

< I propose to return to Cannanore on the day after to-
morrow. Mr. Spencer comes here in the morning, which de-
tains me till then, and I shall be at Seringapatam, I hope, on
the 22nd.

¢ Belicve me, &e.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. c Artuur WELLESLEY.

¢ Colonel Montresor will join the detachment with the
flank companies of the 77th, and will command it ; and, after
what has happened, I do not think that will do us any
harm.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My pear CoLoNEL, « Tellicherry, 11th April, 1800.

¢ Since 1 wrote to you yesterday, I have received your
letter of the 7th, and Colonel Moncypenny’s. As 1 find
that the preparations have been made for moving the
Europeans from Seringapatam, 1 have ordered the flank
companies of the 73rd, as well as those of the 77th. to join
the detachment at Ouscota; so that they will now have an
ample force for every thing that it may be nccessary to un-
Jdertake. I quake for the fort at Munserabad.

« If there is any difficulty about removing the sick and
wounded of Tolfrey’s detachment, Ouscota will answer to
hold them till doolies can arrive.

« I have reccived a letter from Government, in which I am
asked for my opinion, whether Bangalore will answer for a
cantonment for two corps of cavalry. 1 never thought it
would answer for onc, as I understood that there was a



62 INDIA. 1800,

scarcity of wood, water, gram, and grass. I shall be obliged
to you if you will let me know what you think of it, and
whether Chenapatam will not answer better for one regi-
ment at least, if not for both. .

¢ According to my former plan, I have ordered the 2nd
regiment to Chenapatam for the present. Before I left Serin-
gapatam, Colonel Pater desired I would apply to Purneah for
leave for that corps to cut date trees, or other jungle wood,
in the forest which runs from Chenapatam to Sultaunpett.
If there is no impropriety in it, I shall be obliged to you
if you will speak to Purncah upon the subject, and desire
him to send orders to the amildar of that district. As these
corps must draw cvery thing from Scringapatam when they
are to take the ficld, all other things being cqual, there is
no doubt but that Chenapatam will be the most convenient
situation; but I belicve that it cxcels Bangalore in many
respects, besides that it is in the neighbourhood of the place
from which the corps are to be equipped.

¢ Belicve me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEar CoLoNEL, * Cannanore, 12th April, 1800,

I have ordered a dctachment from Mangalore to the
Soobramany pagoda, which will consist of 400 of the 75th,
and a detachment of the grenadier battalion, with one
month’s provisions, for which, however, they are not to
wait, but to proceed with that quantity for which they have
at present carriage. The remainder will follow, and I have
sent carriage for it from hence.

“In order to facilitate the communication between the
detachment on the Mysore side, and that in Canara, I have
ordered first, that the officer in command at Jemalabad
may ascertain the road between his post and the Soobra-,
many pagoda; secondly, that the postmaster in Canara
may post many runners upon ik; thirdly, that the officer at
Jemalabad may take care that all letters, between the de-
tachments, may proceed as addressed. The tappall from
Seringapatam to Mangalore has, since its interruption by
Kistnapah Naig, run. by Oustara, the Gamut Kull ghaut,
and Jemalabad. I have, therefore, ordered Colonel Tolfrey,
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fourthly, -to' post runnérs: frém Kis camp 'to Gistéra; ‘ﬁm:g

N
to corfespond with the officer in command at Jetnalabad,
and ascertain’ the distance from his post to Seobramany, and
the length of time which the communication will take; thus
the chain will be complete, and its length known.

¢ Colonel Tolfrey, however, 'may want a few peons, and,
to complete the arrangement, there ought to be a steady
writer at Oustara, who would take care that the packets for
the officer commanding the detachment on the Mysore side,
should proceed to him regularly. For this I must request
your assistance with Mr. Cochrane.

« I hope that the detachment of the Bombay army will be'
at Soobramany on the 20th ; but, as Anakeery is to be forced
in the first instance, and as Colonel Tolfrey’s re-inforcements
will not have reached him before that day, the arrangements
for attacking the post at the Bissolece ghaut will most pro-
bably not be made till towards the end of the month. I
hope, however, that, after Anakeery will have been forced, it
will not be necessary to attack the Bissolec ghaut.

<1 shall be with you in a very few days. I shall not stay
in Koorg as I proposed in a former letter ; nor, even if the
Rajah should be inclined to come to Scringapatam, shall 1
wait for him, but push on and leave him with the gentlemen.

¢ Believe me, &e.

¢ Lteut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My peAr CoLonEL, * Stony River, 15th April, 1800,

¢ I have received your lefters of the 11th and 12th. Eni
closed I send you a letter from the Rajah of Koorg, which,
in my opinion, affords a symptom of an intention mot to
procecd to Seringapatam. I shall be at Veerajundrapett
to-morrow, from whence I shall be able to give you more
gertain accounts of his plans. His man says he'is really"
ill; the doctor left him a few days ago frce from disorder;
but weak and wanting appetite. st

< The account which you send me enclosed in ybur letter!
of the -12th, ‘diffets so much from 'that which I received'
before of :the position at Anakeery, and is so little founda-~
tion for the dpinions given of its impregnable ntretigth;tb;ﬂ.dﬂ
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am at a loss to form any opinion upon the subject. Itis
clear that there are three principal entrances to the place,
that no one of them can be distant from the other above
two miles, and that the forest, as it is called, cannot be six
miles in circumfercnce. Guns were brought to bear with
grape upon the barrier attacked, and it appears that more
guns are asked for or expected, therefore the road cannot be
very difficult; and, as a havildar is recommended for pro-
motion, for having got over the barrier, I rather imagine
that that must be assailable to detcrmined troops. We here
imagine that the scpoys did not behave with their accus-
tomed resolution, which was the cause of the failure; and 1
am the more induced to be of that opinion as Colonel Tolfrey
particularly praises the European officers, and non-comunis-
sioned officers, and the Rajah’s troops, but avoids mention-
ing the natives in the Company’s service. I have, therefore.
great hopes from the Europeans which will join the detach-
ment. But it is impossible to say whether the attack ought
to be made in one body, or two, or three; and if successful,
whether, at this scason of the year, it would be proper to
press matters farther than to carry the post at Anakeery.
For this reason I have determined, if there should be no-
thing to detain e at Seringapatam, to join the detachment
myself. I have but little doubt that, if one barrier is car-
ried, the whole will be abandoned, or so feebly defended
that they will fall without much difficulty, notwithstanding
what Colonel Tolfrey says ; but it will be a question, whether
we ought to push on to the Bissolee ghaut, which must be de-
cided by the true state of the case, in regard to the distance,
(which, by the bye, is greater by half as stated by Colonel
Tolfrey than as given by Moncrieffe, who has laid down the
ghaut by survey, and Munsarabad by different “bearings,)
the road. the thickness of the jungle, and the positions said
to be held by the polygar. Anakeery must be carried at
all events, on account of the lateness of the scason; the
other operations may be postponed without disgrace.

¢ I shall reach Scringapatam on the [9th in the morning.
In the meantime, by this post, I order 100 pioneers to be
got ready to move, and provided with cutting tools. I have
likewise ordered the grape-shot and other things, for which
Colonel Tolfrey has asked.
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« The tappalls in Malabar are like every thing else there.
They are managed by a gentleman in the civil service, who
resides at Mahée, where he is Deputy Commercial Resident.
It was not easy to get an addition made to the number of
runners.

¢ T hear from the fronticr, that Dhoondiah has not yet taken
Gudduck; but it was expected that he would attempt to
storm it in three or four days after the 4th instant. He
was settling the country, and even had collected from it
some money.

¢ I have this instant received yours of the 13th.

¢ Believe me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pEArR COLONEL, ¢ Veerajundrapett, 16th April, 1800.

<I omitted to enclose the letter, No. I, in mine of yes-
terday, from Stony River; the letter No. 2 is just arrived.
I am informed that the Rajah has a disorder in his bladder
which confines him to his bed at Nauknaar. 1 have desired
his man to inform him that I will return to meet him when
I hear that he is recovered.

T received your letter of the [4th this morning. 1f
I find on the road that you have left Seringapatam 1 shall
not hurry from Periapatam as I proposed yesterday.

< An officer is arrived at Hullihall in Soonda; his name is
Captain Marshall. 1 this day write fo the coast to inquire
what kind of man he is, and if he should not be fit for his
station, I will send somebody to take charge of the post.

“ I propose to desire Sir William Clarke to have an eye to
that frontier for the present, and to afford it relief if ncces-
sary, as there are no troops in Canara to send to it if it
should be desirable to reinforce it.

< Believe me, &c.
o Lieut. Colonel Close. < ArtHur WELLESLEY.

¢ I have desired Sir William Clarke to make an arrange-
ment with Uhtoffe for running a tappall between Soopah
and Goa. It appears that Uhtoffc will be able to settle
it more casily than Mr. Cochrane, who is so far from the
road.’

SUP. VOL. K
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Colunel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoNEL, * Seringapatatn, 21st April, 1800.

¢ The circumstance of the charge for working money I
perfectly recollect, and it was as follows.

“ The right wing of the army was encamped on the Mud-
door, the Nizam’s detachment at Allagoor, the left wing was
expected at Sultaunpctt. and arrived there with the heavy
train on that evening. A large quantity of forage had been
discovered on the right of Allagoor, and had been guarded
by the piquets of the army under Coloncl Campbell of the
74th, and by those of the Nizam's detachment, and in the
evening by order of the Commander in Chief. This forage
was carried over to Sultaunpett for the use of the bullocks
of the heavy train by the 2nd batt. L1th regiment. This
enabled the train to get on, at least as was imagined at that
time. [t may be true, as General Sydenham says, that the
working money ought to have been paid by the bullock
owners, but at all events the sepoys were entitled to it.  Bar-
clay recollects the cireumstance perfeetly.

¢ I received last night a letter from Colonel Tolfrey, from
which I guess that he neither thinks his force sufficient to
force Anakeery, nor does he like his equipments, as he wants
hand grenades, of which I believe there are none in India,
certainly none at Seringapatam. I have therefore desired
him not to attack the post till Colonel Montresor reaches
him ; and by a letter received from him last night T hope that
he will join the detachinent on the same day, or at least one
day after the Europeans will reach it.

* When I found that the Europeans were likely to join the
detachment before Colonel Montresor could reach it, I wrote
to Colonel Tolfrey from Tellicherry a letter, which I sent ex-
press, and desired him to attack the post as soon as he found
himself sufficiently strong. When a man says that the
largest equipment which, under the circumstances of the
moment can be brought together, is not sufficient to force a
post such as Anal\wr_y, it is not very prudent to take upon
oneself the responsibility of ordering him to attack it, And
it would be particularly imprudent in me to do so, as Colonel
Tolfrey having already failed, there is reason to believe that
he would be very anxious to seize the first opportunity
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of revenging himself, and, therefore, that he would not ob-
ject to the size and strength of his detachment upon light
ground. As hand grenades, however, are upon the whole
all that are wanting, I have no doubt but that Colonel Mon-
tresor will find muskets and bayonets sufficient, and that he
will succeed.
+ T will write this day about the Postmaster at Nuggur.
¢ Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Coluncl Close.

+ My peark Coroxkr, ¢ Seringapatam, 23rd April, 1800.

¢ I conclude that there will be no impediment to the com-
munication by the Candulgull ghaut as soon as the post at
Anakeery will be carried, and, therefore, it is desirable that
the peons should remain upon the road, and the writer at
Oustara. Ihave written to the commanding officer, in Canara,
to tell him that this interruption of our intercourse is to
make no alteration in the instructions which I before sent to
the officer commanding the detachment at Soobramany, and
that the Post Office people are to be prepared to carry on
the communication when it may be practicable.

« I have reccived a letter from Colenel Sartorius, by which
it appears that our road was advanced about six miles be-
yond Pyche on the 18th.

* Will you and your gentlemen dine with me on Sunday ?

¢ Believe me, &c.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 26th April, 1800.
I enclose an extract from a letter, which I have re-
ceived from Licut. Coloncl Mignan, which contains uncom-
fortable news. I have before now received news from this
same man which has turncd out unfounded; and this fort
is répresented as so strong, and so difficult of access, that, if
any part of the garrison was on the top of it, I am in hopes
that it is still in our hands; I shall know it to-morrow. At
all events, I have desired Colonel Mignan to cquip to take
it if it has fallen, and in case he should have no howitzers at
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Mangalore, 1 am preparing some here, which I will send
down.

¢« The employment of the 75th at Jemalabad will have no
immediate effcct upon our operations in Bullum, as you may
recollect ; but, if the fort\has fallen, it will have serious con-
sequences, indeed, upon our means of putting an army into
the field upon our northern frontier (if that should be neces-
sary), and upon the gperations in the next scason in Wynaad
and Cotiote. 1 reckoned upon two or three battalions of
the Bombay army for the former, and all that might be em-
ployed in the latter will be taken up at this siege, which
probably cannot be vigorously carried on till after the mon-
soon.

« I have received accounts this morning stating, that the
Nizam’s killadar and amildar have left Harponelly and gone
to Rydroog, that the whole frontier is alarmed, &c. Cuppage
has sent me a letter which he has received from the Gom-
nair polygar, in which he says plainly, if a certain arrange-
ment is made of the country, « I will do my best endea-
vors to regain my rights by arms or other means.” And
tho amildar of the district writes to Cuppage, that this
polygar has got 4000 or 5000 Carnatic pcons. Looking at
the whole of our situation, 1 have determined that, if Jema-
labad has really fallen, I will collect as many {roops as can
be spared from the garrisous, as the ouly means of deterring
the fellows, by whom we arc surrounded, from rising imme-
diately.

« Believe me, &e.
* Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢ Axrnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A, Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My peAR CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapata, 27th April, 1864

1 received a letter from Colonel Mignan this morning,
dated the 20th, by which it appears that he is not certain
that Jemalabad is taken. He says that a soubahdar arrived
on the 20th at Mangalore, from Soobramany, that he must
have passed very ucar to Jemalabad, and that he heard no-
thing of what had happened till he met the 75th regiment,
which marched from Mangalore on the evening of the 19th
towards Jemalabad.

¢ 1 have inquired respecting Mirza Ali Reza, and I cannot
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or that he is at all known here.
¢ Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEV.

¢ I have just reccived a letter from Colonel Tolfrey, dated
25th, in which he says that Bishtoo Pundit had informed
him that he had received a rcport from the amildar at
Oustara, stating that the fort of Jemalabad had been sur-
prised and taken, and the whole garrison put to death.
There is another letter from Kistnapah Naig, in much the
same terms as the last.

¢ I rather believe that Anakeery will have becn attacked
on this day.’ '

find that any such person ever belonged to 'I;ippoo’s family,

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesiey to Licut. Colonel Close.

« My pEAR COLONEL, ¢ Seringapaterm, 1st May, 1800.

¢ I did not write to you yesterday, when 1 had ascertained
that we had entirely lost Jemalabad, because I concluded
that you would have seen the leiter which I wrote to the
Sceretary of Government.  The fort was taken, not by Kist-
napah Naig, but by 150 of the recruits, who deserted from
Mangalore in March, and they were under the orders of the
havildar, who deserted with them. Colonel Cumine expected
to take the lower fort without difficulty; and he has been
ordered to attempt it: to take the upper fort will be a long
operation, for which I have made arrangements by collecting
troops, &c. &c. I have not given orders for collecting the
troops to the northward as ) intended, as really the measure
appears to me to be one of sone consequence.  Government
have had Lefore them, since the 19th of April, the orders for
putting the cavalry in the field, the information upon which
they were founded, and such other information as might
render necessary a more formidable equipment. Upon these
they have given no opinion; and, as it is not a ncasure of

, absolute necessity, 1 do not like to go any farther.

¢ Mr. Cochrane was to arrange with Purncah about sending
off to Gomnair 450 of the infaniry now at Mysore.

I expect to hear this evening or to-morrow morning of
the success of the attack upon Anakeery.

< Belicve me, &ec.
* Lieut. Colonel Closs." < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A, Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLonkL, ¢ Seringapatam, 7th May, 1804,

¢ As I expected you back, I have not written to you for:
several days. You will have heard from Mr. Webbe of our’
success at Anakeery. By the last letters from Colonel Mon-
tresor it appears that he was about to march towards the
Bissolee ghaut with the Europeans and part of the detach--
ment, and to send Colonel Tolfrey to Saylispoor, with his-
own corps and the Rajal’s cavalry and infantry, to complete
the provisioning of Munserabad. The polygar had occupied
Anakeery again, and had begun again to establish the bar-
riers, Indeed they had not had time to destroy the jungle
entirely, and until that was done it could not be expeeted
but that the polygar would still remain in it if possible, and
endeavor to re-establish himself there. The great object
has been gained; he and his people have been made to un-
derstand that it is not so casy to keep out our troops as they
imagined, and I am afraid that the further subjection of him
must be delayed to some future period. 1 will write to
Colonel Montresor to desire that, if possible, he will clear out
the jungle at Anakeery; but it is really not worth while
to lose any man for that object, as there are many polygar
stations of the same kind on both sides of the Hynwatty, and:
it will be impossible to destroy them all at present.

* We have got possession of the lower forts of Jemalabad;
but the holders of the upper fort have fired upon Colonel
Cumine’s flag, and refuse to have any communication. I
have adopted a plan for blowing up the lower part of the-
steps, o as to cut off all hope of relicf; and then we shall be’
able to secure the blockade by a force which will be equal to
the defence of the lower forts against the attempts which':
Kistnapah Naig will make upon them. Howitzers will not
answer at Jemalabad; and 1 have therefore ordered there a-,
thirteen and a ten-inch mortar, which must go from Cannia«’
nore in order to amuse those in the upper fort duritig the
rans, ' five

 Dhoondiah, it is said, has got possession of Dummul, in'thé"
same manner that he got Gudduck, and that with his whole
force he was advancing to Havanoor in the Savanore country,
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about two coss from Oollall, but on the other side of the
Toombuddra. The cavalry will be collected by this time at
Chittledroog; and I have given orders that they may march
immediately to Hurryhur, with cight companies of the st
battalion 8th regiment, and four ficld-pieces, for which 1
have sent bullocks from hence. The Ist regiment will have
their gallopers, and the 2nd regiment will have theirs in
a few days, which I have cramped up for them ; it is impos-
sible to do any thing to those belonging to the 4th regi-
ment.

¢ I have sent orders to occupy Hurryhur with a small
detachment of this infantry and two guns if necessary; to
remain in that neighbourhood with the remainder of the
force, likewise to occupy Hoonelly with infantry and guns if
necessary : when the river comes down here the boats will be
collected.

¢ When the rains set in it will not be difficult to ascertain
Dhoondiah’s plans, and to take cffectual measures to oppose
him. He must determine upon an invasion of Bednore and
Soonda, or of Harponelly, Anagoondy, and Chittledroog.
If of the former, he will remain on the other side of the ‘Toom-
buddra tillit fills ; if of the latter, he will cross the river early.
Our boats at Hoonelly, and a little intelligence in the people
employcd on the fronticr, will give us great advantages in
opposing cither plan.

¢ At Purncah’s desire I altered the disposition of the
infantry as proposed by you. Ie thought cavalry would
answer better in Gomnair (and if his description of the
country be correct, I agree with him), and infantry at Bullum, '
where, by all accounts, the cavalry has not been of much use.
We have, therefore. drawn away from the latter 200 horse,
which are ordered to Gomnair, making in the whole 500
horse on that side, and have sent the infantry into Bullum. 1
saw the corps, and had some of their cartridges changed,
and other exchanges made at the arsenals, and they are gone
well equipped.

¢ I thought that collecting the army was a more serious
matter than it appears at first, and I am glad that 1 have
omitted to do it, although. as a military measure, it is cer-
tainly desirable.

e .
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« We are getting a grand equipment of ficld carriages
from Madras, and I hope that all will go smooth.
< Belicve me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My peAr COLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 18th May, 1800.

« In regard to Munro’s public letter I have to answer, that
the moment I heard of the riot he mentions I wrote to the
commanding officer in Canara to desire that he would pro-
yide a force to check it; and I do not believe there will be
any difficulty in sending to Vittell the number of troops
which it appears Munro thinks sufficient.

« It is very true that the mortars were all at Cannanore at
the time when Jemalabad was taken; but it is not true that
there has been time to get them from thence. 1 have heard
that they have left Cannanore; but as the northerly winds
prevail at this scason of the year, I do not believe that they
are yet at Mangalore.

¢ Munro is mistaken also regarding the howitzer, which he
says is fitting up at Mangalore. It has been at Jemalabad
since the 10th.

¢ 1 am sorry that Munro thinks that matters do not go on
so quickly as they ought in Canara; but one fact proves
that they have not been very slow there, which is, that the
fort of Jemalabad was surprised on the 19th, a force was
before it on the 21st, and the lower forts were retaken in a
day or two afterwards. That the mortars and shells were in
Malabar, that they arc difficult to move, and that the winds
arc contrary, is no more to be attributed to Colonel Mignan
than the surprise of the place was.

¢ Belicve me, &ec.
« Lieut. Colonel Close” < ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut.Colonel Close.

¢« My peAr CoLONEL, ¢ Camp at Archinelly, 22nd May, 1800.
<1 am obliged to you for your account of the murder,
which shocked me much. I hear from Colonel Saxon that
he has taken measures for the apprehension of the perpetra-
tors of it, in case they should be on the island ; and I have



© 1800. ARCHINELLY. 73

hopes that at all events they will be caught, and will .meet
with the punishment which they descrve.

« We are within three miles of Chinna, have got on well,
excepting the Company's carts, which alrcady want repair.
We likewise want some bullock drivers, coolics, spare bul-
locks, &c.; but I have threatened a muster at Nagamung-
lum, which I hope will bring out of Seringapatam all those
who belong to us, and have remained behind.

<1 have reccived a letter of the 18th from Colonel Mig-
nan, in which he says that some fellows had plundered Bunt-
well in the neighbourhood of Vittell, and about half way on
the road between Mungalore and Jemalabad. He had sent
a force there, and there were hopes of being able to cut off
the upper fort of Jemalabad entirely.

< T have received a most distressing account of the state
of the 1st regiment of cavalry ; they had been very sickly;
latterly some men have died ; the whole regiment are much
frightened and out of spirits, and about twenty sepoys, nine
of whom had been many years in the service, have deserted.
I have desired Pater to halt them at ¥lurryhur, to put the
sick under cover, and the whole regiment into the fort, if
necessary.

¢ As Dr. Anderson thinks they will not recover cither
health or spirits till they reach Arcot, I am afraid that I
shall be obliged to send them to the rear entirely, and
eventually to the Carnatic.

¢ General Braithwaite tells me that he will be obliged to
call for the 4th regiment, and will send four troops of the
19th. I have informed him of this circumstance regarding
the 1st regiment, and I have asked for the whole of the 19th.
‘With that, the 25th, and the 2nd regiment, we shall still be

strong enough.
< Believe me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ The 74th regiment are ordercd to halt at Wallajahbad.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colunel Close.
¢ Camp at Archinelly, 22nd May, 1800,
< My pear CoLoNEL, 9 P. M.
<1 enclose tho copy of a letter which I have received from
Major Browne. Jerrah is in Soonda, about four miles from
SUP. VOL. L
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the Werdah, and close to the Marhatta frontier ; it is twelve
miles from Chundergooty, where we have a post of one
officer, and a company of sepoys, and there is another at
Bilghy, twelve miles from thence.

¢ Lo order the cavalry to cross the Toombuddra and the
Werdah to Jerrah will never answer. The distance would
be very great; and the country is so jungly that they could
not act when they should arrive there. I have written to Sir
William Clarke letters in triplicate, to inform him of what
has happened, and I do not doubt but that the party will
move out of the Company’s territories as soon as thoy hear
that the battalion is coming up, which must now be far ad-
vanced on its march from Goa. To attempt any thing clse
will be useless till I approach nearer to the fronticr.

* The communication with our troops in Svonda is cut off,
as the tappall necessarily passed through Jerrah,

I have desired Major Brown to draw the troops from
Bilghy, to destroy that place entirely, and to re-inforce with
them the fort at Chandergooty.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTnur WELLESLEY.

¢ As I think it desirable that Government should receive
this intelligence as soon as possible, as it may quicken their
decision regarding our operations, I sent it off this night by
express.”

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ Camp, two tniles north of Chinna,
* My prar CoLonkL, 23rd May, 1800,

* I have this morning received a letter from the Adjutant
General, by which T am ordered to send to Ryacotta two com-
panics of the 2nd of the 5th. This will weaken us at rather
a valuable point, but it cannot be helped. There is nothing
for it but to withdraw some men from Nundydroog, and
form a little detachment for field service, with guns, under,
Cuppage, which might move about from place to place as it
might be necessary.

“ It is not yet certain that the 74th will come up; but if
they do they shall be halted somewhere in front of Banga-
lore, to give a countenance to our troops thereabouts until
we absolutely want them in this country.
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« I get on well ; our bazaar is not quite so numerous as I
expected from the appearance of that which was placed on
the north side of the river. I rather imagine that the dealers
there find their situation very advantagcous, and that they
will still remain there; and if they can, keep the exemption
from duties which Purneah has been so kind as to allow the
bazaar hitherto. As this was granted only that they might
be at all times prepared to take the field with the troops, it
will be proper to withdraw it now that these are in the ficld.
If any of them are staying behind with an intention of
taking an unfair advantage of Purncah’s indulgence, the
discontinuance of it will bring them out to join us.

‘I desired Captain West to write to Mr. Cochrane to re-
quest that the runncrs might be again posted on the road
between Bangalore and Scra, and that he would write to
the Post Master Gencral at Fort St. George, to desire that
letters for the army and the northern garrisons might be
sent by that road in a separate bag.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. “ ArTuur WELLESLEY.

¢ Upon looking over Cuppage's returns, I find that he can
have a detachment of 4 or 500 men, with two guns, leaving
his garrison well provided, and a good detachment in Goom-
nair, which, in case of disturbanee, he would of course join.

< I have desired Barclay to write to Cuppage, and desire
him to put this measure in exccution if he thinks it will
answer better than the present arrangement ; and I shall, by
this day's post, desirc Mr. Gordon to prepare for it, and
Maclntire to scnd muskets and ammunition, which is all
they can want.

¢ Severndroog and Oustraydroog arc occupied by small
partics fron the 2nd of the 5th; will you be so kind as
to speak to Purneah about placing in those two forts a few
Jrusty peons, on whom he can depend, that they will give
them up to us when we may require them? I have written
to the commanding officer in the Baramahl to desire that he
will make a similar arrangement with Mr. Graham for occu-
pying Anchitty Droog, Ratengerry, and Shoolgerry.

< I enclose a letter from Colonel Pater; will you desire

Purneah to give orders to the killadar to make the repairs
L 2
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to the fort of Hurryhur, and throw in there a supply of
provisions ?’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close,
¢ Camp at Nagamunglum,

¢ My peaRr CoLoNEL, 24th May, 1800.

< I have received a letter from Colonel Pater, in which he
says, that there are no provisions in Hurryhur. He has,
however, thrown in there five companics of the 1st of the
8th, and two guns; but I am afraid the want of provisions
will oblige him to withdraw them again.

¢ He likewise complains of want of gram. There is plenty
in the country, and I have informmed him that Purneah has
taken all restrictions off the sale of cvery kind of grain. I
suspect the gram agents do not cxert themsclves as they
ought ; but I have given them a brush through Colonel
Pater, and have informed him that the system under which
they are agents, has not been hitherto approved; and that if
the service fails for want of gram after all that has been done
to procure it, it is more than probable that another system
will be adopted.

¢ What do you think of Government having given power
to the gram agents to draw upon Madras for 4500 pagodas
cach, without saying one word to any of us in this country
upon the subject; the monthly interest of which sum alone
is sufficient to pay for the monthly expenditure of gram?

I get on famously, and expect the detachment from
Bullum to-morrow.

¢ The Ist regiment must go to the Carnatic, nothing else
can save them.

¢TI hope the Rajah of Koorg is not dead; we generally
lose by the transfer of a government from onec hand to
another.

¢ The battalion is on its march from Goa. I reckon that
it will have arrived at Hullihall by this time, and will be at’
Hoonelly as soon as I can. T have sent it orders to attack
our friend at Jerrah.

¢ Believe me, &ec.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTRUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.
« My pEAR COLONEL, szpnxfltl ?ﬁ??:;‘dg.hm'

* I think the plan of marking the calves a very good one,
and I shall be glad if it is carricd into exccution.

¢ Lieut. Coloncl Montresor’s detachment is come in, but
the native corps are miserably weak. Lieut. Colonel Tol-
frey’s battalion has only about 300 men for duty.

* I have had another letter from Pater, by which it appears
that he had had an interview with the amildar at Hurry-
hur, with whom he was perfectly satisfied. The amildar
had expressed his readiness to do cvery thing in his power
to assist the detachment.

¢ Belicve me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ Camp at Nagamunglum.
¢ My prar CoLonEL, 26th May, 1800.

I have reccived from Major Cuppage rather a curious
account of a fellow who is raising horse in that neighbour-
hood, with the knowledge of the amildar, and who has not
communicated to him any thing upon the subject; I con-
clude that you have received the account, and therefore I do
not send it to you.

¢ I march on to-morrow. Purncah has sent somc orders
here to allow all provisions coming to camp to pass free
of toll. I understood that he had given orders to that
cffect in all parts of the country; and if that is the case, it
will be better that our brinjarries and bazaar people should
not have these papers in their hands, of which it may be cer-
tain that they will make a bad use.

¢ If, however, Purncah prefers that they should have in
Jheir hands these papers, rather than give one gencral order
to all his amildars, &c., upon this subject, it will be necessary
that we should have more of them in camp. I shall not
allow any of these orders to be given out till I receive your
answer to this letter.

¢ Believe me, &c.
* Licut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLLY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonal Close.

« My pEAr CLOONEL, « Camp at Belloor, 27th May, 1800,

¢ I have received yours of the 26th and its enclosures. I
had already heard of the march of the battalion from Goa,
and have provided bullocks for them., I did not know of
their want of money ; but Captain Munro’s supply of that,
and of bullocks, to bring them through Soonda will be very
acceptable.

‘I enclose you a letter which I received last night, which
agrees with Captain Munro’s account, rather than with that
of Ram Rao, of the nature of the force which has entered
Soonda; Ram Rao’s cavalry will have driven them out before
the Bombay battalion will be near them. It does, not come
by the Budnaghur road, but by that)oﬁ.ﬂ_}bnd%very,
unless the officer commanding it should, altep-tis route upon
hearing of the irruption of these vagabopds. .

¢ Whether they belong to Dhoondiak, or-are only robbers,
it is clear that it is nccessary that‘we should come to an
understanding with the Marhattas ¥egarding that frontier.

I enclose you some papers which I received last night
from Coloncl Sartorius, by which it appcars that Dhoondiah
has been meddling in Malabar. I acknowledge that I should
rather believe the truth to be that the letter to the Cherical
Rajah was written by the Pyche; but whether it was or not,
it is very clear that the name of Dhoondiah is made use
of among all the Company’s turbulent suljects, to crcate
disturbances ; and it is therefore the more incumbent upon
our Government to get the better of him. T have received an
excellent account of 1loonelly from Colonel Pater, who de-
sired Captain Balfour of the artillery to visit it. He reports
it to be in a perfect state of defence, guns, powder, shot, pro-
visions, &c., well arranged and prepared.  All appears to be
so perfect, that I do not propose to put any of our troops
into the fort unless the killadar wishes it; and I shall bes
obliged to you if you will mention him to Purneah, as a man
descrving encouragement. The boats arc in great forward-
ness; and there is a large wooden boat at Hooly Honore
which I propose to have brought down to Hoonelly as soon
as the river fills.

¢ I return you the bill for the cook rooms, which I have
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signed, and to which I have annexed a copy of the authority
which I received from Government to build them. If you
will send the bill to Gordon he will pay it.

« The pension to Mahomed Ally is 250 star pagodas per
annum, payable at Seringapatam on the Family Fund, and
is in Class No. 1. He received the arrcars of it from the 1st
of January. We agreed about Shah Abbas, as you say.

« The guards at Severndroog and Oustradroog belong to
the companies of the 2ud of the 5th, and they will soon
be withdrawn, ‘This is the reason why I am anxious that
Purnecah should place people in those forts on whom he can
depend. :

¢ I write to Colonel Sartorius this day, and I shall desire
him, in case he perceives any symptoms of serious insurree-
tion in‘Malabar, to begin to bring his forces together in such
manner as that they will be secure and prepared to join one
another when the season opens.

¢ I conclude that Stevenson will have informed you of the
attempts which have been made to seduce the sepoys to de-
sert from the 2nd of the'3rd. A committee.was assembled
to examine into the matter, but they could make nothing of
it, although Stevenson thinks that Dhoondiah has been en-
deavoring to raisec men at Chittledroog, as it appears that
Cuppage thinks that he has been making the same endca-
vor at his post and district. It certainly is very desirable,
on many accounts, that our troops should be kept separate
from the inhabitants at Chittledroog, and I accordingly
desired Stevenson to turn over the subject in his mind, and
to let me know whether it would not be possible to remove
all the inhabitants from the fort, properly so called, into
what I understand is the pettah, although it is equally sur-
rounded by a strong wall, and that the former might be
given up solely and entirely to the troops, who should have
nothing to do with, and should not inhabit the latter. I do
ot know whether Colonel Stevenson has entirely compre-
hended the meaning of what I wrote to him; but if he has,
he appears to be of opinion that it will be practicable, and'
not difficult to remove from the fort all the inhabitants.

< I shall be glad if you will let me know what you think
upon this subject, and whether there will be any objection to
the arrangement on the part of Purneah. T understand that
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the inhabitants of Chittledroog are very numerous, that they
are of the cast of the old Rajahs, and were, in general, here-
tofore sepoys and peons in the service of the Sultaun. They
refuse to take service with us in any manner whatever; at
Chittledroog we can get neither recruits, servants, lascars,
coolies or bullock drivers; and I cannot think that it will be
very safe to leave in a fort with our troops a large number of
fellows such as these are described to be. )
¢ Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ AkTHUR WELLESLEY.

« Upon looking over the authority from Government I
perccive it goes only to repairs; but the building of the
offices was allowed, 1 know, in a private letter from Webbe.
Send the authority to the Paymaster, or not, as you think fit.’

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.

¢« My peAR COLONEL, ¢ Camp at Curruh, 29th May, 1800.

1 received yours of the 27th yesterday, and I imme-
diately wrote to Colonel Stevenson to desire he would inquire
into the circumstances stated by I also requested
him to let know my opinion regarding the conclud-
ing paragraph of his letter to Mr. Cochrane. .

<1 have given out an order to the purport proposed by
you regarding the disputes of the officers with the Post
Office people.

¢ I arrived here this morning, and I shall halt to-morrow, as
my cattle have suffered much from the rain and from the
refusal of the people of the country to scll their straw. The
protection which has been afforded to the villages has nearly
ruined us; but 1 have pressed my hircarrah and the amildar
of this place a good deal upon the subject, and I hope to get
on better. I shall be obliged to you if you will speak to Pur-
neah upon the subject, and prevail upon him to write to the
amildars in this country to desire that we may have straw,
paying for the same at the rate fixed for that delivered to the
cavalry ; viz. four bullock loads for a rupec.

¢ 1 am afraid that I shall not be able to allow Colonel Tol-
frey’s battalion to go to Paughur; as, however weak it may
be, we cannot spare it. I may, perhaps, be able to take out
from Chittledroog one of the battalions which are stronger,
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and to put his in there; but as he will not be permanently
fixed there, I'do not think that his situation will be much
mended by that arrangement, although I shall gain a strong
instead of a weak battalion.
‘ Belicve me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the ITon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Camp near Cheyloor, 31st May, 1800.

I conclude that you will have received a copy of the
instructions which 1 received yesterday from Government,
dated the 25th instant, and therefore I do not enclose you
once. By these I am authorized to enter the Marhatta ter-
ritory.

< Upon a consideration of the whole of our situation it
appears to me that the best thing I can do is to cross
the Toombuddra immediately, with the troops which I shall
have with me by the time I reach it, and I think that I
ought to cross it below Oollall and the junction of the Werdah
with it; Ishall then be in the Marhatta territory, and on the
same side of the river with Dhoondiah; and if I find it
neeessary I may wait there till I am joined by the 25th dra-
goons and the money, and I can collect there boats which may
be wanting to transport across the river brinjarries, &ec.,
which will follow me. The advantage in my being across the
river will be, that when it coines down, there will be less to be
crossed over than if I remain on this side of it, and by cross-
ing below Oollall and the junction with the Werdah, I save
the passage of that river, and the march through the northern
part of Bednore, and I am in a better place for receiving
every thing than if I were to go up to Anawooty and Jerrah.
I might certainly cross the Toomnbuddra at Hoonelly, and wait
there in our own territory till I should receive every thing;
but then I shall have the Werdah to pass after it will have
filled, and cxclusive of the difficulties of the march through
the Bednore country, the passage of that river will be found as
difficult as that of the Toombuddra; therefore, at all events,
it would seem proper to cross the latter below the junction,
whatever may be the period at which it may be crossed, and
the-question is narrowed to this point, shall I cross it imme-

SUP. voL. u
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diately and wait on the other side, or shall I wait on this side
till T am joined by every thing I expect. Iacknowledge that
I think I ought to cross immediately, but I shall be glad to
have your opinion upon this subject.

<1 belicve Ball Kishen Punt is the principal Marhatta
personage in Savanore, and [ ought to write to him. Would
it not be advisable also to open a correspondence with
Appah Saheb and Goklah, Bappojee Scindiah, &c. &e.  Let
me have your opinion on these points.

« T think of moving two heavy guns up to Oollall, in casc
1 should find them necessary. I have bullocks for them.

1 made a famous march this moruing of fourteen miles in
four hours.

<I enclose the copy of a letter from Captain Macgregor to
Colonel Pater; I have written to the latter to inform him
that 1 have received repeated letters from you, in which you
state that there is no impediment to the sale of gram, or any
thing clse on the part of the sircar, therefore that the gram
agents have only to offer a good price, and they will get
what they want; and if they de not get it, they must expeet
that other means of procuring it will be adopted, which may
not prove very agreeable to them.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ARTHUR WELI’.ESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear Coronrr, ¢ Camp at Curruh, 31st May, 1800.

T enclose the letter from Major Cuppage, by which you
will perceive how the matter stands regarding the amildar.
It appears, however, very clearly that he was mistaken, as
he reported the matter to Purneah.

« I received last night a letter from Lord Mornington re-
garding the offer of the command of the troops intended for
Batavia. He scems to think it an advantage to me, and
that some credit will be gained by it, as the object is a great
one in England; but I have written to Lord Clive to desire
that he will accept of it for me, or not, according as he may
find it most convenient for the public service, after having
ascertained from the Admiral the period of his departure
from the coast. A letter reccived this day from Madras,
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with instructions to enter the Marhatta country, has deter-
mined me not to accept of it in any event.
 Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. * AkTHUR WELLESLEY.

‘ Have you heard any thing from Macleod, or Munro, or
Graham, about money ? that is the subject upon which I am
most anxious at the present moment.

‘ What do you think of — , who, when the 25th dra-
goons were about to ascend the Pednaig Durgum pass,
ordered them round by Ryacotta? I expected them to join
me at Sera; thcy will not now be there for a fortnig!lt; and
I cannot guess for what reason they were not allowed to pro-
ceed by the route first intended.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp, two miles south of Columbella,
¢ My prar CoLonkL, 15t June, 1800.

¢ I have received your letter of the 30th May, from which
it appears that you and I agree in one point, viz., that, till we
cross the Toombuddra, we can do nothing effectual towards
destroying Dhoondiah or dispersing his force.  You fear for
our want of provisions, and I have the pleasure to inform
you that I have every reason to expect to have really 10,000
brinjarries. I shall have besides 1,200 loads of gram in a
gram department, and, in the provision department, arrack,
which I can make to last four or five months, but sheep only
for one.  Of this last we shall find the greatest want.

I do not belicve that the Savanore country has been
much laid waste ; that part of it which 1 saw last year was in
good order, and appcared well cultivated. Soonda is cer-
tainly supplied from it; and, from the pricc of grain there,
cven when I was in it, I should not imagine that article to be
scarce in Savanore. We shall certainly have some party in
¢he country in our favour, and, if that is the case, we may
expect to draw some supplies from it. I fear, however, a
want of gram for the cavalry: the agents are very remiss.
The regiments have carriage only for fourteen days. There
will probably be but little gram in the Marhatta country,
and it js in general an article so cheap and so common that

it will. be difficult to prevail upon the brinjarries to carry
M2
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mych of it. I must, however, try that, and I must-likewis,
endeavor to remove the depét now collecting at Chittledroog,
from thence to Hurryhur, or to Oollall, if you should agree
in opinion with me as to the propriety of crossing the Toom-
buddra immediately.

« I see no prospect of co-operation with the Nizam’s troops
if they are to remain north of the Kistna.  All these objects
of , 80 incompatible with one another, will at last
ruin us. If he is in carnest about Dhoondiah, why is not
the subsidiary foree to cross the Kistna and to come near
him? But the truth is, that, while he fears Dhoondiah on the
one hand, he has some wild plan in view to the northwards,
and, if we do not eross the Toombuddra, Dhoondiah will
plunder the Dooaly, and will not be able to effect his
purpose with his troops on the north bank of the Kistna;
ajréhe same tine that they will, most probably, be too far.
removed from the scene of action to be able to give their
assistance towards forwarding his northern plans.

<1 will push off a letter to Licut. Coloncl Maclean, as
soon as I shall have determined upon my plan after hearing
from you; but I think our communication will be uscless, as
he is to remain on the north bank of the Kistna.

¢« Your account of the horsemen in the Nundydroog dis-
trict is unpleasant, but I think that the measures taken by
Purneah to keep them in check will have its effect, particu-
larly when Cuppage shall have his detachment in the field.
The families of these Mussclmen are a strong hold upon
them, and they ought to be prevented from moving cither
with or without them. If there is any serious collection of
them, would it not be proper to seize the horse of every man
not in the Rajuh's service, or who may not be licensed to
keep one? Lo do this will require some previous arrange-
ment to provide for their sudden seizure, and for the care of
them after they have been seized; but I do not think it
will be absolutely impracticable. My idea of Chittledroog,
is to separate the garrison and the inhabitants, so that the
former shall not be liable to be surprised by the latter. This,
I understand, can be donc without removing the inhabit-
ants from what 1 improperly called the pettah, but which
is in reality the fort. If I find that that is the case, I do
not intend to bear hard upon them ; but, as Purneah agrees

¥
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'in the propriety of the measure, I shall request the amildar
to remove them outside entirely by degrees, and at their
convenience.

<1 am glad to hear such good accounts from Bullum, as I
was afraid, from Colonel Montresor's account, that there
might have been some difficulty in keeping the garrison in
Munserabad during the monsoon. It appears, however, now
that they have got confidence in themselves.

«T have got a long packet from Pater, with what it is use-
less to trouble you. It is just the old story of opposition on
the part of the amildar, for which there are secret springs
which are entirely unaccountable. The pith of it is in the
onclosed letter.

« T have written to him again, to tell him that orders have
been given to sell every thing to his detachment, and that he
has nothing to do but to pay. Ihave got on well in every
respect, and I have not received any complaints respecting
my followers. We have been well supplied with forage since
T wrote last on that subjeet, for which the people pay the re-
gulated price. The green forage is beginning to appear,
and we shall then be nearly entirely independent of the dry.

< Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ I enclose the concluding paragraph of Pater’s letter,
which gives some consolation, notwithstanding the ‘¢ secret
springs.” I likewise enclose a letter which was brought to
me by mistake last night.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My preAr COLONEL, ¢« Camp at Sera, 2nd June, 1800.
¢ I enclose a correspondence with Colonel Stevenson upon
the subject of and the Postmaster.

« My opinion of this correspondence is just this; that I
qught to put in arrest as soon as I shall have re-
ceived Coloncl Stevenson's answer to my letter of this day,
and then forward the whole correspondence to head quarters.
As a trial will be the consequence of this measure, it may be
doubted, as the issue is always uncertain, and as —'8
letter, however indecent, is so worded as in some parts to
have two meanings, whether I ought to put him in arrest, and

"»
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whether I ought not to confine myself to the transmission of
the papers to General Braithwaite; but the persons to whom
I have shown ———'s letter are clearly of opinion that no
Court Martial can pass it over, and, therefore, I am afraid
that, if I report him without putting him in arrest, 1 shall
receive from head quarters a censure for not supporting my
own authority.

« No man is a competent judge in his own cause, and I
shall, therefore, be obliged to you for your opinion upon
this subject, if you will send it to me together with the
enclosed papers, and cither the original letter, written by
to Mr. Cochrane, or a certified copy, as soon as pos-

sible.
T enclose a letter from Captain Macgregor to Colonel
Pater, upon which some inquiry may probably be necessary.
: ¢ Belicve me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoroneL, ¢ Camp at Sera, 3rd June, 1800.

<1 am sorry to tell you that there are many complaints
from the officers who have been here, of the behavior of the
amildar. It appear sthat he sends them insolent messages,
that what they want, such as artificers, &c., he will not allow
them to have without his orders, which he afterwards will
not give; that he keeps provisions, meat, &c., at an enormous
price. I give some credit to these reports, because they are
confirmed by a very good young man, a Mr. Macgregor, of
the 73rd, who was some time in the 33rd, and who 1 know
is not very difficult to please, and would not make the report
if there was not some foundation for it. It will be proper
that at all cvents he should be put upon his guard, as we
cannot expeet moderation from our young men here, if they
are not civilly treated. R

¢ The place appears in fine order and getting on, so that it
would be unfortunate if he were removed from it.

I enclose you a Marhatta letter from Purneah to the
amildar of Buswaputtum, from which I fear that he misunder-
stood the arrangement we made with him. I intended, and
so did you, that there should be perfect liberty to purchase
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gram cvery where for every body, and, so far from wighifigr
that Gordon should buy it near Chittledroog, 1 particularly
desired him to make his purchases at a distance, in order that
he might not interfere with the cavalry in the field. Iam
afraid that our friend the Paymaster has disobeyed my
orders, and that he has teased Purneah into giving him or
his servant the enclosed letter.

‘I cnclose the draft of a letter, which I have written to
the amildar of Buswaputtum, in order, if possible, to avert
the evil effects of Purneal’s letter.

< Believe me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.

My pear CoLonFr, « Camp at Hurryhur, 4th June, 1800.

‘I cnclose an extract of a letter which 1 have reccived
from Major Blaquiere, regarding the complaint of a bazaar
man at Bangalore, about cumleys purchased by Mr. Ward.

‘ Yesterday I sent a patrol to Arnee to rcconnaitre the
place, ncaning to attack it this day, as soon as some ladders
were made. It was evacaated last night, my troops are now
in the fort, and I propose that it should be delivered over to
Ball Kishen Punt this afternoon.

¢ 1 hear that Dhoondiah is gone to the northward.

‘ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ Avrnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A, Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My peAarR CoLONEL, ¢ Camp at Woodanelly, 5th June, 1800.
¢ Some of our dooley boys from the Carnatic have de-
serted, and others are likely to follow their example. I shall
be obliged to you if you will speak to Purneal, and request
him to give dircctions to his amildars to stop them or any
sthers of our followers that may pass through their districts.
One deserter stopped and brought back to camp will tend
greatly to put an cend to desertion. I am very anxious to
reeeive your answers to my letters of the Ist and the 2nd.
I have received Colonel Stevenson’s answer to the letter, a
copy of which I enclosed to you, and he says that he does
not think - ’s letter in question an improper one. This
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by rto means alters the state of the ease, unless I ehoose to
avaibmysclf of it as being the opinior of an officer of rank
upon the subject, and to let off ——= by referring. all the
pipers to the Commander in Chief.. In that case it i8 not
unlikely but that Colonel Stevenson may be as severely re-
primanded for his opinion as ——-— will be for his letter.

i « However, I do not feel myself by any means inclined. 4o
this mode of procceding ; and I only wait for your answer to
my letter of the 2nd, in order to put Iém in arrcst.

¢ Colonel Pater sent an officer to look at Oollall, who
reports favorably of it, and of the killadar. They want,
however, some ammunition and stores, which I will forward
to them from Chittledroog. |
¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut, Colonel Close. « ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My prAR CoLongr, ¢ Camp at Eyamungalum, 7th June, 1800,

I have received your letter of the 4th, for which I am
obliged to you; I shall immncdiately make my arrangements
for crossing the river; but I am afraid I am too late for Sava-
nore, as it is reported (but by Stevenson's hircarrahs) that
Dhoondiah has got possession of that fort. Ram Rao wrote
on the 2nd, that he was still at Dummul.

< T have written to Colonel Maclean, and sent off my letter
by camel hircarrahs. I have told him that my intention was
to cross the Toombuddra as soon as I could have represented
the necessity of his co-operations, and have proposed gene-
rally that he should cross the Kistna and proceed towards
the frontier. I have promised that I would write farther
when I had determined upon my own plan of operations,
antl should have becn able to decide in what manner he
could co-operate in them from a farther knowledge of the
country, &e. &e. Coe

.« In the meantime his crossing the Kistna and moving
up the Dooab, will place him in such a manner that he will
be prepared for whatever may be found most proper. . .«

* I have written to Ball Kishen Punt, and have proposed a
meeting with him. , Ve

* I stated generally in my letter the outline of Dheondiak's
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history, as far as we had any thing to do with it, have told
him that we were abont to enter the Marhatta territory,
where we expected to be treated as allies, and have pro-
mised that I should exert myself to prevant any injury to
the country in consequence of our army being in it.

‘I have also written to Appah Sahcb to tell him that
I was advancing to opposc Dhoondiah, and should be glad
to communicate with him on our common objeet.

< I will let you know about — when I hear the result
of a message which I sent to him this morning.

< The order which I have already given about the Post
Office is nearly what you propose, but I will alter it, and
I will give out the order which you wish for regarding the
price of straw, &c., on the roads. I have not yct seen any of
the heads of the brinjarries, although I have sent for them
frequently ; I conclude that Purneah has desired them to
attend our camp. If he has not I shall be obliged to you
if you will request him to send them orders to that effect; at
all cvents I have written to Vincatjee to desire that he will
colleet them at Chittledroog as soon as he can.

¢ The clephant belongs to the karkana, but you may as
well keop him with you till we mcet.

¢ Belicve me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My prar CoLoNEL, « Cnmp at Chittledroog, June 8, 1800,

¢ I told you in my letter of yesterday that I had sent Cap-.
tain West to , to inform him that I conceived: hiki
ltter to be highly disrespectful and improper, as such that
I calléd upon him to withdraw it, and acknowledge his sensé’
of its impropriety in a form which I sent him. He hdd one’
hour to consider of this proposition ; he declined to do as he
was required, and he was in consequence put in arrest.
« <1 sent by this post all the papers, and a statement of the
caso to the Adjutant General. Since I arrived here a gen-
tleman has come on the part of ——, to say that he was
willing to withdraw his letter. I desired him to inform’
———— that he was now in arrest; that he had had an op-
portunity of withdrawing his letter and acknowledging his
ervot; whichi he had mot' taken, and thercfore that alk he

SUP. VOL. N
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had to say upon the subject must go to the Commander in
Chief.

* 1 shall be able to make an arrangement of the garrison,
which will preclude the necessity.of hurrying the inhabitants
out of the outer fort.

* Dhoondiah has got possession of Savanore, and I must
lose no time in getting to the river. I believe I must alter
my plan, and cross it at Hurryhur, or even at Hoonelly,
rather than at Oollall; as whilst I am on my road to the
northward he may cross the Werdah, enter and plunder
Bednore, before I can get over the Toombuddra to stop him.
My plan now must be to eross the Toombuddra at Hurry-
hur, and to move up by the route marked in Little's map
to Deogerry, and across the Werdah upon Savanore. It
will still be possible to cross my brinjarries, &e., at Oollall, as
after the river is full I shall not apprehend for their safety
on this side of it: and from Savanore I shall always have it
in my power to proteet their passage of the river and their
Jjunetion with me.

* There is a man here by name Govind Rao, who I think
would be very useful to me, and I have requested him to
prepare to accompany me with his fifty horse and some of his
peons.

“He is afraid that Purncah will not be pleased at his
coming, and I shall therefore be obliged to you if you will
speak to Purncah upon the subject.  As I shall receive your
answer to this letter before 1 shall be far froin hence, if there
should be any inconvenience in his being removed from Chit-
tledroog T will send him back immediately.

* L have got a cock and bull story from ——— about the
amildar of Chandergooty having promised Dhoondiah to
deliver up that fort. and a correspondence between Dhoon-
diah and Raddamy Vissnapah. a commander of 2000 horse
in the Rajuh’s service. ‘This I take to be our friend the
Pundit in the Bullum country. There is likewise anothey
story of the same kind about an attempt to be made by three
men to murder Purneah. From all which I Jjudge that our
friend has got hold of his old intelligences, and that
the sooner I join him the better.
¢ Believe me, &e.

* ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

* Lient. Colonel Close,
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« 1 hope General Brathwaite will not order a Court Mar-
tial upon till my hands are less full of business. I
have hinted this in my letter, and I shall be glad if you will
give him a line upon the supject. In that case — shall
cool his heels or his head at Chittledroog till the campaign
is over.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My peAr CoLONEL, ¢« Camp at Chittledroog, 9th June, 1800.

 Between the officers on the onc hand, and the amildars
on the other, you and 1 have much trouble. 1 have given
out an order which 1 hope will prevent matters from going
wrong in future, as they have hitherto, and in which.I have
endeavored to interest the seniors and those who are likely
to travel.

¢ The behavior of the amildar at Sera was ridiculously
rude to the officers by all accounts; however, the lecture to
him will doubtless have its effect.

¢ I expect to march from hence on the day after to-mor-
row; I wait only to see some of the brinjarries.

< I got on well in every respeet, and 1 have anxicty only
about money. Has Munro given no answer to Webbe's
letter from Seringapatam, to desire him to send to Nuggur
all he had?

* Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. < AktHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Camp at Chittledroog, 10th June, 1800.

< I amv afraid that there is some mistake regarding the
duties. I hear that they still continue to levy them in the
country; and 1000 grain merchants, not brinjarries, coming
to our camp, were stopped, and are mow detained near
Paughur. No brinjarries in yet, and I wait only for them.

¢ The collection of gram in this country also by the Pay-
master, contrary to orders, is a sad grievance and difficulty ;
but I hope to get over it all by perscverance.

I am very anxious to be across the river. It turns out
now (at least 80 Govind Rao says) that Dhoondiah is not at

N2
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Savanore; but gone towards Noolgoond,' which ‘k: ackniey
ledge I think most probable. e e
‘ ¢ Believe me, &c. . i
* Lieut. Colonel Close. . ‘Arrnur WELLESLEY,:

Colonsl the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Class,
« My DEAR Cong[,, ¢ Campat Chiltledroog, 11th June, 1800,

* I have reccived your letter of the 8th; and you will have
perceived by mine of the same date what steps I have taken
with He ig in arrest, and all the papers upon the
subject, among others Colonel Stevenson’s opinion, are gone
before the Commander in Chief. I have heard from Cup-
page regarding his sucecss against his neighbouring Mus-
selmen.

* I have the power of ordering a General Court Martial,
and I will order one if you think it will answer, which can
try all fellows of this kind found in correspondence  with
& man against whom there is at present an army in the
field.

* T'wo or three questions oceur to me upon this occasion,
upon which I beg to have your opinion.

*Is the Court Martial to be composed of European or
Native officers? If of Native officers, which is the most
regular composition, when Natives are to be tried, it is to be
feared that they will not pass the sentence which the criminals
descrve, and the expectation of which alone induces us to
wish for a trial by a General Court Martial. They will not
pass this sentence certainly, if they have not the assistance
of a very good judge advocate ; and the question is, is there
& person in the Nundydroog district, or one who could be
sent there at present properly qualified for this service?
Cuppage I believe is; but it may be doubted whether it will
be proper that he should act in that situation. I bolieve
there are a sufficient number of Native officers in the Nun-
dydroog district to compose a General Court Martial, -

* If all these objections to a native Court Martial operate
to create a prefercnce for one composed of European officers,
it will be nceessary that the criminals should be removed to
Seringapatam, or to the army, to be tried, as there are not a
sufficient number of officers in any other part of Mysore to
compose onc.  There must besides be 3 good judge advo-
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cate; and, I think; I shall fimd no difficulty in procuring.onc
at Seringapatam. N b
« The inconvenience to be apprehended from the removal
of the prisorers either to Seringapatam, or to the army,
is, that their punishment will not be so speedy as it ought,
or so notorious as might be wished in the country in which
they have resided hitherto, and in which they have all thcir
relations, friends, and accomplices. :
¢ I have written to the officer commanding in Soonda to
desire him to drive that party out of Budnaghur if possible.
¢ It will not answer to put either of the battalions coming
through that district out of their road for a trifling object of
that kind, more particularly as it is in the power of the troops
destined to remain there to perform this operation.
< I have received a letter from Mr. Gordon, in which
he mentions that Macleod has in hand one lac of Behaudry
pagodas, which he will give us if he reccives orders, and a
guard is sent for it. I have ordered the guard to be scat
forthwith from Seringapatam ; and I shall be obliged to you
if you will write to Macleod that the moncy may be given
to Mr. Gordon’s people, who will go for it. 1 march to-
morrow.
¢ Believe me, &c.
¢ Licut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArtHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ 1 have heard that another party of people are stopped
near Paughur for duties.’

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Licut. Colmel Close.

¢ Camp, four miles west of Burumsagur,
¢ My pear CoLONEL, 13th June, 1800.
¢« The brinjarries came to me at Chittledroog, and 1 gave
them dresses, turbans, &ec. &ec.
«I have ordered the guard from Seringapatam into the
Coimbatoor country for the cash, in order to lose no time;
and I have desired the gentlemen at Scringapatam to ap-
prize Macleod of this arrangement, and to desire him to
send a person to mect this guard in the Guzzlehutty Pass,
who will conduct them to the place where they are to reccive
the treasure. There will be no European officer with this

guard. .
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I shall be obliged to you if you will give Macleod a line
upon this subject. Macleod’s account of his warfare is ex-
cellent.

« I had received the accounts of the discontinuance of the
bombardment of Jemalabad, and had given orders that mea-
sures should be taken for its immediate renewal. I believe,
however, that the 75th have gome back to Mangalore,
and that only a sufficient number of troops to ensure the
blockade of Jemalabad have been left there. That need not
prevent the renewal of the bombardment as soon as all
watters shall be prepared for it.

I conclude, from the extract from Lieut. Colonel Mig-
nan's letter to Major Munro, that it is not necessary that
grain should be stored in any of the forts in Canara; but I
will inquire more particularly into this subject.

+ Some time ago I wrote to Government and forwarded a
proposition from Licut. Colonel Mignan, that he should be
permitted to destroy a number of forts which are on the seca-
coast in Canara, which contained stores of different kinds,
and which he could not afford troops to guard; I gave him
orders to destroy the stores at all events, which could not
be deserving of our attention, and it might have been un-
pleasant if they had fallen into the hands of cven the well-
affected inhabitants of Canara.

< (iovernment have answered Colonel Mignan’s proposi-
tion in a letter which 1 reccived last night, of which the en-
closed is an extract ; and I shall he obliged to you if you will
ascertain from Major Munro his means of oceupying any of
the posts in question.

* Most of them are upon the sea-coast; and, in my
opiniun, there ean be no doubt whatever of the propriety of
destroying them; but Government are right to ask for all
kind of information upon the subjeet, and in the meantime
they must be guarded by somebody.

*The same letter contained a paragraph from Govern-
went regarding the disaffected in Mysore, and in the Com-
pany'a territories, and an authority to try them by military
process.

This authority is certainly entirely distinct from that
which 1 hold by General Braithwaite's warrant, and which
was in my contemplation when [ wrote to you on this subject
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on the 11th instant. Under this authon'tyfro;n Government
it might perhaps be possible to take the whole matter upon
myself, having a report made to me in some kind of form of
the true state of the case. But it appears to me that the best
mode of proceeding under this authority will be to adhere, as
nearly as the nature of the casc will admit, to the forms of
General Courts Martial, and under that notion I have
framed the warrants, instructions, &c. &c., which are en-
closed in a letter to Major Cuppage. These papers I beg
you will peruse, and if you approve of every thing they con-
tain, I beg that you will forward them to Major Cuppage,
and desire him to put the orders they bring into exceution.
You will easily perceive the difference in the warrant and in
the other papers from those usually given for a General
Court Martial; they are such only as are required by the
nature of the case, and the only material one is in the
number of members which will be assembled.  All that can
be said upon that is, that it is the largest number which can
be asseinbled with convenience; and that, in fact, it is as
cqual to all purposes of justice as if it were larger.

‘I hope that Lady Clive will stay some timc at Banga-
lore. Desire Brown to give me timcly notice of her depar-
ture, as it is absolutely necessary that I should have an
officcr of intelligence there during the time that I may be in

the field.
« Believe me, &ec.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

< Upon considering the warrant and instructions enclosed
to Major Cuppage, 1 am afraid that the officers will have
some scruple of proceeding to trial on account of the defi--
ciency of their numbers, &c. &c.: and that they will seruple
about sentencing death, as they will not have the number of
members competent to pronounce it. But if you write
to Cuppage upon the subject, I shall be obliged to you
if you will desire him to quict them by assuring the officers
that in case of any irrcgularity in their sentence the responsi-
bility for it will rest upon me, who must confirm it, and must
order it to be carricd into exccution.’



96 INDIA. 16800,

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

My pEAR CoLONEL, ~ *Camp at Hurryhur, 16th June, 1800;

* T have received your two letters of the 12th. Captain Bat-
clay wrote to Major Cuppage an opinion which I delivered,
in case there was any evidence against tlie man in question.
It has since appeared that there is; but, for many reasons,
I should prefer his being tried. )

‘1 send what you say respecting Mr. Ward of the 25th
dragoons to Major Blaquicre, who will make inquirics into
the circumstance, It is extraordinary that the bazaar man
should not have gonc to Major Blaquicre, or to Captain
Brown, to make his complaint, at the moment when cause
for it was given.

“ L have likewise received your letter of the 13th. I de-
sired-Licut. Colonel Maclean to ‘communicate my letter to
Captain Kirkpatrick and to Licut. Colonel Dalrymple. *This
fully explained my wishes and my own plans as far as was
practicable at the moment; I shall, however, write to Cap-
tain Kirkpatrick upon the subjcct.

* 1 enclose you a letter from Lieut. Colonel Palmer, which
I reccived this morning, and which I shall be obliged to you
if you will return to-me deciphered. 1 beg also that you
will send me a key of the cipher. The postscript of the let-
ter is very satisfactory.

* The river is come down, and I shall be obliged ‘to cross
cvery thing in boats. Of these there are scarcely any, and
no materials here; notwithstanding that nearly two months
have elapsed since you and 1 spoke particularly to Purneah
upon the subject. and explained to him the necessity of
having boats at this place, at Hoonclly, and Hooly Honore.
I besides desired Colonel Pater to give his attention to this
ohject: but he says that he never could prevail upon the
amildar to do any thing in the business. This inattention
in the amildar is a most scrious inconvenience at the pre:
sent moment, and may be attended with very ynpleasant
consequences,

‘L have to complain of him upon another subject. The
fort of Arnec is about six miles from hence, and the Bhow's
killadar of it the brother of the peshwah of Hurryhur. The

“two places werc in constant communication. He allows
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this killadar to evacuate the fort, without giving any notice
of this intention to Colonel Pater, who was within 'six miles
of him ; when it was evacuated he apprized me of it, and,.as
I was at the distance of sixteen miles from hence, I could not
send people to take possession. I wrote to him, however, by
express, and begged that he would send over some people to
keep possession till I came up ; this he omitted. Dhoondiah’s
people are in the fort, and 1 must now take it by force. I
cannot impute treachery to him, but he certainly wants
ability, and zeal, and activity, and, therefore, ought not now
to be at this important station.
) ¢ Believe me, &c. ,
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My peAr CoLonEt, ¢ Camp at Hurryhur, 16th June, 1800. .

* Since I wrote to you this morning, I have rececived a let-
ter from Captain Kirkpatrick, in which he encloses sunnuds
to all the Nizain’s sirdars in this part of the country, and
another from Colonel Maclean. The latter informs me that
he has not been joined by Saddoolah Khan, but that he has
with him 1000 horse. Ilis two corps are about 1400 men
with eight guns. Saddoolah Khan is at Copaul or at Bellary,
The Kistna and Toombuddra are both {full ; Colonel Maclean
is employed in crossing the former, but he does not know
whether Saddoolah Khan is in the Dooaly or not.

< I have written to him to desire that he will endeavour to
communicate with Saddoolah Khan immediatcely, and form a
junction with him. If he should be at Copaul that will not
be difficult, consistently with a compliance with the wish I
expresged in my letter of the Gth, that the detachment
move up the Dooab towards the frontier. If ha
shopld be at Bellary, and should not yet have commenced
ross the 'Toombuddra, it is not reasonable to expeet' any
o.operation from him immediately, and 1 have, therefore,
left it to Coloncl Maclean to move forward to the frontier or
not, according as he may think it safe, from the intelligence
which he will receive, apprizing me of his situation. At the
samhe time I have. ashed Heshmut Jung for the grenadiers

8UP. VOI. L , )
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and the cavalry from Hyderabad, which I expect will be
well forward before I am across the Werdah.

¢ One Goa battalion joined me this day, the other was not
to leave Hullihall, I belicve, till the 8th, and probably later.

« I have got a battalion and four guns and a regiment of
cavalry across the river. This day some fellows showed
themscelves in our front in the old way, but went off imme-
diately. .

¢ Ball Kishen Punt was expected this'night, and I"hope I
shall sce him to-morrow. My idea is to give him charge,
and to make him put tannahs in those forts, &e., which I
may not think it absolutely necessary for our own safety to
keep in our own hands. I looked at Arnce this morning, and
Lintend to attack that fort, or Rannce Bednore, as soon as I
shall have had a conferenee, and shall have made my ar-
rangements with Ball Kishen,

‘ By the bye, T forgot to mention to you that Grant has
informed me that dutics are levied upon gram coming to
Seringapatam. . Was there any thing settled upon that sub-
Jeet lately ¢

‘1 propose to send a letter to Saddoolah Khan in the
morning, to desire him to join Licut. Colonel Maclean as
soon as he can,

* Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ Artnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close,

My pear Cornon KL, ¢ Camp at Hurryhur, 18th June, 1800.
¢ Lhave been more concerned than I can express at the
receipt of your letter of the I5th.  The misconduct of these
gentlemen undoubtedly gives you, as well as me, a great
deal of trouble; but I declare that it gives me more anxiety
than any thing in which I have any concern.

* If Uhad heard of the circumstance which you mentioned
to me at Seringapatam previous to the appoihtinent of the
gentleman in question to his command, he certainly never
should have been appointed ; and he never should have gone
to it. if, in the conversation which I had with him at Naga-
nunglum, he had not expressed himsel$ much like a gentle-
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man, and stated a determination to adhere to what had
been scttled by ————. I acquainted him with every,
circumstance which you told me, and at the same time in-
formed him of my determination to remove him from his
command, if I should hear the smallest complaint of his
dubash. He promised that he would not have one; and I
acknowledge I little expected to hear that there were grounds
of complaints still stronger than they would have been if the
dubash had been at ————, i .

< He is a gentleman, a man of the world, and one who
appears to look to his character. I write to him by this
post, and you may depend upon it that he must cither act as
he ought, or he shall be removed from his command.

¢« I acknowledge that, both as an officer and as a gentle-
man, I should be glad to sec all those commands abolished ;
nothing can be more prejudicial to discipline, and nothing
more disgraccful to the character and feelings of a gentleman,
than what goes on alinost daily; but, as long as they are
even more than tolerated by Government, it is difficult for
any man in a subordinate situation to draw a line, and these
kind of unpleasant circumstances must certainly arise: but
from what you say, I hope ere long to see some arrange-
ment made which will really abolish the whole.

< The disputes between the officers and the amildars arc
equally irksome, and, I believe, owe their origin to the same
circumstance. There is not, at this moment, a post by which
I do not receive letters of complaint from some man or
other. 'To enter into a detailed inquiry upon the subject is
impossible, and to decide without inquiry would be unjust,
and one is, therefore, reduced to an impotent expostulation
to be upon good terms with the officers of the Rajah’s
Government. We have never been hitherto accustomed to
a native Government, we cannot readily bear the disap-
pointments and delays which are usual in all their transac-
tions, prejudices arc entertained against them, and all their
actions are mfisconstrued, and we mistrust them. 1 sce in-
stances of this daily in the best of our officers, and I cannot
but acknowledge that, from the delays of the natives, they
have sometimes reason to complain ; but they have none to

ill-use any man.
o2
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<'[he river has risen, and we get on but slowly. Ihave
.not yet got over another regiment of cavalry. I expect
somo boats in the coursc of this night or to-morrow from
Hoonelly.

« About 300 horse appeared in our front yesterday, but
went off immediately after Pater opened his guns upon
them.

< Ball Kishen Punt arrived yesterday, and I had a long
conversation with him. e told me that Appah Saheb and
Goklah were pressed for moncy, and had gone towards Kit-
toor to procurc some from the polygar; but they would
doubtless advanee upon Dhoondiak in co-operation with me,
as soon as I should be prepared to move from the river. He
said that, as we advaneed, we should find plenty of grain,
forage, &ec., and that there was not a fort in the possession
of Dhoondiah, Dummul excepted, into which we should not
walk with the greatest ease. He was rather solicitous to
know our object. T told him that we had none excepting
to get the better of Dhoondiah, of whom we saw clearly
that, as long as he existed and had power, the Company’s
territories would never be in tranquillity. I desired him to
prepare to co-operate with us, and to cross the river with me.
He has here about 300 or 400 horse.

¢ Dhoondiah is still at Savanore with the largest part of
his force; there are some troops on this side of the river
Werdah, but T do not know what number, and I am not
quite certain that the Werdah has filled.

As soon as 1 find out the general number of troops on
this side, and if the Werdah fills, I intend to advance Ste-
venson with the cavalry, and a corps of infantry, guns, &ec.,
and hunt out every thing on this side of that river. I have
desired Ball Kishen Punt to be prepared to throw people
into Rannee Bednore when we shall get possession of it.

I enclose a copy of a proclamation which I propose to
issuc.  Ball Kishen Punt has scen it, and approves of it, and,
has even altered some of Ogg's bad Marhatta phraseology.

¢ I have just had one of Pater’s men with me, who swears
that Dhoondiah, with his whole army, is on this side of the
Werdah; that all his sirdars have sworn to conquer or die;
that Purncab, Bishnoo Punt, Kistnapah, Ram Rao, Kistna
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Rao, and all the amildars, mutaseddees, &c. of the Rajah’s go-
vernment, and all the musselmenn, are on his side, and that he
is determined that his victorious standard shall fly on Serin-
gapatam. I have recommended to Pater to confine this fellow,
at all events till we are stronger, on the other side of the
river; whether for knavery or folly will be decided hereafter.
¢ Belicve me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLonkr, ¢ Camp at Hurryhur, 20th Juunc, 1800.

I send you an affidavit taken by a brinjarry, regarding
duties taken from him at Chindgerry. I'made him swear to
his story, in order that there might be no mistake about the
madtter.

1 have also the pleasure of enclosing you an extract of a
letter, which I liave received this morning, from ——
from which I judgc, cither that Ram Rao misunderstood
what passed, or that it has been misrepresented. It is very
desirable that the matter should be sifted to the bottom. I
hope, however, from your last letter, that some general
arrangement will be made which will wipe off at once and
entirely all these commands.

*We are getting on by degrees. All thé cavalry are
across the river, and cvery thing belonging to them. The
Europeans, and every thing Lelonging to them, will be across
carly to-morrow, and I think every thing will be clear over
in a few days. *

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArRTHUR WELLESLEY.

. Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Right Hon. Lord Clive, Governor
of Fort St. George.
¢ My Lorp, * Camp at Hurryhur, 20th June, 1800.
I have received the honor of your Lordship’s letter of the
14th instant, in which you desire to have my opinion fegard-
ing the extent -of the military force which will be necessary
for the new territory which your Lordship informs me will
be assigned by the Nizam to the exclusive management of
the Company for Mysore, Malabar, Canara, and Goa. It is
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difficult to give an opinion regarding the new territory, of
which I have but little knowledge, but as your Lordship has
desired it, 1 shall proceed to state what has occurred to me
upon the subject.

“The question which your Lordship has put to me involves
considerations affecting the whole of our military system in
this country.  When the country proposed to be ceded to
the Company is likewise to be defended, its inhabitants to
e kept in.tranquillity, and its revenue to be realized by
means of the troops, it is impossible to expect to be able to°
effect these objects on the system of weak and dispersed
garrisons, on which we have been acting hitherto. This
must be changed ; ncither the new territory nor the old can
be kept in awe by troops dispersed in forts, which they can-
not quit with safety; and, therefore, the system which I
should recommend would he to garrison those posts only
which are absolutely necessary to us, and to have at all times
in the ficld, and in motion, two or three rogiments of Euro-
peans, all the cavalry, and as large a body of native infantry
as can be got together. This will be a real seeurity, not
only to the new territory and to Mysore, but to the Carnatie,
Malabar, and Canara, and nothing else ever will. It will
appear more clearly that this system is necessary in the new
territory, when the nature of its inhabitants, and the govern-
ments to which they have been accustomed, are considered.

*The whole of the country to be ceded by the Nizam is in-
habited by petty rajahs and polygars, who have never been
entirely subdued, and have never submitted to the species of
government which must be exercised by the Company's
servants. They have been accustomed either to the rapacity
and corruption of Tippoo's government, or to the weakness
of the Nizam's; but they are entirely unacquainted with the
restraint of a regular anthority, constructed upon the prin-.
ciples adopted by the Company’s Government, This they
will resist, and they must be kept in awe, particularly at,
fivst, by a large and an active foree. For this purpose troops
in garrison will never answer; and supposing that your
Lordship should adopt the system I propose for having, at
least for some time, a large detachment in the ficld, I shall
proceed to estimate the number of troops which will be
necessary in the garrisons which ought to be occupicd.
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¢« The number of treops in Malabar is two companies of
artillery, one regiment of Europcan infantry, three battalions
of the Company’s scpoys, three battalions of sebundies, and
three of Travancore troops.

« The civil government of Malabar is now conducted upon
such a system, that it is impossible to recommend that this
force should be weakened ; a partial alteration in any part of
the civil or military government will not answer.  Hercafter,
when there shall have been time to settle that country, it may
be practicable to diminish that force considerably. In Canara
there are one company of artillery, one regiment of Furo-
peans, and four battalions of the Company’s scpoys; none of
these battalions arc complete ; two of them are of the new
I8th regiment ; and since the loss of Jemalabad, 1 have been
obliged to add to this force the flank companics of the native
corps which were at Goa. I do not think it would be proper
to diminish it at present.

¢ The violence of the monsoon in Malabar and Canara,
which prevents the troops from keeping the field, will at all
times operate as a reason for keeping more troops in the
garrisons which may be in those countries, than would other-
wise be necessary. The circumstance which made it desirable
that there should be a British force at (Goa no longer exist-
ing, the troops might perhaps be withdrawn entirely from
thence for the present, or Goa might be made a station for
one native battalion. If that arrangement should take place,
there will be required below the ghauts—

Companiesof  European Travancore
Artillery. Regt. B. Sepoys. Sebundien, Regt.
In Malabar .. 2 . 1 T - .
In Canara .. 1 . 1 . 4 .
At Goa . . . 1
3 2 8 3 3

¢ As long as any of the inhabitants are suflered to remain
n Seringapatam, there ought not” to be a smaller body of
troops there than there are there at this moment ; but if the
inhabitants were removed to the pettah, a very small gar-
rison would kecp it, excepting at the time when an attack
upon it might be expected. As, however, the removal of the
inhabitants must be a work of time, I shall estimate the gar-
rison of Seringapatam at its present strength: two companics

»
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of artillery, one regiment of Europeans, two battalions of
native infantry. .

«There ought to be at Chittledroog at least one company
of artillery, and two battalions of native infantry. The
province of Bednore will require one battalion of native
infantry, and the provinee of Soonda at least another. There
ought likewise to be a battalion in the Nundydroog district.
As Paughur is upon the frontier of the territory to be-ceded
to the Company, it may not perhaps be necessary that there
should be a battalion there.

“Thus the troops neeessary for garrisons only in the
Mysore country will be three companies of artillery, one
regiment of Europeans, and seven battalions of native
infantry ; but if it should be necessary to have a garrison in
the Panghur district, another battalion will be required.
Excepting at Chittledroog, where I have left only one bat-
talion, and at Paughur, where there are 200 men, I have
been obliged to leave troops in the garrisons, as I have
above estimated them.  In the new territory there ought to
be a Dbattalion between Harponelly and Anagoondy, as
those places are immediately upon the Marhatta frontier;
one at Adoni ; one, at least, at Gooty ; one at Kurnool ; one
at Cuddapa, and one at Gurrumconda. Every other post or
strong hold in the newly ceded territories, and those in
Mysore, not oceupied by the Honorable Company’s troops,
or those of the Rajah of Mysore, ought to be immediately
destroyed, and particularly theiv means of affording water
ought to be entirely annihilated. Thus the whole body of
troops which will be required only as garrisons, should your
Lordship determine to accept the plan of having a strong
detachment in the field, will be as follows :—

Companies Luropran ‘Travancore

of Arullery, Regt. B. Sepoys.  Sebundies. Regt.
Malabar -2 L L3 3 . 3
Canara oo . 1 1 .
Goa .. .. .. 1 . ¢
Mysore .3 . 7 .
New territory . 6 ..

6 3 21 3 3

‘ ].t must however be very clear to your Lordship that
nothing can be more weak than this distribution, if it is not. .
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stwngc{’é’ﬁbd ang connécted by means of a detachment ifi
the field ; and that if you do not adopt this system, the gar-
risons must be considerably strengthened.

“ Supposing that your Lordship Should adopt it, and that
youwill have for the detachments in the field threc regiments
of native eavalry, three of European infantry, and cight bat-
talions of native infantry, and two companies of artillery, 1
proceed to state what number of troops will be wanting, in
order to make the number under my command (including
those at Goa) sufficient.

Companies  European Travaucore  Nativa
of Artillery. Regt. B. Sepoys. Schbundies.  Regt. Cava)ry
Wanting for ga.r—}
risons as above 3 z 3 3 .

Wanting for the
s | S T Y . . 3

— e e e e omnans

8 6 27 -3 3 3

* Under my command at present—

Companies  European B. Travancoie  Native
. of Artillery Regt. Sepoys. Scbundies.  Regt.  Cavalry,
Bengal Artillery 2 . . . . .

Coast Artillery 3

Bombay Artillery 3 ..

On the Bombay} .
Establishment o

On the Coast Es-
_tablishment } 3 .. 7 . . . 3

. 8 6 18 3 3 3

¢ The deficiency of troops will be ninc battalions of native
infantry.
< I have the honor to be, &e.
* Right Hon. Lord Clive, ¢ ArTnurR WELLESLEY.
Governor of Fort St. George.’

.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
. ¢« Camp, lef"t bank of the Toombuddra,
‘ My prar CoLoneL, opposite Hurryhur, 22nd June, 1800,
¢ I have not heard from Licut. Coloncl Maclean yet, but I
sent him a duplicate of my letter, and orders to join himself
to S8addoolah Khan, by two messengers of his own, some )da.yn

- * I am glad that you approve of the manncr of the Gene-
SUP. VoL ) P
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ral Court Martial. I sent orders into Canara to try by mili-
tary process all criminals of the same description.

The sccond Bombay battalion is not yet arrived, and |
felt some little anxiety about it, as it has been reported to
me that all the cavalry on this side of the Werdah are -
gone towards Shikarpoor and Ondagurry to interrupt its
junction with me. They amount to about 700 men. I have
sent Stevenson that way with two regiments of cavalry and
their guns, and they will give a good account of the fellows,
who, I now understand, instead of looking after this bat-
talion, are employed in plundering the country.

* Ram Rao's cavalry are at Shikarpoor, and I have written
to Servitun Rao to request that they may be ordered to join
themselves with the Bombay battalion, and may come with
them as far as oonelly.

¢ From a parcel of blunders and surmises, and unnecessary
precaution in the gentleman in Soonda, &c., this battalion,
which left Goa on the 28th of last month, had not marched
from Hullihall on the 12th of this, and I do not think
it was likely to march till the I5th. It had not reached
Chandergooty on the 20th.

¢ Dhoondiah has certainly left Savanore, and he is, I
believe, gone to Tloobly Darwar.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colongl Close. ¢ Arrnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. 1. Wellesley to Licut, Colonel Close.

* Camp, left bank of the Toombuddra,
¢ My pear Coroner, 23rd June 1800.

T have crossed nearly every thing, and if the 25th dra-
goons were arrived, and the Bombay battalion in safety,
I might advance to-morrow. I have nearly 4000 full brin-
jarries, and the quantity I before told you I should have in
the gram department; there are hesides quantities of other
brinjurries coming on.  "The difficulty will be to make them
cross the river and move on, and upon this subject I trouble
you with a few lines.

¢ I had some thought of leaving an officer here, who should
take charge of every thing that might come forward for the
troops. and who should send them across the river and on
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towards us; but the scarcity of officers with the corps, the
difficulty of finding one qualified for the service, and the
probability that there would be, as usual, a jarr‘ing between
him and the Rajah’s officers, have determined me not to
adopt that plan, from which I could expect nothing but
failure. It remains then that 1 must rely upon the exertions
of the amildar at Hurryhur.

¢ The man who is herc at present is, I belicve, honest and
willing; but he is totally incapable of understanding any
arrangement, or of making any exertion to carry it into exe-
cution. Accounts have arrived of his mother’s death, and he
is confined to his house, and all business with him is at a
stand.

< It is therefore absolutely nccessary that some person
should be sent here on whose abilitics and cxertions some
dependence can be placed, and from what 1 have seen of all
those in this part of the country, I sce no man so fit for the
charge as Servitun Rao. Purncah, however, is the best
judge; and all T can say upon the subjeet is, that it is essen-
tially necessary to the troops that it should be a person
of intelligence and activity.

<'T'o enter into complaints at present of their general in-
activity, and of their disobedience of all the orders which I
believe they have received from Purncah and from you, is
uscless. All that I can say about it is, that they certainly
want a little looking after in this part of the country; and I
think it probable that when you come this way you will find
some changes necessary.

¢ I think it probable that I shall not march from hence till
the 27th or 28th.

¢ Believe me, &c.
* Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLLY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« Camp, left hank of the Toombuddra,
¢ My prar CoLoNEL, 25th June, 1800.
¢ I have received your letters of the 21st and 22nd, and 1
am glad to find that there is a prospect that the Court Mar-
tial will go on. It does not appear to me that nine members

are necessary.
r2
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. The court is one held under a civil authority, and
is therefore the civil court, in which the forms usual in mili-
tary courts arc to be obscrved, and which is composed of
military men ; but it is not necessary that it should be com-
posed of the number of members required by the articles of
war: provided that the forms of a military process are ob-
served as required by Government, it is a matter of indiffer-
ence what number of judges there may be. .

* If there should be any further difficulty upon the subjeet,
I must proceed by a court of inquiry, and give orders that
the criminals shall be exceuted after the facts shall have
been clearly ascertained by an examination of witnesses on
cach side.

“I heard from Nuggur this morning; Ram Rao only re-
ceived his orders to join me on the 23rd. Major Munro had
not received any directions about the money, and even if he
had, he did not think that the garrison of Cundapoor could
afford an escort for it Major Browne was about to send
one from Nuggur, in order to lose no time.  Upon examining
the true state of the ease regarding the brinjarries, 1 find
that I have not so many of them in camp as I ought to have.
Many of their hullocks are behind and at a distance.  They
complain much of impediments, such as that they are de-
tained by demands of duties, &c.. and that the amildars
have got the greatest part of the rice of the country in their
hands, which they are unwilling to part with at present, as
they have reason to eapeet that the price of it will rise.
It Lesides appears that the accounts of the number of their
bullocks are very erroncous, and that they are counted over
in three or four tandahs. [ believe, however, that 1 shall be
able to move from henee with a stock sufficient to last till 1
shall have cleared out every thing on this side of the Werdah ;
but it will not be safe 1o cross the Werdah till T have a cer-
tainty of a larger quantity of supplies.

¢ No tidings yet of the Bombay battalion, excepting that
they had not marched on the 1ath  The officer commanding
in Soonda complains sadly of Major Munro's people, who
absolutely refuse to give the smallest assistance in forward-
ing the cquipments of this corps.  ‘Their demand cannot be
very heavy. at least it they have not much more baggage
than their friends. who arrived some days ago. They had
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literally nothing, excepting what was carried by twenty-four
bullocks, and about fifty coolies: and the private baggage of
all the officers goes upon sixteen bullocks.

« From intelligence received in a private letter from Co-
lonel Dalrymple of the 9th, I was in hopes that the grena-
diers and the cavalry would have joined Lieut. Colonel
Maclean, but I now find they arc not. If Lieut. Colonel
Maclean is joined by Saddoolah Khan, which 1 hope he will.
it will still do; if not he will, I am afraid, be too weak.

<1 have not yet heard cither from Saddoolah Khan or
from Lieut. Colonel Maclean, in answer cven to my letter of
the 6th; but as soon as 1 had rcason to belicve that the
grenadiers and the cavalry would join him, I wrote to ‘the
latter to desire that he would move up towards Copaul.

¢ Ball Kishen Bhow thinks that Dhoondiah will fly to the
Dooab. I reccived from Goklah a letter, of which a copy was
sent to you by Captain Greenlay from Hullihall ; the person
who brought it is not yet arrived, and I believe will come
with the Bombay battalion.

¢ Stevenson has had some successes towards the frontier,
but has not taken possession of Massoor, a strong fort about
three coss from Shikarpoor. He has, however, driven to the
northward all the cavalry, which were hanging thercabouts
for the purpose of annoying the Bombay battalion. 1 have
desired Servitun Rao to send his cavalry to join them; and,
indeed, I think that that cavalry might be uscful at this
place in bringing forward our convoys, if 1 should not be
able entirely to clear this side of the Werdah of all the
enemy's horse.

« 1 shall be able to ascertain this in a few days, and will
acquaint Ram Rao, if I should find it nccessary to call for
the assistance of his cavalry.

¢« Believe me, &ec.
* Lieut. C'olonel Close. « ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

<1 enclose a letter which 1 have just received from the
officer at Sera. 1 have desired Barclay to acquaint the
young man that the wholesale price of shecp, as stated in the
orders, is three for a pagoda; that of course, when retailed
in the bazaar, they must be dearer.  When you go that way
you will be able to scc how thesc matters stand at Sera.
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When I was there they complained that literally thie amildar
would not allow their servants to buy butter, bread, or milk,
in the bazaar. They did not mention this to me, but to
some of their friends, and talked of the bchaviour of this
man as a tyranny which it was quite painful to be obliged to
submit to.

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close. -
¢ Camp, left bank of the Toombuddra,

* My par CoLonkr, 26th June, 1800.

“I enclose copics of letters which I have received from
Appah Saheb and Goklah.

¢ Goklal's vakeel arrived last might, and I had this
morning an interview with him. He said that his master
had reccived orders to attack and crush Dhoondiah; that he
was then at Moorgoor, on the other side of the Malpoorba,
with 10,000 horse, 5000 infantry, and eight guns; that he
wished to be joined by three of our Bombay battalions, which
he said he heard were coming from Goa, and that he would
then advance and destroy Dhoondiah without loss of time.
1 told him that it was impossible to detach to him the batta-
lions in question, as they were cither in this camp, or on the
road to join me, and probably very close. It appeared to
me, however, that if he had the force which he said he had,
he would have no difficulty, and would incur no risk in cross-
ing the Malpoorba, and approaching Dhoondiah’s force at
the time when 1 should cross the Werdah, and approach him
from this side. In this the vakeel acquicsced, and pro-
mised that when 1 should give him notice that I was going
to cross the Werdah, Goklah would cross the Malpoorba,
for which he would make all the arrangements immediately,
and that when T should be at Savanmore he would be at
Darwar.  He then began a long story about his differences
with Appah Saheb ; said that Appah Saheb had not received
orders from Poonah to attack Dhoondiah, and that I might,
depend upon it he neither could nor would make any effort
towards a co-operation in my designs. I asked him whether,
in case Appah Saheb should co-operate to destroy Dhoon-
diab, it would at all affect the intonded co-operation of his
master!  He said not in the least; that to put down Dhoon-
diah was the first object and the most urgent ; and that after
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that was eﬁ'cfcted, it wo.uld not be difficult for Goklah to put in
cxecution his own designs, and the orders which he had and
might hereafter receive from Poonah regarding Appah
Saheb. )

It appeared to me to be very desirable to ascertain from
this vakeel, to whom thc administration of this country
belonged, whether his master had any claim to it ; and whe-
ther he was likely to be dissatisfied in consequence of the
arrangements which 1 had made, and according to which
I propose to act, viz. to hand over to Ball Kishen Bhow all
the forts which should fall into our hands, and to give over
the country to his management. Questions were put to him
leading to these points, and he said that the administration
of the country belonged to the family of Pursheram Bhow,
that his master had no claim to it, and that the arrangement
which had been made was perfectly satisfactory to him, and
by no means likely to affect his intended co-operation. He
added, that when Dhoondiah should be driven out, if we
remain neuter, he should have no difficulty in getting pos-
session of the country, if he should be so ordered from
Poonah.

< Upon the whole the conversation with this man was very
satisfactory, and proved three things clearly; first, that
Goklah is very desirous, and will co-operatc with us in the
attack upon Dhoondiah; sccondly, that although at enmity
with Appah Saheb, his co-operation will have no effect upon
him ; thirdly, that he will be perfectly satisfied with the
arrangement made, and proposed to give over the country
to the management of Appah Saheb and his dewan.

¢ The difference between Appah Saheb and Goklah seems
to be more like one originating at Poonah than any thing
personal between the parties: the vakeel said that orders
had been received to scquester a part of his (Appah Saheb’s)
country, which he said was a sccret. At all events he said

hat the obedience to that order would be deferred till
hoondiah should be driven out of the country.

+I march to-morrow to Ranncc Bednore. I have just
received your letter regarding Lieut. Mackay's bullock muta-
seddee; and he writes by this post to desire that he will
keep the bullocks at grass at such placc as may be most
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et
convenient to the ryots, and by no means to interfere. it the
business of the country, or'with their cultivation. ~
1 am quite confounded by the intelligence that we shall
have no money from Captain Macleod; we shall really be
quite aground in August if I do not get a lac of pagodas
somewhere.
¢ Believe me, &e.

« Lieut. Colonel Close.’ . ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
L4

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.
¢ Camp at Rannee Bednore,
* My pear Coroxit, 28th June, 1800.

« L arrived here yesterday, and instantly attacked the fort
with my piquets, and the st of the lst. The garrison con-
sisted of 500 men, who fired upon our cavalry as they ap-
proached, and the greatest part of them were put to death.
We did not lose a man.

« Colonel Stevenson goes off to-morrow towards Mussoor
and Shikarpoor to clear cevery thing down that way, and to
bring up the Bombay battalion if it should have reached
that quarter; by the time that he will return I hope that |
shall have been joined by a sufficient number of brinjarries
to enable me to go forward.

* Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTuUrR WELLESLEY.
w
Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp at Rannee Bednore,
* My prar Covonrr, 29th June, 1800.

¢ Lhave received from Licut. Colonel Maclean an answer
to my letter of the 6th instant. dated the 15th; on that day
he had not made much progress in crossing the Kistna, and
he did not expect to be in rcadiness to advance from that
river till the st of July. He proposed, however, to join,
Saddoolah Khan immediately, and to move up to Kan-
agherry. He expected that Colonel Bowser, with the ca-
valry and the flank companies, would march from Hydera-
bad, and he had received orders to have boats in readiness
that thesc troops might pass the Kistna with ease; but
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in chse they should not have reaphzﬂthe river by the time
that he should be prepared to advance from it, he did not
propose to wait for them. )

< Licut. Colonel Maclean says, that by all accounts Sad-
doolah Khan’s detachment is‘not half so strong'as it is stated
to be by Heshmut Jung; and, indeed, he says himself, in a
note to Lieut. Colonel Maclean, that one-third at least of the
stated numbers might be subtracted.

¢ I received a letter from Lieut. Colonel Dalrymple yester-
day, dated the 13th, in which he says that the march of the
cavalry, and of the flank companies had been postpohcd: but
it does not appear by his letter that it is determined that
they should not come at all. I have therefore still hopes
that they will come

. ¢ Believe me, &ec.

« Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ArTnUurR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp at Rannee Bednore,
<My prAr CoLoONEL, 30th June, 1800.

« I have received your letter of the 27th, and I beg that
you will tell Purncah that I am much obliged to him for the
readiness with which he has complied with my request regard-
ing Servitun Rao. Ihear that Ram Rao is arrived at Hurry-
hur; but the unfortunate death of the old lady at Benares
has put a stop to all business, and T shall not sce him
for three or four days more. The passage of the river also
has been a good deal obstructed since I left Hurryhur;
but I write to Ram Rao this day upon the subject, and
1 hope that we shall get on better.

¢ The road between this and Hurryhur is open; indeed I
understand that Dhoondiah has not a man on this gjide of the |
Werdah. Stevenson is gone with some infantry, and the 2nd
regiment of cavalry, to Mussoor, to posscss himself of that
bost, and then I expect that I shall have cltaarcd out every
thing from this side of the river. Dhoondiah has been at
Hoobly, where he made a composition for 10,000 rupces; he
then went to Misserycotta, of which he had not got pos-
session on the 28th. Goklah, it is said, had crossgd the
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Malpoorba, and wds come forward to Jeygoor, writh an 'i'gten-
tion of fighting; but this T doubt. After getting Missey-
cotta, I think Dhoondiah will cither make a dash at Huyl-
lihall, which is about twelve coss distant, or he will move
upon Goklah.

¢ What a pity it is that I cannot move on for war.xt' of
grain! My troops are in high health, order, and spirits;
but the unfortunate defect of arrangement in the poor man
at Chittledroog, previous to my arrival, has ruined every
thing.

¢ ['had at onc time nearly 4000 loads in camp ; if I had
been able to reach the river one day sooner I should have
been across before it filled. The delay in crossing was one
of about ten days; during that time we were feeding upon
the brinjarrics, as we did not draw a grain from the countr 8
which reduced the full bags in camp to about 2000, and
about as many more they say on the road. Then comes the
delay in filling, travelling, passing the river, &e. ; and it be-
comes absolutely impossible to say at what time we shall
have a sufliciency o cross the Werdah, although all the
brinjarries swear that there are large quantities of riee
coming on to us.

¢ All this delay would have been avoided, if, when T wrote
on the 10th of May. measures had been taken to make them
all fill. and to colleet them together; but instead of that,
until T wrote on the 5th of June to know what had been
done, no steps were taken, and T was four days at Chittle-
droog before T could even see one of the naigs. How true
itis that in military operations time is every thing !

* The three troops of the 19th not having been ordered on
is 2 mistake of — or The former swears that
the interpretation of his letter is, that the dragoons were to
come on with the army to Chittledroog. 1 acknowledge that
it might bear that meaning, but it is not so clear as all
orders and arrangements ought to be, and as they are ip
general. I write to — upon the subject this day.

* Believe me, &e.
¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Cloge,

¢ Lhave just heard of some rice coming into camp from
Shikarpoor,



1800. ON THE WERDAH. 115

«T'hear from Bowser, on the 17th, that he was under ordeys
to be in readiness to march with the cavalry and the flank
companies.’

»
Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Havery, 4th July, 1800.
<1 send you two papers regarding traitors, which I have
received from Grant.
¢ I have heard no more of Goklah since yesterday.
¢ Believe me, &ec.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

< Camp on the right bank of the Werdah,
« My peAr CoLoNETL, 6th July, 1800.

¢ As I found that everything became scttled towards our
frontier, I have advanced here, and T am making my arrange-
ments for crossing this river. The brinjarries come on by
degrees, and 1 hear of some on the other side of the Toom-
buddra, who appear to wait only to be foreed to advance.

< Goklah has certainly been beat and killed, and the cir-
cumstances of the affair are nearly as I stated them to you
in my last letter. The majority of his troops, however, I am
informed are still together, and can be brought forward. I
have written respeeting them to Chintomeny Rao, and to
Bappojee Scindiah, and I hope that 1 shall still derive some
advantage from him.

< No accounts yet of thc Bombay battalion. It is said
that Dhoondiah is at Kittoor.

« I have reccived, from Colonecl Cuppage, the proceedings
of the Court Martial. Sheik Fereed is found guilty of trea-
son, and is sentenced to be imprisoned to the end of the
war! Hyder Beg is acquitted. T cannot approve of. although
*I have confirmed these sentences, and I have desired Colonel
Cuppage to keep Hyder Beg in confinement.

< In future I must proceed by a court of inquiry, which
shall deliver an opinion whether the prisoner is guilty or not,
as ] find it is impossible to impress officers with an accurate

Q2
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notion of the extent and consequences of the crime-of Yrea.
son, and of the punishment which it deserves and meets i
all civilized societies. .

¢ Believe me, &c,
« Zieut. Colonel Clore. ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

< One of my people employed in Dhoondiah’s camp has
sworn, in the most positive manner, that he saw Lingo Punt,
Goklah’s vakeel, with Dhoondiah in the camp. If this is
true, it may be the cluc to the necessity of Goklah's crossing
the Malpoorba, which he certainly did a very short time after
Lingo Punt left him.  Lingo Punt has been the person em-
ployed between Dhoondiah and Goklah, and negotiated the
delivery of the family of the former by the latter; and I do
not doubt but that he was employed to try to negotiate with
him before he came to me.

« Goklah, then, met with the fate which he deserved.’

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
« Camp, right bank of the Werdah,

¢« My pear CoLoNEL, 8th July, 1800.

¢1 received your packet of the 4th last night. A man
came to me some time ago, and made me an offer similar to
that which has been made at Hyderabad.  These arrange-
ments answer well there; but I think them unbecoming in
an officer at the head of a body of troops, and I, thercfore,
declined to have any thing more to do with the business
than to hold out a general encouragement. The proposer
said. that there was a sirdar at the head of a body of horse,
to whom if [ would give a cowle he would come away. I
gave the cowle, but I do not expeet, either that the sirdae
will come off with his troops, or that the proposed deed will
be put in execution.  Government have authorized me to
offer a reward for him, and I propose to avail myself of this
authority as soon as he is at all pressed, and-I find that his
people begin to drop off from him. This will be, in my opi~
nion, the fittest period. .

¢« To offer a public reward by proclamation for a man's
life, and to make a sceret bargain to have it taken away,
are very different things: the one is to be done, the other,
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in my opinion, cannot by an officer at the head of the
troops. )

«I have niade my arrangements for crossing the rivex".‘
and I hope that I shall have everything over in'a day or
two. Ihave made a bridge which answers perfectly’ for foot
passengers, and will answer equally for horses and cattle,
when 1 shall have given it rather a better footing. I pro-
pose to leave this bridge here, and a number of boats which
1 have besides. For the care of these and of everything
which will come up, I shall establish a post immediately on
the river side, and I am now constructing a redoubt for their
security.

< As soon as this work gets tolerably forward, I shall sciza
Savanore, where I understand there are but few people at
present. I do mot intend to advance from Savanore until 1
shall hear that Bowser is tolcrably forward, unless I should
find it necessary, in order to prevent Dhoondiah from put-
ting in execution any design, which might tend to give him
more stability in the country, or in order to give assistance
to our friends at Hullihall, if I find he presses them.

< I propose to stretch out towards Iangall and Budnaghur,
in order to clear the Soonda fronticr, if the report should be
true which I hear, that the detachment sent against that
place has failed in its attack. I can hardly believe it, how-
ever.

< T have heard nothing yet of the Bombay battalion, and
I am much afraid that, for want of moncy, they did not
march before the 30th, and that Dhoondiah’s position near
them has prevented them from marching since that day. Tt
is fortunate that I thought of ordering the provisions to be
thrown into Hullihall in April. 1 understand that there
was a sufficiency for two months for one battalion at the end
of June.

¢ What do you think of taking this opportunity of muking

ace with Kistnapah Naig? The officers who were in his
country say that he was well disposcd to accept any reason-
able terms; and, as our prospects of being able to reduce
him are very remote, particularly if Heshmut Jung's plan of
increasing our territory is to be carried into exccution, it
appears desirable to come to a settlement with him on
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almost any terms which he.could point t{ut, and for the.op,
scrvance of which he would give us security. Lo
¢ I write to Major Cuppage this day, and desire him ¢,
let me know what he wants at Nundydroog, and his wants
shall be supplicd as far as is possible. In the mean time,
I desire Gordon to be prepared to answer a call for a store
of rice there.
¢ The brinjarries drop in by degrees, and I get a little
from the country; but I have determined that no more brin-
jarry rice shall go into the bazaar; and I have adopted
a plan for issuing gratis to the troops, and have reduced the
consumption of the rice of which I have the command to fifty
bags per diem. At this rate I have, on this side of the
Toombuddra, at least fifty days’ stock ; and my industrious
followers must live cither upon jowarry, of which there is an
abundance cverywhere, or they must be more industrious in
procuring rice for themselves in a country which produces
none, or their friends the brinjarries must come up more
quickly. From Hangall, however, | expeet to draw some
rice, which is another reason for extending myself that way.
* Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Coloncl Close, * Arrnur WeLLisLiy,

I have received the proceedings of a court of inquiry
upon Mahommed Ismacl, late Asoph of Chinreydroog, and
1 have given orders that he may be hanged, and his crime
published in the district of N undydroog. Binnillal Khan is
to remain in confinement in Nundydroog.’

Colonel the Hon. .1. Wellesley to Lieut. Colunel Close,
¢ Camp, leit bank of the Werdah,
¢ My prar Covongr, 10th July, 1800.

‘ Lhave received letters from Hullihall up to the 5th of
July.  The circumstances of the defeat of Goklah are nearly
as they have been already represented to you, and a great
part of his army are under the walls of that fort. The 1st
of the dth are still there, having been detained for money
till the end of June, and having then found it impracticable
to move.  Dhoondiah was cencamped two days ago at Gurry,
about 4 cuss beyond Darwar. and it is said that he intended
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to come this way, that he intended to attack Hullihall, and
that he intended to move upon Noorgoond. I have got
every thing over the river, excepting the lst and 4th regi-
ments of cavalry. My bridge answered for every thing, ox-
cepting for the followers of the cavalry. Horses, bandies,
and even camels crossed without difficulty, but the followers
rushed upon it in such numbers from both sides, and were
so little subject to regulation, arrangement, or order, that
they sunk several of the boats, and I have been obliged to
take the bridge to picces, before I could get over the two
last regiments of cavalry.

¢ 1 was in hopes that, hearing nothing of Kistnapah Naig,
it might have been possible to come to an arrangement with
him ; but I see that it is not. Our good understanding with
the Rajah of Koorg, which deprives him of the money which
he used to get for defending Tippoo’s country from the
Rajah’s plunderers, must be rather inconvenient to him, par-
ticularly as he always understood matters with the Rajah,
and it was not necessary that he should incur any great ex-
pense on that account.

< I have not been over at Savanore yet, but it appears to
be, and I hear it is, in a ruinous condition, and so large, that
it will not be possible to do anything with it. We must,
therefore, press to have Darwar, and Munro might at all
events make his arrangements for sending grain to Hulli-
hall. If matters should be settled previous to the time at
which it will be possible to send up grain from Canara,
Munro will be no loser, as he will sell it at a large price. 1
doubt whether the Peshwah will be willing, or, if willing,
whether he will have it in his power to give over to us Darwar.
If Dhoondiah is able to hold out at all, he will certainly re-
ccive support against us from the great body of Marhattas.

< Ram Rao has been with me, and he yesterday went back
to Shikarpoor, having made arrangements for sending some

cons into the country on the right bank of the Werdah. 1

do not believe that Servitun Rao is come to IHurryhur, or
that he s likely to come there, but it would certainly be very
desirable that either he or Ram Rao should be permanently
stationed at that placc. Probably the latter would be of
most service, as I understand that he is the head amildar of
Nuggur, Hurryhur. &e.
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“ All the grain which Purneah can c?l'lect for us ought 1,
be sent to Hurryhur, from whence it wili be forwarded with
other grain from other parts. )

¢ The people who had possession of .Jemalabad founq
means to make their escape over the rock. They left in the
upper fort four men of the 2nd of the 3rd‘ Bombay regiment,
being some of those who had been surl?rlzed t.here. These
men they put in confinement on the day preceding the night
in which it is supposed they escaped. Above fifty of them

have been taken by parties sent in pursuit of them, aided by
the people of the country; and Licut. Colonel Mignan in-
forms me, that he had still hopes that he should be able to
take Jerim Naik the leader.  He proposed to bring them all
before a (ieneral Court Martial, and to hang those to whom
death might be sentenced in different parts of the province.
¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. , < ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

* I'have no certain accounts about Budnaghur.’

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp five miles south of Savanore,
My prar Corongr, 11th July, 1800.

* Lenelose you the copy of a letter which T have received
from Licut Colonel Palmer.  You will pereeive the manner
in which Appah Saheb stands at Poonah,

‘ Lam afraid that, having given over the country to Ball
Kishen Bhow may have the effect of setting the Peshwah, or
at least Scindiah, against us, although I belicve that this is
not the country which las been sequestered, but it is that of
Tasgaum and Meritch. 1 have written to Colonel Palmer a
letter, the duplicate of which 1 enclose, and beg you will for-
ward by tappall, in which 1 explain the reasons which in-
duced me to give over the country to the Bhow, and the
grounds which T have for belicving that it is possible td
remedy the evil if it is one. '

“In truth the Bhow is but a bad manager, and is very
uupopular in the country ; but he has made no objections to
the admission of Ram Rao’s peons to whatever place I
pleased. It will, therefore, be a matter of no difficulty to
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make an arrangement to transfer the country to whomsocver
Colonel Palmer may point out as the rightful owner.
¢ Tt is said that Dhoondiah is coming down towards us; if
he does come, I shall certainly dash at him immediately.
¢ Belicve me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. - ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

« I do not place much reliance on the proposed attack of
Scindiah’s troops, but I write this day to their commanding
officer.’ ' .

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

+ My prAR CoLONEL, « Camp at Savanore, 13th July, 1800.

<1 was prevented from answering your letter of the 9th
yesterday by our march hither from the river, and by my
preparations to attack Dhoondiah. I rcconuaitred this place
on the 11th, and I was induced to move (o it because 1 found
that Dhoondiah was approaching us, as it was said to en-
gage us, and I thought that 1 should perform the operation
better by being disencumbered of baggage, to receive which
this place appears tolerably well caleulated, and that I should
derive some advantage from making the attack, if he should
come within reach, instead of by halting upon the Werdah,
to wait till he should attack me. Ile is now at Hoondgul,
about twenty-two miles from henee, and, if he moves any
nearer, I shall certainly leave my baggage here, and attack
him.

¢ The redoubt upon the Werdah is nearly finished, and 1
have left there the pionecrs, and two companics of Bombay
infantry, two 12 pounders, two 6 pounders, ammunition for
the 12 pounders, &ec. These people are to complete the
work, and half the latter to be its future garrison. It ison
a fine spot, which commands the banks of the river. and wi
give protection to all our cattle, brinjarries, &c., and con-
fidence to the latter, which is a great object.

< By Coloncl Palmer’s letter, which T sent you the other
day, you will perceive that whatever may be the real inten-
tions of Scindiah in this quarter, he declares that he has
ordered the commanding officer of his troops to attack
Dhoondiah Waugh. If that be the case Dhoondiah Waugh
is still in a bad way.
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<1 have long regretted that such a body of troops as this
should be assembled, and that they should have, in fact, no
object before them. What you point out is certainly the
right line of proceeding ; but as I informed you in a former
letter, I do not conceive that the Peshwal either will consent
to our taking possession of Darwar, or that if he did consent,
Bappojee Scindiah would give it up to us. It then comes to
this, if the Peshwah should consent to give us the place, and
Bappojee Scindiah should withhold it, we must force it from
him by means of a heavy train.

« [ have nothing here now but two iron twelves; but the
eightcens arc at Chittledroog, and I could easily get them up
if that plan is to be adopted: and, certainly, unless it is true
that Dhoondiah means to fight, I do not sce any other mode
of bringing this warfare to a close.

“"T'his place is, in fact, little better than a large plain, and
our troops would walk into it at any time. It will, however,
keep my baggage in’ security for a few days if I should wish
to attack him,

« I am afraid that until we get Darwar, or some hold in
the country. the plan of putting Munro into the management
of the districts, which have fallen into our hands, will do us
wore harm than good, as, in fact, there would be an interval
in which they would be under the management of nobody,
or the people might resist Munro's management, and thus
we should suffer all the inconveniences, for a time, of a con-
test in our rear. . We get on now, and that is all; but if we
come to have a contest in the rear, we must fall back to see
the end of it.

*The attack upon Budnaghur failed. God knows how ; 1
propose to move upon Hoondgul, and to clear that frontier
it Dhoondiah keeps at a distance: but if he comes near me
1 think the best method of settling Soonda, and every other
place, is tu attack him.  Munro talks of losing the revenues
of Soonda (as if that was not forescen and expected at the
moment we took possession of it) on every occasion where
there should be confusion in this country ; and certainlyconfu-
sion may be expected in this country for some years to come.

¢ T recolleet that in different conferences which I had with
you upap this subject at Nuggur., we agreed that this would
be the ease; 1 apprized Government of it early, and yet they
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withdrew froln it one of the battalions which alone could
keep it in tranquillity, or make it deserving our attention.
< T have written to Ram Rao for 500 peons, which I shall
find of great use.
¢ Believe me, &c.
« ¢« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Sirhitty, 16th July, 1800.

< On the 13th, after I had written to you, T learned that
Dhoondizh had come from his camp at Hoondgul, with his
whole army and his guns, to within about two coss of minc at
Savanore; this he examined for some time on a hill, and
then returned towards Hoondgul. I threw my baggage
into Savanore on the morning of the 14th, and marched with
five days’ provisions, as light as possible, to Hoondgul; he
had gone off six coss to Darwar on the night of the 13th, as
soon as he heard of my intended march ; sothat between the
morning of the L3th, on which he marched towards me, and
that of the 14th, he had gone on the most moderate compu-
tation about cightcen Sultauny coss.

<He left a garrison of about 600 men in Hoondgul, which I
surrounded and stormed on the evening of the 1ith, with
but trifling loss. On the 15th I marched about scventeen
miles to the castward to Lukmaisier, which place was eva-
cuated; and on this day I have marched about twelve
to Sirhitty, which place has been surrounded for the last
three wecks by 4000 men belonging to the Dessaye of Dum-
mul, and besieged in the country manner. This sicge has
been raised, and I return to-morrow towards Savanore, in
order to get my baggage, a supply of provisions, &e.

¢ Dhoondiah is in the jungles behind Dummul. and already
his people have begun to desert him in numbers.  His
march to the front was merely to cover the retreat of his
baggage, which was sent off to Darwar at the same time.

¢ As soon as I found that he was gone off to the castward,
1 wrote to the chiefs of the remuant of Goklah's foree, to
request them to march immediately from Hullihall to join o
at Savanore, as the road was clear for them : if they should

comply with this requisition I shall probably find them at
R 2
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Savanore on the day after to-morrow, and I shisll then moy,
forward again with all my baggage, &e. ;. and I hOP‘_’ to be
able (with the assistance of Bowser, whq will by that time be
pretty close on his rear) to run down this f.'ellow comple'tely,
At all cvents, by this cxpedition, I have gained some objocts
of importance; I have established my superiority in the
opinions of my own people, of his, and of the country. 1
have cut off one of his garrisons, and have taken from him
one place of consequence, and T have raised the siege of an-
other; and if the chicfs of Goklah's force attend to my
requisitions, which, as their horses are starving at Hulli-
hall, T hope they will, I shall be joined by that body of
cavalry which will at least cnable me to move with all my
baggage, and will probably cnable me to cut the fellow
off completely.
< When I found that he ran away from me at Hoondgul, I
took the opportunity of offering a reward for his person of
30,000 rupees, as I was heretofore authorized by Govern-
ment.  This will give a spur to the negotiation at Hydra-
bad ; and it is not impossible but that some of the hungry
moor-men, who are leaving him, will think that they may as
well have these rupees as not, and that at least they will en-
deavor to carn them; this will increase the confusion which
I understand is in his camp.
* Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ AntHur WELLESLEY.

* T'have written to Bowser to order him forward to Copaul,
and eventually to Dummul.  If I find that he is approach-
ing upon my return to Savanore, I shall move this way
immediately, and push Dhoondiah so as to secure Bowser's
march.  From all reports. however, of the diminution of his
numbers, I have reason to Lelieve that Bowser is fully equal
to him. Al has remained quict at Savanore, and at the
redoubt on the Werdah, I understand, since I marched.”

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My prar CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Savanore, 18th July, 1800.
+ 1 wrgte you on the [6th, on account of the circumstances
which induced me to march from hence, and of my proceed-
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ings from the 14th to that day. Nothing particular has
happened since the 16th. I marched to Lukmasicr yester-
day, and to this place this day; and what is very extraordi-
nary, I saw fewer horse about us than I have scen on an
day since I quitted the Werdah. Dhoondiah was Y“Stcrdaj
morning at Unigury, somewhere between Darwar and Dum-
mul. The remnant of Goklah’s army, contrary to my advice,
and even orders, had marched to Darwar; and I had intelli-
gence yosterday, that on the night before they had marched
from Darwar to join me at this place; but upon this intclli-
gence I place no reliance whatever. I shall know the truth
probably this day, and if it is nceessary I can march -to-
morrow with my whole force to their assistance.  Dhoondiah
keeps at the distance of about two marches from me, which
clearly proves that he is not very casy.

< T have just reccived your letters of the 11th, 12th, 13th,
I-1th, to which I am proceeding to reply.

< I have called upon Ram Rao for some peons to put into
some of the principal places in the great communications
with Hurryhur and with Bednore; but the country still
remains under the management of Ball Kishen Bhow; and
for the reasons which I stated in my letter of the 13th, I
think it will be better to allow it to remfiin so, at least till we
have a stronger hold of it.

< By what has passed in the last five days you will perccive
that I can have no anxicty about Hullihall. If I had not the
upper hand I should certainly be reduced to the dilemma to
which you allude, particularly if I attempted to keep a gar-
rison in Savanore. But I have at present no such intention.
I believe I told you that I had been obliged to take to picces
my bridge, so that my communication is now kept up by
boats only; the redoubt is on the other side of the river, and
guards them well, and gives good cover to my brinjarries.
Even if Savanore was a good post it would not answer
Jdo cover my boats and brinjarries, as it is seven miles from
the river, and even at the present moment the communica-
tion for unarmed people is insccure from the straggling
horse which are constantly about this camp; it would of
course be much more so if I had not established the post
upon the river. and if I was not here mysclf. Uponithe whole
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then, 1 shall leave Savanore to be occupie§'by the first
comer, excepting a body of peons can keep it for me.

¢ T have heard from Bowser, but I really cannot tell from
his letter at what time he was likely to march;: I think,
however, about the 10th.  If he marches at that time he may
be at Copaul by the 25th, and before then I shall be within
reach to cover him. I have, however, no apprchension for
Bowser, but much for my Marhatta friend, who appears
so little willing to obey orders, and so unable to defend
himself.

¢1 will make arrangements for the payment of the bul-
locks coming with the 19th dragoons; I shall make an
arrangement, if possible, this day, for bringing forward
Munro’s amildars upon the frontier, and I will conncet their
operations, if possible, with my own. My next step must of
course depend a good deal upon the necessity of going to the
assistance of our allies, upon which I hope to be able to
decide this afternoon.

“ T can say nothing about the bandics, excepting that it is
the most scandalous affair that can have happened. We
have not one at Chittledroog, and all that can be done is to
get them on to Chittledroog as well as we can.

* The post at Montana has certainly been threatened, and
I believe attacked; but unless they have been guilty of
a gross neglect in Malabar, have disobeyed orders, and
made a false report, the new post at Cotaparamba must be
well supplied with provisions, and of course in perfect secu-
rity. 1f the Pyche Rajah comes into Cotiote, or attacks one
of these posts in reality, it is certainly necessary to re-
inforce Tellicherry, if not with a view to the safety of that
place, at least with one to the ability of assisting the posts
in advance when they are attacked. There is now nothing
at Tellicherry excepting a corps of mopla sebundies, con-
sisting of about 100 men ; and I should certainly look upon
the loss of that place as a very serious misfortune. ’

‘ L have a letter from Major Walker upon the subject of
raising a body of nairs: he seems to think that Kydree
Amboo is at the bottom of what he calls the unfounded
feuds in Cotiote, and that he wishes to be paid to keep that
country quiet. If the plan of employing the nairs should be
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connected with this notion of Major Walker's, it will require
some considération whether we ought to pay a tribute to
Kydree Amboo for our tranquillity. The truth is, that the
posts in Cotiote are fully sufficient to keep it in tranquillity,
till Colonel Sartorius can find means to reinforce Tellicherry
or Cotaparamba, so as to have a little party ready to take
the field, and make a dash at any thing which the Pyche
Rajah may attempt to collect together. It is now as casy to
move troops through that country as through any other that
I know of.

< I have spoken to Captain Mackay about his mutaseddy,
and you will have no further trouble upon that subjeet.

¢ I will write to you again to-morrow.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLONEL, ¢« Camp at Savanore, 19th July, 1800.

¢ I had received from Mr. Uhtoffe copies of the letters you
enclosed. The wants of the troops in Soonda have been
entirely relieved since he wrote. I have written to the
commanding officer in Soonda to desire him to throw the rice
(now in Sargaum) into Soopah, about which I conclude he
also wrote to you. Gordon neglected to provide that garri-
son, and if it falls T am surc I do not know how it is to be
retaken till after the rains.

¢ T have written to the amildar of Bonawasi to desire him to
collect all the peons he can, and to drive the banditti out of
Soonda ; also to the commanding officer in Soonda, to desire
him to assist this amildar, and to make another attempt
upon Budnaghur in concert with him. If it should fail
again, I must take an opportunity of stretching out that
way, and the sicge will in the mcantime be converted into a
blockade. The amildar is to advance and take possession of

*Hangal, to give protection to the inhabitants, &c.

« T have not yet heard any thing of my Marhatta friends,
and I therefore conclude that they remain in safety under
the walls of Darwar. I expect to hear from them this even-
ing, when I shall determine upon my next movement. Mr.
Wilson's letter to Mr. Smee describes the business which I
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posts 1 figd from: private accounts reccived by other hands,
are really as well supplied as they were Teported to’me
to be; and I have therefore no fear for them. A small
corps collected at Tellicherry to move about froth post to
post in the triangle, of which we have the three angles,
wil in my opinion soon send the Pyche Rajah up the
ghauts. .

¢ e i giving Coloncl Stevenson some trouble.
about his allowance, which he reccives from the amildar at
Chittledroog. The service upon which the latter is now
employed is not one likely to last very long, or one for which
it is usual to deprive an officer of his command; and I'am
afraid that if it was so, we should not find people so willing
as they now are to quit their garrisons in order to take the
field. Our friend here is really most useful to me, and I
should not like to tempt him back to Chittledroog by stop-
ping his allowance during his absence.  Will you do me the
favor to scttle with Purneah that Colonel Stevenson is to
receive the allowance, and not ————17

1 am much obliged to you for the trouble you have taken
about our carts and storcs. I was very anxious about the
gallopers, which, by the by, ought not to have been loaded by
the Commissary stores; the latter, however, are in general
to beleft at Chittledroog ; and I still hope that the gallopers
will come in from the Toombuddra with the 19th dragoons.

¢ Belicve me, &o.
* Licut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear Covonir, ¢ Camp at Savanore, 20th July, 1800.

¢ L have the pleasure to inform you that I was joined in:the .
middle of last night by about 1000 of Goklah's horse; they
marched from Darwar yesterday, and say that tho remainder
of the party, as well as that under Chintomeny Rao, are on*
the road, and will come in on this day. I have, therefore,
no longer any uncasiness about them, or about that quarter,
and look only to Bowser. We have had a terrible day and
night's rain, which render the roads in this country almost
impracticable for any. troops, excepting like those'of Goklah ;-
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they are frightened out of their wits. This will provent my
marching to’morrow, but I hope on the day sfter to move
forward in great style. ° ¢

_ I have,no fears whatever for Hullihall, which place for
fhis country is strong at all times ; but in this scason nothing
can hurt it, as it is almost covered by a large tank. I have,
therefore, written to the commanding officer in Soonda to
detach the st of the 4th to clear out Soonda about Budna-
ghur, and to get possession of that place; and if he finds that
he cannot do so without guns, he is tq make a requisition
for them upon the officer commanding the redoubt on the
Werdah. ’

* They will not be more than two marches from cach other.
After having given a good clearance to Soonda, this corps is
to move to the redoubt, at which place I shall have occasion
for it as a convoy for provisions, &c. My route will be by
Luckmasicr, Sirhitty to Doodwar, which place I shall storm,
and then stretch out towards Copaul. 1 think that I shall
be able to keep my rear open by mcans of this Marhatta
cavalry, and you shall hear from me constantly.

< Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢« Camp, near Luckmasier,
<« My pEAR COLONEL, 23rd July, 1800.

« In two days at Savanore I was entirely destroyed. T lost,
upon a moderate calculation, about half my cattle. 1 have,
however, contrived to crawl here; I amin the midst of large
villages full of cattle, which Iam now cmployed in scizing and
arranging to departments, and I hope to be able to move on
to-morrow. Never surely was there any thing so unfortunate;
but I hope to remedy it in some degree. ‘There is nothing
so faulty as our bullock system, and its effects are now most
severely felt. 1 assure you that we have never wanted
forage at Savanore; it is true the cavalry in the first two
days used all there was in the fort, notwithstanding the
orders to cut grass for the horses; but still forage was plen-
tiful at the distance of two or threc miles. There is, how-
ever, clearly so little interest in the preservation of the bul-
locks in the breast of the bullock-men, that they could not

SUP. VOL. * s
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be prevailed upon to go out these two or three miles to
bring in forage; in some instances they were driven out; the
weather became severe to a degree; and the consequence has
been that we have lost half our cattle. We lost only four
gun bullocks; and from yesterday’s march 1 should imagine
that the private cattle of the army, and those belonging to
the bazaar people, are as well, if not better, than they were
on the last day’s march. :

¢ T have some suspicion of dubash tricks, such as fictitious
owners and maistriesein camp, the real owners being conico-
polies in the office at Seringapatam; and if I find a real and
clear proof of that transaction, T shall send the whole of it to
Madras. Mackay swears that it is so.

« Dhoondiah is gone to the Malpoorba, and I believe in-
tends to take refuge with the Rajah of Kolapoor. Thear from
Munro that there is a vakeel from that Rajah on his way
from Goa to my camp, having left at Goa his fellow. T have
written to Uhtoffe to desire him to dispatch the vakeel
from Goa to inform his master that he must prevent Dhoon-
diah from crossing the Malpoorba: and that if he docs not
do so he may possibly be treated as an enemy by the com-
bined armies of the British, the Nizam, and Goklah. If he
stops him at the Malpoorba I think we shall give a good
account of him.

¢ Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colongl Close. ¢ ArrHur WELLESLEY.

" Lhave got bullocks, and am able to get on again once
more.'

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp, near Luckmasier,
«My pear COLONEL. 24th July, 1800,

<1 have been able to move this day, and I hope to be at
Dummul on the day after to-morrow, where I have ordered
Bowser to join me.

¢ Dhoondiah certainly wants to cross the Malpoorba, but
he has no boats, and the river has overflowed its banks.
General Braithwaite has appointed Nundydroog as'the sta-
tion at which Cuppage's corps is to be raised, and Bangalore
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for that of another person; it will be necessary to prevail
upon him to alter that arrangement, and I shall be happy to
assist in forwarding any view of Cuppage's.

¢In the meantime as it is impossible for Cuppage to
reside there at present, and as it is absolutely necessary for
me to have there somebody, I have desired Mr. Read of the
33rd to go over and take charge of the place. He is a sen-
sible man, and understands the language, and will answer
well for a time; either till Cuppage is removed there, and
able to take charge, or till the officer in command of the
corps to be raised at Bangalore shall arrive.

¢ Cuppage has sent me some papers regarding stores and
provisions for Nundydroog, which are so incomplete that 1
can make nothing of them, and T have been obliged to

return them to him.
< Believe me, &c.

* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Camp at Sirhitty, 25th July, 1800.
< I arrived here this day, and was joined on the march by
Chintmoney Rao and his party, which is called 3000 horse,
but is in reality about 1500. Colonel Bowser was at Kane-
gherry on the 20th, expected to be at Copaul on the 22nd,
and 1 have ordered him to join me at Duminul to-morrow.

¢ You will observe by my letters that 1 had, on the 1st of
July, ordered that a party, such as you proposed, should be
assembled at Tellicherry, and I have no doubt but that they
will clear out Cotiote in a short time; that is to say, if they
behave like men.

¢ The success at Oustara is capital.

* Bowser has not a grain of any thing. T have in camp
for my own people twenty six days’ rice from the — of July,
and there are 1200 bags at Savanore, which will give Bow-
ser a supply to the same period; but send on to us every
thing that you can get together.

¢ Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

s2
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

*My pEar CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Dummul, 26th July, 1800,

‘1 have the pleasure to inform you that I stormed and
got possession of Dummul this morning. I attacked it in
three places, at the gateway and on two faces, and carried it
with a trifling loss, which was to be attributed chiefly to the
eagerness of the soldiers to get upon the ladder,.and it
broke.

‘It is a strong stone fort, well built, with a dry ditch.
The ladders used were above thirty fect long, and, in my
opinion, the fort ought not to have been attacked with them.

* Bowser has not joined me yet; I know he is at Copaul,
and T ordered him here. I shall not wait for him, however,
but shall proceed on my march to-morrow morning,

* Believe me, &ec.
* Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonet the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My prar CoLongr, * Camp at Soondetty, 3rd August, 1800.

“The Marhattas were so slow in their motions to take
possession of the fort of Manowly, that the enemy occupied
it on the night of the 31st before they attempted to get im.
They also appeared so unable to take away the guns, and
8o unvilling to remain opposite Manowly for their protec-
tion, that 1 determined to destroy them, and did so imme-
diately. I marched here on the lst, and have halted yester-
day and this day to refresh a little, and get matters again
into order. Dhoondiah has brought back from the eastward
that detachnent which he had made to that quarter, and the
whole of his force is gone along the Malpoorba towards the
jungles of Kittoor and Soonda. I follow him to-morrow.

* Bowser's corps, with an additional regiment of cavalry,
and commanded by Colonel Stevenson, proceeds along the
Malpoorba, and is to follow his track; I shall go with my*
troops to-morrow to Belgary, the next day to Kittoor, and
shall keep at the distance of about fifteen miles from the
river.

* The Marhattas will be on the look out between me and
Stovenson, and me and Darwar, and thus we shall sweep
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along that whole line from Darwar to the river, and Dhoon-
diah must either go into the jungles, or he must go to the
southward of Darwar into the open country. If he goes
into the jungles we shall casily come up with his rear; if he
takes to the plain, I shall cross upon him with my detach-
ment.

< It is now impossible for him to get over the Malpoorba,
unless that river falls more than is expected at this time of
the year; and even ifhe does contrive to cross in consequence
of the falling of the river, I hope to have means of stopping
him on the other side.

¢ The vakeel of the Kolapoor Rajah arrived yesterday; I
had & conversation with him immediately, and made known
to him very clearly my sentiments regarding his master. I
told him that if Dhoondiah entered his country, I should
follow him, and that if he assisted Dhoondiah, he was to un-
derstand that I should enter the country as an encmy. That
the fort of Manowly had allowed Dhoondiah’s army to en-
camp under the protection of its guns, and had given shelter
to the people who escaped from the Company’s troops across
the river Malpoorba, and had fired upon us. That the
killadar must ecither have acted in consequence of orders
from his master, or he must have disobeyed the orders he
had received; that in the one case the Rajah must be con-
sidered as having committed an act of hostility against the
Company, or, in the other, his killadar would deserve a
punishment which it would be my duty to inflict, and 1
desired that he might be given up to me.

< The vakeel said that the Rajah was sincerely desirous
of being on the best terms with the Company; that he
would positively prevent Dhoondiah from entering his coun-
try, and would assemble men for that purpose; and that the
killadar of Manowly should be given up.

< He afterwards, in the course of yesterday, consented on
the part of the Rajah to admit Baba Sabeb (the younger son
of Pursheram Bhow), with his army, into the country, in order
to watch and prevent any attempt of Dhoondiah to cross the
river. - Baba Saheb was yesterday near Badamy; but I
have written to him to ascend the river, and he and the
Rajah's troops will certainly be able to stop Dhoondiah on
that side.
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« It appears to me very clearly that the Rajah of Kolapoor
;s much afraid of our entering his country at all, on account
of our connexion with the Bhow's family, as he thinks it pro.
bable that we should take their part in the quarrel subsisting
between the two parties. In all the conversations I have
had with the Bhow's people, I have urged them to make
peace with the Rajah of Kolapoor, as the only means of re-
establishing their power in this country, or of keeping out
such people as Dhoondiah. To this idea they at first mani-
fested strong objections ; but latterly they have listened to
it a little more, I believe in consequence of finding that I was
not disposed to listen to their propositions to attack the
Kolapoor Rajah; and yesterday, in the conference which I
had with all the parties in order to arrange the expedition
under Baba Saheb, I again urged them to make peace, and
desired that both partics should write down what they had to
say upon the subject. The Bhow, Lingo Punt, and the
Rajal’s vakeel, all then declared that they were persuaded
it was the only measure which could save the countries,
and that they would really do their utmost to bring it
about.

“ 1 wrote to Colonel Palmer upon the subject some days
ago; and if we can only arrange this matter, and get Appah
Saheb appointed sole zemindar, or jaghiredar, upon this
fronticr, which I also mentioned to Colonel Palmer, we may
hope to have matters in Soonda and to the northward of
Mysore in tolerable tranquillity. Our friend Munro has
sent an amildar into the countries right of the Werdah, who
is playing the devil. 1 have, however, ordered him to the
presence, and have proclaimed in the country that he has no
authority from me. He is a kind of rights of men man,
who has ordered the people to pay no revenue to any body,
and of course is obeyed. One of the consequences of his
orders is, that the peons put into the different villages and
forts by the Bhow do not reccive their subsistence; they have
threatened to hang their havildars, and now plunder the
country.

¢ We have hitherto enjoyed the greatest of all blessings
for troops. a quict rear, and a sccure communication with
our own country, and I am anxious, to a degree, that it
should not be disturbed for any trifling object. -
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<1 think that matters in Cotiote will soon take a favor-
able term ; Sartorius will certainly by this time have marched
to the assistance of the advanced posts.
< Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.

« My pEAR COLONEL, ¢ Camp at Kittoor, 5th August, 1800.

<1 arrived here this morning upon the plan which 1
stated to you in my letter of the 3rd. Dhoondiah is gone
quite into the jungles, and his head is beyond the sources of
the Malpoorba. Stevenson is at a place called Eytegul,
about six miles from hence, and will follow the tail of
Dhoondiah to-morrow, part of which he may probably cut
off. 1 halt here to construct boats, to make certain other
arrangements which I am about to detail.

¢ 1st. It is very certain that as Dhoondiah has crossed by
the sources of the Malpoorba, I could follow him by that
route; but T must have a communication with this country,
which by the same route would be long and difficult, and
would be liable to constant interruption from the violence of
the rains in these jungly countries. I have therefore deter-
mined to have my communication by boats, and at Sungoly,
which is three coss from hence, and I halt here to construct
the boats, as it is in the neighbourhood of a bamboo jungle,
and of Darwar, where I can get hides, and it is a plentiful
country, with rice, green and dry forage, &e.

< 2ndly. I must throw my sick and wounded into place
of sccurity, and none will answer so well as Hullihall, which
place is five coss from hence.

¢ 3rdly. I propose to make a collection and depdt of rice
at Hullihall, and that cannot be done unless I go there my-
self to have a little conversation with the dubash in office.
What do you think of the difficultics stated in procuring the
supply for that garrison, when I tell you that about half an
hour after my arrival, a buccall of this place told me that he
would let me have 500 bags to-morrow, and would make it
1000 before eight days elapsed ?

< 4thly. It is necessary to curb Munro's amildars a little,
who are taking possession of cvery place in the couutry,
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whether belonging to friends or to foes, and who have: given
great disgust to the allies. o
« The first is the only reason which induces me to halt;
but I shall have a sufficiency of occupation while I am here.
< have made all the arrangements for constructing the
boats; and I shall go over to Hullihall to-morrow morning
to settle the other points which are objects of my attention.
« Although I think I shall be able to fill, in this country,
3000 empty brinjarries which I have got, let Purneah desire
his amildars to forward supplies to us as fast as they can.
¢ I wait only for Palmer’s answer from Poonah to begin
peace making, according to the plan which I stated to you in
my letter of the 3rd. All parties appear anxious for it, and
I think that we ought to be so.
¢ Budnaghur is in our hands, and the frontier of Soonda is
clearer of the banditti. I hear also that the rogues who
went to Nurjin, in Canara, have withdrawn. '
¢ Belicve me, &ec.
* Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoONEL, ¢ Camp at Kittoor, 8th August, 1800,

“I went to Hullihall and returned again on the 6th, having
arranged there everything I had to do.

“ Dhoondiah is fairly across the Malpoorba ; he left camels,
&c., upon the road; but Stevenson has not been able to
come up with any part of his rear. Stevenson is now en-
campcd at Kanapoor, where he proposes to cross the river.
Dhoondiah was yesterday morning within three coss of his
camp, but he marched in the evening (as it is reported) to
the N.E. My opinion is that he is going towards Bauggree-
cotta, that he will cross the Gutpurba and the Kistna, and
get among the polygars of Solapoor, &c., who are dependent
both upon the Marhattas and the Nizam.

¢ There was a mutiny in his camp yesterday morning, and
there is no doubt whatever that his army is reduced almost
to nothing : if we are able to push him a little between the
Gutpurba and Malpoorba, we shall probably reduce him so
low as to make him a very despicable enemy. In my opinion,
we ought not to cross the Gutpurba, if that should be the



1800. : KITTOOR. 137

case ; but ought to confine our endeavours to giving strength
to the chiefs on the frontier, in order to prevent Dhoon-
diah’s return.

¢ The war will literally have no object nor no end. if we
are to follow a single man with a few horsemen to the end
of the world ; and at the same time, if we do not take some
measures to strengthen the frontier, Dhoondiah, or some
body else will certainly return as soon as we withdraw to our
own country.

¢ Let me know your opinion upon this subject, in order
that I may make a proposition to Government without delay.
I have already taken measures to make peace between the
Kolapoor Rajah and Appah Saheb.

< Believe me, &c.
+ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My peAr CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Kittoor, 10th August, 1800,

< 1 omitted to answer one part of your letter of the
Ist instant regarding Reyman Beg, the prisoner at Nundy-
droog. In my opinion, unless Baba Saheb gives his con-
sent, he cannot be punished, but that may probably be
obtained through the means of Captain Kirkpatrick.

< Nothing new here. Stevenson is crossing the Malpoorba
at Kanapoor, and I am making preparations to cross it at
Sungoly. If my native friends were a little alert, 1 should
have twenty boats ready to-morrow.

<1 heard from Webbe last night, and I am very much
concerned to find that he is not going to Poonah. Among
other things, he informs me that the five companies of the
12th, and the 2nd of the 5th, are coming up the ghauts,
as he says, to enable me to oppose the Rajahs in Malabar.
I have already ordered these corps to Seringapatam, there
to remain cncamped under the Caryghaut hill till further
orders; and I have ordered guns to be cquipped for them at
that place, and cvery thing else to be prepared.

"« The question is, in what manner shall they be employed
against the Rajahs in Malabar? In my opinion they oug!\t
to go below the ghauts as soon as the weather will permit,
if Purneah’s people arc able to keep the Rajah at all within

SUP. VOL. * T



138 INDIA. 1800.

bounds on the Mysore side of Wynaad; and if I hear from
you that that is the casc, I shall order them to Cannanore
without loss of time. The scason will be fair by the time
that they will reccive my orders, after I shall have heard
from you.

< If they are to opposc the Pyche Rajah on the side
of Wynaad, they must, I am afraid, remain on the defensive,
as they are not sufficiently strong by themsclves ‘to enter
that jungly country; and I am besides informed that it will
be impossible to commence operations in it till the month of
November.

< It may be possible to open the campaign carly in
Cotiote, and push forward the roads, and establish oursclves
at the foot, if not on the top. of the ghauts; and then, if 1
am in luek, T shall have settled matters here before Novem-
ber, and can march down to Wynaad, and scttle matters
there before the setting in of the next rains.

¢ Let me hear from you as soon as you can respecting the
ability of Purncal’s troops to confine the Rajah to his
jungles,

¢ Believe me, &e.

¢ Lieul. Colonel Close. ¢ ArRTour WELLESLEY.

* Kistnapah arrived this morning. The 19th not come
yet.!
Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ Camp at the right bank of the Malpoorba,
¢ My prar Covoner, 13th August, 1500,

* I have reccived your letter of the 9th instant. The
loaded bullocks which come from Mysore sell oft their goods
as soon as they arrive in camp.  We have a bazaar called
the Rajah's, into which they go, and I do not believe they
are detained one day. Among these 1 do not include the
brinjarries ; they have been detained, as their rice has been
issucd to the troops through the grain department.  But
even the brinjarries were detained only once, and that was
while the troops were marching from Savanore to Manowly.
You may depend upon it that the dealers from Mysore shall
not be detained one moment after they arrive.

1 have delayed to send instructions for the 12th regi-
ment, and the 2nd of the 5th, till  should hear from you,
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but by your two last lettbrs I perceive that we must use
these troops in the first instance to regain possession of Eda-
tera: however, as the 12th will not arrive at Seringapatam
till the beginning of September, I shall still delay to send
instructions to the detachment till I hear further from you.
« Kistnapah is arrived, and is a little wild; but I have
given him a check, and I hope he will go on well.
<1 hope that we shall not be involved in a war with the
Marhattas, on the crude notions of
< Is it possible that any man can belicve that it is Scin-
dial’s intention to attack the Nizam at this moment, above
all others? We havc now a strong force in the centre of the
Marhatta country, and should have on our side, in case of a
contest with Scindiah, all the Marhattas of thesc parts, and
others from the side of Sera, &e. Secindiah’s army has
crossed the Kistna; and if the armament has been increased
lately, I conceive that he is desirous of co-operating with us
in the destruction of Dhoondiah; and, probably, by mcans
of a large force, to check any arrangements of the country on
our frontier, which we may think it proper to make. A
strong army will give much weight and effect to hisintrigucs
in this part of the country.
< There is another reason which most probably has weighed
considerably on producing the armament at Poonah. Goklah
was looked upon by all the Marhatta chicfs to be invincible,
and he was much respected at Poonah. His defeat and
death have had great cffect there, and it is not improbable
but that these events may have urged the Peshwah to make
some cxertion. Whatever may be the real motive of Scin-
diah’s conduct, it is certainly not his intention to attack the
Nizam ati this moment.
< 1 have heard nothing from Colonel Palmer in answer to
ny letters upon the subject of the arrangements of the coun-
trics in our fronticr. I do not think it improbable but that
Scindiah may himself be desirous of obtaining Darwar and
Yavanore, as well as Meritch and Tasgaum. 1 should think it
a misfortune if he were to succeed in that object, as without
attacking us openly, which in my opinion the Marhattas wéll
always avoid, he will contrive to put an cnd to ?hc tranql‘nl-
lity of our frontier. If the Bhow's family retain posscssion
of thesc provinees, and we can establish them ﬁrmlzy, we shall
T
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be quiet, and we ought to” be “contented. If Scindiah is
to have them, my opinion is, that we ought to ask for com.
pensation for our expenses ; that we ought to push ourselves
at least as far forward as the Werdah, if we do not ask
for Darwar and the open country bordering upon Soonda,
When I talk of the Bhow’s family retaining possession of
these provinces, I mention them because they have had them
hitherto, and are attached to us, and under our influence;
any other family under our influence would answer equally
well after a short time: and when I talk of the bad effects of
allowing Scindiah to have these provinces, I mean him or
any of his creatures; in short, there ought to be a strong
government in this country, the head of which ought to
be attached to us; and I prefer the Bhow's family to any
other, because they have had possession, and have it now;
and if we wish to put in another family, we must have a con-
test to cffect our object.

These are my notions after the fullest consideration
of the state of this country.

* All the jaghiredars hereabouts would of course be averse
to our strengthening to any considerable degree the hands
of the Bhow's family, as they thereby become proportionably
weak and insignificant. They therefore now bring forward
to notice every little man who has any claims whatever to the
soil, such as the Rajah of Kittoor, &e. I reecive them all,
call for their co-opcration against Dhoondiah in the first
instance, and refer the consideration of their claims to the
Bhow and toa future period. Hereafter, if the Bhow is sup-
ported at Poonah, he will be able to crush all these petty
Rajahs, and put them on the footing on which theywerchereto-
fore in better times ; if he is not supported at Poonah, and we
should abandon his cause, the Rajahs will do him no harm.

¢ My friend Kistnapah has taken some of these Rajahs in
hand, and has brought them forward. I have, however,
given him a hint that the Bhow's family are my object, and
that any man who has any thing to say to the country must
look up to them.

¢ I have got three battalions of infantry over the river, and

many boats prepared, and I shall not be long crossing the
remainder of the troops.

* Believe me, &e.

« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
« My peARr CoLoNEL, ca":’?xﬁ"ﬁf.’ﬁuﬁ‘,‘lx"é'&f’“’

« I have received your letter of the 12th, and I agree with
you that I ought not to follow Dhoondiah further than the
Gutpurba, and I should not even have crossed the Malpoorba
if it had not been to givc confidence to the allics, and to awe
the Rajah of Kolapoor.

< This Rajah has positively refused to allow Dhoondiah to
enter his country, and he has assembled an army to co-
operate against him; but it is at such a distance that I can
make nothing of it at present. This Rajah appcars heartily
tired of Scindiah and his politics, and well inclined towards
us: if Colonel Palmer is only tolerably firm, this would be
the time to send Scindiah to Hindustan.

I am going to give Dhoondiah one more run between
the Gutpurba and Malpoorba, and I think I have a chance of
picking up some baggage, &c.: it is clear I shall never catch
him. His baggage has only one way to cscape, and that is
to recross the Malpoorba near Badamy ; but 1 guard against
that by detaching two corps of Marhattas and a brigade of
infantry towards Jellahaul, and 1 pursue him with my troops
along the Malpoorba, Stevenson's along the Gutpurba, and
Goklah’s and the Mogul's between us, as far as the junction
of those two rivers with the Kistna. I think I shall make
something of this plan, although 1 may not probably get
hold of him.

¢ shall writc to Government this day respecting my
future operations. I can tell you that I have supplics to
carry me to Poonah, if that werc nccessary, and my pros-
pects are improving daily. 1 was a little anxious about
arrack for a few days, but Uhtoffc (who is full of zcal) has
sent me a supply from Goa, which will arrive at Hullihall, I
believe, this day, and will be here before I can march. )

< 1 have reports of 10,000 full brinjarries between this and

*the Werdah; and 1 have 3000 out along the skirts of
Soonda filling with rice; besides these the Mysore dealers
come in apace.

« Our price brings a few sheep from this country; am! 1
have encouraged my (Amut Mahal) friend, by paying l}lm
for the sheep as they were in pumbers at Hurryhur, taking
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upon the Company (which is only fair) all the loss between
that place and the camp.

< In short, T have as yet experienced no serious want, and
I have more of cvery thing now than 1 ever had; I have
better prospeets before me.

< It is supposed that the rivers Werdah and Malpoorba
will be fordable in two or three weeks, and that the Gut-
purba will be fordable in a month.

¢ Belicve me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

« Montana has been relieved, but with loss on our side.”

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My nrar CoLonkr, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 20th August, 1800.

¢ I return the papers from Major Walker. 1 had before
received accounts from Malabar of the relicf of the two
posts. These roads will not answer unless they do as 1
desired them at fivst; that is, cut the underwood to a consi-
derable distance on cach side of the road. 1 have ordered
Sartorius to employ the pioneers and coolies on this work
immncdiately, as whatever may be the plan for the next cam-
paign, the communication with Montana must be made
sceure, or all will be lost. It will be fortunate if Purneah
can check the Nairs on the Mysore side; if he cannot, the
12th and 2nd of the Hth must go that way.

I he can check them they shall go to Malabar; and 1
will send ovders {o begin by pushing the roads to the foot of
the ghauts.  Major Walker's plan of having a force asscm-
bled in Mysore. to give room for apprehension in that
quarter, wouhl be excellent, if we had troops in Malabar to
stand even upon the defensive, or to make such improve-
wments i our roads and posts as are necessary to fheir

seeurity. and Ao give us the means hereafter of deriving a
full advauntage from them. But they are so weak in Mala-
bar. their foree is so dispersed, and it is so difficult to per-ﬁ
suade the commissioners to allow it to be collected, that

I am afraid we shall suffer in Cotiote if we should not

be able to send thither this reinforcement.  However, My-

sore iy the first object, and if Purncah cannot stop the

Nairs, the 12th and 2nd of the 5th must.
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« L hope to be able to march on the 22nd. Dhoondiah is in
a bad way; his people arc starving, are leaving him, and
reproach him with their misfortunes. He retorts upon them,
and desires them to give their wives and daughters to the
Europeans, whom they are afraid to fight. This is the report,
and that the Patans have left him.

< All my arrangements arc made, and in a few days 1
shall press upon him at all points at the same moment.

< Belicve me, &ec.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. « ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My peAr COLONFL, ¢« Camp at Hoobly, 21st August, 1800.

< I have just reccived your letter of the I1Sth. 1 am afraid
that the attempt to establish a depot at Hurryhur, or on the
Werdah, would ruin us entirely, as I should find that the
brinjarrics, who of course, like the other dealers, object to
coming to such a distance, would lodge their rice at the
depét instead of bringing it forward. It would be impos-
sible to frame any arrangement to prevent that, and the
idea must therefore be laid aside, although it would certainly
be desirable to have a depdt, and the nearer the better.

< If the dealers from Mysore do not like to come forward,
it cannot be helped, we must do without them.

< The loss at Montana was very great certainly ; but not
so much so as is represented by the commnissioners whose
letters I return. There is a post half way between Cotapa-
ramba and Montana, called Pyche, which was abandoned,
but since the roads have been made, at the particular desire
of Sartorius, who had not troops to take care of it. My
opinion is, that the Pyche Rajah will now withdraw his
people from both those posts in Cotiote, where he has lost
many men, and that he will dircet his efforts to the Mysore
side. If he does withdraw, they should lose no time in
Yhrowing in a further supply to Montana, and in making
such improvements on the roads as will render the commu-

nication more easy in future.
< T sce no reason why all the troops that can be spared

should not be immediately collected, be pushed forward to
Cotaparamba, and cmployed to cover the working parties
upon the road between the river and Montana.
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« I have yet received no intelligence whatever from Colone)
Palmer. I suspeet that he has made a proposition of some
kind to Bajee Rao, as Goklah has just communicated to me
a letter from him, in which he desires him to join himself
with Appah Saheb and Chintomoney Rao, and sctile the
country. Baba Saheb and Chintomoney Rao are gone away
with Capper; but I do not doubt that they have reccived
letters of a similar tendency. .

« The system hitherto has been to divide these chiefs,
to keep those of the Bhow's family in the back ground, and
to bring forward Goklah.

1 have besides private information from Ball Kishna
Bhow, that private orders have been sent to Appah Saheb to
increase his forces to the utmost degree possible; and Ball
Kishna Bhow says, that a blow against Scindiah is medi-
tated, and that he is convinced that I shall receive a requi-
sition through Colonel Palmer to assist in freeing the Pesh-
wah from Scindiah's clutches.

¢ There is certainly some change at Poonah, otherwise
Goklah would not have been desired to join with Appah
Saheb; but what that change is, I cannot say.

‘I reccived a letter this morning from the commander
of Scindiah's forces; they arc on this side of the Kistna.
He says that he also is occupied in the destruction of
Dhoondiah, and that if he goes towards him he will fall
upon him and destroy him.

¢ Believe me, &e.
* Licut. Colonel Close. ¢ Artiur WELLESLEY.

¢ 1 omitted to inform you, that having received some
dooley bearers from Madras, T have discharged scven sets of
the Mysore bearers, and have given them their pay to the
cnd of September, to carry them to their villages. I found
them so attentive, and they behaved so well in marching
with the troops upon all occasions to the attack of all these
places, and at Manowly, that I gave them a present of
a pagoda each man at the end of last month.’

Colonel the Hon, A. IWellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 25th August, 1800.
¢ I enclose two letters from Lieut. Colonel Palmer, from
which it is clear that no arrangement can be made in this
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country, apd\I shall therefore confine my endeavors to the
recommendation of peace to all the parties. In my opinion
Scindiah will very soon be in possession of Savanore.

< I received yesterday a letter from the European com-
manding officer of his troops, by name Dawes, who says that
they have received no orders to co-operate with me, or to
interfere at all in the present warfare.

« Dhoondiah left five guns, a large quantity of ammuni-
tion, some arms (Company’s), in possession of the Jalloor
polygar, near whose place I encamped the day before yes-
terday. I sent Colonel Montresor with a detachment yes-
terday to take and destroy them, and he did so effectually.

< T hear that Coloncl Capper has taken the fort of Hdoly
which is about six miles east of Soondootty. I had passed
this place on my way to Manowly. and on the day after the
action had given it cowle; whether it was taken possession
of by some of the fugitives from Manowly, or from what cause
I know not, but some of the baggage of the dragoons was
plundered by the people belonging to it. I hear from the
Marhatta chief that Capper suffered no loss.

< Dhoondiah made two marches towards Badamy to cross
the Malpoorba at Tolusgur; but when he heard of the march
of Lieut. Colonel Capper (who must have reached Jellahaul
yesterday), he returned, and is now gone to the junction of
the Kistna and the Gutpurba. Stevenson is moving down
the Gutpurba, and I directly upon him, at the distanco of
about one march from cach river. I could not move along
the Malpoorba as I intended, on account of the difficulty of
the roads; but I have some Marhattas on all parts of the
river.

<1 think I have some chance of falling upon him.

¢ To do Colonecl Stevenson justice, as soon as I mentioned
to him your notion of Major Isaac’s claim to the allo.wangc at
Chittledroog, he acquiesced in it, and desired that it might
be paid to the Major. I omitted to write to you upon
‘this subject as I ought; but 1 had many other things to
think of. ‘ .

¢ I have no power to order the repairs of magazines, storc-
rooms, &c.; but as soon as Franks sends me the cstimates
you meption, I shall apply to Government that he may be
allowed to make the repairs. As Macintyre is at Seringapa-
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tam, I shall make the arrangement you propose for the
pioneers, and do every thing else in my power to make
Chittledroog & good and useful fort. While writing upon
this subject, it occurs to me to mention, that in my opinion
we ought to have a post at Hurryhur, with a granary well
provided. Hullihall ought to be made a proper post, and to
be well stored with grain and provisions, and we may then
defy all the Scindiahs of the Marhatta empire. I shall write
to Government upon this subject as soon as matters shall
have become a little settled.
¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR W ELLESLEY.

I enclose a letter from Mr, Uhtoffe, which throws further
light upon the intended co-operation of Scindiah in concert
with the Kolapoor Rajah.’

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ Camp at Herty Kernal,
¢ My pear CoLonkr, 28th August, 1800.

* I am sorry to inform you that Dhoondiah escaped across
the Malpoorba at Boodeyhaul on the night of the 24th, the
river having fallen considerably on that day. He is gone
towards the Nizam's country.

« Stevenson will be at Boodeyhaul, and, T hope, across the
river this day ; I shall be at Johughur, and. I hope, across to-
morrow. I have made all the arrangements for altering the
line of communieation for my supplies, and [hope to be able
to follow Dhoondiah without inconvenience in a day or two.
As soon as I found that he pointed to the castward. I wrote
to Mcer Allum, who is at Copaul, and apprized him of the
possibility that he might cross the Malpoorba, notwithstand-
ing the measures which 1 took to stop him; and I requested
him to provide for such an event.

¢ It is to be hoped. that if he has done so, Dhoondiah will
not have it in his power to do much mischief before I cari
approach him. It is said that there are some brinjarries
and baggage still on this side of the river; I do not know
whether that is true or not, but 1 send a detachment after
them to-morrow. y

¢1 have reccived your letter of the 22nd, and wroté to you
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fully respecting Scindiah and the Kolapoor Rajah some days
ago; since that I find that Scindiah’s troops south of the
Kistna have attacked a polygar, who was, at my request, on
the banks of Gutpurba to stop Dhoondiah; and in his
absence on this service have taken his fort of Naibaug. 1
send the polygar’s letter to Colonel Palmer and to Govern-
ment.  The hircarrahs report that some of his troops are in
Dhoondiah’s camp, but that I do not believe.
¢ Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close." ¢ ARTOUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My peAr COLONEL, ¢ Camp at Jellahaul, 30th August, 1800.

¢ I marched seventcen miles yesterday and crossed the
Malpoorba at the decpest, but in other respeets the best, ford
that I have scen.

¢ My opinion still is that Dhoondiah will go to the Soora-
poor man; but he may do otherwise. He may scek to cross
the Toombuddra and to get among his fricnds the Patans,
and the polygars on our frontier, and the Nizams. My
plan is therefore as follows,—to go off mysclf towards Ka-
nagherry,and to get well into the Dooab with a large number
of boats collected at Anagoondy, and when [ shall have got
well forward towards Kanagherry to push Stevenson at him
from his present encampment on the Malpoorba. The
Marhattas will be between us. If he commences to cross
the Kistna, Stevenson may dash at him at once; if he turns
back into Savanore, I move again to my left, and cover my
supplies, Bednore, &c.

¢ The Marhattas are so much afraid of him that I can get
them to do nothing alone; and that is the reason he escaped
this time. They were ordered to push on in front of Capper,
and to possess themsclves of those parts of the river most
likely to be fordable and to get intelligence ; but as soon as
they heard that he intended to cross the Malpoorba, they
*kept in Capper’s rear, and no orders or entreatics cquld g?t
them forward. He could not have dared to cross in their
front, particularly as Capper would have been \Ynthm a
forced march of them; and at the time he crossed it would
have been impracticable for him to rcturn to any of the

upper fords without falling into my hands. )
v



148 INDIA. 1800,

« I sent Colonel Montresor after the brinjarries, &e.; he
informs me that they were last night at the place where
I heard they were, in number 10,000, and he intended to
move upon them this morning, so that we shall at least have
gained so much by our operations.

¢ Believe me, &e.
* Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ Badamy, which I passed yesterday, is a kind of fortified
pettah, between two hill forts: these last are much of the
same construction with those in Mysore.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut., Colomel Close.
¢ Camp at Kanagherry,
* My pear CoLoNEL, 7th September, 1800.

« L arrived here this morning upon the plan which I stated
to you in my letter of the 30th August. Dhoondiah is for-
ward in the Dooab, so that so far my plan has suceceded in
preventing him from making a dash at my communication.
It is said that he has boats with him ; if so, I shall.push on
with the cavalry in order to impede the operation of crossing
cither of the rivers, and have desired Meer Allum to prepare
boats for me at Anagoondy, in case Dhoondiah should by
any means contrive to get any large force over the Toom-
buddra.

* Colonel Stevenson is with three battalions and two regi-
ments of cavalry this day at Moodgul, and I have desired him
to have an eyc to a large number of brinjarries, and some
baggage which are in the jungles about Dcodroog, and
whose intention it is to cross the Kistna into the country of
the Soorapoor Rajah. The Marhatta and Mogul cavalry are
between me and Colonel Stevenson.

¢ God knows whether 1 shall catch Dhoondiah; but I
hope 1 shall prevent him from doing us any mischief.

* I did not tell you that I had got a tandah of above
10,000 brinjarrics beyond the Malpoorba. 1 have given
them GOUO rupees upon good security, and have sent theme
into Canara to load. I write to Munro upon the subject by
their opportunity.

* These brinjarries give 2 curious account of the manner
in which Dhoondiah goes on. They say that he has with
him still above 40,000 of their class, that he employs them
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and gives them the means of living in the following manner.
When he approaches a village or a town which is unpro-
tected by a fort, he sends a body of horse, and of brinjarries
to levy a contribution; ho takes to himsclf all the money
he can get, and gives them at a certain low price all the
grain and all the cattle they can find. They pay him this
price for the gram and cattle, and they are allowed to scll
them at such profit as his camp will afford.

< They say that he has with him ncarly all the brinjarries
of this part of India. These people who were taken be-
longed to the Baramahl, and they say there are many others
from that country, from the Nizam’s and Marhatta country.
In the latter, indeed, there is not now a brinjarry to be
found, and, from the state of Coloncl Bowser's supplies, 1
should imagine that there can be but few in the Nizam'’s
country.

<1 send orders by this opportunity for the march of the
12th regiment, and 2nd of the 5th to Malabar.

« For the reasons I herctofore sent to you in my letter of
the 25th of August, I do not think that we shall be able to
make any arrangement here. The Bhow's son Baba Sahcb
spoke to me upon the subject most earnestly a few nights
ago, and said that he saw plainly that, unless we interfered,
Scindiah would have every thing. 1 told him that 1 had
seen that long ago, and therefore had urged them to make
peace with the Kolapoor Rajah. He scemed anxious to
make peace; but, by a letter reccived last night from the
Kolapoor Rajah, it appears that he will not make peace with
them, and from the difference of the style of the letter, and
from the manner of rejecting my offer to bring about a re-
conciliation, I am of opinion that he must have received some
new lesson from Scindiah. 1 was informed lately that, in a
conversation between Colonel Palmer and Scindiah upon the
subject of the differences between the Kolapoor Rajaly and
the sons of Pursheram Bhow, the latter asked what right we
thad to interfere in the business, when the former replied
that we never should give up the claim to a certain sum of
money due to us by the Rajah. This may not be true, but
I have no other mode of accounting for the sudden refusal
of the Rajah to listen to my mediation.

< The conversation above recited was reported to me by
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Baba Saheb, when I informed him that we certainly should
not take part in their dispute with the Kolapoor Rajah, up.
less he gave an asylum to Dhoondiah.
¢ The sum of money said to be due is, I believe, the ran.
som of Malwaur.
¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Chlonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
‘ Camg at Yepulpurry,
‘ My pear Coronri, 1ith September, 1800.

¢ I have the pleasure to inform you that I gained a com-
plete victory yesterday in an action with Dhoondiah’s army,
in which he was killed. His body was found and recognized,
and was brought to the camp on one of the guns attached to
the 19th dragoons.

“ I had before informed you of my plan of operations in
the Dooab. I marched from Kanagherry on the 8th, left
my infantry at Nowly, and proceeded on with the® cavalry
only. Larrived here on the 9th, and the infantry at Shinnoor
about fifteen miles in my rear. On the 9th Dhoondiah
marched from Mudgherry, about twenty five miles on this
side of Raichore, towards the Kistna: but he saw Colonel
Stevenson’s camp, turned back immediately, and encamped
on that night about nine miles from hence, between this
place and Bunnoo, The night was so bad, and my horses
were so much fatigued, that I could not move till morning,
although 1 had intelligence of the place at which he was
encamped.  After passing a most anxious night between the
9th and 10th, 1 moved yesterday morning, and met the
whole of the enemy's army at Conahgull, about six miles
from hence, and three from the ground on which he had been
encamped. e had not heard of my being near him, was
on his march with an intention of passing to the westward
between my detachment, which he supposed to be at Chin-
noor, and the Mogul and Marhatta cavalry at Moosky Bil+
ganoor. Ile, however, drew up in a remarkably strong
position when he saw me, and his people, whom I think to
have been 5000 in number, stood with apparent firmness.
I charged them with the 19th and 25th dragoons, and the lst
and 2nd regiments of native cavalry, and drove them till they
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digperscd, and were scattered over all parts of the country.
I then returned to the camp and got possession of clephants
camels, baggage, &c., which were still upon the ground. I’f
the Mogul and Marhatta cavalry had marched in decent
time, the whole body must have been destroyed, as they fled
in the line on which they must have met them; but 1 imagine
they did not march till after they had heard that I had
moved, and of course werc late: they have been employed
in the pursuit since yesterday cvening, and, I expect, will
destroy the whole body.

¢ The troops behaved admirably, and I assure you that if
they had not done so, not a man of us would have quitted
the ficld. ’

« Thus has ended this warfare, and I propose to draw off
gradually toward Savanore in a day or two. Licut. Colonel
Bowser, and the Mogul cavalry, will be able to sct all matters
to rights in the Nizam’s territories, and my Marhattas must
arrange for themselves.

<1 hdve this morning received a letter from Colonel
Palmer, in which he desires me to hand over to Gunput Rao
all the Peshwah's concerns in this country, which man has
to my certain knowledge assisted Dhoondiah, and did so
even in his escape from me across the Malpoorba. I look
upon it that I have now nothing to say to the concerns of
the Marhatta country, excepting to get myself out of it;
and I shall accordingly not interfere in any manner in any
thing which is going forward.

« T wish to have your opinion as soon as possible respect-
ing my route. My own idea is to cross the Werdah at the
redoubt, to procecd from thence by Shikarpoor, and along
the left bank of the Toombuddra to Oostara, and thence to
Seringapatam. My reason for preferring this road is that I
may awe Kistnapah Naig into a peace, and next because 1
shall do less injury to the country on that road than on any
other. [Itis a grass country; will afford plenty of forage;
4nd as the cultivation is in general paddy, it will not be in-

jured. Youcan have no conception of the number of people
and cattle that I have got with me; and I shudder at the
thoughts of the injury which they will do to any dry grain
country through which they will pass. 1 had some thoughts
of crossing the Toombuddra at Anagoondy; but I should
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lose much time there from the want of boats, the difficulty of
procuring them, and the rapidity of the river. Besides, it
will be convenient to pass by the redoubt, in order to get
some things which are there. If I pass by the redoubt,
there is no doubt but that the road I propose is the fittest,
and that on which I am likely to do least damage. Purneah,
however, will be the best judge on this subject, and I will
move any way he pleases. Let me hear from you soon, that
1 may make my arrangements accordingly in good time.

This country is in a terrible state, almost a desert, and
where there are inhabitants, no authority. The Nizam's
killadar of Chinneor had a regular tappall posted, in order to
give inteHigence to Dhoondiah. He wrote to him on the -
8th, to inform him that I was to be on that day at Nowly,
and on the 9th at Chinnoor; and it is incredible what pains
he took to induce me to go no further. I was not to be pre-
vailed upon, however, and came on here, and by coming put
a stop to the communication. Thus Dhoondiah was not ap-
priscd of my situation, and ceven had reason to believe that
I was at least fifteen miles farther from him.

 Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. < ArTiiurR WELLESLEY.

<P.S. It has occurred to me, that now that we shall be -

able to carry on the war in Wynaad, it will not be necessary
to send down the 12th and 2nd batt. of the 5th regiments to
Malabar; and it will be very inconvenient to send away the
latter particularly. We must have some kind of force to the
northward of Mysore when I go south. I can manage so as
to have a sufficient number of Europeans for Wynaad, but
I cannot of natives, without the 5th battalion, Let me hear
from you upon the subject, what are the intentions of Go-
vernment.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEar CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Yepulpurry, 12th Sept., 1800¢

I have just reccived a letter from Government, dated the
27th of August, and another private letter from Webbe ; by
the former of which I am ordered, at all events, to remain
some time in the Marhatta territory; and by the latter the
cause of this order, and the nature of the negotiations now
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pending at Poonah and Hyderabad, are explained. Of
course the order must be obeyed, and I shall take up a con-
venient position in front of Savanore, I now think, on the
borders of Soonda, in order to get rice; but it will be ncces-
sary that excrtion should be used to force on our brinjar-
ries, &e. It would be very desirable that they should bring a
larger proportion of rice, and a smaller of dry grain: they have
latterly brought little clse than gram; and as for Bowser's
brinjarries, about whom so much boast has been made at
Hyderabad, they have brought nothing Lut dry grain, and
that chiefly jowarry. There has not been a grain of rice in
Colonel Bowser's camp that I have not supplied him.
* Believe me, &c.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

‘ My pear CoLoNkL, ¢ Camp at Yepulpurry, 13th Sept., 1800,

Ball Kistna Bhow came to me yesterday, and urged me
in the most pressing manner to give an asylum to his family
in the Mysore country. IIe scemed to wish for a place of
safety for them at Chittledroog; and I promised him to
write to you upon the subjeet, and to request you to mention
it to Purneah.

< He says that it is certain that as soon as we withdraw
from the Savanore country Scindiah will enter it, and will de-
stroy the whole of the Bhow's family ; they are determined to
oppose him as well as they can, and they are desirous that
their families should remain under our protection.

¢ To this measure I scc no objection, particularly as we
have reason to believe that the Peshwah seeretly favors this
family ; and as it appears to be the intention of Government
cither to come to an arrangement at Poonah, which will
drive Scindiah to Hindustan, or to interfere in the Marhatta

olitics in such a manner, that he and his Frenchmen shall

Ec kept away from our frontier. )

< The Bhow again yesterday said that something was brew-
ing at Poonah, and that the Peshwah was determincd to
shake off Scindiah, and had intimated to Appah Sahcb his
wish that he should increase his forces to the utmost extent

SUP. VOL. X .
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possible. He hinted that their intention was, when they
should have placed their familics in safety under our protec.
tion, to go with their light armies to join Amrut Rao, who,
they say, is collecting troops at or near Bassein.

¢T hear that the treaty at Hyderabad is concluded, and I
am in momentary dread of receiving an order to detach thi-
ther the troops which are to form the increased subsidiary
force. T have only 1892 Coast and 1200 Bombay sepoys,
and T am sure you know that Mysore cannot afford another.
I have been obliged to do all the duty of convoys, &c., by
means of Marhatta and Mysore cavalry and peons; and if I
had not done so, my battalions would probably on a march
have shown about 100 men each. I have written to Webbe,
however, upon the subject, have stated the impossibility that I
should be able to make these detachments, and perform the
other services pointed out for me, and I hope that he will
adopt some means of procuring the additional subsidiary
corps without calling upon me.

*Ball Kistna Bhow says, that all cyes at Poonah are
directed to this army, and that our movements from this time
forward will have great effect in determining Scindiah’s.

¢ Believe me, &c.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

< .8. I have omitted to mention to you that 1 have re-
ceived a report from Colonel Stevenson, stating, that on the
10th he had come up with the only two remaining picces of
cannon the enemy had, baggage, camels, bullocks, &c., brin-
jurries, &c.; that he had taken, dispersed, and destroyed
the whole. The cannon belonged to the Soorapoor polygar,
and were destroyed in his country. Thus the business has
been completed.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My prar Coronkn, * Camp at Yepulpurry, 14th Sept., 1800.

¢ I have reccived your letter of the 8th.  Purneah’s obser*
vations upon the harvest in Bullum had alrcady occurred to
me, and my idea was to destroy it, if Kisnapah Naig shonld
refuse to scttle matters with Purneah, when I should ap-
proach his country with my troops. The fertility of Bullum,
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and the constant intercourse between that district and Koorg,

{o which it will be impossible to put a stop, is what consti-

tutes the difference between Kisnapah Naig and the Pyche

Rajah, and render it more desirable to come to an arrange-
ment with the former than with the latter. If we destroy
the harvest in Bullum this year, Kisnapah Naig will still
find means of subsistence, and we must perform the same
operation in the next year. The Pyche Rajah, on the con-
trary, has no communication with Koorg, and draws all his
subsistence either from Mysorc or from Malabar, countries
in our possession. Means might and ought to be taken by
the Commissioners to stop the trade in grain between the
coast and Wynaad, and thus the Pyche Rajah would be
much distressed. But I am afraid that the destruction of

the harvest in Bullum will do no more than create a tempo-
rary inconvenience.

<When I thought that the success of the 10th instant
would cnable me to return to Mysore immediately, 1 turned
over in my mind the propricty of halting the 12th regiment
and the 2nd battalion of the 5th, in order to form a part of the
corps which should operate upon Wynaad from the Mysore
side. It appeared that when 1 should go so far to the
southward, I ought not to leave the northern frontier s0
much exposed as it has been lately, and that when I should
have provided sufficiently for the strength of this frontier, I
should not have a body of troops such as, in my opinion,
ought to be collected to be sent on the expedition to Wynaad.
However, upon looking over my papers regarding the relief
of Montana, I found that at that post they had provisions
only for fifty two days from the beginning of August, and
therefore that measures ought to be taken as soon as pos-
sible to throw in a further supply. I recollected that 'in one
of the papers sent to you by the Commissioners, it was
stated that the post must be relicved again before October,
gnd that a large body of troops ought to be col!ccted for
that purpose; and I referred to a private letter which 1 l‘mav_e
received upon the subject from Disncy, who was at Telli-
cherry, in which he tells me that the troops (::mployed upon
the last occasion did mot behave as grenadicrs ought. 1
therefore determined, at all events, that as Gover‘r;mcnt had

x 2
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sent these corps to Mysore merely to enable me to oppose
the Pyche Rajah, they should go, in the first instance to
Malabar, even if the arrangements to be made to provide a
sufficient force for the northern frontier, while I should be
to the southward, should oblige me to bring them back to
Mysore, in order to form a sufficient detachment to enter
Wynaad.

‘ You are now in possession of all my reflections upon this
subject, and of the considerations which induced me to allow
those corps to march to Malabar, even although I thought
it probable that 1 should want themn in Mysore, for the very
purpose for which Government sent them to me. You are
ncarer the scene of action, however, than I am; you must
have had later intelligence from Malabar than I have, and
must be a better judge whether it will be necessary that
those corps should descend the ghauts, in order that Mon-
tana may be relieved.  If you should think that they ought,
allow them to march on according to the orders they have
already received. If you should not think it nccessary, send
the enclosed letters to Lieut. Colonel Harcourt and to
Colonel Sartorius; and upon hearing from you that you have
donc so, I will transmit further instructions to Licut. Colonel
Harcourt.

¢ But, to tell you the truth, I do not think that we shall
cver make any hand of Kistnapah Naig till we can bring
the army into his country, and can spare troops to establish
in it a post of our own.

* Another mode of providing troops for Malabar oceurred
tome, but that again is attended with great inconvenicnee : it
is, to send them from Canara, where matters are now tole-
rably quict.  But they suffered so much inconvenience from
detaching their old soldiers upon the attack and fall of
Jemalabad, that I am afraid 1 should get nothing at pre-
sent but the reeruits. 1 will speak to Lieut. Colonel Mon-
tresor respecting the man for M'Kenzie. I lave been
detained here this day on account of a violent fall of rain
last night, but I march to-morrow.

¢ Believe me, &ec.
¢ Liet. Colonel Close. ¢ ArtHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Colonel Sartorius.

« SIR, ¢ Camp at Yepulpurry, 14th Sept., 1800.

<1 have been under the neccessity of ordering the 12th
regiment and the 2nd battalion of the 5th to halt at Serin-
gapatam, if they should still be there, or to return thither if
they should have marched from thence, according to my for-
mer orders, as it is nccessary that they should remain in
Mysore.

‘You will therefore provide for the relief of Montana.
without the assistance of these corps.

< I have the honor to be, &e.
¢ Colonel Sartorius. « Artnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Right Hon. Lord Clive.

¢ My Lorp, ¢ Camp at Nowly, 16th Sept., 1800.
<[ have this day had the honor of recciving your Lord-
ship’s letter of the 9th instant.

< My letter to the Chicf Sceretary of Governinent, of the
12th instant, in answer to his letter of the 27th August, will
have informed your Lordship that, in obedienee to your
orders, I should remain in the Marhatta territory; and I
shall look forward to the measures to be further adopted, in
case of the occurrence at Poonah of cither of the two cvents
which the Governor General thinks possible at the present
crisis.

<1t does not at present occur to me that any place, oxcf*pt-
ing Darwar, would be of any scrvice to me in the operations
which may be nceessary. I wrote to Licut. Colonel Palmer
to request that he would obtain an order fr(')m the I’csl_nwah
to have that post given over to my charge, in casc 9f cither
of the events against which your Lordship is providing.

I imagine that the arrangements which 1 have alroa«!y
tade of the country which has passed through my har}ds in
the course of the contest with Dhoondiah Waugh, viz,, to
give it over to those who had possession, and who enjoyed
its revenues previous to his rebellion, is perfectly agreeable
to the Peshwah’s wishes and to the laws and customs of the
Marhatta empire. I know from Licut. Colonel Palmer that
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it was agreeable to his Highness to have these countrieg
delivered to the sons of Pursheram Bhow, and I believe that
their possessions in the provinces of Darwar and Savanore
were never confiscated. Those which they had north of the
Kistna, at Meritch and Tasgaum were confiscated, as Lieut.
Colonel Palmer says, in consequence of the violence of Scin-
diah; the latter were, I understand, strictly military jaghires;
the former were given to Pursheram Bhow as paymeént of a
debt for expenses incurred in the former Mysore war; and I
am informed, and it is probable, that of these they have
never been deprived.

‘Those parts of the Marhatta territory in which I have
been, which are not, as I have above described, in the pos-
session of the family of the Purshepg Bhow, are either the
Jjaghires of other chiefs, who hayéj®r ought to have, bodies
of troops in the service of the gmpi é,, which are maintained
from the produce of the lagll® they'are divided among
polygars, who pay a pegk to the ‘Peshwah, or to the
jaghiredars ; or they& cly to the Peshwah,
and the revenuc jg ficers of the Poonah
sircar: but thoj er for the payment of dif-
ferent garrisorii - y of Goklah, upon the whole
amount of the Pesticnslf due by each polygar, and upon the
whole amount of the revenue of the sircar, not granted to the
family of the Pursheram Bhow or to the jaghiredars.

* In the course of the campaign in the Marhatta territory,
I delivered over to cach individual that which belonged to
him, and to the officers of Government those districts be-
longing immediatcly to the Peshwah ; and by this arrange-
ment 1 seeured the tranquillity of the country, and its
resources, which was all that I could desire.

I do not apprehend that any inconvenicnce will arise
hereafter from an adherence to this system ; or that it will
give reason to the friends of Bajec Rao to doubt of the
sincere disposition of the British Government to act effec-,
tually in his behalf; and I am afraid that the adoption of
any other system would deprive me of the cordial co-opera-
tion and assistance of those chicfs who have acted with me
hitherto, would create doubts generally of our views, and

* Orders on the collectors of the revenue.
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that I sl.lould be obliged to break up my force into detach-
ments, in .order to secure any new arrangement of the
country which I might make.

‘From what I have :}bove mentioned of the state of thesc
countries, your Lordship will observe that I should have no
chance of procuring from them any supplics of money or of
provisions (excepting for payment) if I were to call for them.

¢ The revenue in the Marhatta territory. particularly since
Dhoondiah’s rebellion, is collected only by force. and 1
should get none of it, excepting by making detachments
from mine. But it is all appropriated to particular pur-
poses, cither to pay a debt, to pay jaghiredars who have
troops in the service of the empire, or to pay the Peshwah's
troops and garrisons. Xhese, I must observe, are consider-
ably in arrcars, and gfl-the chicfs have come to me at dif-
ferent times to requéit fp borrow money to satisfy their
demands.  Thus it jg le that I should find great dif-
ficulty in procuring m the country; and that
by the demand of it, ™ those whose assistance
would be very desirab ~ogcurrence of one of
the events expected at Po o . L

«The samc facts and rea’SHENECBPPLY k&o’%ﬁhc demand of
provisions ; I get them sent, as t, for payment ; and 1
am afraid that the demand of them upon reeeipt would not
only have the bad cffects I have above attribited to the
demand of supplies of money, but that I should not be able
to procure them at all when wanted.

< Excepting to call upon the Rajah of Kolapoor to prevent
Dhoondiah from entering his- country, 1 have not had any
communication with him. As Scindiah’s force south of the
Kistna is large, as he has latcly added to it two battalions, and
as it may be reinforced by the army of the Kolapoor Rajah,
I wrote to Captain Kirkpatrick to suggest that, in case the
subsidiary force at Hydecrabad should not be employed
otherwise, upon the occurrence of one of the expected events
at Poonah, it might be of importance that I should have the
power of calling for Licut. Coloncl Bowser’s detachment, and,
therefore, I request that it may be left in the Dooab under
my orders.

<1 have the honor to be, &c.
* Right Hon. Lord Clive’ « ARTHUR WELLESLEY,
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Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Liewt. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Camp at Nowly, 17th September, 1800,

« T have reccived your letter of the 11th, and I have
spoken to Captain Mackay respecting the bullock man, to
whom le writes by this post. All the superannuated bul-
locks are at the grazing ground near Seringapatam.

<1 enclose you the copy of a letter from the Military
Board to Govermment, upon which my opinion has been
called for. All the places mentioned therein ought to have
stores of rice, if they are to be kept as garrisons; but in my
opinion Cowleydroog ought to be destroyed, as ought Chan-
dergooty, and the depéts of grain for this frontier ought to
be at Hurryhur and ITullihall. I admire the attention to
cconomy in the Military Board, which doubtless induces
them to lay all the expense and trouble of storing the grain
on the Rajal’s dewan. T shall give Government a hint
upon this subject in my answer to their letter; and shall
leave it to you to fight the battle, in order to throw all the
Company’s concerns off the shoulders of Purneah.

¢ 1 enclose the duplicate of a seeret dispateh from Colonel
Kirkpatrick, which will point out that it is probable that we
must look for the means of cstablishing depdts at stations
much more forward than arc thought of by the Military
Board. I haye reccived one of a similar tendency from Lord
Clive, of which most probably a copy has been sent to you.

¢I shall remain in preparation in the Marhatta territory.
I have written to Kirkpatrick to recommend that I may have
the power of calling for Licut. Colonel Bowser’s detach-
ment, if it is not intended that the whole subsidiary force
should act in case of the occurrence of one of the cvents ex-
pected at Poonah. 'have written to Palmer to request that
he will ask the Peshwah for an order to the killadar to give
me Darwar, which order is to be delivered into his hands
only in case of the occurrence of onc of those events.

1 expeet one lac of pagodas in silver from Madras, which
will pay the troops in November; I have besides written to
Munro to know what he can spare, and I expect to get
50,000 pagodas from him; if I could besides ease Mackay of
50,000 pagodas, or Graham, it would enable me to go on till
the beginning of the year. I expect Munro's answer every
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day, and 1 shall be obliged to youn if you will write to Mac-
Jeod and to Captain Graham. The Rajah’s monthly pay-
ments I reckon upon only as sufficient to pay the monthly
expense in Mysore, and I do not meddle with them for that
reason.

< If I do advance to Poonah, we must look out at Bombay
for money and other supplies in the beginning of the year,
and I have all the arrangements ready for that purpose.

< As to money from the Marhatta territory, or provisions
without paying for them, it is all a joke. The money must
be collected by a military force, and 1 have none to spare;
and if I was to attempt to take provisions upon receipt,
I should probably get none for moncy when 1 might want
them. Besides, the whole revenue of the Marhatta territory
south of the Kistna belongs to jaghiredars, who maintain
troops, to the Bhow's family, or there are tuncaws upon it
for the maintenance of the Peshwah’s army under Goklah,
or for that of his garrisons, such as Darwar, &c. Not only I
should get nome of it, but I should distress and dissatisfy
those who do, from whom I now receive most cordial assist-
ance.

¢ In regard to Coloncl Kirkpatrick's fears respecting the
transfer of the government of the country to the Bhow's
family, I have explained to him fully the nature of their
claim to any part of it, and that of the arrangement, which T
have made as follows. The government of Pdonah granted
posts of the Savanore and Darwar countries to Pursheram
Bhow as payment of a debt for expenses incurred in the
former Mysore war: I do not imagine that the family have
cver been deprived of thosc possessions by the Peshwah,
although they have been deprived of their military jaghires
of Meritch and Tasgaum, which have been surrendered to
Scindiah.

¢ The arrangement which I made was, to give over to
every man that which he had previous to Dhoondiah’s rebel-
dion, and among others to the Peshwah's officers thosc parts
of the country which belonged to the sircar, although thcr:c
were tuncaws upon the revenues: of course the Bhow's
famjly received their sharc of the country among others. 1
do not conceive that there is any thing in this arrangement
to give to the adherents of Bajce Rao reason to doubt of

SUP. VOL. ¥
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our real intentions to act in his behalf; and I think that the
adoption of any other arrangement &} the present moment
would create numberless doubts, would throw the whole
country into confusion, and woul_d require an army, which
I have not, to carry it into execution. :

< Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. « ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

«P.S. Since writing the above I have seen Mackay again,
who proposes that all his bullocks should move up the river
to Tenaherra, where they were last year, excepting about
200, which must be near Chittledroog, in order to bring on
the money when it arrives from Madras. He says that he will
be glad to delay to give over to Purncah the superannuated
bullocks till we return to Mysore. At Tenaherra the bul-
locks can do no harm, and will have plenty of forage, and the
bullock men cannot interfere with the cultivation.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLonEL, ¢ Camp at Kanagherry, 18th Sept. 1800.

¢ 1 have received your letter of the 14th, from which I
judge that you will have been agreeably surprised at our
complete success against Dhoondiah.

I am rather desirous to keep the Mysore horse and
peons for a short time in order to assist my convoys in case
matters should turn out at Poonah as expected, and my
friends here should not relish the part which we shall take.
You have the power to keep the 12th, and 2nd batt. 5th, if
you wish it.

 Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

“ I enclose a duplicate of Lord Clive’s letter to me in case
you should not have reccived a copy of it.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ Mr pEar CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Copaul, 22nd Sept., 1800.

¢ It is wonderful that my letter of the 11th did not reach
you sooner.

My bazaars are most capitally supplied ; 1 have every
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thing that I can want in tl.lem‘ But it will be necessary to
keep the grain merchants in motion towards ts.

« I have sent near 7000 brinjarry bullocks to Munro, and I
hope that he will be able to furnish them with loads before
long; I shall have 1800 loads of rice in the grain depart-
ment ; there is no want of sheep, and I have drawn large
quantities of arrack from Goa to Hullihall, where I propose
to have a depdt of this necessary article.

<If we get Darwar I shall move this arrack, the rice
which 1 have at Hullihall, the garrison reinforced by some
Europeans from Goa, and some natives from Canara to the
former place.

«In a day or two I shall be able to arrange my bullock
department in some kind of style. The camp equipage
presses upon me sadly, and I cannot prevail upon Govern-
ment to come to the detcrmination to make the officers carry
their own tents. In bad weather it is impossible to carry
officers’ tents at the rate which we march.

«We have had some very heavy rain here, and the swell-
ing of a nullah has detained me this day. Iam sorry for
this, as I think that my stay here will give some uncasiness
to our friend at Hyderabad.

« Meer Allum told me that the sole object of the Court at
Hyderabad now was to amass moncy; that for this alone
they sacrificed their territory, their honor,-and their troops;
that they wanted to involve us in a war with the Marhattas
for their sccurity, and that when that object should be
cflected they would disband all their troops (of which they
had but few remaining), save all their money, and depend
upon us for their defence. He said that the transfer of
territory to us was a great object to them, as they found
they could not govern it without troops, which they were
determined not to raisc. He said that he had stated this to
~—~———— upon his return from Madras, before he heard
of his tricks in his family; but that ——— passions

*had then thrown him into the hands of Aristo Jah, and that
he would do nothing.

« Belicve me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close.’ ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close,’

« My pear CoLoNEL, *Camp at Cadloor, 24th Sept., 1800,

« The reason why the brinjarrics bring so much gram i,
that in our bazaars it sold for almost as much as rice did,
Latterly it has fallen, and is now twenty nine seers for 3
rupee. The process was just this: they bought in Mysore
sixty seers for a rupee, and these they sold here for six
rupees. They could not have bought sixty scers of rice for
Iess than three rupees, and they sold in general at nige seers
for a rupce. You sce that the profit is evidently on the
side of gram. I write to Seringapatam upon the subject of
the dealers in Ganjam; but there has been a system of
dubashery there lately which has annoyed me considerably,
and I am afraid that if it has not been put a stop to, in con-
sequence of what I have already written to Saxon, the
people, whom I have taken such pains to induce to come to
the place, will leave it.

* The grain at Seringapatam is paddy, and the operation
of beating it out is slow. All the beaters are now employed
in beating it, and it is sent forward to the army on the bul-
locks hired for the public scrvice. If there is more rice
beat, however, than therc are bullocks to carry, it might be
given to the dealers in Ganjam at a cheap rate, to be
brought forward to the army, and I will write to scttle an
arrangement upon this subject.

* I wish that my instructions permitted me to move for-
ward to the Kistna immediately, as I should do so with
many advantages. In the first place, I should cut off that
detachment of Scindiah's troops, now on this side of that
river, and in the next place I should be certain of the co-
operation of all my allics. They are now going off, some to
keep the Dessarah feast at their jaghires, and others on
other occasions; and I dare not hint to them that I may
have further occasion for their services, as they would imme-
diately discover the object. Colonel Palmer says, in his,
letter of the 7th, « he (the Peshwah) is in a manner a pri-
soner in the hands of Scindiah, who has posted a large body
of troops in the city, on pretence of compelling a chief; called

Prittee Niddce, to dismiss a party of Arabs from his service,
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but in reality to watch and control the motions of the Pesh-
wah, whom he suspects of an intention to withdraw.”

¢ Refer to my instructions from Lord Clive, and the letter
from Kirkpatrick, and let me know whether you think me
warranted to advance in consequence of that paragraph.
The advantage in doing so is evident; and besides thosc
above mentioned there is this additional one, viz., that if the
crisis does mot already exist (if the Peshwah is not already a
prisoner or has not made his escape), I shall force it forward ;
and otherwise Scindiah by his position in Poonah may keep
matters in that state that he will be perfectly certain that
the Peshwah cannot make his escape, although he will not
have found it necessary further to secure his person.

¢ Believe me, &e.

« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ AkTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieul. Colonel Close.

« My pEar CoLONEL, « Dummul, 25th Septcmber, 1800.

« 1 some time ago promised Mr. Sullivan that a relation of
his should be recommended for the first vacant cnsigney in
the 33rd regiment, but I rather belicve that he has been
appointed an ensign in another corps. If that should be the
case, which Licut. Colonel Shee will know, Mr. Morris will
be recommended for the ensigney now vacant in the 33rd. 1
write to Licut. Colonel Shee upon the subject by this post.

< Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« AnTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ P.S. Upon talking with West regarding an ensigncy for
Mr. Morris, I find that there is no vacancy in the 33rd: there
ought to be two vacancies; but we are obliged to keep on
the strength two gentlemen, whose removals from the regi-
ment have not been approved of in Europe. 1 will recollect
your wishes regarding Mr. Morris.’

Colonel the Hon. A, Wellesiey to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear COLONEL, « Camp at Dummul, 27th Sept., 1800.
« I have received your letter of the 22nd; 1 told you

before what steps I had taken, in order to procure directions

from the Peshwah to Bappojee Scindiah to give up to me the
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fort of Darwar, and I am in momentary expectation of
recciving Lieut. Colonel Palmer’s answer to my letter upon
that subject, whether the Peshwah complies with my request
or does not, If I am to advance to the Kistna, I must
have Darwar ; and I have already made all the arrangements
for getting into it in some manner or other. I have told
you that I shall move thither the garrison of Hullihall,
reinforced by Europeans from Goa ; and that I shall esta-
blish there the supplies of arrack and rice which I have
collected at Hullihall. This last place shall be given over to
Mungush Rao and his peons.

¢« My foree is very respectable, and passes for much more
than it is; I have besides called upon Kirkpatrick to leave
Bowser under my orders, if it is not intended that the whole
of the subsidiary force and of the Nizam's army should
co-operate on the north side of the Kistna. No answer yet
from that quarter.

< My fingers itch to begin; I should break that detach-
ment to pieces which has been pushed across the Kistna;
should by that means gain a powerful body of allies, which
1 reckon upon only as so many taken out of the opposite
scale, and should have the whole game in my hands imme-
diately. If the Kistna falls, that detachment will escape to
the northward; and Scindiah, if he has spirit, will collect
there, and endeavor to make a stand.

* I ook upon myself to be fully equal to all he can colleet,
if I can keep together my allies. They are of use in pro-
tecting my rear, my baggage, and my camp. If I had not
had them my cavalry would have been much distressed;
and yet they would not have kept off the Pindarry horse
half so well as the Marhattas did in the late service.
Scindiah has not got a very large body of country horse;
but he will of course have some, and they would distress me
much if I should have none.

* The object of the force on this side of the Kistna is to
scize this country the moment that I shall withdraw from it.
This is the opinion of Licut. Colonel Palmer, and he has
repeatedly so stated it. 1 dg not believe they yet suspect
our intention to interfere at Poonah.

* Believe me, &c.
* Lieut, Colonel Close. * ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEARr CoLonkL, ¢ Camp at Sacoonda, 29th Sept., 1800.

«I had- heard, from Mr. Warren;, of the behavior of
Colonel Harcourt's dubash, and I propose to write to the
Colonel upon the subject this day.

¢ A part of our cavalry, viz. a detachment of the 1st regi-
ment, is at Coimbatoor in the Carnatic; and I am informed
that many of the men have already recovered. I shall write
to General Braithwaite to request that your cavalry guard
may be relieved by a detachment from the lst regiment at
Coimbatoor. I think the state of Mysore will be unpleasant
when we get to a distance. Seringapatam requires so large
a garrison that it runs away with all our troops; if we could
remove the inhabitants from the fort, one battalion would be
sufficient for the garrison at present ; but as it is, we cannot
leave the arsenal there unprotected, and it would be soif the
garrison were smaller.

« T have long wished to remove my regiment from thence,
as they have been uncommonly unhealthy ; and it is Ander-
son's opinion that they will not recover till they are moved
out. But we must have there an European regiment as long
as the inhabitants are there; and how to replace them I
know not.

« We have had terrible rains, and I am stopped here.

« Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

<P.S. I wish that you would take into consideration the
mode of repairing the buildings to be used as granarics and
provision store-rooms in Mysore. It is impossible to do it
by means of the commanding officers. First, they have never
been a sufficient length of time in a place to be able to do
much good, and 1 do not sec any probability that this cir-
cumstance will be altered soon : secondly, it is not to every
vne that I should think it proper to entrust the execution
of these repairs: and thirdly, they find great difficulty, on
account of the many works going on in the country, to pro-
cure workmen to repair the buildings to be occupied by
themselves and their troops. This being the case it might
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perhaps be possible to get the amildars to undertake thes,
repairs (after the heavy part of the country work shall b,
gone through), the Company paying the expense. Tum
this subject over in your mind, and let me know the result,

¢ I have written to Government respecting the formatiop
of depdts of grain, and I have recommended that they
should be at Chittledroog, Hurryhur, Hullihall, Nundy-
droog, Seringapatam. Those at Hurryhur and- Hullihall
will of course be moved forward, if all the pending arrange-
ments are made.

¢ I have scouted the notion of throwing all the expense of
the depéts on the Rajah and the trouble on his servants, on
the ground of the inexpediency of allowing the servants of
one government to have any interference or connection with
the concerns of the other; and have recommended that if
the expense of forming depéts for the Company’s troops is
to be paid by the Rajah, it may be a separate transaction,
to be arranged in the usual manner; but that the depét
may be formed by, may be in charge, and be disposed of by
the Company's servants.

1 have recommended all that you desired for Chittle-
droog. I have given orders to have the troops moved from
Chundergooty and Cowleydroog, and I have desired the
officers in charge to deliver the forts, provisions, stores, &e.
to the amildars, taking their receipts for the same. I shall
be obliged to you if you will mention this to Purneah. The
provisions and stores in both these forts belong to the
Rajah, according to the arrangement of Government made
last year; but I think that Purneah will do well to dispose
of or remove them.

* 1 think that a breach ought to be made in Cowleydroog.
It borders upon the Polygars; as long as we hold Nuggur
it can be of no use; and if it is kept in repair, those circum-
stances which might render it necessary that we should
occupy it with troops, would render it very inconvenient to.
sparc any for that purpose. However, it is an ancient place
about which prejudices may be entertained, and at all events
the palace must be kept in repair.

* I wrote to Purneah a letter in Persian, in which I recom-
mended hig three officers now with me, but particularly
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called his attention to Govind Rao. The reason ;
because he is not so high in the service as the :t;e;ss -01;'(1){
I have had every reason to be pleased with them all.

I see that I have made my postacript longer than my
letter.”

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close,
3

<My pEAr COLONEL, * Camp at Nalloody, 1st Oct., 1800.

<1 have received a letter from Webbe, dated the 25th
September, in which he informs me that he has written to
Licut. Colonel Mackay, to desire him to halt at Seringa-
patam with his corps. It is intended that it should form a
part of the Nizam’s subsidiary force; and Webbe proposes
that it should march through the newly ceded districts to
join Lieut. Colonel Bowser in the Dooab, as soon as the
completion of the new treaty at Hyderabad shall be com-
menced at Madras.

<1 propose to send orders to Licut. Colonel Mackay to
move up to Chittledroog, and he can then move to Ana-
goondy and join Lieut. Coloncl Bowser whenever that may
be thought proper. ]

¢ It appears not to be intended to attempt to make any
great effort against the Pyche Rajah in this season; and 1
am therefore clearly of opinion that the 12th regiment ought
likewise to be stopped. They will certainly be wanted in
the Mysore country fo~ onc of thc many objects in view;
and as the 88th regiment is cxpected in Malabar from
Bombay, the 12th regiment will not be much wanted there.
If you should agree in opinion with me, 1 shall be obliged
to you if you will forward to Licut. Colonel Harcourt, as
soon as possible, the letter which I enclose for him. At all
cvents, Lieut. Colonel Harcourt is too late to relieve Mon-
tana, if, as we imagine, that post now wants relicf.

« Believe me, &e.

« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pEAR COLONEL, « Camp at Nalloody, 2nd Oct., 1800.
¢ I received your letter of the 27th yesterday, and the
other to the 29th in the course of last night.
SUP. VOL. z
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<1 am obliged to you for the arrangements respectin
grain. I will take care that the dealers shall not be de.
tained in camp one moment.

¢ Some scttlement regarding the camp equipage is abso.
lutely necessary. 1 am now obliged to take 300 bullocks
from the grain for that department, and the whole number
now provided for it since the end of July is 1200. This falls
entircly upon the grain.

¢ As soon as you hear from Webbe, that the money will be
sent into Canara by one of the ships of the squadron, Munro
may be desired to send up to Nuggur a sum proportionate
to that which will be sent round. 1 will give orders to have
every thing ready at Nuggur to forward it to the army.

¢ The history of Captain ‘s conduct is quite shocking.
A particular caution was given by me to Licut. Colonel
Mignan, when 1 desired him to send these troops through
the Rajah’s country ; which caution I conclude he gave to
Captain ——. There is no remedy for this conduct, ex-
cepting to bring this gentleman to a Court Martial as soon
ag possible; and T shall be obliged to you if you will write
me a public letter upon the subject.

¢« The bygarry system is not bearable: it must be abo-
lished entirely, or so arranged and modified as to render it
certain that the unfortunate people employed as coolies are
paid, are not carried farther than their usual stage, and are
not ill treated. When all that is made certain, it will be
found cheaper and more convenient for these gentlemen to
hire coolies than to trust to the chance of procuring brinjarries
on the roads, and there will be but little call for the latter.
In truth, the public service but seldom requires the brin-
jarries: I know of no instance in which they have been
required, excepting by the Bombay troops, who have no-
thing of their own, and are unwilling to pay for what they
get belonging to others. It seldom happens, also, that
individuals want them: and when a want of them does exist
it is generally to be attributed to the laziness, the neglecf,
or the misconduct of the person who suffers it. In my
oplmon. therefore, the system may be abolished without
inconvenicnce ; but, in any event, it may be modified, and
peoplc may be prevented from ealling upon the country for
brinjarries whenever they think proper.
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p B.csides Captain ——, 1 have another Bombay gentle-
man in my eye, who has lately come through this count
with a convoy of arrack,-and I suspect played the sanz
tricks ; that is to say, never paid the people pressed and
employed by him in the public service. 1 have desired that
inquiries may be made upon the subject, and if I find my
conjecture 1o be foupded I shall try him at the same time
with Captain ——. *

< I informed you yesterday that Webbe had written to
Tieut. Colonel Mackay, to desire him to halt at Seringapa-
tam; and as the 12th would certainly be too late for the
rolief of Montana, and the 88th are coming down to Malabar,
1 requested you to forward the letter 1 sent you some days
ago to Licut. Colonel I reccived last night a letter
from that gentleman (from whom and of whom 1 have re-
ccived nothing but complaints since he entered the Mysore
country), in which he informs me, that as Webbe's letter to
Colonel Mackay was private, and as the orders to halt the
2nd of the 5th had not come through him, he should not
allow Licut. Colonel Mackay to halt, but would march on
the 30th, according to the orders he had received before
from me. 1 have written to him {his morning, to desire him
to halt immediately, and to rcturn to Scringapatam if he
should have marched, and to allow Licut. Colonel Mackay
to obey any orders he may receive.

< 1 think it probable that Licut. Colonel Mackay will have
refused to obey his order to march; and if so, we shall have
a fine kettle of fish at Seringapatams but, in any event, I
don’t think the Government will pass over his refusal to
allow an officer to obey their orders, although conveyed in a
letter beginning ¢ Dear Colonel.” T find that his dubash is
a fellow, by name Saunmy, who had formerly been dubash to
poor Aston, and who, when T was with the army last year,
came up to Scringapatam, under pretence of being my
dubash. He plundered the country all the way up, fmd,
%hen arrived at Seringapatam, began the old dubash tricks,
to turn people out of their houses, to threaten others
in various ways with his and my displeasure, 1n case
they did not conform to his wishes in every respect. At
length 1 heard of him, and wrote 1o Colonel Sr(;brokc, to
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desire him to turn him out of the town, and of the Mysore
country. .

<If the Colonel does not dismiss him from his service
after what I have written him, and the perusal of the papers
from Ooscotta, &ec., which I have sent him, I shall be
obliged to order him to send him away. There is an officer
of reputation and rank in the army, of great family connections,
&c. &c., ruined in his outset by the scum of the earth.

‘I am obliged to you for your sentiments in answer
to my letter of the 24th. I have already written to Lieut.
Colonel Palmer to request from him the earliest and
most accurate intelligence regarding the crisis wished,
and waited for; and I conclude, that the Governments
of Bengal and of Fort St. George will have given him
dircctions to communicate to me every thing that passes.
But I suspeet that the communication between Colonel
Palmer and me, and indecd that between him, and all
other parts of India, has been interrupted. I do not find
that Captain Kirkpatrick has heard from him since the
7th of September, the date of the last letter I received;
Uhtoffe certainly has not; and I suspeet that the Govern-
ment of Fort St. George has not received a letter from him
even of 50 late a date as that, as Webbe does not mention
the state of Poonah (as described by Colonel Palmer) in his
letter to me of the 25th of September, received yesterday.

¢ I will write to him, however, as you propose. There are
two circumstances which induce me to wish not to begin, as
you propose, by advancing to the Gutpurba, under the pre-
tence of sceing how matters stand with my friends the
Polygars, to the northward of that river. In the first place,
when I do advance to the Kistna, I must look forward to the
further operation intended, and must make my arrangements
accordingly. +One of the most important of these is to get
possession of Darwar. If I go forward, upon the pretence
under consideration, I cannot take possession of Darwar in
the name of the Peshwah; indeed I do not see in what
manner I could demand that place, without declaring war
against the whole Marhatta race. If I go forward, without
having possession of Darwar, I must either return to take
it, or I must make up my mind still to go forward without



1800. NALLOODY. 173

having it in my p?saes.sion. Either would, in my opinion,
be attendt_&d with infinite disadvantage to the operations
which are intended hereafter.

< Secondly, the reason for not making the conduct of
Scindiah towards my friends, north of the Gutpurba, the pre-
tence for moving to that river is, that I find that Scindiah is
strictly right in having taken possession of their placcs.
They are dependent upon the jaghire of Meritch and Tas-
gaum, which has been granted to him by the Peshwah ; and
although it would have been more generous to desist from
taking possession of their countries till another opportunity,
he had a right to them, and must eventually have taken
them. Under these circumstances I am afraid, that to p're-
tend to move to their assistance will have the effect which
Government are most desirous I should avoid. It will give
to the Peshwah’s friends doubts, whether our intentions are
to assist him, or to reinstate in their former power the family
of Pursheram Bhow. For these reasons, which I think will
also be conclusive with you, I deem it better not to advance
till the crisis arrives, which is expected. It may certainly
fairly be said, that when a man’s capital is in the possession
of the troops of another, all his friends imprisoned, and his
own person only not under restraint, he is under the power
of that other. But the danger of acting upon the state of
affairs, as they arc now at Poonah, arises from the indecision,
the weakness, and duplicity of the Peshwal's own character.
To these bad qualities I attribute the strictness of the
orders which I have received, viz., to advance only in case
he should be in confincment, or should fly. Suppose him
not to be in confinement, and that I were to adopt the
measures proposcd by Government, were to take possession,
in his name, of all the countries south of the Kistna, and
to place garrisons in those situations most convenicnt to my
operations ; and that he were to fly off and to declare that 1
had no authority from him, that I was an cnemy, and_ was
fo be treated as such, Government or I would, b'e in a
scrape, from which it would be difficult to extricate cither of
us. In truth, if the Peshwah is not in confinement he has
the power to call for our assistance; and if he does not call
for it, we have no right to force it upon him. By the same
reasoning, if, as long as he has the power, he omits to con-



174 INDIA. 1800.

clude with us that treaty so advantageous to him, and so
often offered, we ought to suspect his sincerity, and ought
not to interfere in his affairs till the last extremity. From all
these reasons then, in my opinion, I ought not to move till
the crisis is certain.

¢ 1 have spoken to Mackay regarding his bullocks near
Seringapatam. There are on that grazing ground 500,
mostly old and unfit for the service; they are placed be-
tween the road to Periapatam and the river Cauvery, there-
fore far north of the probable haunt of the Nairs. Mackay
says, however, that if there is any danger they may as well
be moved ; and proposes a place for them on the north side
of the river, also near Seringapatam, where they were
heretofore.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.' ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

To Lieut. Colonel Palmer, Resident at Poonah,

“ SIR, *Camp at Hoobly, 3rd October, 1800.

¢ L had yesterday the honor of recciving your letter of the
15th of September, which was opened in Scindiali's camp, on
this side of the Kistna.

* L eonclude you have been furnished with a copy of the
instructions which I have received from the Right Hon. the
Governor in Council of Fort $t. George.

* L am directed to maintain my position in the Marhatta
territory till one of two events expeeted to occur at Poonah
takes place, when I am directed to adopt the farther mea-
sures pointed out in my instructions.

¢ There will be no difficulty in acting in case of the oc-

currence of one of the events. If the Peshwah flies from
Poonah, there can be no ambiguity in that step ; and 1 shall
immediately know in what manner [ am to act. But it will
be difficult to judge at what time his person is imprisoned.

* When you wrote to me on the 7th of September that
Scindiah "had occupicd Poonah with his troops under pre-
tence of disarming a party of Arabs, but really to watch the
Peshwah, and to prevent him from making his escape, which
his Highness meditated; and when I heard from other
quarters that guards had been placed over the houses and
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persons of all his Highness's friends and adherents; and all
that could be said in regard to the Peshwah was, that he
was not immediately under a guard, I concluded that the
crisis was mnearly arrived, and I expected every moment to
receive further intelligence which would enable me to act.

¢ But I now find that on the 15th the crisis was far-
ther removed than it was on the 7th; and it is desirable
that I should receive from you a statement of your senti-
ments regarding this part of my instructions.

< At what time am I to understand that the Peshwah is in
imprisonment ? The difficulty which occurs in the decision of
that question arises from the wiliness of Scindiah, and from
the weakness and duplicity of his Highness's own character.
When I received information that Scindiah had posscssion
of the city, by introducing there his troops., and posting
guards over thc Peshwah's adhcrents, and had most pro-
bably taken possession of all the avenues to his Highness's
palace, I should have had no scruple of acting immediately
as T was instructed, only that there was reason to fear that
his Highness would disavow cvery thing that 1 should do in
his behalf.

« I conceive that this duplicity in his Highness's character
is the cause of the strictness with which my instructions are
worded. In truth, if his Highness is at liberty at all. he
can call for our assistance if he wants it; and it may not
be deemed assistance if it is given to him before it is called
for. What, then, is the degree of duresse which is to con-
stitute imprisonment ? My opinion is, that when the secret
provisional commission commences to excrcise its functions,
when Amrut Rao and the Peshwah’s fricnds think that it is
necessary for them to take a decided part for the restitution
of his authority, I ought to begin to act, whatever may be
the degree of restraint in which his Highness's person is
held. I do not conceive that it will be safe or proper to do
so in any other case, excepting when 1 hear that there is
ictually a guard over the person of the Pesh'wah. I should
be glad to receive your opinion upon this point. )

<1 shall also be much obliged to you if you will be so kind
as to give me every information of Scindiah’s proceedings,
of his strength, &c. &c., in order that 1 may be able to act
promptly, as may appear best for the public interest.
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« It is unfortunate that this crisis has not occurred, as I
should certainly cut off that detachment which has been
pushed across the Kistna before it could repass that river;
as it is, I am afraid that the river will become fordable, and
that the detachment will find means to escape before the
occurrence of either of the events which will authorize me
to act.

¢ T have the honor to be, &e. -

¢ Lieut. Colonel Palmer. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Right Hon., Lord Clive.

<« My Lorbp, « Camp at Hoobly, 3rd October, 1800.

«1 have come here in exccution of your Lordship’s secret
instructions of the 9th of Scptember, and I propose to re-
main in this neighborhood until the occurrence at Poonah
of one of the events expected by your Lordship. There
will be some difficulty in ascertaining the exact moment
at which one of them may occur. From the manner in which
Scindiah has gone on hitherto, I judge that he may long be
completely master of the Peshwali's person, and may guide
all his actions, and there may be no outward sign of his
Highness’s imprisonment ; at the same time, until there is .
such an outward sign, I do not conceive myself authorized
by your Lordship to act.

<If, upon conviction that the Peshwah’s person is really
in imprisonment, although he should not be actually under
a guard, I should take possession of all the countries south
of the Kistna in his Highness’s name, and he should after-
wards disavow all T should have done, which from the inde-
cision and duplicity of his character is not improbable, 1
should be in an awkward situation, from which I should find
it difficult to extricate myself. '

< If he is really under a guard, this cannot happen. Secin-
diah, however, it is probable will never go so far, although
he will make it equally certain that the Peshwah cannot
escape, and cannot act without his knowledge. Thus be-
tween the weakness and duplicity of one party, and the wili-
ness of the other, the time of action will pass by.

« Under these circumstances it has occurred to me to
address Colonel Palmer a letter, in which I have stated to
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him my opinion of the species of duresse, attended by other
circumstances, which will render it safe for me to act on
behalf of the Peshwah under your Lordship’s instructions,
short of an actual imprisonment of his person under a guard.

<I have the honor to cnclose a copy of my letter to Licut.
Colonel Paliner upon this subject.

I have received a letter from Captain Kirkpatrick, in
which he informs e that Lieut. Colonel Bowser’s corps will
remain in the Dooab, liable to be called upon by me if 1
should find its assistance or co-operation necessary. Captain
Kirkpatrick also informs me that it is intended that a part
of the remainder of the subsidiary force, and a large propor-
tion of the Nizam’s cavalry and infantry, should likewise
co-operate with me eventually.

¢ 1 have recommended to Captain Kirkpatrick that maga-
zines of grain, rice particularly, should be forwarded in the
Dooab, and on his Highness's frontier, north of the river
Kistna ; as we may apprchend want when all these troops
are collected.

T also take the liberty of suggesting to your Lordship
the propriety of requesting the Governor General to have
sent round to Bombay, as carly as possible, a large quantity
of rice from Bengal ; also that Mr. Duancan should be ap-
prized of the possibility of a call for rice from Bombay, and
should_be requested to have all the means prepared of trans-
porting it to the nearcst situation, at which it will be most
convenient for the cattle of the army to receive it.  With
your Lordship’s permission L shall immediately communi-
cate with Mr. Duncan on this point.

<1 have already proposed to Culonel Close the means of
procuring a supply of money for the month of December:
I beg leave to submit to your Lordship that there ought
besides to be one lac of pagodas at Bombay for the usc of
this army.

« T have the honor to be, &c.

‘.Righ‘t Hon. Lord Clive. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

A
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Hoobly, 3rd October, 1800,

¢ I omitted to mention to you yesterday that I thought it
probable that a relief would be required for some of the
Mysore doolcy bearers with the army, who have been with
it for a considerable length of time. A few in addition to
those now with it may also be desirable.

‘ Believe me, &e.
* Lieut. Colone] Close.  ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My prar Coroner, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 3rd October, 1800.

¢ Since I wrote to you yesterday I have reccived a letter
from Licut. Colonel Palmer, dated the 15th September, in
which he says, « the Peshwah is not at present under that
degree of restraint in which he was when I had the honor of
writing to you last, Scindiah having withdrawn all his troops
except one battalion from the city; he is however still nar-
rowly watched and attended by the spics of that chief to
prevent his flight, which he certainly meditated, though I
doubt his resolution to attempt it.” Thus you see matters
are farther from the expected crisis than ever, and it behoves
me to attend strictly to the spirit of my instructions. The
Peshwah is just in that state from which he can extricate
himself by the twinkling of an cye if he wishes it; and,
being in that state, if he does not express a wish for our
interference or assistance, I do not sce in what manner we
can give it to him.

¢ I shall remain in this ncighborhood between this place
and Hullihall until the crisis arrives, or I shall receive orders
from Government to withdraw from the Marhatta territory
entirely. In my opinion I shall receive those orders. This
crisis, which appears farther removed on the 15th than it was
on the 7th of September, must have been cxpected and
talked of early in August, at which time Colonel Palmer
must have written to Calcutta the circumstances which occa-
sioned Colonel Kirkpatrick's letter to me of the 25th August.
The Marhattas, it is true, are slow; but can it be believed
that this plan of the Peshwah’s, this secret commission, and
all these arrangements which have been talked of at Poonah
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for. thfa last two months, have not come to the knowledge of
Scindiah, and that he has not taken every measure in his
power to prevent their accomplishment ?

¢ It appears now by Licut. Colonel Palmer's letter, that
the Peshwah has never signed the grant of the jaghires
of Meritch and Tasgaum to Scindiah; and the Colonel
tells me that he has remonstrated strongly against the vio-
lence used towards my friends north of the Gutpurba. I
neither know mor care what the result may be.

¢ The Peshwah’s conduct in the affairs of these jaghires
shows clearly his duplicity, and his fear of our influence.
When first pressed on the subject by Colonel Palmer at my
instigation, he would not listen to our proposition to restore
these jaghires to the Bhow’s family, but swore that he had
been forced by Scindiah to surrender these possessions to
him. He at the same time told Colonel Palmer that he had
secretly encouraged the Bhow's sons to oppose Scindiah in
his attempt to take possession of them. 1t now turns out
that he has never given them to Scindiah. At Scindiah’s
solicitation he has sent an order (as Colonel Palmer says) to
the Bhow's family to give up to the Rajah of Kolapoor the
fort of Manowly ; at the same time Colonel Palmer says he
has sent them secret orders to resist that which Scindiah has
got to deliver the fort to the Kolapoor Rajah, and to assert
that they have my direction to maintain possession. How is
it possible to account for this system of deceit ?

« This appears to be a magnificent place.

« Believe me, &ec.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.’ « ArRTnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

‘ My pear CoLONEL, « Camp at Hoobly, 7th October, 1800.

¢ I enclose the crime on which I propose that Captain
should be tried. Let me know whether it will be
onvenient that the evidence against Captain : should
come to camp, as otherwise I am afraid that the tntfl must
be delayed for some time. If it should be convenicnt f(:‘r
them to come here they shall be detained only while it is
ncccssaty.

¢ I knew that Colonel Harcourt would be to?z latf; for the
A
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relief of Montana. I have received from Colonel Sartorius
a letter of the 27th September, by which it appears that the
operations were going on well, and that but little loss had
been sustained. No news from Poonah.
+ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close." ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Right Hon. Lord Clive.

‘ My Lorp, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 9th October, 1800.

¢ T have had the honor of receiving your Lordship’s letter
of the 2nd instant, and I am prepared to proceed to what-
ever point your Lordship may order me, or to make such
detachments as you may think proper. The acquaintance
which I have obtained in the late war of the characters and
views of the Marhatta chiefs in this part of the empire,
renders it my duty to state to your Lordship the effects
which are to be apprehended from weakening, to any degree,
this body of the troops, by whose exertions we hope to
accomplish all that is wished at Poonah.

“'The object appears to be to establish the legal power of
the Peshwah over the Marhatta empire.  In order to effect
this, Scindiah must be removed to his own territories. 1t
is not to be supposed that he will relinquish all that he has
been endeavoring to obtain for the last four or five years
without a contest ; and all the chicfs of the Marhatta empire
look to the event of this expected contest with the utmost
anxicty. They will join the onc party or the other, accord-
ing to their own ideas of their relative strength, and of the
chances of ultimate success : and in case of our interference,
which is not expected, the question with them will be,
whether our force employed is sufficient to get the better
of that which will be brought against us by Scindiah.

< It therefore appears necessary that, at least at first, the
interference of the Company should be by the means of a
powerful hody of troops, such as will convinee the wholé
Marhatta empire of our firm determination to attain our
object, and to establish the Peshwah in the cnjoyment of
the whole of his legal authority. The force which I have
at present under my command in the field, consists of 690
European dragoons. 975 native cavalry, 142 British artillery,
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1160 British infantry, 3538 Native infantry, including sick,
present and absent, of which there are but few. This force

w.ith the assistance which may be expected from the subsi:
diary troops at Hyderabad, will be fully sufficient ; but any
diminution o{: it, or any detachment made to other parts of
the Company's territories, will occasion doubts of our inten-
tions to adh.ere steadily to our object till it is accomplished.

« The assistance of the chiefs of this part of the Marhatta
empire is necessary to us for scveral reasons.

« First ; they give protection to our convoys of provisions
which must come from Mysore; if we could suppose that
they would remain ncuter in this contest, we should still
experience great difliculty and inconvenience from the ne-
cessity of detaching our own troops from this small force for
the protection of our convoys. But they will not remain
neuter. If they do not join the enemy, they will under
various pretences render the communication with Mysore
so difficult, as to be almost impracticable.

¢« Sccondly ; by having them with me, the country in my
rear will certainly be in tranquillity, and 1 shall draw from
it all the resources which it can afford. The whole of the
Marhatta cmpire is divided in jaghire among the Marhatta
chiefs or polygars, as 1 heretofore represented to your Lord-
ship ; and each of these chiefs can command the resources of
his own jaghire. 'The jaghiredar or polygar, who will doubt
of our success, and will wish well to the cause of the enemy,
will of coursc impede our progress by the various means in
his power. This I experienced in the late contest in several
instances ; and it is probable [ should experience it in many
more in a contest, the object of which will be, in whose
hands the power of the cwmpire should be p\acc.d hereafter.

¢ Thirdly ; by having the Marhatta chiefs with me, I keep
50 many out of the opposite scale. o

<1 may therefore conclude that, if this object 1 to be
attained with celerity, we must have on our side the largest
proportion of the Marhatta chiefs in this part of the empire;
they will not come forward unless they arc .clcarly ‘com’mccd
by the efforts which we shall make, that it is our firm deter-
mination to attain our object.

. Under these circumstances it has occurred to me to con-
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sider of the means of collecting a body of troops from Mysore
for the Ceded countries, which will be at least equal in size
to that which I should conceive myself authorized by your
Lordship's orders to detach.

¢In consequence of your Lordship’s orders to halt the
2nd batt. 5th regiment, in order that it might join the
subsidiary force at Hyderabad ; and as I foresaw that there
would be some difficulty in collecting a force for thedistricts
to be ceded by the treaty, which augments the subsidiary
force, I ordered the five companies of the 12th also to halt
at Scringapatam, in order to form a part of the detachment
to take possession of the Ceded countries.

¢ I have reason to believe that the 88th regiment is coming
to Malabar, and the 12th will be no longer necessary in that
province. 'There are eight companies of a battalion of
Bombay scpoys at Nuggur, which I would propose to re-
lieve by a small detachment from the province of Canara,
and to move the former to Chittledroog, when they should
join the five companies of the 12th, and the 2nd batt.
of the 5th. I would also propose to add to this detach-
ment seven companies of the 33rd, leaving at Seringapatam
only three companics of that corps. There is a detachment
in the ficld in the Nundydroog district, which might be
moved forward into Gurrumconda, and would still cover the
Rajalt’s territories.  Thus there would be twelve companies
of Europeans, and eight companies of natives, besides the
detachment in the Nundydroog district, and guns, which
could enter the Ceded districts immediately, if your Lordship
should approve of that arrangement.

< If the Resident at Hyderabad would consider one of
the corps of this army as belonging to the subsidiary foree,
the 2nd of the 5th might likewise remain in the Ceded
countries.

¢ I shall propose to your Lordship that this force should
be kept collectod in one body to be thrown on any point
when their exertions might be necessary; and that untl
more troops can be spared from other services, a body of
peons should be retained in the Company's service, by whose
means the Collector will be able to take possession of the
country, and to make his arrangements.
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« There arc many objections to weakenin

; Serin
at this momentf but the arrangements wh’\ci may a!’::&‘;
at that place will, I hope, keep it in perfect security.

< If your Lordship approves of this plan, rather tha
y that
1 should weaken !he body of the troops in the ficld i':‘ th?s
country, I shall give orders to have it carried into execution
without loss of time.
¢ I have the honor to be, &e.

‘ Right Hon. Lord Clive. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley'to Lieut. Colonel Close.

< My prar CoLONEL, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 10th October, 1800.

< I have ordered committees to assemble in the different
garrisons in Mysore, in order to examine and report upon
the state of their granaries and buildings for containing
provisions. I gave these orders in consequence of a letter
from the Military Board, in which they call for detailed
information upon this subject. All the inforination which I
could procure has been before them repeatedly, but they shall
have it again at one view. I shall send you a copy of these
reports.

<1 am not surprised that Purneah should be desirous to
have nothing to do with the Company’s concerns; the com-
mon practice is to accuse a man of being cither a fool or a
knave. If he is so fortunate as that it is impossible to give
him the former appellation, it is certain that he will be
accused of knavery. Our friend, with his sandal wood, has
done no more than all his fellows have at diffcrent times.

< If we should not permanently keep Darwar, I shall re-
commend that a granary may be built at Hurryhur.

< I am more pressed than cver about troops. Lord Clive
calls upon me to have a detachinent ready to take possession
of the Ceded province, and then to march to Poonah. Sir
William Clarke and Uhtoffe swear that the French are com-
ing from Egypt, and want all the native infantry 1 have got;
on the other hand, the last relicf of Montana cost us 154
men killed and wounded (most of them coolies, however),
and they are crying out there because they do not sec the
12th and 2nd of the 5th marching into Cannanore on the
30th September, on which day they left Seringapatam. My
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business is to get over these difficulties in the best manner |
can, and what follows is the arrangement which I propose,
In addition to every thing, I must also inform you that the
fright which affects Sir William Clarke and Uhtoffe pervades
Bombay, where, on account of the supposed danger, the
88th, which I expected in Malabar, is detained.

« Webbe, in a letter of the 4th, which I have just received
from him, appears doubtful of the propriety of my making a
detachment from my corps. I wrote to Lord Clive fully
upon that subject yesterday, and told him that a contest
with Scindiah for the power of the Marhatta state must
be entered upon at first, at least, with a powerful body of
troops, if it is intended that we should have the assistance
of any of the chicfs of the Marhatta empire. 1f we have not
their assistance, we shall want a still larger body of troops,
and even when we collect them we must expect that the con-
test will last longer than it would otherwise. 1 have, there-
fore, strongly urged that my corps may not be diminished,
and that I may cnter upon the contest in such a manner as
that all the chiefs may be convinced of our determination to
attain our object, and punish those who oppose us, and may
be induced by a sense of their own interests to join my
standard.

* But if a corps is to be assembled to take possession of
the Ceded districts, how am T to collect it? In the first place
there are five companies of the 12th, and then I would add
seven companies of the 33rd, leaving three of that corps in
Seringapatam, or, probably, according to your suggestion,
the whole 33rd. leaving the 12th at Scringapatam; cight
companices of the 2nd of the Hth (Bombay) sepoys now at
Nuggur, which I would relieve by three companies of the
corps at Cundapore, and one company at Bilghy. Besides
this I have proposcd that one of the native corps of this
army should be considered as belonging to the Nizam’s de-
tachment, and that the 2nd of the 5th should remain in the
Ceded countries, at least for a time.  This I believe will he
acquiesced in.  Thus I shall have for the Ceded countries
one regiment of Europeans at least; eight companics of
scpoys, and onc battalion, if the 2nd of the 5th are left.

* Nuggur will not be weaker than it was before the posts of
Chandergooty and Cowleydroog were drawn in.
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< Besides this force, it might probably be convenient to
Cuppage to be able to move forward into Gurrumconda
which would add strength to our operations in the Cedcd'
countries. Webbe tells me that Munro is appointed Head
Collector. I shall recommend to him to operate much at
first by means of peons, which will be attended with a double
advantage; and this corps of mine to be assembled, oucht
to be kept in one body. °

< I now come to the most difficult part, which is Malabar.
They say there is a rebellion in Wynaad, and we may hope,
like Voltaire, that the Nairs of the Pyche Rajah may be
strangled with ropes made of the bowels of those on the
side of Yeman Nair: but still it is nccessary to take measures
for sustaining that post if possible. There is nothing that
can be done, excepting to send into Malabar half of the
7Oth regiment from Mangalore. 1 gave orders upon that
subject this day. Thus, then, 1 shall have provided for all
the immediate calls for troops, excepting those dictated by
the fears of an Egyptian invasion.

< We shall weaken Seringapatam a little, but I shall write
to Colonel Saxon directions upon that subject, which I hope
will prevent inconvenienee from that measure. The objee-
tion I have to putting the 12th into Seringapatam, is the
dubash attached to that corps, who will ruin us there com-
pletely. I enclose a letter from Licut. Cafrac, which you
may find of use.

< Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ Artvr WELLESLEY.

¢« Not a word yet from Madras respecting my last pro-
posal about money. I am rather anxious about this.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lreut. Colonel Closr.

¢« My pEar CoLONEL, « Camp at Hoobly, 12th October, 1800,

¢ By all means take the 50.000 pagodas from Macleod,
which he says will be in his hands in November. If 1 flo
not want that sum here, it will be wanted in the Ceded dis-
tricts, or in Mysore. We have got in Mysore all the expen-
sive part of the army, and we certainly ought to get some of
the money to pay them.

<1 have received a letter from Lieut. Colonel Palmer,

SUP. VOL. . 2B
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dated the lst, in which he does not mention one word of
news, nor does he notice any one of my letters written in
September. He says, « The Peshwah has not hitherto made
any remonstrance to me against your continuance in his do-
minions. Iam confident that so long as he may acquiesce
in your retaining such a position, you will be happy to show
every attention to his wishes, that the country or individuals
should not sustain any loss or disturbance.”
¢ This does not look like calling for our assistance.
¢ Belicve me, &e.
¢ Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢« ARTIIUR WELLESLEY.

Colunel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Right Hon. Lord Clive.

« My Lorb, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 13th October, 1800.

* By the last accounts which I have received of the state
of affairs at Poonah, it appears that Scindiah is acting with
great caution. He has put a stop to certain opcrations
which had been commenced by his troops on the south side
of the Kistna, and has manifested a disposition to be recon-
ciled with the family of Pursheram Bhow, and to withdraw
Lis pretensions to the possessions of that chief.

« Licut. Colonel Palmer writes on the st of October ;—
“The Peshwah has not hitherto made any remonstrance to
me against your continuance in his dominions.”

“ From the circumstances 1 have above mentioned, it
appears that the crisis expected by the Governor General
is far removed ; and by that paragraph in Colonel Palmer’s
letter, I should imagine that he is not certain that the
Peshwah will not remonstrate against my remaining in his
Highness's territories.

¢ Under these cireumstances I shall be glad to reccive
your Lordship's orders whether I am to withdraw from
the Marhatta territory, if I should receive through Licut.
Colonel Palmer a remonstrance from the Peshwah against
remaining longer within it.

¢ I have the honor to be, &e.
* Right Hon. Lord Clive.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEAR CoLoNEL, * Camp at Hoobly, 15th October, 1800.
* The cnclosed cxtracts of Licut. Colonel Palmer's dis-
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patches to Lord Wellesley, will show you that 1 was not
wrong in my conjecture respecting the unsteadiness and
duplicity of the Peshwah. Either we shall go to war in
grand style with the whole Marhatta nation, or I shall be
ordered to withdraw; and in my opinion the last will be
adopted. Licut. Colonel Palmer hints that T might remain
in the Marhatta territory, under a pretence of adjusting a
claim of a debt from the Rajah of Kolapoor; but, first, 1 do
not see what end that is to answer; secondly, it will be tan-
tamount to a declaration of war against the Peshwah, which
the measure is intended to avoid.

< It is evident that his Highness is as much averse to us
as he is to Scindiah ; that he has now some hopes of freeing
himself from the latter without our assistance, and without
being obliged to make the sacrifices which we require, and,
as Colonel Palmer truly says, it is the policy of Baajee
Rao to deceive every body.”

< I write to Webbe this day my opinion of the dispatches,
that orders will certainly come for me to withdraw ; that it
is better that I should withdraw immediately, as 1 shall
thereby have the whole fair scason before me for all that I
have to do.

¢ I think that, besides depriving Dhoondiah’s followers of
their arms and horses, they might for a time be under the
inspection of the municipality (to use a French phrase). 1
have long thought that it would be proper that orders should
be given throughout the Rajah’s country, that no man should
be suffered to pass on horseback, or with arms, through. or
near any village where there might be peons, without having
an order from some regular authority to move through the
country thus equipped. )

<I shall call for the Court Martial which you mention.
Colonel —— lately made a complaint of an Assistant
Surgeon, just arrived in the country, who dxsobc‘yc(]. his
orders. The young man was put in arrest, aut.l has since
thade the most ample apology. The Colun'el will not re-
ceive the apology, and I am about to send him an order to
join the army, to prosccute the Asaisu?nt Surgeon; so that
there is an end of his career for some time.

¢ I am in capital style here; I get as many bullocks as I
can want, arrack from Goa, and 1 am thcre;)y c;nablcd to

282



188 INDIA. 1800.

hand over to the detachments to be formed for the Ceded
districts the bullocks hired in Mysore, and the arrack on the
road from Madras. I still want the supplies of rice, which
they will get of course in the Ceded countries.
¢ Believe me, &ec.
¢ Licut. Colonel Close.' ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Closé.

¢ My peAR CoLONEL, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 26th Oet., 1800.

¢ I am rather anxious about money ; wherever I may go
I shall want some for December’s payment ; and 1 do not
see that any arrangement has been made by Webbe to pro-
vide for it, although it is impossible to adopt that which I
proposed, as the ships of war do not go to the Malabar
coast. One lack of pagodas ought to be sent to us by Golah
Peons as soon as possible.

¢ I mentioned the want of money in a letter to Lord Clive;
but I wish you would write to Webbe upon the subject.

¢ Believe me, &e.

* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Cluse.

« My peAr CoLontr, ¢ Camp at Hoobly, 28th Oct., 1500.

I received a letter from Webbe last night, dated the
20th, in which he informs me that the treaty with the Nizam
is concluded; and he proposes that I should make my
arrangements immediately for taking possession of the
territory ceded to us. I, therefore, march tomorrow with
iy whole force towards Savanore, from whence I shall send
a detachment directly to Harponelly if the Toombuddra
should be fordable ; if it should not be so, the detachment
must go round by Hurryhur.

* My reasons for moving to Savanore, and there to await
the further orders of Government with the remainder of the
army. are as follows :—

It is clear, from Coloncl Palmer's dispatches, that the
Peshwah is not less adverse to us than he is to Scindiah, and
that he has some hopes of being freced from the latter
without our assistance. He has hitherto made no objections
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to our remaining in his territory, and it is probable that he
will make none, as long as he thinks that we are sufficiently
strong to keep in check Scindiah’s army to the southward of
the Kistna; but as soon as we begin to weaken ourselves,
it is probable not only that he will desire that I may with-
draw, but that he will order some of his officers on this
frontier to see that his wishes in this respect are complied
with. I shall then be in an awkward situation, with an
army unequal to offence, very forward in the Marhatta ter-
ritory ; and, after having overrun the country, I shall be
obliged to sneak out of it.—That will not answer.

< If Lord Wellesley proposes that I should remain in the
Marhatta territory, notwithstanding the contents of fhe
dispatches which T sent to you, I shall be better placed at
Savanore than herc for collecting again; and on the other
hand, if he proposes that I should withdraw cntirely. 1 shall
be so much nearer our other objects.

« Whether I detach from hence and remain here with the
main body, or go to Savanore and detach from thence, my
allies will be equally convinced that there is no intention to
interfere in their affairs.  Upon the whole then, in some
points of view, it is better that I should go to Savanore, and
in others it is cqual; and, as 1 think I shall be there in
greater safety, I move that way.

<1 yesterday ordered the Rajah's cavalry to ITurryhur
from Rance Bednore. I shall he obliged to you if you will
request Purneah to allow it to remain at Hurryhur till it is
decided what is to be done in this country. As soon as 1
receive a copy of the treaty, or information respecting the
countries ceded to us. I proposc to order the Nundydroog
detachment forward as you wished.

¢ Believe me, &ec.
« Lieut. Colonel Close.’ « ARTUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wetlesley to Lieut. Colunel Close.

« My peArR COLONEL, « Camp at Hoobly, :{mh Oct, Isqo.
<1 am detained here by the rain, which is violent a‘.‘-d in-
cessant. Munro will not be at Hurryhur before the 7th of
November at soonest ; and if the rains extend to the Bednore
country, not so soon. I will contrive to have a detachment



190 INDIA. 1800.

across the Toombuddra before that time, if it should become
at all practicable to move.

«T have written to Colonel Harcourt again about his
dubash, and I expect good consequences from his receipt of
this last letter; I have also written to Gordon respecting
victualling the troops, and I have desired him to send into
the Carnatic immediately the Madras conicopoly belonging
sto the Madras Provision Department, heretofore attached
to the five companies of the 12th regiment. As soon as I
receive from Mr. Gordon his answer to my letter, requiring
the reason for which he did not victual this corps on its
march to Cannanore as I ordered, I shall issue the order
which you proposed in your letter of the 24th, or even one
much stronger if T should find that in truth the dubash
drove away Mr. Gordon's people—This I now suspect to be
the casc.

¢ My allies are much dejected upon receiving information
of my intention to withdraw. They, however, propose to
exert themselves in their own defence, to which I have
strongly urged them. It will be a great object gained, if
Scindiah is veally obliged to go to Hindustan, to prevent
him from extending and establishing himself to the south-
ward before he takes his departure.  In this view only does
it appear to me at all desirable, that I should remain within
the Marhatta territory.

“ The allies have again returned to the proposition which
they made to me some time ago, to allow them an asylum
for their families in the territories of the Company or of the
Rajuh, only that they have stated precisely their wishes.

* They desire to be allowed to place their families in one of
the places mentioned in the enclosed paper, and that Pur-
neah should employ one of them, or one of their dependants,
as the aumil of the district, for the revenue of which they
would be answerable, and allow them to have their tannah in
the place; if Purncah should object to giving them the ma-
nagement of the district in which he may allow their families
to remain, they request that he will at least allow them to
have their own people and peons in the place; and if he
should object to that, they beg to have an asylum in any one
of these places upon an assurance of protection.  If it should
not be convenient to Purncah that they should inhabit any
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onc of thege Places_. they request that he will appoint any
other for their residence which shall be contiguous to the
Marhatta frontier.

‘ T].xe (?nly reason \Yhy they wish to have the amildary of
the district, and their own people in the fort with them,
appears to be the fears which their women and families will
have among strangers, particularly Europcans. 1 acknow-
ledge that I am very anxious that they should be gratified
to the fullest extent of their wishes; and I shall be obliged
to you if you will mention the subject to Purneah, if you do
not sce any impropriety in their requests.

¢ The families which will come to us will be that of Appah
Saheb and his brothers, that of Chintomeney Rao, of Ball
Kistna Bhow, and probably those of some of their de-
pendants.

« If Purneah should have no objection to allowing them to
hold the amildary of the district immediately contiguous to
the fort, which he might allow them to inhabit, I will inquire
{from them the name of the person into whose hands they
may wish it should be placed.

¢ I have spoken to Mackay respecting the receipt for the
young bullocks. He takes them on his returns as reccived
from you, and will send you a receipt for them by this
day’s post.

< Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close? ¢ Artiiur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

‘ My prar CoLoNEL, ¢ Camp at Misserycotta, 31st Qct,, 1800,

 Since I wrote to you yesterday 1 have received Ford
Clive’s orders of the 24th to enter the C'eded countries \vit.h
my whole force. The intention is, 1 imagine, to keep it
together till orders are received from Bengal consequent to
Palmer’s dispatches, which I sent you; and 1 l)(:!u-\'c. that
hereafter, if there is no objection from Bengal, it will be
broke up, and a part will operate to the wcstwa}rd.

« I marched this morning, but only a short distance. The

weather still threatening. « Believe me, &c
clieve me, &e.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. « ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My peEar COLONEL, ¢ Camp at Misserycotta, 15t Nov., 1800,

< I received last night your letter of the 25th October; I
am detained here by the rain.

«1 do not propose to enter the Ceded districts by Mysore;;
but I assure you that my numcrous followers are in such
order that I might venture to produce them any where. We
were a month at Hoobly ; and the grain fields in the middle
of the camp were not touched, and the people in the neigh-
bormg villages sent to tell me that the safeguards which I
“had given them upon my arrival there were no longer neces-
sary. Lieut. Colonel Mackay will enter Harponelly from
Hurryhur, cither with Munro, or immediately after him. 1
shall enter that provinee to the northward with the army, if
it should be possible to cross the Toombuddra below the
junetion of that river with the Werdah. If that should not
be possible, I shall continue my march along the left bank of
the Toombuddra as far as opposite Adoni; as I conceive it
to be of the first importance that a strong corps should be in
the centre of the Ceded districts as soon as possible, and

Colonel Mackay and Munro will be able to settle the pro-
vinces of Harponelly and Anagoondy most probably without

my assistance. 1t will be hard indeed if the Toombuddra

should not be fordable by the time that T shall arrive oppo-
site Adoni.

Lord Clive has desired me to join ——— to
this army, and not to detach him on any account whatever.
I have therefore ordered him direct from Chittledroog to
Anagoondy, where I may expect to be: if I should be
obliged to march along the left bank of the river, he must
proceed along the right bank of it.

¢ I have not desired him to take any measures for settling
the country as he comes along, but have merely apprized
him that he will pass through a strange country, and have
desired him to be upon his guard. .

<I am obliged to you for your information regarding the
Ceded countries; 1 applied to for some, having
understood that his attention for the last years of his life has
been entirely taken up by inquiries into and surveys of those
very countrics. In answer to my application he proposes

-
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that 1 shfmld. send him a map of my marches, and all the
geograpyucal information which I have received from Bom
bay (whxch: by-the-bye, is nothing less than true); and h‘;
then promises to make a map of the whole. Into this he
will most probab!y insert the result of his own dreams.

‘You some time ago wrote to me about cmploying
of the Bombay ecnginecers on the survey of
Soonda ; and having desired that gentleman to undertake
it, he has desired to have an order which would authorize
him to draw surveyor's allowances while employed on the
work. Upon this subjcct I wish to have your sentiments.

¢ Surveyor’'s allowances given to a man till he completes a ~
survey are an encouragement to delay ; and to tell you the
truth, I am rather anxious that this gentleman should be
employed as an engincer in the repair and improvement of
the fort of Hullihall. For these he has given a plan which I
have already submitted to the Military Board, and during
the time that they will take to decide upon carrying it into
excecution, I have desired — to make the survey
of Soonda.

¢ My idea is to order him surveyor’s allowances during the
time that he may be employcd on the survey ; and to inform
him that I shall order him from the survey as soon as the
Military Board shall have decided upon his plan for the
reform and repair of the works at Hullihall.

¢ Do you think that this will answer?
¢ You will have heard from Webbe that I am to have the

money in Canara. I shall send back Bistna Punt, peons,
&c. Would not you wish that some person should remain

here in charge of the Amrut Mahal?
¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close.
rder which I have given respect-
f that respecting the cmploy-
ment of sepoys to seize sheep. It will be nccessary that

Purncah should give orders throughout the country to
supply sheep upon these receipts whenever they may be

required.’

<1 enclose a copy of the o
ing ——: also one ©

SUP. VOL.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp, 13th November, 1800, ten miles

“My prar CoLongL, south of Copaul.

¢ Qur tappall Brahmin has written to Appah to desire
that peons may be posted up to Anagoondy from Chittledroog
for the use of the army. As soon asI arrive at Anagoondy,
and find that these peons are posted, I propose to take off
those which I have now upon the road from Chittledroog by
Hurryhur and Savanore.

< Hercafter I propose that Munro should run a tappall
from Chittledroog by Rydroog into the Ceded distriets;
T write to him upon this subject. DBut in the mean time it is
desirable that until that tappall can be arranged, and until I
get more forward into the Ceded districts, the peons should
be posted direct to Anagoondy as I have above pointed out.

¢ I have settled with the Amrut Mahal man to get sheep
from Mysore, until we can ascertain the state of our supplies
in the Ceded countries.

¢ Bistna Punt did not join from Hoobly till we had got so
far as to render it advisable that he should return to Mysore
through the Ceded districts. There are hopes that the river
will be fordable in a day or two, and he shall go off the mo-
ment he can cross.

¢« Believe me, &e.
¢ Lient. Colonel Close. <« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.

¢ Camp, 10 miles south of Copaul,

« My prar Corongt, 16th November, 1800.

¢I have reccived the orders of Government to break up
the army, to send a detachment into the Ceded countries, to
prepare one for Wynaad, and to proceed myself to holda con-
ference with the Admiral upon some proposed arrangements.
I shall have scttled every thing to-morrow, preparatory te
breaking up the army, and 1 shall set out immediately for
Seringapatam, leaving the troops to follow me.

¢ Colonel Moncypenny stays in the Ceded districts, with
the 25th, 1st, and 4th regiments of cavalry, the 73rd, 2nd,
dth, Ist, and 12th.
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« I shall be at Seringapatam, I hope, b 27
3 , by the 26th or 27th.
I shall proceed by Hurryhur, Hooly Honore, and rChi‘na.
patam. :
+ General Dugald Campbell commands in the Ceded dis-
tricts.
‘ Believe me, &e.

« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
« My pEAR CoLONEL, « Anajee, in Mysore, 20th Nov., 1800.

< T have just reccived your letter of the 16th. 1 had be-
fore written to the Commissioners, to desire that they would
send Yeman Nair to Seringapatam, and that they would
address him to you, as I thought it probable that 1 should
be absent when he would arrive.

« I shall be at Seringapatam by the 27th or 26th, and will
talk over with you then the other points in your letter of the
16th. I have pressed Webbe hard to be allowed to conduct
the Wynaad expedition, and that arrangements should be
adopted to render wy journcy to the Carnatic, and my ab-
sence from Mysore, as short as possible.

< Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. < ARTIUR WELLESLEY.

¢ Colonel appears to have mistaken the troops of
Cummer oo Deen for the garrison of Gurrumconda. I have
desired him to try to get into the fort at all events; andif the
Killadar refuses to give him possession, to threaten him with
the resentment of the Nizam, and with the responsibility for
all the evil consequences of his disobedicnce of his master’s
orders. If he still holds out, arrangements must be made
to get the place by force; have it we must, and that
specdily.”

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesiey to the Chief Secretary of Gorernment,
Fort St. George.

‘.Sln + Santa Bednore, 21st November, 1800.
<In consequence of the orders of the Right Hon. the
Governor in Council, of the 9th instant, I broke up the
16th, on the banks of the Toombuddra, and
for providing a force

2¢2

army on the
made arrangements, as stated hereafter,
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for the Ceded districts, and one for the proposed service i
the Malabar.

¢ Isent into the Ceded districts, under the orders of Lieu,
Colonel Moneypenny, the 25th dragoons, the 1st and 4ty
regiments of native cavalry, the 73rd regiment, the 2nd of
the 4th, and st and 12th native infantry, with six field
Picces, besides the cavalry guns.

‘I made a requisition upon Lieut. Colonel Bowser, who
was still in the Dooab, for two battalions of native infantry.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Mackay has taken possession of Harpo-

nelly, and is now, with the corps under his command, on his
march to Rydroog, to get possession of that fort. Major
Munro is with Licut. Colonel Mackay.

¢ Before 1 had received his Lordship’s orders not to send
into the Ceded districts any part of the detachment which
has been hitherto in the ficld in the Nundydroog district, I
had desired Lieut. Colonel Cuppage to send a detachment
to take possession of the fort of Gurrumconda; and to post
the field detachment in the Pollams, between that fort and
Pennaconda. This arrangement appeared likely to be of
service both to the territory of the Company and of the
Rajah. T was in hopes that it was carricd into exccution
when I had received his Lordship’s orders, and 1 therefore
did not countermand it. 1 have since received a letter from
Lieut. Colonel Cuppage, from which it appears that the
troops in the service of the late Cummer oo Deen and of his
son, had mutinicd, and were disposed to plunder the country.
Licut. Colonel Cuppage likewise mentions that the troops
in the fort of Gurrumconda had mutinied, and he did not
believe that they would allow the fort to be delivered over
to the Company’s troops. The troops within the fort are
in the service of the Nizam.

¢ Under these circumstances, I have considered it of the
first importance to endeavor to get possession of the fort
without loss of time, lest the troops of the Nizam and of
Cummer oo Deen should co-operate to keep it from us: andy
notwithstanding his Lordship’s orders, I have desired Licut.
Colonel Cuppage to urge the killadar in the strongest
manner to give him up the fort, to threaten him with the
resentment of the Nizam, and with the responsibility for all
the evil consequences which are likely to result from his
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retaining possession after he had received th .
employer to deliver the fort to the Comp any,set:;(;e:s of his

<1 have desired Lieut. Colonel Moneypenn P
y to cross the

Toombuddra at the Untoor ghaut, below Anagoondy
proceed by Bellary to Adoni, of which place ang oi“\ (3:‘ o
heis to take possession. He has not got from the \00“('1
aumil the orders to the killadars of Bellary and of. G(l:)?.
to deliver to him the possession of those forts, and i; is r};
bable he will not receive the orders for some time: I ﬂ’m
therefore desired him mnot to delay at Bellary, but.to pro-
cced with expedition to Adoni, for the delivery of which
place he has an order.

‘1 !mve supplied Licut. Colonel Moneypenny with rice.
provisions, arrack for 50 days, bullocks and military stores,
and money. I have arranged a communication between his
detachment and Myscre, by way of Rydroog, by means of
which I propose to supply him with arrack, rice, and bul-
Jocks, until Major Gencral Campbell shall have arranged a
communication with Madras, from whence he must draw the
former, and shall have brought forward the resources of the

teded districts in the two latter. I have ordered into the
Ceded districts immediately for the use of the troops 50,000
pagodas, in charge of Licut. Read, whom I have appointed
Mr. Gordon’s Deputy Paymaster in those countries. This
afficer has lately done the duty of Paymaster at Scringapa-
tam, and is strongly rccommended by Mr. Gordon.

¢ The remainder of the army is now crossing the Toom-
buddra, and will march to Seringapatam immediately. 1
hope to arrive at that place on the 29th, and I shall make
all the arrangcments preparatory to the expedition to the
westward.

<1 have the honor to be, &e.
¢ The Chief Sec. of Govern.' <« ARTIIUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Licut. Colonel Close.
<« My pEAR COLONEL, ¢ Vencaty Gherry, 9th December, 1800.
¢I hear from camp that the followers arc going on but
badly ; and a8 intelligence to a similar purport may have
reached you, I write to inform you, that‘l have given a
strong hint to Colonel Pater upon the subject, and I hope
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that after he shall have received my letter there will be no
further reason for complaint.

¢ Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

< T have this instant heard from Colonel Moneypenny, who
had arrived, and got possession of, Bellary. He was going
to Gooty, all quiet, but the Nizam’s horse are going about
the country squcezing what they can get. Colonel Money-
penny has sent to Chittledroog the prisoners belonging to
Mysore, taken by Colonel Bowser in the Dooab after the
battle of the 10th of September. I spoke to you about them
on the 29th.

<1 have written to the commanding officer at Chittle-
droog, to desire that he will take charge of them on their
arrival, and that he will subsist them at the usual rate (viz.,
one single fanam per diem), till he hears from you regarding
them. You will probably wish that they should be delivered
over to the amildar, and that some examination of them
should be made before they are finally discharged. At all
cvents, make known your wishes to the commanding officer
at Chittledroog.’

Colonel the Hon., A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

* My pear Corongt, ¢ Trincomalee, 30th December, 1800.

¢ Since my arrival here T have received a letter from Lord
Wellesley, in which he talks of going through Mysore in the
next season, in execution of a plan which I proposed to him,
in consequence of a letter which I received from him in No-
vember, in which he started this notion.

He proposes to inhabit the Dowlut Baug at Seringa-
patam, and the palace at Bangalore; and although I think
it very probable that the plan will never be put in execution,
I shall be obliged to you if you will now and then take a
look at my house, and urge forward the painting of it: and
Lord Wellesley has desired me to request that you will havee
the palacc at Bangalore put in a state to receive him.

* The Admiral is not here, and I can tell you nothing of
our future plans.
¢ Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEAR CoLONEL, ) “ Trincomalee, 8th February, 1501,
< I only yesterday reccived your let )

. y ter of the 25th of De-
cember, which Webbe had kept, I imagine, till he was ce
tain that I had not left this place. By the s;mc op ortll:‘.'t -
I received a letter from Colonel Stevenson of thg,lﬁthlo);‘
January, by whicl} I learn, with great satisfaction, that mat-
ters are going on in Wynaad in the most prosperous manner,
and that there was every reason to hope at that time that
they would be brf)ught to the issuc for which we all wish,
before the conclusion of the fair scason. How much I lament ,
that I ha.v.e n(?t hm‘l the conduct of the operations which have
led to this situation of affairs! But it is useless to regret
what cannot now be remedied.

<The expected call has at last been made for the co-ope-

ration of a force from India in an attack upon the French in
Egypt from the Mediterrancan by Sir Ralph Abereromby’s
ariny. The force called for is much smaller in Furopean
troops than that which is now collected here ; and it is pro-
posed by Mr. Dundas that it should be joined by a regiment
from the Cape of Good Hope. 1 judge. however, that the
ships in which these last were to sail from the Cape, would
not leave England till the beginning of November; and if
the commanding officer of the squadron pursucs what is
called the shortest route along the coast of Africa, he will
reach the mouth of the Red Seca at Midsummer. In any
event, by the other route he must come to India, he will not
reach the Straits of Babelmandel till the season most favor-
able for a voyage up the Red Sea will have gone by, Under
these circumstances, I shall have to dapend only upon what

1 bring with me from India. T shall leave this place ina
few days, and proccc(l to Bombay to take in somc'pr(msxmm,
as the troops have been obliged to live upon their sea stock

at this place for the last two months. I shall call upon the
coast of Malabar, at Calicut, and Cannanore, where T shall

hear of you, though 1 am afraid not from you. lf. however,

you should write to me, and desire Colonel Sartorius to for~

ward your letter to Bombay. in casc the fleet should have

passed Cannanore, I shall reccive if. . .

« T am not without hopes that I shall be relieved froin "I"b
command, and that I shall soon return to my old situation.
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Lord Wellesley, in a late letter, proposes this measure, and
I assure you that I shall receive my successor with great
satisfaction.

¢ I am sorry to see that General —— did mischief to the
country ; I suspected something of the kind, when I read
General Braithwaite's order.

<1 observe that Mofuhkar ool Dowlah is ambassador to
Poonah; and, by a late letter from Tom Sydenham, there
appears some chance of settling our matters with that court.
However, I am afraid of the ambassador's temper with the
Brahmins; but if he should adopt the interest of the Pesh-
wah as that of his employers, as is the case sometimes, there
is no doubt but that he will bring all matters to bear.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ArTnur WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to the Hon. the Governor of Bombay.

¢ SIR, ¢ Bombay, 13th April, 1801,

¢ I have the honor to inform you that all the ships having
troops on board, which 1 have expected at this place, have
arrived, received their provisions, water, &e., and have sailed
towards the place of their ultimate destination, excepting
one ship, the Maria Louisa, from which the troops have been
removed, and in which it is proposed to send to the Red Sea
provisions, and water, and forage for the cattle. She will be
ready to sail in the course of a few days.

¢ As I commanded the expedition when it came here, and
as all the ships have been revietualled in consequence of
requisitions made by me, and I have had the best and most
frequent opportunities of observing the manner in which the
business was conducted by Captain Moor, it is but justice
to him to represent to you that some of the ships were com-
pletely refitted, took in ballast, and received three months’
water and provisions for their crews and the troops embarked
in them, and sailed in four days after they arrived; that five
ships, which have been added to the armament from this port,
since my arrival, were equipped with six months’ provisions,
&e., and the troops embarked in five days after the requisi-
tion was made for them; and that, in short, the whole busi-
ness has been conducted with regularity and rapidity, and
satisfaction to myself, and to all the parties concerned. As
Captain Moor was the only person concerned in making the
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arrangements and conducting the details of the service, 1
cannot but attribute to him all the merit; and I thcrefc;rc
beg leave to recommend him to your notice, and to your
favorable report of his exertions to the Governor General.
< Believe me, &ec.
¢ Hon. the Governor of Bombay.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEAR CoLONEL, « Seringapatam, 1st June, 1801.

«I have commenced the examination with the complaint
from the store department, which you mentioned to me some
time ago. 'The Lascars, &c., denied any knowledge of tlie
letter and petition which had been sent to Madras; and
when questioned as to the particular gricvances alleged in
the different paragraphs, they denied that they existed.
They said that they had claims upon the Company for the
amount of family certificates which had been unpaid, but
that they did not believe that —'s dubash had received
the money from the Pay Office. The day before 1 com-
meneed the inquiry I ordered — to dismiss the dubash
from his service, and from all interference in the store
department; and his housc was searched, his doors were
scaled, and a sentry was placed over the house to prevent
the removal of property. But still if there was any real
ground for complaint, his influence over the people was suffi-
ciently strong to prevent it from coming out.. I have ap-
pointed Wednesday for continuing the inquiry into the state
of the family certificates, and I did every thmg in my power
to encourage the people to come forward with their com-
plaints, if they had any, on that day. .

« 1 have besides published a proclamation, in which I have
called upon all persons who have purchased stores to comc
forward and statc from whom they have purchased them ;
and I have promised that no injury shall b'e done to those
who come forward voluntarily to make a discovery ; but I
have stated that those who do not discover, and who ?hall be
found to have purchased stores, shall be punished. The con-
sequence is, that I understand that several people have come
forward, and have disclosed some valuable secrets ; among
others, one man has stated that he bought from Colonel

SUP. VOL. 2o
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» * ¥ between three and four hundred maunds of salt.
petre. You shall hear more upon this subject as we go on.

< Lord Clive has consented to my plan for filling the ditch,
and I shall begin that work as soon as Heitland arrives, which
will be, I believe, on the 3rd of June. I spoke to Purneah
this morning, and he said that he could furnish any number
of cammaties we might want without injury to the country,
as in reality the people werc without employment.- I have
therefore asked now for five hundred, and if I find that
Heitland arranges the work well I shall call for more. I shall
settle with Butcha Rao the most convenient mode of paying
these people, working them, &c.

¢ Purneah has asked me for another gun, which is the fourth
I shall have given him. Send me a requisition for a six-
pounder, its carriage and limber, and ammunition in the
limber box. As the carriage is old, it would probably be
better for Purncah if he borrowed it only at present, and if
he got a gun only. Gordon will hereafter give him an ex-
ccllent new carriage and limber.  However, let that be as
you please.

<1 am glad to hear that you are better, but I hope that
youn will go to Madras.

« I swear in Captain Symonds on Tuesday.

¢ Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

<P.S. I have been obliged to alter the disposition I had
made of the cavalry, and to send the 2nd regiment to Arcot,
and keep the 5th regiment in this country. The General
represented to Lord Clive that if the 5th regiment came it
would be obliged to return here soon to relieve the 2nd
which corps must go down to the Carnatie, and therefore it
was best to send down the latter alone. I have besides
received an official order through the Adjutant General's
Officc to send the 2nd.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 4th June, 1801.

¢ I have been so much taken up by the inquiry into the
complaints from the store department, that I have not had
time to write since I received your letter.
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« The result of the inquiry, so far as it has gone, is, tI
% * * {ook saltpetre from the godown and sold it ’at l\a't
house. 1 have sent the Commander in Chief & copy of :\\\s.
evidence against the Colonel, and I think that he will be n:t
in arrest forthwith. b
Our friend, the Commissary, has been guilty of making
-false musters, as appears in the clearest manner; and I have
therefore suspended him from his office, and 1 have appointed
Captain Browne, of the Bengal artillery, to take charge of
it. I am afraid, that besides -— will be found to

have been concerned in many, if not in all of the evil doings
of his dubash. ’

.o docs not appear to have been quite clear, and
I think that the dubash intends to tell the truth, and to
produce his books, from which he has already told us that he
will show that he had authority for all he has done from
. or from —————: the false musters clearly proved
and brought home to the Commissary could not be passed
over in my opinion, and T believe that upon the whole the
only chance has of saving his commission eventually
is to lose his office immediately.

¢ You cannot conceive what a scene of villany has come
out, almost the whole of it since 1 went to the ficld last ycar,
or when I was away with the army upon the former oc-
casion.

« I have given orders to have the sentry placed as you wish
at the Laal Baug.

< Believe me, &ec.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. « ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My peAR COLONEL, « Seringapatam, 6th June, 1801.
< Qur committee sit daily from nine till four and five, and
I have not therefore time to write much. o '
e ¢ has been guilty of an act of grcat'mdlscrcuon.
The dubash declared publicly before the Committee that he
had papers which would prove that all that he had donc was
:by order from the Commissaryor .« - - went
and broke open the desk, and took away those papers. We

have forced him, however, to restore some of thew, and they
202
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prove against him every thing thatisbad. . . . isnot
quite clear, and I think that he will be broke.

¢ I received your letter about the Koorg Rajah last night ;
and according to your wish I went out this morning to the
ground on which the ladies were encamped, under pretence
of taking leave of them, and mentioned the subject of your
letter to the vakeel. He said that he would say to the-
Rajah what I had desired him. .

¢I have recommended that Scott should be made Com-
missary at Seringapatamn, and Browne to act for him till he
returns from the service on which he is now employed.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ There is a report to the northward that Dhoondiah is
still alive, but there is no such report here. There is some
fellow collecting troops about Padshapoor.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close,

¢ My pear CoronrL, ¢ Seringapatam, 7th Junc, 1801.

¢ Captain Symonds has pressed me for an opinion regard-
ing the time to which the reference may be had for the deci-
sion of causes in his court. 1 wish to know what you think
upon this subject. I was formerly of opinion that it would °
be proper not to go farther back than the 4th of May, 1799;
but a better acquaintance with the subjects which will come
under discussion and for decision before Captain Symonds,
and a longer consideration of the question, have altered my
opinion upon it.

“ In the first place, almost all the disputes about property
had their origin before the place was stormed, when the
people had some property to dispute about. They are,
in general, cases of deposit of the following nature: a
moorman, in general, has borrowed from a shroff or chitty a
certain sum of money upon a pledge of jewels of a greater
value than the money which he reccived; the shroff or chitty
cither was or was not plundered (for it is by no means true
that they were all plundered) of his property, and pleads
that as an cxcuse for not paying his debt; on the other
hand, the chitty sometimes has the pledge, and knowing
that the moorman has no money, presses him for payment.
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This outline is that of nearly every case that is likely to
come.before C'a.pti-nn Symonds, and I acknowledge that I
conceive that justice will not be done if they are not de-
cided. Of course the storm of the 4th of May, 1799. must
always be taken into consideration in all questions of pro-
perty which arose prior to that day; and where it can be
clearly proved, or at least proved to the satisfaction of the
judge, that the debtor lost all hig property in the general
wreck, the debt must be a matter of composition, and time
must be given him for payment; but I acknowledge that I
think that to consider no question of property which arose
prior to the 4th of May, or, in other words, to take a sponge
and wipe away all debts and credits, would not be justice. -

< In the sccond place, there are some instances in Seringa-
patam of property having been plundered by natives from
natives, either on the 4th of May, or immediately previous
toit. In the last year I referred a case of this kind to be
decided by Ogg and Barclay, and Hubbeeb Oollah, and it
ended in a composition, and a bond from the plunderer for
the amount of the sum which it was fixed he should pay:
such cases cannot be decided, and no evidence of facts prior
to the 4th of May can be had recourse to, if questions which
arose prior to that period cannot be considered.

¢ Thirdly, I believe that it is contrary to the practice of all
nations to deprive the conquered of all right to property
which arose prior to the conquest; and yet this would be the
cffect of the limitation under discussion.

< Fourthly, the objcct of the limitation is only to save
trouble to the judge and his court; and as 1 have ul)ovc'
shown that injusticc must be the consequence, the value of
the object is not equal to the cvil which it will occasion.
These are my sentiments upon the subject, after having long
considered it, and I shall be obliged to you if you will let me
know what you think about it.

< Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close’ < ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

< My pear COLONEL, « Seringapatam, 9th June, 1801.
¢ Captain Symonds has mentioned to me, that dutics are
levied at the different chokeys close to the island upon goods
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coming to Secringapatam; and upon inquiry from Butcha
Rao 1 reccived from him a Marhatta paper, of which the
cnclosed is a translation. Probably you settled something.
upon the subject since my departure ; or if you have not, the
zcal of the amildars on the other side of the river may have
induced them to levy these duties without orders. At all
events, let me know your sentiments upon this subject. -

¢ We have nearly done with the Store Committee ;-nothing
can be so bad as , excepting .. ... .oand ****
To-morrow will be a most interesting day. The dubash is
to come forward with a general confession of all the villanies
in the Store Department since the capture of the place,

¢ 1 hope that you continue in good health.

¢ Believe me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoNkL, « Seringapatam, 11th June, 1801.

¢ The General Court Martial have closed their proceed-
ings, and have found Mr. guilty of only one of the
counts, upon which was founded the charge of ungentleman-
like behaviour, viz., that of beating Chunbuswah chitty ;
but although they have found him guilty of that charge,
they have honorably acquitted him of the charge of un-
gentleman-like behaviour.  They have found him guilty of
disobedience of the orders of the Commander in Chief for
this crime. They have sentenced the president to give him
a private reprimand. Of course I have sent the proceedings
to be revised ; but I do not expect much bencfit from the
revision. When they come to me again I shall send them
to the Commander in Chief, with my remarks upon them;
and I shall write you a public letter, in which I shall enclose
a copy of my letter to the Commander in Chief, and one of
the proceedings and sentence of the Court Martial.

¢ You will thus be cnabled to fight the battle against
Mr. by a complaint to Government of his conduct
on the part of the Rajal's Government, and the least that
can be done will be to remove him from this country with
disgrace.

I enclose the copy of a letter from Colonel M¢Alister
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upon the subject of the complaints made through Servitun
Rao. What shall be done upon this occasion ?

< Yesterday's proccedings of the Committee went more
against the Commissary than those of any other day. You
may recollect that I informed you that Roebuck’s house had
employed people to purchase old arms, locks, &c. &e. at
Seringapatam, and the steps that I took to put a stop to the
traficc. ————— was acquainted with the circumstance at
that time by myself, and was particularly warned to look
after his people. Notwithstanding this, hie sent off from the
arsenal seven bandies loaded with gun-locks as soon as 1
had turned my back io take the field with the army; and he
found out the people who were collecting old arms, seizeid
all they had collected for his own use. paid 45 pagodas for
what he seized, and never communicated to me, or to any
body, one word about the matter. He threw these arms,
locks, &c. into the arsenal, where they are at this moment.

< Besides this it has been proved that he has made
Purncah pay for a large part of the arms and stores which
have been issued to him upon your public requisition, and
by my authority or that of Colonel Stevenson.

<1 wish you would get from Purncah an account of all
the sums of money which he has paid to *  * *, and for
what.

T hope that we shall close our proccedings this day ; when
they arc closed they shall pass through your hands on_lhcir
way to the Military Board, as 1 judge that you will be
curious to peruse them.

¢ 1 enclose a letter which I have received from a lady; she
wishes to pass for the relation of Seid Ibrahim. I have told
her that I referred the letter to you, who are charged by
Government with the care of this family.

< Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

* < I have not got the paper from the relation of Scid Tbra-
him, but will send it tomorrow. ' c

¢ I have reccived the revised procccdlflg of the Court
Martial, which I shall send you also. -l he honambh.,- ac-
quittal is omitted; but the reprimand is to be public by
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myself; still I shall send the Court Martial to the Com-
mander in Chief’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 12th June, 1801.

<1 send herewith the proccedings of the Court Martial
and my letter to the Commander in Chief, and I beg that
you will send them forward when you shall have perused
them. Probably it would be most: proper to delay to send
you a copy of these papers till I shall have received the
Commander in Chief's answer; but if you should think
otherwise let me know it, and they shall be sent to you im-
mediately.

<1 have reccived your letter of the 10th, which I have
communicated to Captain Symonds, and in consequence he
begins his proccedings immediately.

¢ Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLonkL, * Seringapatam, 13th June, 1801.

* I have reccived your letter of the 11th of June, upon the
subject of the duties levied at the chokeys on the river side
by the Rajal’s amildars.

« I agree in opinion with you, that the price of all articles
has fallen considerably: I believe that the price of all the
necessaries of life, excepting firewood and timber for build-
ing, is lower at Seringapatam than it is in the largest part
of the territories under the Government of Fort St. George,
and there were no complaints of a rise in price of any
article in consequence of the levy of the dutics in question.

¢ The question, however, does not, in my opinion, rest
upon those grounds. The Government were very anxious
that the article should be inscrted in the treaty which
prevents the levy of duties upon goods coming to Seringa-
patam; and I think that both parties will eventually derive
more benefit from a strict observance of it, than either could
derive from a partial departure from it upon the present
occasion.
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< In the conversations which you and I had upon this
subject heretofore, it appeared that the object was, that
Serimgapatam should have all the benefit of the ttes.{y' at

the same t'\.me,.t\\at care was taken that the Rajah should
not suffer in his revenues by an abuse of the exemption in
favor of that. placc:, by the general class of dealers in
Mysore. With this view, it was settled that no dutics
should be levied upon goods coming to-Seringapatam nearer
than thirty or forty miles; and, that the duties at the
chokeys at that distance should continue at the rate at
which they were at the time that we had that conversation.
I was furnished at that time with a statement of the rates of
the duties paid at places at that distance. This arrange-
ment was made to avoid one of two evils which the Rajah’s
country would experience from the operation of the treaty.
One was, that all dealers passing through his country would
say that they were coming to Seringapatam, which would
have occasioned perpetual disputes and inconveniences.
The other was a remedy for the first, viz., to give to dealers
really belonging to Scringapatam passports, of which it was
feared that they would take advantage to oppress the
country. There was besides an apprehension of other evils
from placing the issuc of these passports in the hands of the
commanding officer.

< What is the object proposed in altering this arrange-
ment? Ido not sce any, excepting to add to the Rajah’s
revenues what he could collect upon the consumption of
Seringapatam, and I do not think that it will at all compen-
sate for the evil to both parties of the smallest departure
from the treaty. What has happened alrcady shows the
necessity .of adhering to it strictly. Purncah, with the l')(‘ﬁt
intentions, levied dutics upon all articles of cons_un)ptmn,
excepting on some kinds of grain ; and although it is true
that no inconvenience has been felt from the levy of those
duties, it cannot be argucd that none would ever have be'cn
folt from the exercise of the right to increase them, which
certainly results from the exercise of that of laying them on
at all. . . 3

¢ In writing my opinion upon this subject, I doit as an in-
dividual much interested in the Rajah’s prosperity; the
decision upon it rests with you. In the same manncr 1

SUP. VOL. 2e
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shall tell you what I think regarding the continuance of the
Rajah’s duty upon beetle and tobacco, supposing that you
should be of opinion that it is proper that any duties should
be levied by his amildars upon goods coming to Seringa.
patam.

¢ The Company, for certain reasons, think it proper to
raise a revenue from the island of Seringapatam; the
reasons are, to pay the expense of a court of justice there
established. This certainly must be supposed to be a benefit
to the inhabitants, and as such it is reasonable that they
should pay for it.

¢ You are of opinion that if the Company’s farm of beetle
and tobacco is to last, the Rajah’s duties ought to continue,
otherwise that the Company’s profit from the farm would he
so much out of the Rajah’s pocket. In the first place, the
Rajah by treaty ought to levy no dutics upon the consump-
tion of Scringapatam; and if it were true that he would lose
all that the Company would gain, he must attribute the loss
to the treaty, and not to the Company’s farm or their col-
lector. In the next place, supposing that you should deter-
mine that the Rajah should continue to levy the dutics, there
is no reason why the collector should not continue his farm,
which (by-the-bye) was established during the existence of.
the Rajal's duties. What is the consequence? By this ar-
rangement the inhabitants of Scringapatam and the troops
would pay two duties upon the consumption of their articles
instcad of one, viz. onc to the Rajah, the other to the Com-
pany.

“As the collector may find it necessary, or may think it
proper to raisc revenue from many articles of consumption,
besides those already farmed out (and it may be depended
upon that the Board of Revenue will stimulate him to levy
all he can), it becomes of still more importance to Seringa-
patam than it has been hitherto, that the treaty should not
be departed from, at least that it should not be departed
from in a greater degree than you settled that it should ih
our former conversations upon this subject.

‘ I'omitted to tell you that a man had come here from
Baba Saheb, and from Ball Kishna Bhow; I will send you
tomorrow the purport of his conversation. It was upon the
old subject,—their desire that we should join them in an
attack upon the Rajah of Kolapoor, &e.
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« Our Committee has finished its proceedi
to set;ld tgem og' tIhi;;iay. If they dl; go?ei(th:h?l.l ;ﬁ]{rz‘:gﬁ

our hands, and I shall be obliged to if v R
zhem without delay. ged to youif you will forward
< Believe me, &e.
¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEAR COLONEL, * Seringapatam, 15th June, 1801.

« I have received your letter of the 13th; we have all suf
fered from a want of water lately, as the repair of the aque-
duct is not yet completed, and it will take some days still.
When that is finished, and, indeed, sooner, if a sufficiency of
water comes into the nullah, 1 will take care that your gar-
den shall not want. The nullah, when completed, will be
put under Symonds ; and I propose to give out an order,
and to publish a proclamation to forbid that any mound
should be built up in it by any body. Thus cvery body will
have his share. 1 go to the Laal Baug occasionally. to see
how they are going on, and I will take care that the place
shall not suffer by your absence.

¢ I enclose a memorandum of the conversation with the
Marhatta Vakeel, which was drawn up by Ogg, and is nearly
word for word accurate.

¢« The Military Board permitted some time ago that 1
should give Purncah the three or four clephants which he
lately returned to the karkana, under an idea that they
had only been lent to him. If Purncah wants them, he shall
have them, but I shall be glad to give onc of them to Bisna-
pah. He has a kind of claim upon me for an clephant,
which Govind Rao’s party took during the campaign, and
which I bought for the Company for 200 pagodas. I could
not give him this clephant without making a reference to
Government, and should be glad to give him onc of those
which the Military Board permittcd me to give to Purneah,
provided he has no objection.

< Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

« T have just returned from viewing our great work, and

you cannot conceive how fincly we get on. I expect that

we shall have made great progress before you rc&turnz.'
2

« Lteut. Colonel Close.
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Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 16th June, 1801,

< Futteh Aly, the son of Ibrahim Saheb, has been missing
since yesterday morning; he lived in a house with his mo-
ther, with the young Savanore Nabob, and it seems that he
has lately shown symptoms of insanity, and showed disin-
clination to go to Vellore, lest he should be obliged to live
in the house with his father.

< Butcha Rao has people locking out for him in all quar-
ters, and I have little doubt but that we shall find him.

< Believe me, &c.
¢ Licut. Colone! Close.' ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon, A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pear CoLoNEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 18th June, 1801.

« I send you a supplement to the proceedings of the Com-
mittee, and I beg you to forward it to the Military Board
as soon as you shall have perused it.

¢ At this mecting matters come out much worse than any
that have yet appeared. * * * knew of —'s robbery, and
participated in it. The transaction stood thus: —, as
President of the Committee, sent the saltpetre from the
godown to the stores, and daily got the receipts of the Com-
missary for the quantity sent. When the saltpetre was all
weighed and sent to the stores, and given in charge to the
Commissary, * * * returned to —— his receipts for 320 can-
dies, for which receipts * * * paid him about 950 pagodas, or
about three pagodas per candy. This saltpetre is still in the
stores, and is over and above the quantity on the books, for
which receipts remain in the hands of the Committee for
the valuation of the prize property; and it was ——'s inten-
tion to sell it when a fair opportunity should offer.

¢ This is besides the positive robbery by *  * of the quan-
tity reported in the proceedings of the Committee, which
you have already seen. .

¢ Believe me, &c.

¢ Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

¢ Futteh Aly is not yet found. It appears that he was
much enamoured of one of the Koorg Rajah’s sisters, and it
is supposed that he is gone afier her.’
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Colonel the Hon, 4. Wdluley to Lieut. Colonel Cloge.
“ My pEar CoLonkr,

“ Since I wrote to you last,
occurred here.

¢ Major Parkinson was ordered by the General to leave
at Bangalore his sick officers and men, and a small detach-
ment to take care of the buildings. I do not know what he
has done in consequence of this order; indced I have not yet
heard that he has marched. If he should not have left a
Captain at Bangalore, I shall be obliged to you to let me
know whom you wish that I should send there.

¢ I received orders from Government last night to send
the pioneers to the southward, and to stop our great work at
this place. I have written to Wilkes, however, and I hope
to be permitted to recommence it under Mr. Warren. 1
refer you to my letter to Captain Wilkes upon this subject.

‘I am glad to find that you are recovering. I am still
very well.  Our winds are very sharp and boisterous, but
at the same time dry. ‘The people of the country complain
that there is a want of rain.

« Believe me, &e.
* Lieut, Colonel Close.  ArTiur WELLESLEY.

¢ Beringapatam, gnd July, 1801,
nothing extraordinary has

1 refer you to a letter which I wrote to Government on
the 30th, for a statement of the arrangements made for
carrying on the work at the ditch; and to one which I sent
yesterday to Government from Colonel Stevenson, for the
news from Malabar.’

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My pEAR COLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 7th July, 1801.

1 send you a letter from the General upon the subject
of Mr. s Court Martial, and one from the Judge Ad-
vocate. T likewise send you a copy of my letter to the
‘General upon this subjeet, and of the order which I proposc
to issue. Be so kind as to kecp these papers, as I shall
refer to them all in a public letter which I'shall write to you
as soon as I shalt have closed this transaction.

1 do not agrce in the General's notion, that because the

Court Martial have thought proper to acquit Mr. —,
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against the evidence, it is not in the power of Government to
mark his conduct by their disapprobation. But whatever
may be their opinion upon that subject, it is absolutely ne-
cessary that Mr. —— should be removed from this country.

I likewise enclose a letter from * * *, and one from
Servitun Rao. By the latter it appears very clearly that the
complaint was well founded, and so I have observed to
* * * You will be the best judge whether, after what has
happened, and considering the temper in which * * * is, and
the probability that it will also pervade the Court Martial,
it will not be best to reprimand the naig and the conicoply,
and order them to be dismissed from the guard. Let me
know your wishes upon this point. If they are to be tried,
Servitun Rao must be ordered again to send the people
who can give evidence upon this subject.

¢ The river has risen to a greater height than it has been
known to rise to for some time. It has in consequence de-
stroyed the glacis on the southern face of the low outwork
in the fausse braie, which flanks our breach, and I am afraid
that that outwork will likewise go, if the river does not soon
fall. Tt has also destroyed the sluices in the northern glacis.

¢ If Government do not soon determine to commence in
carnest a repair of this fort, the expense will be saved, as .
there will be no fort to repair.  Between the river on one
side, and the weather on the other, the whole is crumbling
to picees, and nothing can save it but a speedy repair. I am
convinced that onc lac of pagodas, which could not be laid
out in less than two years, would complete it. Literally
nothing has been done to the fort since we came into it, ex-
cepting to repair part of the breach over which our troops
marched. I say only part of it, as it is at this moment just
as easy to get in at the western bastion, and indeed all along
the southern face, as it was to get into the main breach, on
the day the fort was stormed. I shall of course report these
late disasters, as soon as the river shall fall sufficiently low
to allow me to ascertain their extent: but I acknowledge
am tired of reporting where no remedy is applied.

¢ Believe me, &c.

*Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonsl Close.

. My DEAR COLONEL, ¢ Seringapatam, 10th July, 1801,
« My last letter will have pointed out to you what I had
done in consequence of the refusal of the Commander in
Chief to interfere in the case of Mr. ——, and what 1
posed to do hereafter. ' wres

‘1 ha..ve a\\ﬁ.cipated your wishes respeeting the dubash,
and he is, 1 \?elxeve: at !lus moment before a native General
Court 'Ma.rtxa! which is sitting. 1 shall send you a copy
of the proceedings on his trial with the other papers.

< The General's conduct upon this occasion is certainly
very extraordinary, but not more so than it has been lately
in other instances. I rather believe that he has not behaved
very candidly towards me in making a reference to Govern-
ment regarding the appointment. of certain commissarics in
Malabar, in the course of the last year. 1 reported such of
those appointments as were made in my time in November
last, and stated particularly the reasons why T had not given
orders that they might be discontinued, which reasons were
then decemed satisfactory. When a further reference was
made regarding them lately, knowing that poor Turing was
gone, and that Webbe might forget what had passed in No-
vember last, in the hurry of the present moment, 1 sent the
General an extract of my letter to Government of the [4th
November, in which the appointments had been reported
along with the other papers upon the subject. Tam con-
vinced that he mever sent that extract to Government, or
they would not have written the answer that they have writ-
ten upon that subject. However, the subject is not deserving
of further inquiry. + Believe me, &.

« Zieut. Colonel Close. < ArTner WELLESLEY.

¢ T was last night at Mysore, at the marriage of the Dal-
.way's son. The Rajah and every thing in high style.

Colone!l the Hon. A. Wellesley tv Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pear COLONEL, « Seringapatam, 17th July, 1801.
« 1 have received from the General an answer to my letter,
from which I cannot judge whether he approves or not of
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the order which I proposed to issue, regarding Mr, —
and the Court Martial; but I shall issue it in the course of
two or three days, if I do not hear further from him.

¢ The dubash has been tried, and sentenced a punishment,
&ec. &c., but in consideration of his having ill treated the
inhabitants of Chittoor, in the presence of Mr.——, and, as
he says, in his defence, by his particular order, the Court
Martial have recommended that he should be pardoned the
punishment. They have sentenced that he should pay all
the expense of the damage he did, and I have desired that
they should sentence that he should be banished.

* I propose to publish the whole at one and the same time,
and the proccedings of the native Court Martial will make
a good commentary upon Mr. ——'s conduct, and upon the
proceedings of the Court Martial which tried him.

‘I am glad to find that you are recovering; every thing
goes on well here.

¢ Believe me, &e.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

< Sir, ¢ Seringapatam, 22nd July, 1801.

¢ In consequence of the complaints which you communi-
cated to me, of the conduct of Mr. Assistant Surgeon —,
on his journey from Secra to Scringapatam, I ordered a Court
Martial to assemble for his trial, on charges founded on the
complaints preferred by the inhabitants of the nearest vil-
lage, Chittoor.

¢ Enclosed I send you a copy of the proceedings of this
Court Martial, and of a correspondence which I have had
with the Commander in Chief upon this subject, from which
you will perceive that I am by no means satisfied with the
sentence which has been pronounced against Mr, ——, '

* As it appeared that a dubash, by name Vinket Soubah,
belonging to Mr. Boxley, a sutler, had been in many cases
the instrument. of the oppression complained of by the in-
habitants, on the road between Sera and Seringapatam ; and
as he had been particularly active in the village of Chittoor,
I thought it proper to order that he might be brought be-
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fore a native General Court Martial, for his conduct in that
village.

¢« T enclose a copy of the proceedings of that Court Mar-
tial, on the trial of this person, and one of a letter from the
President to me. I likewise enclose the copy of an order
which I have issued this day to the troops under my com-
mand.

¢ 1 have the honor to be, &e.

« Lieut. Colonel Close’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A, Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

» My peAr CoLONFL, * Seringapatam, 24th July, 1801.

<1 have this day written to Mr. Piele, to request that he
would inform Purneah that Baba Saheb’s family would soon
come to Hooly Honore, and to tell him that I should be
obliged to him if he would give his orders to Servitun Rao
to be prepared for their reception.

¢ By a letter reccived this day by the vakeel, it appears
that the amildar lately appointed by the Government of

* Poonah is come into the province of Savanore, where it is

no longer safc for Baba Saheb’s family to remain. The
amildar is backed up by young Goklah, who is now spend-
ing his leisure time in the plunder of the Chittoor country.

I conclude that you will have scen my late letters to
Webbe, and to Captain Wilkes, giving all the intelligence
from this country. I belicve that the cavalry are by this
time at Cheyloor. All remains quict in Malabar and
Wynaad. ]

¢« Believe me, &e.

¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

« My pEAR COLONEL, « Seringapatam, 29th July, 1801.

» < A servant of Butcha Rao's (2 Moorman) lately _appl.icd
to the Cutchery upon a question of divorce fr.om his wife;
and after he had been divorced, and had been informed that
one of the legal consequences of that sentence was, that he
was to provide for her support for a certain time, am! was
to pay her dower, he said he was a servant of the Rajah’s,

SUP. VOL. 2F
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and desired that the case might be referred to Butcha
Rao. Butcha Rao joined in this request.

¢ In the course of the different conversations which I had
had with Captain Symonds since the establishment of the
Adowlut at Seringapatam, I had taken opportunitics of
expressing to him my wish that he should be cautious in
entertaining complaints of the Rajah’s servants, of which I
thought it probable that many would be made in which the
courts of Seringapatam can have no concern whatever.
Accordingly Captain Symonds never had entertained any,
excepting of the kind above alluded to. However, the
claim of Butcha Rao to interfere in this case, brought a
letter from Captain Symonds to me, in which he desired
that T would consider and state my opinion whether, and
how far, the Rajal’s servants are, and should be, liable to
the jurisdiction of the court.

L have done so nearly to the following purport; and I
hope that this opinion, and the practice which I have re-
commended, will be agrecable to you and to them. In the
first place, the regulation malkes no exception of any persons
being natives; all of that description residing upon the
island of Seringapatam are liable to the jurisdiction of the
courts which it establishes. It could not have been in the
contemplation of the Government to make an exception in
favor of the Rajal's scrvants, hecause, in fact, it is not sup-
posed that they reside on the island ; and the tendency of
such an exception would have been to confine the jurisdic-
tion of the court to those who should choose to submit to i,
and to those of whom it could be proved that they received
the pay of the Company, or were in the service of some of
their officers and servants.

“I have therefore no seruple in laying down the principle
broadly, that every person being a native, residing in the
island of Scringapatam, is liable to the jurisdiction of the
court.

¢ I now come to consider the restrictions upon acting upon
that principle thus laid down, which are required by expe-
diency, policy, and good manncrs. Purncah resides in the
Fort, with all his property and his family ; and the principal
officers of the Rajah's Government reside there likewise.
I do not see any necessity for restricting the operation of
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that principle in the court .of Phousdarry. It is not very
probz'tblg tll?.t the persons in whose favor we might wish to
restrict it, \.vxl.l commit crimes for which they could be tried
there, ?,nd it is clf:ar. that their servants and adherents must
be subjeet to its jurisdiction, as long as they remain on the
island.

< The question is entirely different when the crimes are
considered, which it is possible might come before the Cut-
chery. In the course of the administration of the Govern-
ment of this country, it is not possible but that Purneah, or
his officers, must occasionally do injury to, or scize private
property. It would be a curious circumstance if the person
whose property should thus reccive injury, should have a
right, by taking a housc at Seringapatam, to bring Purncah
into the court of Cutchery.

< Considering the connexion between the island of Ser-
ingapatam and the Rajah’s country, it is impossible but
that questions must arise daily between the inhabitants and
the Rajal’s servants residing on the island, some of whom
it would be highly improper, and others it would be very
nccessary, to bring into the Cutchery : and yet without more
cxperience than we have yet had of the operation of the
court (of the manner in which the machine works), it is not
possible to define cases so as that Government may cnforce
a regulation which will secure the jurisdiction of the court
on onc hand, and will prevent the Rajaly’s principal scrvants
residing upon the island from suffering inconvenience on the
other.

<1 have therefore proposed to Captain Symot'uls tl‘lc fol-
lowing arrangement and rules for his proceedings in the
cases above described.

< In the first place, I have proposed that w]'xcnevcr a com-
plaint is made in the court of Cutchery against any of the
Rajah's principal scrvants, or any of his servants, for an act
of Government, the matter of it should be referred to the
Resident, or to the commanding officer, before any further

be taken. X

St‘ipgcscl:\l:lll(;; that whenever a dispute s.hall be brought 'mt‘o
the Cutchery between two persons notoriously in th('z R‘a_mh 8
service, that dispute shall be referred to the Rajah’s tri-

bunals, provided both partics consent. -
2¥ 2
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< Thirdly; that disputes regarding property in which no
act of the Rajah’s government is concerned, and in which
onc of the parties is not one of his principal scrvants, shall
be tried and decided in the Cutchery.

¢ Notwithstanding my desire to gratify my little friend
Butcha Rao, I have recommended to Captain Symonds to
enforce his decision regarding the Moorman’s divorce, as
there appears to be nothing in that, excepting a desire on
the Moorman’s part to get rid of his wife, and to allow her
to starve, and on Butcha Rao’s only a desire to oblige his
friend the Moorman.

T hope that you are getting better. The river is rising
again, and the weather is very harsh here just now.

¢ Belicve me, &e.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My brar CoLoNEL, * Seringapatam, 1st August, 1801.

¢ I think it probable that you will be returning to us soon;
and before you leave Madras I wish you would hint to our
friends there the necessity of sending a force to this country
towards the end of November, in order to enable us to un-
dertake the Bullum business. We ought to be strong in
order to be able to do it in style.

¢ The river has come down again with some violence, but
is not so high as it was in the beginning of July by nearly
two feet.

¢ Believe me, &e.

¢ Lieut, Colonel Close’ ¢ ArtHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley tv Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ My prar Covonet, ¢ Seringapatam, 6th September, 1801,

¢ Before I had received your letter of the 3rd, I had re-
ccived the intelligence of your appointment to Poonah,
which I regret much on public, as well as on private ac-
counts.

1 hope that you will sec Malcolm before you go. I
imagine that Purneah heard some time ago of the proba-
bility that you would not return to this country; at least
Butcha Rao appeared to be acquainted with it.
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<1 see clearly that we shall get no troops from the Carnatic
for the Bullum business in this year; but if we are fortunate
in our pursuits of the Pychy Rajah, I am not quite certain that
I have not under my own command the means of settling it.
I shall know more about it in the course of a few weeks.
In the fcan time the arrangements going on at Seringa-
patam to decrease the number of idle Moormen will enable
me to weaken that garrison considerably for any occasion
for which troops may be wanted.

*I find Symonds a most active and able assistant, and
matters go on very smoothly.

I acknowledge that I do not agree with Webbe re-
specting the destruction of this place. I think that he has
not considered its utility in some points of view ; that he has
been misinformed regarding the difference between its dis-
tance from the frontier and that of Bangalore; and that he
has overrated the additional distance occasioned by coming
here. He has also given more weight than it deserves to
the consideration that the depot is too far from the frontier,
and too little to the superior advantage of Seringapatam as
a place of equipment.

¢ In regard to the expense, 1 belicve that it will be equal
whatever plan is adopted ; but if the destruction of Secringa-
patam is to be accompanied by the building of a fort in
Malabar or Canara, which I believe must be the conscquence,
that plan will be the most expensive. The fort of Canna-
nore is just large enough to contain the Commanding
Officer’s house; it is tumbling to picces; and a frigate in
the roads would blow a garrison out of it. The stores in
Canara arc in the open town of Mangalore.

¢ Webbe talks in his Memorandum of sending stores to
the Malabar coast by sea; but when they arrive there, where
are they to be kept? and he has not considered the diffi-
culty, amounting almost to an impossibility, of communi-
cating by sca between the two coasts. During the months

+of May, June, July, August, and part of September, it is
not safc to approach the western coast ; and in October,
November, and December, equally unsafe to approach the
eastern. During the remainder of the year the north west
winds prevail so gencrally upon the Malabar coast, that it
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is with difficulty that the best ships make their passage to
the northward, as was found to be the case in the last year;
and the kind of vessel in which stores are sent from Madras
by sca in general, would not be able to get to the north-
ward at all. But in truth there is such a want of carriage
upon the coast, and the inland communication along it is so
difficult, that the troops in those provinces must always in
a great measure depend upon this country for many of their
supplics.

* Has Madras sent any one article to those provinces since
they have been under its government? Medicines and
military stores from Scringapatam are the only articles that
have been supplied to them ; and even the monsoon has not
stopped the communication.

« Upon the whole I think it fortunate that the success in
Europe and Egypt gives us a prospect of a better peace,
and that we have time to review our opinions upon this sub-
ject, and to reconsider the question. In a very short time
Scringapatam will be to be kept with as small a garrison as
any other place in the country.

¢ I gave orders to Gordon to pay the bill for the repairs
at the Laal Baug at the time that you sent it to me, and I
understand that he had done so. I shall enquire however.

¢ We are tolerably well here now. No officers sick, and
but few soldiers. T attribute the healthiness of the soldiers
to an improvement which I have lately made in their bar-
racks ; having built up the whole of the veranda in the
Green Palace in which they are quartered.

¢ Belicve me, &c.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ArTnur WELLESLEY.

¢ The Court Martial is sitting on the trial of the offenders
in the store department.’

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to J. H. Piele, Esq.

¢« SIR, ¢ Seringapatam, 30th Nov., 1801.
‘1 enclose an extract of a lctter which I have received
from the Chicef Scerctary of Government, relative to the
repairs of the fort at Nuggur, respecting which 1 had a con-
versation with the Dewan in your presence some time ago.
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¢ I shall be obliged to you if you will procure from the
Dewan the estimate of the cxpense to be incurred in the
proposed repairs, as mentioned in the first paragraph of the
enclosed extract (3).

< I imagine that the repairs which the Dewan proposes to
give to the fort of Nuggur will not be greater than that
alluded to in the second paragraph (4) of the enclosed ex-
tract; and if that should be the case, I will use the discre-
tion given to me to authorise expense on that account.

<1 have the honor to be, &c.
« J. H. Piele, Esq.’ ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesicy o the Right Hon. Lord Clive.

<« My Lorb, ¢ Seringapatam, 28th December, 1801,

T enclose you a letter for the Governor General, which
1 have rcecived from Sir William Clarke. That addressed
to your Lordship, dated the 20th instant, which Sir William
Clarke mentions therein, has not yct arrived here, at least
it has not passed through my hands.

¢ The Commander in Chicf will have acquainted your
Lordship with the disposition of the troops in the province
of Canara, made with a view to cnable Sir William Clarke
to hold his position. Besides these troops, I shall march
from henee towards the Bullum country on the 4th of
January, and shall be in readiness to move to his assistance
whenever that may be necessary.

<1 have written to Mr. Read, to request that he will take
care to keep Sir William Clarke supplied with rice from
the northern parts of Canara by boats; and 1 shall write to
Sir William Clarke this day, to desire that he will bring
such quantity as hc may be able, to last our troops as long
as their salt provisions will. As, however, Sir William has
the 'sea open, and the province of Canara so near him, I do
not apprchend any thing from the momentary scarcity and

.dlearness of rice at Goa.
« I have the honor to be, &c.
* The Right Hon. Lord Clive.’ ¢« ArRTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colunel Harness.
¢ Bottom of the Bhore Ghaut,
* My pear Coronkr, 20th April, 1803, 8 A M.

< The road down the ghaut is so bad that the cavalry
guns have been detained at it till now, and I think that we
shall not march from hence till 9 or 10. 1 have ordered
Colonel Macleod to halt at Lovey this day, and to join me to-
morrow. .

¢ The pioncers, excepting those employed in the forage
business, and a battalion, must work at the ghaut this day.
If Heitland is not satisfied with this day’s work, he must
begin upon it again carly in the morning, and you must de-
fer the march of the line till the road down the ghaut is
finished.

« Send on your advanced guard and a battalion to Lovey
with the baggage departments, brinjarries, &e.; the road
down the ghaut will answer for them, and is sufficiently ex-
tensive; but it will require much repair to make it what it
ought to be for our wheel carriages, and the march of the
line and park must, thercfore, be late.

1 shudder when I think of the dreadful destruction of
the wheel carriages which there will be, on this day’s and
- tomorrow’s march.

‘ You will find some of my leavings upon the road. If
the cavalry tumbrils which I mean cannot be repaired, the
3 pounders shot in particular must be taken out of them,
and brought forward. That is a scarce article.

‘ Your march of this day will be something about twelve
miles ; that of tomorrow to Lovey about ten; the following
day, twelve.

¢ 1 do not recommend a halt, as its consequence may be
that some belonging to us may stay on the ground for cver.

¢ Believe me, &c.

¢ Lieut, Colonel Harness,’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
74th Regt.

MEMORANDUM FOR COLONEL CLOSE.

‘ Ahmednuggur, 17th Aug., 1803.
1. Certain dollars have been delivered to the Poonah
soucar to be coined, which he wishes to lodge in Colonel
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Clos.o’s house, to be taken away by him as occasion may
require. :

*2. He has engaged to pay to Colonel Close daily 6000
rupees, which Colonel Close is requested to receive.

< 3. The Chenchooney soucar, Boodbahy Doss, has en-
gaged to pay daily to Colonel Close likewise 6000 rupees,
which the Colonel is requested to receive.

< 4. These soucars have engaged to furnish the means of
carrying forward this money to the troops, the Company
paying the expense. Colonel Close is requested to send
forward 50,000 rupces as soon as they will be received ; and
so on, by 50,000 rupces at a time, till the whole shall be
sent. :

¢ 5. Two companics of the 2nd battalion of the 3rd regi-
ment remain here to furnish escorts for this money.

< 6. 50,000 dollars arc given to the Chenchooney soucar,
for which he is to deliver back 113,125 rupees and 25,000
dollars to the Poonah soucar, for which he is to deliver
back 56,562 rupecs. Besides these there are 10,000 dollars
which will be delivered to Colonel Close, which he is re-
quested to issue to the soucars, to be coined into rupees
after they shall have finished the others.”

< ARTHUR WELLESLEY.'

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Campbell,
74th Regiment.

« My peAR CAMPBELL, ¢« Camp, 7th November, 1803.

< T write only to acknowledge the receipt of your letters of
the 12th and 14th October, for which I am much obliged to
you. 1 regret exccedingly your sickness, of which I had
heard; but I hope that the cold weather will bring you
about. I wish that you would think of going to England ;
nothing but that can be a sufficient remedy for the dis-
position to fever, which you appear to have.

-+ ¢ Your nephew Colin will write you the news from hence.
’ < Believe me, &e.
« Lieut. Col. Campbell, Ganjam.' * ArTHUR WELLESLEY.

SUP. VOI. 2¢
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Rajah Mohiput Ram.

:Camp, 24th October, 1803,
¢ I have received your letter, and I sincerely congratulate
you upon the success against Asseerghur.

¢ I had already written to Colonel Stevenson to request
that he would place a garrison in Assecrghur to secure
the place; and that he would give you over the country, and
desire you to establish thercin the government of his High-
ness the Soubah of the Deccan, to take possession of the
tannahs and districts, establish in them sufficient garrisons,
collcet the revenues, and do every thing in your power for
the benefit and protection of the people.

It is my intention that the Soubah’s authority alone
should prevail in those districts, as a division of the govern-
ment must occasion weakness and confusion. Hereafter it
will be easy for the Company’s government, and that of his
Highness, to settle the accounts of the revenues, and the
share which is to belong to each party.

¢ I have sent to Colonel Stevenson, to be delivered to you,
an order from the Soubah, by which you are put in charge
of the whole of his Highness's western frontier, and in the
command of his troops ; upon which I congratulate you. In
the exercise of the important duty confided to you by this
order, as well as of that which you will have to perform in
the districts under Asseerghur and Burhampoor, I recom-
mend to you moderation and justice in all your proccedings.

¢ Intermixed with those under your charge, there are
several districts and villages belonging to the Peshwah, and
others to Jeswunt Rao Holkar. The Peshwah is now his
Highness's ally, and Jeswunt Rao Holkar is not his enemy.
You must act with justice towards them, and not on any
account interfere with them.

¢ You must take care to entertain and keep up a sufficient
force, particularly in the districts belonging to Asseerghur.
This is a time of war, and the resources of the country can'’
be preserved only by having in it a sufficient force. To en-
deavor to collect a large revenue would be uscless, and would
most probably eventually occasion loss.

¢ In respect to Wahed Beg, tell him that I desire he will
give you the letter addressed to you, and cither bring or
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send the letters addressed to me which he brought from the
Maharajah’s camp, and which he showed to Colonel Long.

< If he does not do that, you will do well to seize him, and
send him here to me; as he has gone to you with no good
purpose.

I have alrcady acquainted Ballojee Koonjur in writing
that I have always been desirous of peace, and that if the
Maharajah had any thing to propose to me, and should think
it proper to send here a sirdar, he should be treated with
respect and attention, and should have a distinet answer.

¢ I have desired Coloncl Stevenson to levy a contribution
on Burhampoor, in which I request you to assist him.

* Rajah Mohiput Ram. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY. °

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ MY pEAR COLONEL, ¢ Camp, 10th December, 1803,

¢ Since I wrote to you this morning, Amrut Rao’s vakeel
has been here, and has told me that thirty sirdars and 500
of the Peshwah’s Pagah horse, whom his Highness sent away
when he embarked at Mhar, had joined Baba Phurkia. Baba
Phurkia has lately dismissed them, (in fact he has been de-
feated in-the Nizam’s territories) and they are now desirous
of returning to the Peshwah’s service, obtaining a pardon;
or, if that should not be granted, they are ready to deliver
up their horses. They are now in a village in the Nizam’s
country, ten coss distant, and if the Peshwah chooses to have
them, Captain Graham will be able to find out from Amrut
Rao’s son where they are. I enclose alist of their names.

‘Besides these people, there is a body of 3000 horse in
this camp belonging to Amrut Rao, which I am now paying,
which the Peshwah might as well take into his service. I
wish you would propose this measure to him ; but if he does
not comply with your proposal, I shall discharge them imme-
diately.

¢ Amrut Rao has also a very fine battalion of infantry of

**700 men ; possibly the Peshwah would like to have that also.
But I do not know whether Amrut Rao would part with it.
You may sound the Peshwah, and I will try Amrut Rao.
The whole expense of Amrut Rao’s troops is 87,000 rupees
per mensem.
* Believe me, &c.
« Lieut. Colonel Close. * ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
262
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Colonel the Hon. A Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp, fourteen miles East from

« My pear COLONEL, Ellichpoor, 20th December, 1803,

¢ When the peace shall be ratified by Ragojee Bhoonslah,
I propose to send Mr. Elphinstone to his camp, to act as
Resident till the arrival of Webbe. I may also have occasion
to request Malcolm to go to one of these chiefs, and, in this
case, I shall be much in want of assistance. Malcolm tells
me that you would have no objection to allow Mr. Strachey
to come here, and if this be the case, I shall be much obliged
to you if you will ask him to give me his assistance. If he
starts from Poonah immediately on the receipt of this letter,
he will meet Captain Baynes' detachment on the river Goda-
very, or it will arrive there in a few days after him. T have
no doubt but that Ragojee will ratify the treaty.

¢ Believe me, &c.

« Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢« My pear COLONEL, * Camp, 16th January, 1804.

¢ I shall be much obliged to you if you will be so kind as
to send forward, as soon as possible, all the money that you
may have belonging to me.

¢ I enclose a memorandum from Jeswunt Rao Goorparah;
and I shall be obliged to you if you will take care that he
does not lose his jaghires, &e. He comes within an article
of the treaty.

¢ Belicve me, &c.

, * Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel thé Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Frissell, Residency at Poonah,

‘ My DEAR Sir, ¢ Camp, 1st February, 1804.

* In answer to that part of your letter of the 29th January,
relative to Narsmg Kundee Rao’s claims in Malwa, I have*”
to request that, in future, after having ascertained the nature
of such claims, you will state them yourself to Major Malcolm
or the Resident with Dowlut Rao Scindiah, or the Rajah of
Berar.

A * Believe me. &c.
¢ Lieut, Frissell, ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Frissell.

<« My DEAR SIR, ¢ Camp at Roora, 22nd February, 1804.
<1 shall leave camp tomorrow, and I expect to arrive at
Pooneh on the 26th. I shall be obliged to you if you will
send my letters, and those for camp, by the Hyderabad dawk,
made up in a separate packet.
<1 enclose a letter, which 1 beg you to send to the killadar

of Loghur.
¢ Believe me, &c.

« Lieut. Frissell. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. 4. Wellesley to Lieut. Frissell.

« My DEAR SIR, ¢ Camp, 24th.February, 1804.
<I find that I shall not be able to-reach Poonah till the
27th, in the morning; but I shall be at Nizam Pett, about
seventeen miles from Poonah, on the 26th.
¢ Believe me, &c.
¢ Lieut, Frissell. ¢ ARTHUR WELLEFSLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A.,Wellesley to E. 8. Wauring, Esq., Residency at
Poonah.
¢« My DEAR SIR, * Cundollah, 8th March, 1804.
<1 have received your letter of the 7th, and I beg you to
send on Antojee Pundit.
«No money has been given to Lingan Pundit or Ball
Kischen Letchma. He must be paid till the day he dicd.

I must get fresh orders for a pension to his son.
< T wish that you would give a hint to Prubbaukur Bellall,

that I shall be much displeased if 1 find Amrut Rao inter-

fering in the affairs of Loghur.
¢ Believe me, &c.

« E. S. Waring, Esq. ¢« ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

= +Tell Mrs. Waring that, notwithstanding the debatc at
dinner, and her recommendation, we propose to go to Bom-
bay by Panwell, and in the Balloon.’
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut, Colonel Close.
* Camp at Panowullah,

¢ My pEAR CoLONEL, 23rd May, 1804.

<1 send sixty bullocks for the Peshwah. They are of the
same size, caste, and color, and are good cattle, but much
out of condition. However, that will not much signify for
the Peshwah, They are in good health ; and a little good
forage, and protection from the weather, will bring them
about. The drivers who go with them are Mysore men ;
they will not stay with the Peshwah, and if they would, I
could not spare their services. They must, therefore, be
sent back ; but I sce no objection to their staying a few days
till his Highness shall have tried other people to take charge
of the cattle.

¢ Belicve me, &c.
* Licut. Colonel Close.’ ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ Camp at Chinchore,
* My pear CoLonEL, 22nd June, 1804.
¢ Jeswunt Rao Goorparah has requested me to give him a
letter to you. His object is to have a ground for troubling
you with his master’s affairs in Chumargoonda, &c., should it
be nceessary to give you any trouble ; and I have only to
request that you will listen to him,
¢ Believe me, &c.
* Lieut, Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.

¢ Camp at Padshappoor,
« My pear CoronEL, 4th July, 1804.

<1 enclose the copies of the letters to Appah Saheb and
Mohiput Ram. I have every reason to hope that I shall see
Appah Saheb at Hoobly.
<1 get on well, and the weather continues fair.
< Believe me, &c.
* Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.
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Colonel the Hon. A. Wellesley to Lieut. Colonel Close.
¢ Fort St. George,
« My pEAR COLONEL, 21st November, 1804.
< I have just time to write a few lines to inform you that I
arrived here this day, and that I propose to leave this as
soon as the bearers can be posted for me.
¢ 1 shall go to Seringapatam, and from thence cither by
the route of Darwar or Mcritch to Poonah ; or, if T should
find the country is not in tranquillity, I shall go to Manga-
lore, and thence by sea to Bombay. I shall be with you
about Christmas by one route or another.
¢ Belicve me, &e.
¢ Lieut. Colonel Close. ¢ ARTHUR WELLESLEY.

Lieut. General Viscount Wellington to Colonel Malcolm.
¢ Badajoz, in Spain,
« My peAr MaLcoLm, 3rd December, 1809.

<1 am very much obliged for your letter of the —, which I
reccived about a month ago, and which I thought sointerest-
ing. and the sentiments it contained on the situation of affairs
at Madras so well deserving the attention, and consideration
of the King’s servants, that I sent it to Lord Harrowby, who
was at that time President of the Board of Control. I have
not received any answer from him, nor do I know what has
been determined particularly respecting the state of affairs
at Madras. But I understood generally that Sir G. Bar-
low’s conduct had been approved ; but that it was not intended
to confirm the suspension of all the officers who had been
suspended by him. -
<You cannot conceive how much I have felt for what has
passcd on the Madras Establishment. 1 scarcely recognize
in those transactions the men for whom I entertained so
much respect, and had so much regard, a few years back ;
-and I can only lamtent that they, and the army, and the
affairs of that Presidency in gencral, have been so much
mismanaged. These transactions, and their causes, prove
that it is not always the man who has the character of being
the best natured, and one of the casiest disposition, who will
agree best with those placed in authority over him, or those
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with whom he is to co-operate. They owe their origin to the
disputes of the persons in authority in India, that is to say,
between the Governor and the Commander in Chief. Both,
but principally the latter, looked for partizans and sup-
porters; and these have ended by throwing off all subordi-
nation, by relinquishing all habits of obedience, and almost
by open resistance. Nothing can be more absurd than the
pretext for this conduct. ’

¢ Colonel Munro’s opinion might be erroncous, and
might have been harsh towards his brother officers; but
not only he ought not to have been brought to a Court
Martial for giving that opinion, but he ought to have been
brought to a Court Martial if he had refrained from
giving it, when he was called upon by the Commander
in Chief to make him a report on a subject referred to his
official consideration. The officers of the army are equally
wrong in the part they have taken in the subsequent part of
the question, which is one between the Governor and the
Commander in Chicf, whether the former had a right to
protect Colonel Munro from the acts of the latter, upon
which question no man can have a doubt who has any know-
ledge of the Constitution of (ireat Britain, and particularly
of that of the Indian Governments. I, who have arrived
pretty nearly at the top of the tree, should be the last man
to give up any point of military right or etiquette. But I
have no doubt whatever, not only that it was the right, but
that it was the duty of the Governor in Council to interfere to
gave Colonel Munro; and that if he had not done so, and
the public had sustained any loss or inconvenience from his
trial, or if the public attention had been drawn to the injus-
tice of his trial, the Governor would have been severely
responsible for the omission to perform his duty.

¢So far for my opinion upon the main points of the ques-
tion. As for the others, the conduct of officers upon the
addresses, the orders issued, the resolutions entered into, the
resignations of their offices, &c., &c., théy are consequences
of the first error; that is, of persons in authority making
partizans of those placed under them, instead of making all
obey the constituted authoritics of the state. This conduct
in the officers of the army would have been wrong evert if
the cause had been just, and the Commander in Chief had
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wished to screen Colonel Munro from the persecution of the
Government : and it is really not worth while to take up my
time in describing, or yours in perusing, a description of the
folly, the inconsistency, or the breaches of discipline and
subordination contained in all those documents. I have so
much regard for the Madras army, to which I owe much,
that I would sacrifice a great deal to have it in my power to
restore them to that state of discipline, union, and respecta-
bility in which I left them in the year 1805; and I assure
you that I shall r¢joice most sinterely when I shall hear that
their good sense and good temper have predominated over
their feelings of party, and their prejudices.
<1 am very much obliged to you for your account of Per-
sian affairs. I understand that an ambassador has passed
Gibraltar, on his way to England; but the question is, on
what terms this concession on the part of Persia has been
obtained. I am entirely ignorant of all this, and I only wish
that you had been the instrument of making this arrange-
ment.
< You will have heard of all that has passed in this country,
and I will not, therefore, trouble you with a repetition of the
story. The battle of Talavera was certainly the hardest
fought of modern days, and the most glorious in its result
to our troops. Each side engaged lost a quarter of their
numbers.
<It is lJamentable that, owing to the miscrable ineffi-
ciency of the Spaniards, to their want of exertion, and the
deficiency of numbers even of the allies, much more of dis-
cipline, and every other military quality, when compared
with the enemy in the Peninsula, the glory of the action is
the only benefit which we have derived from it. But that is
a solid and substantial Lenefit, of which we have derived
some good consequences already ; for, strange to say, I have
contrived, with the little British army, to keep every thing in
check since the month of August last ; and if the Spaniards
~shad not contrived, by their own folly, and against my en-
treaties and remonstrances, to lose an army in La Mancha
about a fortnight ago, I think we might have brought them
ugh the contest. As it is, however, I do not despair.
ve in hand a most difficult task, from which I may not
extricate myself; but I must not shrink from it. I command
SUP. VOL. 2H
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an unanimous army; I draw well with all the authorities in
Spain and Portugal, and I believe I have the good wishes
of the whole world. In such circumstances one may fail, but
it would be dishonorable to shrink from the task.

¢ Pray remember me kindly to all friends in the East
Indies. I do not mention names, as I do not know whom
you have with you; but I assure you that I have the most
affectionate recollection of them all, and that nothing gives
me greater pleasure than to hear of their prosperity.

“ Believe me, &c.
« Colonel Malcolm. ¢ WELLINGTON.

¢ You will have scen that your father in law* distinguished
himself in the battle of Talavera. He was wounded, and is
gone to England; but he is now quite well, and I expect his
early return to the army.”

* Rrig, General, afterwards Lieut. General Sir Alexander Campbell, K.C.B.
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